

The Journal of the South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society and the European Underwater and Baromedical Society©



Volume 50 No. 3 September 2020





Endothelial function after air diving Chain of events in scuba diving fatalities Pressure in water-filled endotracheal tube cuffs Assessing insulin sensitivity during HBOT In-chamber sound levels during HBOT HBOT in breast late radiation tissue injury HBOT in pelvic late radiation tissue injury Thermal balance in divers with spinal injury

ABN 29 299 823 713

CONTENTS

Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine Volume 50 No.3 September 2020

Editorial

205 The Editor's offering

Original articles

- 206 The effect of hyperbaric oxygen treatment on late radiation tissue injury after breast cancer: A case-series of 67 patients Nicole E Spruijt, Roy van den Berg
- 214 Endothelial function may be enhanced in the cutaneous microcirculation after a single air dive François Guerrero, Kate Lambrechts, Qiong Wang, Aleksandra Mazur, Michael Théron, Alessandro Marroni
- 220 Scuba diving fatalities in Australia 2001 to 2013: Chain of events

John Lippmann, David McD Taylor

230 Evaluation of pressure in water-filled endotracheal tube cuffs in intubated patients undergoing hyperbaric oxygen treatment

Younès Benzidi, Thibault Duburcq, Daniel Mathieu, Erika Parmentier-Decrucq

238 Assessment of insulin sensitivity during hyperbaric oxygen treatment

David Wilkinson, Suzy Szekely, Brian Gue, Charmaine S Tam, Ian Chapman, Leonie K Heilbronn

- 244 The evaluation of in-chamber sound levels during hyperbaric oxygen applications: Results of 41 centres Taylan Zaman, Abdusselam Celebi, Bengusu Mirasoglu, Akin Savas Toklu
- An observational trial to establish the effect of hyperbaric oxygen treatment on pelvic late radiation tissue injury due to radiotherapy James Andren, Michael H Bennett
- 256 Thermal balance of spinal cord injured divers during cold water diving: A case control study Urska Gajsek, Arne Sieber, Zarko Finderle

Review article

264 Monoplace chamber treatment of decompression illness: Review and commentary Richard Clarke

Guidelines

- 273 South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society guidelines for cardiovascular risk assessment of divers Nigel Jepson, Rienk Rienks, David Smart, Michael H Bennett, Simon J Mitchell, Mark Turner
- 278 Diving after SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) infection: Fitness to dive assessment and medical guidance Charlotte Sadler, Miguel Alvarez Villela, Karen Van Hoesen, Ian Grover, Michael Lang, Tom Neuman, Peter Lindholm

Short communication

288 Pre-hydration strongly reduces decompression sickness occurrence after a simulated dive in the rat Qiong Wang, François Guerrero, Michaël Theron

Case reports

292 Arterial gas embolism breathing compressed air in 1.2 metres of water

Neil B Hampson, Richard E Moon 295 Dysbaric osteonecrosis in

- 95 Dysbaric osteonecrosis in technical divers: The new 'atrisk' group? Brendan Coleman, F Michael Davis
- 300 Cerebral arterial gas embolism proven by computed tomography following transthoracic echocardiography using bubble contrast

Neil DG Banham, Jacqui Saw, Graeme J Hankey, Darshan Ghia

303 Hyperbaric oxygen treatment in a patient with Guillain-Barré syndrome receiving mechanical ventilation

Lisha Song, Baopeng Xing, Weimin Yang, Haifeng Li

Letters to the Editor

- 306 Central nervous system oxygen toxicity during 100% oxygen breathing at normobaric pressure Richard Moon
- 306 Reply:
 - Mirit Éynan
- 307 Annual update on the Database of Randomised Controlled Trials in Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine Michael Bennett

EUBS notices and news

- **308 EUBS President's report** Ole Hyldegaard
- 309 Notices and news

SPUMS notices and news

- 311 SPUMS President's report Neil Banham
- 312 ANZHMG Chair report 2020 Neil Banham
- 314 SPUMS Diploma in Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine
- 315 Courses and meetings
- 316 Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine: Instructions for authors (summary)

Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine is indexed on <u>MEDLINE</u>, <u>Web of Science</u>[®] and <u>Embase/Scopus</u> Articles from 2017 are deposited in <u>PubMed Central</u>[®]

PURPOSES OF THE SOCIETIES

To promote and facilitate the study of all aspects of underwater and hyperbaric medicine To provide information on underwater and hyperbaric medicine To publish a journal and to convene members of each Society annually at a scientific conference

SOUTH PACIFIC UNDERWATER MEDICINE SOCIETY OFFICE HOLDERS

President	
Neil Banham	president@spums.org.au
Past President	
David Smart	pastpresident@spums.org.au
Secretary	
Douglas Falconer	secretary@spums.org.au
Treasurer	
Soon Teoh	treasurer@spums.org.au
Education Officer	
David Wilkinson	education@spums.org.au
Chairman ANZHMG	
Neil Banham	anzhmg@spums.org.au
Committee Members	
Jen Coleman	media@spums.org.au
Ian Gawthrope	ian.gawthrope@spums.org.au
Sarah Lockley	sarah.lockley@spums.org.au
Cathy Meehan	cathy.meehan@spums.org.au
Greg van der Hulst	greg.vanderhulst@spums.org.au
Webmaster	
Joel Hissink	webmaster@spums.org.au

ADMINISTRATION and MEMBERSHIP

Membership

Steve Gobleadmin@spums.org.auFor further information on SPUMS and to register to become a
member, go to the Society's website:www.spums.org.auThe official address for SPUMS is:www.spums.org.au

c/o Australian and New Zealand College of Anaesthetists, 630 St Kilda Road, Melbourne, Victoria 3004, Australia SPUMS is incorporated in Victoria A0020660B

EUROPEAN UNDERWATER AND BAROMEDICAL SOCIETY OFFICE HOLDERS

President	
Ole Hyldegaard	ole.hyldegaard@eubs.org
Vice President	
Jean-Eric Blatteau	jean-eric.blatteau@eubs.org
Immediate Past President	
Jacek Kot	jacek.kot@eubs.org
Past President	
Costantino Balestra	costantino.balestra@eubs.org
Honorary Secretary	
Peter Germonpré	peter.germonpre@eubs.org
Member-at-Large 2019	
Gerardo Bosco	gerardo.bosco@eubs.org
Member-at-Large 2018	
François Guerrero	francois.guerrero@eubs.org
Member-at-Large 2017	
Rodrigue Pignel	rodrigue.pignel@eubs.org
Liaison Officer	
Phil Bryson	phil.bryson@eubs.org
Webmaster	
Peter Germonpré	webmaster@eubs.org
ADMINISTRATION	and MEMBERSHIP

Membership Secretary and Treasurer

Kathleen Pye <u>secretary@eubs.org</u> For further information on EUBS and to complete a membership application, go to the Society's website: <u>www.eubs.org</u> The official address for EUBS is: c/o Mrs Kathleen Pye, Membership Secretary and Treasurer 35 Sutherland Crescent, Abernethy, Perth, Perthshire PH2 9GA, United Kingdom EUBS is a UK Registered Charity No. 264970

DIVING AND HYPERBARIC MEDICINE

www.dhmjournal.com

Editor	Editorial Board
Simon Mitchell <u>editor@dhmjournal.com</u>	Michael Bennett, Australia
	Michael Davis, New Zealand
European (Deputy) Editor	David Doolette, USA
Lesley Blogg <u>euroeditor@dhmjournal.com</u>	Christopher Edge, United Kingdom
	Ingrid Eftedal, Norway
Editorial Assistant	Peter Germonpré, Belgium
Nicky Telles <u>editorialassist@dhmjournal.com</u>	Jacek Kot, Poland
	Claus-Martin Muth, Germany
	Neal Pollock, Canada
Submissions: <u>https://www.manuscriptmanager.net/dhm</u>	Monica Rocco, Italy
	Martin Sayer, United Kingdom
	Erika Schagatay, Sweden
Subscriptions and print copies of back issues to 2017	David Smart, Australia
Steve Goble <u>admin@spums.org.au</u>	Robert van Hulst, The Netherlands

Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine is published online jointly by the South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society and the European Underwater and Baromedical Society E-ISSN 2209-1491; ABN 29 299 823 713

The Editor's offering

This is the third issue of *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* (DHM) in a profoundly turbulent year. The SARS-CoV-2 pandemic has caused global mayhem in a way that many (except students of history) had never contemplated. This writer, living in New Zealand and working within the sharpend medical workforce, has been thus far lucky enough to be largely unaffected in any material way; but there are countless people everywhere who have lost family, friends or livelihoods. We should never lose sight of the terrible cost of this event.

There have been unexpected consequences for the journal. One has been a profound increase in the number of submissions received. By the end of July we had received as many submissions in 2020 as we did for the entire year in 2019. There are no economies of scale in processing submissions, and each new submission adds linearly to the workload. I wish to acknowledge the hard work of our editorial assistant Nicky Telles in coping with what has effectively been a doubling of work, and also the support of the society executive committees who have backed the increased journal activity through financial support. A healthy number of submissions has been a good 'problem' to have, but it stretches resources, including our cohort of semi-regular reviewers who I gratefully thank for almost always accepting review invitations. The most obvious explanation for the surge in submission activity is an almost paradoxical increase in available time for author activities over the pandemic period during shut-downs and reduced clinical loads as hospitals have constrained elective work. An increase in my own non-clinical time has certainly helped me cope with the increase in journal work.

Another consequence of the pandemic for our medical field has been the loss of our usual opportunities to gather, learn, exchange ideas and socialise. Specifically, the annual scientific meetings of EUBS (Prague), SPUMS (New Zealand), UHMS (San Diego), and the AHDMA (Viet Nam) were all cancelled this year, though several of these meetings hopefully will go ahead in the same venues in 2021. The need to cancel carefully planned meetings will have been heart-breaking for convenors, but we trust that members of all societies will be motivated to make those meetings well-attended and memorable when they eventually do take place. Our societies are the glue that holds the field together and we must support them through membership and meeting attendance in these financially difficult times.

Returning to the journal, in late June 2020 the 2019 impact factor (IF) was released revealing an increase from just under 1.2 to 1.5. An IF of 1.5 is seriously good for a niche specialty journal like DHM. It maintains our pre-eminent position among comparable journals, though for reasons probably well known to most readers the IF is a flawed and potentially capricious metric for comparing journals, and I advise members against becoming fixated on it. It may fluctuate in future years; especially given we are publishing greater numbers of papers as a consequence of greater numbers of submissions as described above. For now, it provides us reassurance that we at least on a satisfactory track.

In this issue of the journal we publish our first paper related to SARS-CoV-2; a pragmatic attempt to guide evaluation of diving candidates or divers returning to diving after suffering a Covid-19 infection. Charlotte Sadler and the San Diego group promulgated the basic elements of this guideline on-line earlier in the pandemic, and this paper provides a reasoned explanation for their recommendations. The online version will continue to be updated as required. Diving by Covid-19 sufferers who may exhibit residual pulmonary effects is likely to become a vexed issue in our community.

A second guideline appearing in this issue is the result of a SPUMS workshop convened with the aim of rationalising and modernising the approach to screening divers for cardiovascular disease. This is an important subject given evidence that the diving population is aging, and that a cardiac event is the disabling injury in a significant proportion of diving fatalities. The workshop held at the SPUMS Annual Scientific Meeting in 2019 generated the key elements of the guideline which was then refined by a focus group led by Australian cardiologist Nigel Jepson and which included diving academics and cardiologists from both Australia and Europe. This guideline is intended to fill a void that has opened up as evaluation for coronary disease has evolved over the last 20 years.

The remainder of this issue is a true blend of articles focusing on the diving and hyperbaric sides of the field, with some fascinating case reports. There is a thought-provoking review written by Dick Clarke of the debate over whether decompression illness should be treated in monoplace chambers. This has some relevance to the emerging situation in the USA where the number of hyperbaric units continues to expand but the number of units providing a 24-hour emergency service for treating divers (or which treat divers under any circumstances) slowly shrinks.

> Professor Simon Mitchell Editor, Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine Journal

Front cover

Composite multi-time-lapse light-painting photo from the Pearse Resurgence cave, Nelson New Zealand, pushed to 245 m by Harris and Challen 2020. The buoyed structure is a gas filled habitat anchored in the cave at 40 m for dry decompression stops; by Simon Mitchell, who appears (slightly blurred) in his own photo.

Original articles

The effect of hyperbaric oxygen treatment on late radiation tissue injury after breast cancer: A case-series of 67 patients

Nicole E Spruijt¹, Roy van den Berg¹

¹ Da Vinci Clinic, Nieuwendijk 49, 5664HB Geldrop, the Netherlands

Corresponding author: Dr Nicole E Spruijt, Da Vinci Clinic, Nieuwendijk 49, 5664HB Geldrop, the Netherlands <u>n.spruijt@davincikliniek.com</u>

Key words

Radiotherapy; Soft-tissue radionecrosis; Hyperbaric medicine; Pain

Abstract

(Spruijt NE, van den Berg R. The effect of hyperbaric oxygen treatment on late radiation tissue injury after breast cancer: A case-series of 67 patients. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):206–213. doi: 10.28920/ dhm50.3.206–213. PMID: 32957121.)

Introduction: Late radiation tissue injury (LRTI) after breast cancer may benefit from hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT). This study aimed to report the LRTI symptom scores up to 12 months after HBOT and identify risk factors for poor scores. **Methods:** A case-series of 67 patients who underwent a mean of 44 sessions of HBOT was analysed. LRTI symptoms were scored at four time points using the LENT-SOMA scale (Late Effects in Normal Tissues – Subjective, Objective, Management, and Analytic), a visual analog scale for pain, and the range of shoulder motion.

Results: Between starting HBOT and 12 months after HBOT 57 patients (85%) reported at least one point improvement in their LENT-SOMA score. Median pain and fibrosis scores improved significantly between the start and end of HBOT (P < 0.001), and remained stable three and 12 months after HBOT. The median breast oedema score improved significantly 12 months after HBOT (P = 0.003). Median shoulder abduction increased significantly from 90 to 165 degrees (P = 0.001) and median shoulder anteflexion increased significantly from 115 to 150 degrees (P = 0.004). Various risk factors were identified for poor scores despite HBOT; the most common risk factor was a poor score at start of HBOT.

Conclusions: In this case-series, patients who underwent HBOT for LRTI after breast cancer reported significant improvement in pain, fibrosis, oedema, and shoulder movement. The improvement persisted up to 12 months after HBOT. A poor score at the start of HBOT was predictive for a poor score 12 months after HBOT.

Introduction

Breast cancer is the most common form of cancer affecting women in the Netherlands. One in seven women will get breast cancer during their lives.¹ It is often diagnosed at an early stage and has a good prognosis; the five-year survival is 87%.¹ Survivors face several late sequelae of treatment including late radiation tissue injury (LRTI). Radiation injury can be divided into acute and late tissue injury.² Acute injury occurs during or a few months after radiotherapy and is usually self-limiting, including haematoma, dermatitis, breast pain and implant infection.³ Late injury is that persisting at six months or occurring over six months after radiotherapy, and usually worsens with time.⁴

The most common LRTI symptoms after breast cancer are pain, oedema, fibrosis, and limited range of motion of the arm at the shoulder joint.⁵ The prevalence of LRTI increases with time.^{4,6,7} For example, five years after radiotherapy for breast cancer 15–19% of patients have moderate to marked breast fibrosis, and 10 years after radiotherapy the incidence increases to 22–28%.⁷ Although breast pain is common after breast-conserving surgery and radiotherapy (47% of

patients report having pain), over 85% of patients consider it tolerable.⁸

For those who suffer from LRTI, hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) has been shown to improve symptoms.⁹⁻¹¹ Both the European Committee for Hyperbaric Medicine and the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society accept LRTI as an indication for HBOT.^{2,12} During HBOT, stem cells within irradiated tissues are induced and mobilised and angiogenesis is stimulated, improving tissue oxygenation and decreasing fibrosis.² The objective of this study was to report the effects of HBOT on LRTI symptoms after breast cancer up to 12 months after completing HBOT and to identify risk factors for persistent symptoms after HBOT.

Methods

Data were collected prospectively, recorded in the patients' medical records and analysed retrospectively. In accordance with the Health Code of 2005 based on the Code of Good Conduct 1995, our institutional review board grants a universal waiver for retrospective chart reviews, such as this study.

Figure 1

Diagram showing the compression, oxygen breathing periods, air breaks, and decompression time of a treatment session. msw – metres' seawater equivalent 'depth'



 Table 1

 Definition of LENT-SOMA scores⁵

Symptom	0	1	2	3	4
Pain	Absent	Rarely, minimal	Intermittent, tolerable	Permanent, intense	Always, excruciating
Fibrosis	None	Barely palpable	Definite increased density and firmness	Marked density, retraction, fixation	
Breast oedema	None	Asymptomatic	Symptomatic	Secondary dysfunction	

All patients who were referred for HBOT for LRTI after breast cancer were candidates for HBOT. Patients underwent assessment of their fitness for hyperbaric exposure and were prescribed 40 sessions of HBOT. Patients were treated in a multi-place hyperbaric chamber capable of accommodating up to 12 patients (IHC Hytech, Raamsdonkveer, the Netherlands) at an ambient pressure of 253 kPa (2.5 atmospheres absolute). At this pressure, 100% oxygen was breathed via a mask during four periods for a total of 83 minutes, interspersed by three 5-min air breaks (Figure 1). Including compression and decompression time, the total duration of each session was 110 minutes. Patients underwent one session per day, five days per week. Per protocol, 40 sessions were prescribed, but treatment was continued until patients chose to prematurely stop the treatment, the symptoms did not show any further improvement, or the maximum number of treatments which are reimbursed by the health insurance was reached (60 sessions). Side effects of HBOT were recorded including problems equalising the ears, changes in vision and fatigue.

LRTI symptoms were scored by two dedicated nurses at four time points: in person before commencing HBOT and upon completion of the course of HBOT, and by telephone three and 12 months after completing HBOT. Three scoring systems were used to quantify LRTI symptoms: 1) the LENT-SOMA (Late Effects in Normal Tissues - Subjective, Objective, Management, and Analytic) scoring system;⁵ 2) a visual analog scale (VAS) to quantify the intensity of pain; and 3) the range of motion in degrees at the shoulder joint on the affected side. Since the range of motion could only be assessed clinically, this was only scored at the start and end of HBOT, and not at the three- and 12-month followups. The LENT-SOMA scoring system is considered the most effective validated tool to analyse the late effects of radiotherapy.¹³ It is comprised of 12 questions about pain, oedema, fibrosis, telangectasias, atrophy/retraction and ulceration, each of which is scored on a 2-5-point scale. In this study we only report on the primary symptoms for referral to our clinic which were pain, breast oedema, and/or fibrosis (Table 1). The LENT-SOMA scores for pain (0-4), breast oedema (0-3), and fibrosis (0-3) were also summed (score range 0-10).

STATISTICS

We used descriptive statistics to describe the patient characteristics, the HBOT course, side-effects of HBOT and outcomes after HBOT. We reported the median scores of the LRTI symptoms at each time point. The Kruskal-Wallis

Table 2Patient characteristics (n = 67)

Characteristic	Mean (range)
Age (years)	59 (43-79)
Body mass index (kg·m ⁻²)	27.8 (18.8-43.9)
	n (%)
Smoking:	
Never	25 (37)
Stopped	34 (51)
Current	8 (12)
Breast surgery:	
Breast-conserving	50 (75)
Mastectomy	17 (25)
Axillary nodes:	
Sentinel node removal	36 (54)
Axillary clearance	25 (37)
Axillary radiotherapy	6 (9)
Chemotherapy	46 (69)
Time since radiotherapy:	
< 1 year	26 (39)
1–3 years	20 (30)
3–5 years	2 (3)
> 5 years	19 (28)

test was used when comparing the median pre- and post-HBOT scores of more than two groups with a *P*-value limit of significance of < 0.05. If this overall test was significant, the Mann-Whitney U test was then used to compare pairs of groups. The Spearman correlation test was used for evaluation of correlations between risk factors and the LENT-SOMA and VAS scores 12 months after HBOT. Stepwise multivariate logistic regression analyses were used to assess associations between risk factors and LENT-SOMA pain, fibrosis, or breast oedema score ≥ 2 and VAS score ≥ 5 at 12 months after HBOT. No correction for multiple testing was employed. All analyses were performed using SPSS software (SPSS inc. version 22.0, Chicago, IL).

Results

Between November 2015 and December 2017 a total of 101 patients presented with LRTI after breast cancer; 97 were offered HBOT and 91 accepted treatment. Ten of these patients (11%) prematurely stopped the treatment: three due to recurrent breast cancer; four due to anxiety/ hyperventilation; and three for other reasons. The supervising physician was always consulted when patients prematurely stopped treatment. Of the 81 patients who completed the HBOT, data were missing for 14 patients (17%) and complete for 67 patients (83% follow-up).

All 67 patients were women whose characteristics are listed in Table 2. Fifty patients (75%) had breast-conserving surgery, 36 patients (54%) only had sentinel node clearance, and 46 patients (69%) had chemotherapy. The time interval between radiotherapy and starting HBOT was less than one year for 26 patients (39%) and longer than five years for 19 patients (28%).

The patients underwent a mean of 44 HBOT sessions (range 26–60). During the HBOT five patients (8%) had difficulty equalising the ears requiring referral to an otorhinolaryngologist for grommets. Upon completion of the course of HBOT, 46 patients (69%) reported increased fatigue. Transient vision changes were reported in 56 patients (84%). Four patients (6%) had vision changes which persisted three months after completion of the HBOT and were referred to an ophthalmologist: two were found to have cataracts and two had refraction changes, probably not related to the HBOT, requiring new glasses.

IMPROVEMENT WITH HBOT

The median LENT-SOMA pain, fibrosis, their sum, and VAS scores improved significantly between start and end of HBOT (P < 0.001), and remained stable at three and 12 months after HBOT (Figure 2). Compared to the score at the start of HBOT, the median LENT-SOMA breast oedema score was not significantly lower at the end of HBOT (P = 0.188) nor after three months (P = 0.066), but was significantly lower 12 months after HBOT (P = 0.003).

Among the patients who had limited range of motion of the arm at the start of HBOT, median shoulder abduction increased significantly from 90 to 165 degrees (n = 22, P = 0.001) and median shoulder anteflexion increased significantly from 115 to 150 degrees (n = 19, P = 0.004) at the end of HBOT (Figure 3).

Between the start and end of HBOT, 54 patients (81%) reported at least one point improvement in their LENT-SOMA summed score. Between the end of HBOT and three months after HBOT, 29 patients (43%) reported at least one point improvement in their LENT-SOMA sum score. Between three and 12 months after HBOT 23 patients (34%) reported at least one point improvement in their LENT-SOMA sum score. Overall, between the start of HBOT and 12 months after HBOT, 57 patients (85%) reported at least one point improvement in their LENT-SOMA sum score, 44 (66%) reported at least one point improvement in their LENT-SOMA pain score, 50 (75%) reported at least one point improvement in their LENT-SOMA fibrosis score and 29 patients (43%) reported at least one point improvement in their LENT-SOMA breast oedema score.

UNIVARIATE CORRELATIONS

Associations between risk factors and LENT-SOMA and VAS scores 12 months after HBOT were analysed by Spearman correlations (Table 3). The LENT-SOMA pain score 12 months after HBOT was correlated with the axillary



Figure 2



node treatment (rho = -0.244, P = 0.046), sessions of HBOT (rho = 0.261, P = 0.033), and the LENT-SOMA pain score at the start of HBOT (rho = 0.684, P < 0.001). The LENT-SOMA fibrosis score 12 months after HBOT was correlated with chemotherapy (rho = -0.246, P = 0.045) and the number of sessions of HBOT (rho = 0.243, P = 0.048). The LENT-SOMA breast oedema score 12 months after HBOT was correlated with age (rho = -0.302, P = 0.013), body mass index (rho = 0.249, P = 0.043), time since radiotherapy (rho = -0.431, P < 0.001), and the LENT-SOMA breast oedema score at the start of HBOT (rho = 0.647, P < 0.001). The VAS score 12 months after HBOT was correlated with the axillary node treatment (rho = -0.248, P = 0.043), the number of sessions of HBOT (rho = 0.357, P = 0.003), and the VAS score at the start of HBOT (rho = 0.476, P < 0.001).

MULTIVARIATE ANALYSES

Step-wise multivariate logistic regression analyses showed significant associations between specific risk factors and LENT-SOMA pain, fibrosis, or breast oedema score ≥ 2 and VAS score \geq 5 at 12 months after HBOT (Table 4).

The prevalence of a LENT-SOMA pain score ≥ 2 decreased from 38 patients (57%) at the start of HBOT to 22 patients (33%) 12 months after HBOT (Figure 4). In the multivariate analyses, only a LENT-SOMA pain score ≥ 2 at start HBOT was a risk factor for LENT-SOMA pain ≥ 2 at 12 months after HBOT (OR 15.0, 95% CI 3.1-72.2).

The prevalence of a LENT-SOMA fibrosis score ≥ 2 decreased from 59 patients (88%) at the start of HBOT to 31 patients (46%) 12 months after HBOT (Figure 4). In the multivariate analyses, only current smoking at the start of HBOT was a risk factor for LENT-SOMA fibrosis ≥ 2 at 12 months after HBOT (OR 10.2, 95% CI 1.2-88.4).

The prevalence of a LENT-SOMA breast oedema score ≥ 2

Table 3

Correlation between patient characteristics and LENT-SOMA and VAS scores in 67 women 12 months after HBOT; * = statistically significant; # = LENT-SOMA pain, fibrosis, breast oedema and VAS scores

Characteristic	LENT- SOMA pain	<i>P</i> -value	LENT- SOMA fibrosis	<i>P</i> -value	LENT- SOMA oedema	<i>P</i> -value	VAS	<i>P</i> -value
Age	-0.162	0.191	-0.208	0.092	-0.302	0.013*	-0.156	0.207
Body mass index	-0.090	0.471	0.053	0.672	0.249	0.043*	-0.004	0.976
Smoking	0.073	0.558	0.019	0.877	0.004	0.971	0.012	0.920
Breast surgery	-0.234	0.057	-0.100	0.421	-0.057	0.648	-0.129	0.297
Axillary nodes	-0.244	0.046*	-0.231	0.060	0.070	0.571	-0.248	0.043*
Chemotherapy	-0.065	0.604	-0.246	0.045*	-0.052	0.676	-0.077	0.537
Time since radiotherapy	-0.038	0.758	-0.142	0.253	-0.431	< 0.001*	-0.031	0.806
Sessions of HBOT	0.261	0.033*	0.243	0.048*	-0.063	0.612	0.357	0.003*
Respective score [#] at start HBOT	0.684	< 0.001*	-0.063	0.612	0.647	< 0.001*	0.476	< 0.001*

Table 4

Odds ratios for patient characteristics and LENT-SOMA and VAS scores in 67 women 12 months after HBOT; * = statistically significant; # = LENT-SOMA pain, fibrosis, breast oedema and VAS scores

Characteristic	LENT- SOMA pain ≥2	P-value	LENT- SOMA fibrosis ≥2	P-value	LENT- SOMA oedema ≥ 2	P-value	VAS ≥5	<i>P</i> -value
Age	0.064	0.800	0.926	0.336	0.388	0.533	1.029	0.477
Body mass index	1.069	0.301	0.435	0.510	1.082	0.298	0.989	0.125
Smoking	0.021	0.885	10.21	0.035*	0.039	0.843	1.831	0.489
Breast surgery	0.495	0.482	0.253	0.615	0.044	0.834	3.928	0.139
Axillary nodes	0.057	0.812	3.379	0.066	0.191	0.662	0.350	0.227
Chemotherapy	0.061	0.805	3.548	0.060	1.634	0.201	1.117	0.739
Time since radiotherapy	1.131	0.288	1.230	0.267	2.686	0.101	0.102	0.025*
Sessions of HBOT	0.227	0.634	2.844	0.092	0.125	0.724	1.047	0.314
Respective score [#] at start HBOT	15.00	0.001*	0.039	0.844	23.06	0.004*	6.295	0.027*

decreased from 25 patients (37%) at the start of HBOT to 10 patients (15%) 12 months after HBOT (Figure 4). In the multivariate analyses, only a LENT-SOMA breast oedema score \geq 2 at the start of HBOT was a risk factor for LENT-SOMA pain \geq 2 at 12 months after HBOT (OR 23.1, 95% CI 2.7–197.1).

The prevalence of a VAS score ≥ 5 decreased from 43 patients (64%) at the start of HBOT to 19 patients (28%) 12 months after HBOT (Figure 4). A VAS score ≥ 5 at the start of HBOT (OR 6.3, 95% CI 1.2–32.1) and a time interval ≥ 3 years between radiotherapy and start HBOT (OR 0.1, 95% CI 0.01–0.8) were risk factors for VAS score ≥ 5 at 12 months after HBOT in the multivariate analyses.

Discussion

In this study we add to the literature that shows that symptoms of LRTI after breast cancer improve after HBOT.^{9–11} Pain and fibrosis scores improved between the start and end of HBOT, and remained stable up to 12 months after HBOT. Shoulder range of motion improved between the start and end of HBOT. Breast oedema scores did not improve significantly between the start and end of HBOT, but 12 months after HBOT they were significantly lower than at the start of HBOT. Risk factors were elucidated for high scores 12 months after HBOT. As in previous studies, we chose the cut-off point to be LENT-SOMA scores of $\ge 2.^{6,14-16}$

Figure 4 Prevalence of LRTI symptom scores at the start of HBOT and 12 months after HBOT in 67 women; colour codes refer to LENT-SOMA scores or score intervals as indicated



HBOT is not the first line of treatment for LRTI symptoms after breast cancer. Patients are referred for HBOT when analgesics, oedema therapy, and/or physiotherapy have not led to satisfactory symptom improvement. In general, patients are very pleased with the improvement in LRTI symptoms following HBOT. They do not expect all the symptoms to resolve with HBOT, and are delighted when the quality of life improves because of decreased pain, fibrosis, or oedema and increased range of motion from the shoulder. We noticed that some patients seem to benefit more from HBOT than others and sought predictive factors. Overall, the most common risk factor for higher scores 12 months after HBOT was a higher score at the start of HBOT (Table 3). Higher scores 12 months after HBOT were correlated with more sessions of HBOT, which corresponds to our intent to tailor the treatment duration to the severity of the patient's symptoms.¹⁰

Specifically, we found that higher pain scores (LENT-SOMA and/or VAS) at 12 months after HBOT were correlated with more aggressive axillary node treatment, a higher pain score at the start of HBOT, and more sessions of HBOT (Table 3). Multivariate analyses showed the risk factors for higher scores 12 months after HBOT were higher pain scores at the start of HBOT (OR 15.0 for LENT-SOMA score and OR 6.3 for VAS score) and a shorter interval between radiotherapy and the start of HBOT (OR 0.1). Other studies have shown that the LRTI pain score is associated with the

radiotherapy dose^{8,15,17} larger breast volume,¹⁵ shorter time since radiation,⁸ and hormone therapy.⁸

We found that higher fibrosis scores at 12 months after HBOT were correlated with chemotherapy and more sessions of HBOT (Table 3). Multivariate analyses showed the only risk factor for higher fibrosis scores at 12 months after HBOT was current smoking at the start of HBOT (OR 10.2). Other studies have shown that the LRTI fibrosis score is associated with chemotherapy,^{17,18} larger irradiated volume,¹⁸ and increased time after radiotherapy.¹⁸

We found that higher breast oedema scores at 12 months after HBOT were correlated with lower age, higher body mass index, a shorter time interval between radiotherapy and start of HBOT, and a higher oedema score at the start of HBOT (Table 3). Multivariate analyses showed the only risk factor for higher breast oedema scores at 12 months after HBOT was a higher oedema score at the start HBOT (OR 23.1). Other studies have shown that LRTI breast oedema scores were associated with axillary clearance, breast ptosis, and a bra cup size larger than C.¹⁷

The prevalence of LRTI symptoms after breast cancer varies per study, which can be expected given the variety of variables that may influence outcome.¹⁹ A strength of this study is the heterogeneous population of patients who had undergone different surgeries and types of

radiotherapy representing the full spectrum of patients who suffer late sequelae of radiotherapy. On the other hand, the heterogeneous population is also a limitation of this study since it does not answer the question whether a specific patient will benefit from HBOT. Another limitation is that we do not know details about the radiotherapy our patients had, which has been shown to be an important prognostic factor for LRTI symptoms in other studies.^{6,8,15,17,18} Since the follow-up scores after three and 12 months were collected by telephone, the reported oedema and fibrosis scores could not be verified with physical examination. Another limitation is that we performed a per-protocol evaluation rather than intention to treat (10 patients prematurely stopped treatment). Furthermore, we cannot definitively attribute the improvement of symptoms to the HBOT since we did not inventory concomitant treatment such as the use of analgesics, physiotherapy, or compression. Finally, the greatest limitation of this study is the lack of a control group preventing us from excluding a placebo effect. Given the known progression of LRTI symptoms with time,^{4,6,7} we assume a control group who did not undergo HBOT would report worsening of symptoms during a 12-month follow-up period. Therefore, any future study should be in the form of a randomised, controlled trial.

In conclusion, we found significant improvement in pain, fibrosis, oedema, and shoulder movement scores among patients with LRTI after breast cancer who underwent HBOT. Shoulder movement was not followed up after completion of the HBOT. The improvement in pain, fibrosis, and oedema persisted up to 12 months after HBOT. Clinicians should be aware of this treatment option for patients with LRTI after breast cancer.

References

- Ligt K, Luyendijk M, Maaren M, Munck Ld, Schreuder K, Siesling S, et al. Borstkanker in Nederland: trends 1989-2017 gebaseerd op cijfers uit de Nederlandse Kankerregistratie. Integraal Kankercentrum Nederland, 2018 October 2018.
- 2 Feldmeier JJ. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy and delayed radiation injuries (soft tissue and bony necrosis): 2012 update. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2012;39:1121–39. PMID: 23342770.
- 3 Lv Y, He L, Wang C, Zhang L, Zhang B, Song Y. A systematic review of clinical outcomes and radiotherapy-associated toxicity in multicatheter accelerated partial breast irradiation. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98(6):e14407. doi: 10.1097/ md.000000000014407. PMID: 30732191. PMCID: PMC6380720.
- 4 Polgar C, Ott OJ, Hildebrandt G, Kauer-Dorner D, Knauerhase H, Major T, et al. Late side-effects and cosmetic results of accelerated partial breast irradiation with interstitial brachytherapy versus whole-breast irradiation after breastconserving surgery for low-risk invasive and in-situ carcinoma of the female breast: 5-year results of a randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:259–68. doi: 10.1016/ s1470-2045(17)30011-6. PMID: 28094198.
- 5 LENT SOMA tables. Radiother Oncol. 1995;35:17–60. <u>PMID: 7569012</u>.
- 6 Sperk E, Welzel G, Keller A, Kraus-Tiefenbacher U, Gerhardt

A, Sütterlin M, et al. Late radiation toxicity after intraoperative radiotherapy (IORT) for breast cancer: Results from the randomized phase III trial TARGIT A. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;135:253–60. <u>doi: 10.1007/s10549-012-2168-4</u>. <u>PMID: 22842984</u>.

- 7 Haviland JS, Owen JR, Dewar JA, Agrawal RK, Barrett J, Barrett-Lee PJ, et al. The UK standardisation of breast radiotherapy (START) trials of radiotherapy hypofractionation for treatment of early breast cancer: 10-year follow-up results of two randomised controlled trials. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14:1086–94. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(13)70386-3. PMID: 24055415.
- 8 Mak KS, Chen YH, Catalano PJ, Punglia RS, Wong JS, Truong L, et al. Dosimetric inhomogeneity predicts for long-term breast pain after breast-conserving therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;93:1087–95. doi: 10.1016/j. ijrobp.2014.05.021. PMID: 25084611.
- 9 Carl UM, Feldmeier JJ, Schmitt G, Hartmann KA. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for late sequelae in women receiving radiation after breast-conserving surgery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;49:1029–31. <u>PMID: 11240244</u>.
- 10 Teguh DN, Bol Raap R, Struikmans H, Verhoef C, Koppert LB, Koole A, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for late radiationinduced tissue toxicity: prospectively patient-reported outcome measures in breast cancer patients. Radiat Oncol. 2016;11(1):130. doi: 10.1186/s13014-016-0700-0. PMID: 27682427. PMCID: PMC5041335.
- 11 Gothard L, Stanton A, MacLaren J, Lawrence D, Hall E, Mortimer P, et al. Non-randomised phase II trial of hyperbaric oxygen therapy in patients with chronic arm lymphoedema and tissue fibrosis after radiotherapy for early breast cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2004;70:217–24. <u>doi: 10.1016/s0167-8140(03)00235-4</u>. <u>PMID: 15064005</u>.
- 12 Mathieu D, Marroni A, Kot J. Tenth European Consensus Conference on Hyperbaric Medicine: Recommendations for accepted and non-accepted clinical indications and practice of hyperbaric oxygen treatment. Diving Hyperb Med. 2017;47:24–32. doi: 10.28920/dhm47.1.24-32. PMID: 28357821. PMCID: PMC6147240.
- 13 Hoeller U, Tribius S, Kuhlmey A, Grader K, Fehlauer F, Alberti W. Increasing the rate of late toxicity by changing the score? A comparison of RTOG/EORTC and LENT/SOMA scores. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2003;55:1013–8. doi: 10.1016/s0360-3016(02)04202-5. PMID: 12605981.
- 14 Toledano A, Garaud P, Serin D, Fourquet A, Bosset J-F, Breteau N, et al. Concurrent administration of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery enhances late toxicities: Long-term results of the ARCOSEIN multicenter randomized study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;65:324–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2005.12.020. PMID: 16542788.
- 15 Key S, Miglierini P, Dupré P-F, Guilbert S, Lucia A-S, Abgral R, et al. Cosmetic outcome and chronic breast toxicity after intraoperative radiation therapy (IORT) as a single modality or as a boost using the intrabeam[®] device: A prospective study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24:2547–55. doi: 10.1245/s10434-017-5920-5. PMID: 28608120.
- 16 Panettiere P, Marchetti L, Accorsi D. The serial free fat transfer in irradiated prosthetic breast reconstructions. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 2009;33:695–700. <u>doi: 10.1007/s00266-009-9366-4</u>. <u>PMID: 19484176</u>.
- 17 Hille-Betz U, Vaske B, Bremer M, Soergel P, Kundu S, Klapdor R, et al. Late radiation side effects, cosmetic outcomes and pain in breast cancer patients after breast-conserving surgery and three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy : Risk-

modifying factors. Strahlenther Onkol. 2016;192:8–16. <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1007/s00066-015-0899-y</u>. <u>PMID: 26416291</u>.

- 18 Rodriguez Pérez A, López Carrizosa MC, Samper Ots PM, Perez-Regadera Gomez JF, Zapatero Ortuno J, Saez Garrido J de D, et al. Conservative surgery, external radiotherapy, and HDR brachytherapy in a single fraction of 7 Gy in early breast cancer: Long-term toxicity and esthetic assessment. Clin Transl Oncol. 2012;14:953–60. doi: 10.1007/s12094-012-0881-4. PMID: 22975899.
- 19 Shanley S, McReynolds K, Ardern-Jones A, Ahern R, Fernando I, Yarnold J, et al. Late toxicity is not increased in BRCA1/BRCA2 mutation carriers undergoing breast radiotherapy in the United Kingdom. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:7025–32. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-06-1244. PMID: 17145824.

Acknowledgements

Arjette Maas and Irene Stark collected the data.

Conflicts of interest and funding: nil

Submitted: 13 December 2019 Accepted after revision: 14 April 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine

https://www.dhmjournal.com

The latest issues, embargoed for one year, are available on the DHM website for the personal use of society members only. Access is via your SPUMS or EUBS website login and password.

Please respect that these are restricted access and to distribute their contents within one year of publication is a breach of copyright. Some authors request immediate release of their work, for which they pay a fee.

Older issues; articles for immediate release into the public domain; contents lists and the Abstracts of the most recent (embargoed) issues; information about submitting to the Journal; profiles of the Editorial Board and useful links are to be found on the site. The site is being expanded progressively.

Your membership ensures the continued publication of DHM - thank you for your support of SPUMS and EUBS.

Please direct any enquiries to editorialassist@dhmjournal.com

Endothelial function may be enhanced in the cutaneous microcirculation after a single air dive

François Guerrero¹, Kate Lambrechts¹, Qiong Wang¹, Aleksandra Mazur¹, Michael Théron¹, Alessandro Marroni²

¹ Univ Brest, ORPHY EA4324, IBSAM, 6 avenue Le Gorgeu, 29200 Brest, France ² DAN Europe, Roseto degli Abruzzi, Italy

Corresponding author: François Guerrero, EA4324 ORPHY, 6 Av. Le Gorgeu CS 93837, 29238 BREST Cedex 3, France *francois.guerrero@univ-brest.fr*

Key words

Scuba diving; Circulation; Skin; Endothelium; Doppler; Iontophoresis

Abstract

(Guerrero F, Lambrechts K, Wang Q, Mazur A, Théron M, Marroni A. Endothelial function may be enhanced in the cutaneous microcirculation after a single air dive. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):214–219. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.214-219. PMID: 32957122.)

Introduction: The effects of scuba diving on the vessel wall have been studied mainly at the level of large conduit arteries. Data regarding the microcirculation are scarce and indicate that these two vascular beds are affected differently by diving. **Methods:** We assessed the changes in cutaneous microcirculation before an air scuba dive, then 30 min and 24 h after surfacing. Endothelium-dependent and independent vasomotion were successively elicited by iontophoretic administration of acetylcholine and sodium nitroprusside respectively, and cutaneous blood flux was monitored by laser Doppler flowmetry. **Results:** The response to sodium nitroprusside was significantly lower 30 min after surfacing than before diving (50 (SEM 6)% of the pre-dive values, P = 0.0003) and returned to normal values 24 h post-dive (102 (29)% of the pre-dive values, P = 0.113). When compared to pre-dive values, acetylcholine elicited a hyperaemia which was not statistically different 30 min after surfacing (123 (17)% of the pre-dive values, P = 0.230), but significantly increased 24 h post-dive (148 (10)% of the pre-dive values, P = 0.005). **Conclusion:** Microvascular smooth muscle function is transiently impaired after diving. On the contrary, microvascular endothelial function is enhanced for up to 24 h after diving. This further suggests that the microcirculation reacts differently than large conduit arteries to scuba diving. The impact of modifications occurring in the microvascular bed on the physiological effects of diving merits further study.

Introduction

Impaired vasomotion after self-contained underwater breathing apparatus (scuba) diving was first reported in human large conduit arteries when decreased flow mediated dilation (FMD) of the brachial artery was observed after a single simulated air dive at 280 kPa.1 Post-dive decreased FMD was further confirmed following a single open sea diving with various breathing mixtures including air,²⁻⁵ nitrox⁶ or trimix.⁷ Although less investigated, the vasodilation induced by direct stimulation of the vascular smooth muscle (VSM) with nitric oxide (NO) donors is also decreased after diving.3,5 Altogether, these data indicate that scuba diving impairs both the endothelium and the VSM in large conduit arteries. Additionally, impairment of FMD is maximal 30 min after surfacing and recovers progressively.⁴ Indeed, FMD was still significantly reduced 48 h after the dive and needed three days for returning to pre-dive values.⁴

The microcirculation accounts for about 99% of blood vessels in adults. It is the smallest part of the vascular system and includes vessels with a diameter of less than 150 μ m,

i.e., arterioles, capillaries and venules. The microcirculation ensures the exchange of molecules between blood and tissues, as well as the regulation of blood pressure and the control of tissue fluid and oedema.⁸ All of these actions are known to be influenced by the constraints induced during diving.^{9,10} We and others have reported previously decreased microvascular reactivity after a single scuba dive.^{3,5,11–13} However, we also reported that post-dive, macro- but not microvascular impairment was not present when bubble formation was prevented,⁵ suggesting that scuba diving acts differently on these two vascular beds. In the present study, we assessed microvascular endothelium-dependent and independent reactivity and report data suggesting that microvascular endothelial function is enhanced 24 h after an air dive.

Methods

All experimental procedures were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Haute Ecole Paul Henri Spaak, Brussels, Belgium (acceptance number:ISEK – 2009 – 12 – 14 – vs1). The study was conducted during training exercises performed by a local search and rescue dive unit. Dives were performed during September 2012 at Lake Lago D'Orta in Pettenasco, Italy, at an altitude of 294 m.

STUDY POPULATION

Six male divers (age 47 (SEM 4) years; body mass index 27 (0.8) kg.m⁻²) volunteered for this study. The subjects were all experienced divers and had a valid medical certificate for diving at the time of the study. None had experienced decompression sickness (DCS) in the past. All but one were non-smokers. Prior to the experimental protocol, subjects abstained from any physical activity and diving for 72 h. The study participants were not taking medication except one subject who was receiving antihypertensive treatment. Subjects were not asked to fast; however, tea, coffee, alcohol and smoking were prohibited for 6 h prior to the test. Potential risks were explained to all subjects in detail and they gave their written informed consent before the experiment.

DIVE PROTOCOL

Each diver undertook an air dive in field conditions (water temperature 4°C). They were divided into three teams of two divers each. To account for any possible differences due to diving conditions or circadian variations which could influence microvascular reactivity, all dives were performed on the same day always in the morning. The diving site was located near the field laboratory, and divers were transported to the site by a power boat during a 10 min ride. The dive profile was planned as part of a training exercise for local rescue divers. Dive time was 20 min at 30 metres' fresh water (mfw) depth. Then, the ascent rate was 15 m.min⁻¹ with a 150 s pause at 12 mfw according to GAP DivePlanner (2003–2010), version 3.0.425.6, model RGBM, conservatism + 2 (recreational). Subjects used masks and fins and were dressed in dry suits with hood, boots, and gloves. Depth and dive time were monitored by each diver's personal dive computer.

LASER DOPPLER FLOWMETRY

To assess cutaneous microvascular endothelial function we performed iontophoresis with pharmacological agents coupled with laser Doppler flowmetry (LDF) as described previously.³ Cutaneous blood flux (CBF) was recorded in a stable temperature room (22 (1)°C) before the subjects started to equip themselves for the dive and 30 min after surfacing. Each subject was therefore used as his own control. For each diving team, the two subjects were examined in parallel, the entire LDF measurement lasting 15 to 20 min. Before any measurement, subjects were asked to empty their bladder and to remain in the supine position until the end of the measurement. LDF measurements started after at least 15 min of rest. A multifibre laser probe (PF 450-PI, Perimed, Järfälla, Sweden) specially designed to make possible simultaneous current application and CBF recording was placed at the ventral side of the forearm, 5 cm below the elbow bend to avoid site to site variation.¹⁴ CBF was measured from a small volume of skin (1 mm³) using a laser beam at 780 nm wavelength which provides good skin penetration independently of skin color and oxygen saturation.¹⁵ The probe was connected to a LD flowmeter (Periflux PF 5001, Perimed, Järfälla, Sweden).

IONTOPHORETIC STIMULATION

Iontophoresis is a method for non-invasive transdermal drug delivery based on the principle that a charged drug in solution will migrate across the skin under the influence of a direct low-intensity electric current.¹⁵ It makes possible local delivery of small amounts of pharmacological agents, thus avoiding potential systemic effects while delivering drugs in the area of CBF measurement. The laser Doppler probe used had a chamber where we positioned a 0.6 cm² sponge filled with 100 μ l of the drug solution. The iontophoretic sponge was connected to a battery powered current supply (Perilont PF 382; Perimed, Järfälla, Sweden), allowing for the delivery of regulated-intensity currents for programmable durations. It allowed the measurement of CBF in the middle of the stimulated region through a hole at the center of the sponge.

Endothelium-dependent vasodilation was first induced with a 1% acetylcholine (ACh) chloride solution administered with an anodal current (35 s, 0.10 mA). After CBF had returned to baseline values, a cathodal current (35 s, 0.10 mA) was used to deliver a 1% sodium nitroprusside (SNP) solution in order to assess endothelium-independent vasoreactivity. A stable baseline blood flow was measured for 2 min before the current was applied. Measurement of the peak increase in CBF was performed at the peak of the maximal plateau reached after each stimulation to represent the increase in vasodilation. Responses to ACh and SNP were presented as percentages of basal perfusion values measured before the iontophoretic stimulation. All traces were visualised on a personal computer using Perisoft V.5.10 (Perimed Software) and stored for later analysis.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Statistical analyses were performed with the Statistica 10 software programme (Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA). For all data, the Shapiro-Wilk test was first used to test normality. As normality was confirmed for all data, they were presented as mean (SD and SEM). A paired *t*-test was used to compare values obtained for each diver before and after the protocol. Statistical significance was set *a priori* at P < 0.05. However, in order to take into multiple comparisons (three for each substance), a Bonferroni correction was applied and, therefore, P < 0.016 was considered statistically significant for the comparison of the time of measurement on each substance.

Figure 1

Response of cutaneous blood flow to sodium nitroprusside (SNP) iontophoresis at 30 min and 24 h after an air dive. The increase in cutaneous blood flow is expressed as a percentage of blood flow variation before the dive. Thin lines are individual values; the thick line represents the mean (SEM) value; P < 0.016 between before and after diving protocol at 30 min; n = 6



Figure 2

Response of cutaneous blood flow to acetylcholine (ACh) iontophoresis at 30 min and 24 h after an air dive. The increase in cutaneous blood flow is expressed as a percentage of blood flow variation before the dive. Thin lines are individual values; the thick line represents the mean (SEM) value; P < 0.016 between before and after diving protocol at 24 h; n = 6



Results

The cutaneous microvascular response to SNP at 30 min post dive was significantly decreased compared to predive measurements (50 (SEM 6)% of the pre-dive values, P = 0.0003), as shown in Figure 1. At the same time, endothelium-dependent hyperaemia elicited by ACh averaged 123 (17)% of the pre-dive values and was not significantly changed (P = 0.230; Figure 2). However, 24 hours after this first dive, response to SNP was no longer different (102 (29)% of the pre-dive values, P = 0.113) while ACh-induced hyperaemia was significantly higher than predive values (148 (10)% of the pre-dive values, P = 0.005).

Discussion

The main result of the present study is that the impairment of microvascular smooth muscle post-dive lasts less than 24 h and that the microvascular endothelium-dependent response to ACh is increased 24 h post-dive.

The effects of scuba diving on the vascular wall have previously been assessed mainly at the level of the brachial artery. Globally, data from these studies demonstrate that scuba diving decreases both the FMD and the vasodilation induced by NO donors, indicating that the endothelium and the vascular smooth muscle are both impaired.^{1,3,5} The present study assessed vascular function at the level of the cutaneous microcirculation. Only the response of vascular smooth muscle to NO was impaired 30 min after surfacing whereas the response to endothelial stimulation by ACh remained unchanged. This observation agrees with previous studies. Indeed, although they all reported a decreased response to NO donors,^{3,5,13} the response to ACh remained unchanged in two studies^{5,13} while two others reported decreased response to endothelium stimulation by ACh3 or shear stress.11 In the present study, microvascular smooth muscle function was no longer impaired 24 h after the dive, which is shorter than the three days needed for complete recovery of the FMD.4

Laser Doppler is based on the reflection of a beam of laser light. The light undergoes changes in wavelength when it hits moving blood cells. The magnitude and frequency distribution of these changes in wavelength are related to the number and velocity of blood cells.¹⁶ LD does not directly measure cutaneous blood flow, but provides an index of skin perfusion, quantified as the product of average red blood cell velocity and their concentration, often referred to as flux. The arbitrary units correspond to the voltage of the analog signal of the LD flowmeter, with the zerovalue corresponding to the blood flow value during arterial occlusion. However, it is considered accurate at detecting and quantifying rapid changes in CBF in response to a given stimulus.¹⁴ Additionally, although plasma volume changes have been reported after scuba diving¹⁷ we have shown that this has no effect on the LDF signal, at least in this range.¹³

Besides its action through endothelium, a C-fibre (axon reflex)–mediated mechanism has also been reported during iontophoresis of ACh.¹⁸ However, this mechanism occurs only when the iontophoretic current is equal to or higher than 5.10⁻² mC·mm⁻². Given the surface of the drug-delivery electrodes (113 mm²), we used a charge density equal to 3.10⁻² mC·mm⁻² only. A recent study further confirmed that the change in cutaneous microvascular blood flow in response of iontophoresis of 2% ACh in deionised water with 0.1 mA during 30 s was due to ACh only.¹⁹ Thus, it is

unlikely that an axon reflex occurred in our study and the increase in CBF is therefore a response to ACh stimulation. In these conditions, the changes in the cutaneous response post-dive reflect the modifications of microvascular reactivity to ACh.

SNP is known to react with tissue sulfhydryl groups under physiologic conditions to produce NO and thereby directly stimulate VSM relaxation, whereas the mechanisms by which iontophoretic administration of ACh increases CBF in humans are still under debate. Prostanoids, endothelium derived hyperpolarising factors and NO have all been reported to be involved.^{15,20,21} Nevertheless, it was confirmed that ACh and SNP increase skin blood flow through endotheliumdependent and endothelium-independent mechanisms, respectively.^{21,22} Therefore, the increased response to ACh with unchanged response to SNP we observed 24 h post-dive is typical of enhanced endothelium-dependent vasodilation with normal endothelium-independent vasodilation. Moreover, the transient decrease of the response to SNP in the present study clearly indicates that VSM reactivity is impaired 30 min after the dive and recovers within 24 h. As a consequence, the unchanged response to ACh 30 min after surfacing despite a decreased response to SNP suggests that the impairment of vascular smooth muscle function is compensated by enhanced endothelial function. Taken together, our data suggests that air scuba diving might enhance microvascular endothelial function and that this effect may last up to 24 h.

Many mechanisms can explain these changes and hypotheses based on our results are speculative. Because post-dive impairment of FMD results in part from the divinginduced increase of ROS production⁴ and also in part from decompression-induced bubbles,^{5,23} it is tempting to hypothesize that the same mechanisms mediate the effect of diving on the cutaneous microcirculation. However, ROS were shown to decrease the response to ACh iontophoresis without altering that to SNP in the human cutaneous microcirculation,24,25 whereas reducing the amount of circulating bubbles has no effect on the post-dive changes of cutaneous microcirculation.⁵ Although we did not measure skin temperature, the immersion must have induced a decrease in the forearm skin temperature, especially in cold water and despite the use of dry suits. Given its role in thermoregulation, this should have resulted in decreased CBF. However, although it was previously shown that a moderate decrease of skin temperature results in progressive decrease of both ACh- and SNP-induced vasodilation,²⁶ in our study only the response to SNP (but not ACh) was decreased at 30 min post-dive. This suggests that the changes in microvascular reactivity we observed are unlikely to result from modifications of the skin temperature. Similarly, we previously reported that neither hyperbaric hyperoxia nor immersion alter the cutaneous responses to iontophoretic administration of both ACh and SNP.13 It was also shown that the increased activity of the sympathetic autonomous nervous system, previously reported after diving,²⁷ has no effect on the amplitude of the forearm skin response to iontophoretic administration of ACh or SNP.²⁸ Finally, an increase of plasma NO was reported during scuba diving.²⁹ Although, the reason and origin of this increased NO production are still unknown, it could explain the decrease in vascular smooth muscle response to the exogenous NO donor SNP through desensitisation of the soluble guanylyl cyclase.³⁰

Enhanced microvascular endothelial function after diving contrasts with the previously reported impaired endothelialdependent relaxation of conduit arteries as assessed by FMD. This further confirms that the macro and microcirculation can be affected differently by scuba diving. This is consistent with previous reports showing that the brachial artery and the cutaneous microcirculation are affected differently by various conditions such as decompression-induced circulating bubbles^{5,23} and physical exercise training.³¹ The explanations for these territorial differences are still unclear. Differences in vessel calibre-dependent blood rheology and/or signalling pathways may be involved. Indeed, shear stress is lower in the microcirculation than in conductance arteries.32 Along with that, shear stress increases endothelialdependent vasodilation through an increased NO-dependent mechanism only in the brachial artery³³ and through endothelial NO-dependent and independent pathways in the cutaneous microcirculation.34

LIMITATIONS

The low number of subjects included in the study is certainly its main limitation. Studies including more divers are needed before definitive conclusions can be made. However, differences between the times of measurements were statistically significant. Moreover, at 30 min post-dive, our results agreed with several previous studies from our group and others. As already stated in the discussion, we did not measure skin temperature at the site of measurement, nor did we regulate the temperature of the room where measurements were made. However, although an effect of temperature cannot be ruled out in our study, the room temperature did not vary throughout the experiment, and the previously reported effects of changes in skin temperature are not confluent with the changes observed in our study. In our study, we presented relative amplitudes of the increase of CBF, which gives information about the contribution of each component to the total variability observed. It was reported that wavelet analysis from haemodynamic signals makes possible the determination of different influences on skin blood flow.²¹ This represents a challenge in future research in this field.

Conclusions

Microvascular endothelial function may be enhanced up to 24 h after a SCUBA dive. This contrasts with changes which occur at the level of large conduit arteries and indicate that these two vascular beds may react differently to diving.

However, the reasons for this difference are still unknown. Additionally, whether the changes observed at the level of microcirculation could influence the divers' response to diving and/or decompression needs to be better understood. The impact of modifications occurring in microvascular bed on the physiological effects of diving is worth further studies.

References

- Brubakk AO, Duplancic D, Valic Z, Palada I, Obad A, Bakovic D, et al. A single air dive reduces arterial endothelial function in man. J Physiol. 2005;566:901–6. doi: <u>10.1113/jphysiol.2005.089862</u>. <u>PMID: 15961424</u>. <u>PMCID:</u> <u>PMC1464788</u>.
- 2 Theunissen S, Balestra C, Boutros A, De Bels D, Guerrero F, Germonpré P. The effect of pre-dive ingestion of dark chocolate on endothelial function after a scuba dive. Diving Hyperb Med. 2015;45:4–9. <u>PMID: 25964032</u>.
- 3 Lambrechts K, Pontier J-M, Balestra C, Mazur A, Wang Q, Buzzacott P, et al. Effect of a single, open-sea, air scuba dive on human micro- and macrovascular function. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2013;113:2637–45. doi: 10.1007/s00421-013-2676-x. PMID: 23949788.
- 4 Obad A, Palada I, Valic Z, Ivančev V, Baković D, Wisløff U, et al. The effects of acute oral antioxidants on diving-induced alterations in human cardiovascular function. J Physiol. 2007;578:859–70. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.122218. PMID: 17110413. PMCID: PMC2151345.
- 5 Lambrechts K, Balestra C, Theron M, Henckes A, Galinat H, Mignant F, et al. Venous gas emboli are involved in post-dive macro, but not microvascular dysfunction. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2017;117:335–44. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3537-9. PMID: 28110355.
- 6 Marinovic J, Ljubkovic M, Breskovic T, Gunjaca G, Obad A, Modun D, et al. Effects of successive air and nitrox dives on human vascular function. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2012;112:2131– 7. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2187-6. PMID: 21964910.
- 7 Obad A, Marinovic J, Ljubkovic M, Breskovic T, Modun D, Boban M, et al. Successive deep dives impair endothelial function and enhance oxidative stress in man. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging. 2010;30:432–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-097X.2010.00962.x. PMID: 20718805.
- 8 den Uil CA, Klijn E, Lagrand WK, Brugts JJ, Ince C, Spronk PE, et al. The microcirculation in health and critical disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2008;51:161–70. <u>doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2008.07.002</u>. PMID: 18774014.
- 9 Sureda A, Batle JM, Capo X, Martorell M, Córdova A, Tur JA, et al. Scuba diving induces nitric oxide synthesis and the expression of inflammatory and regulatory genes of the immune response in neutrophils. Physiol Genomics. 2014;46:647–54. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00028.2014. PMID: 25005793.
- 10 Huang KL, Lin YC. Activation of complement and neutrophils increases vascular permeability during air embolism. Aviat Space Environ Med. 1997;68:300–5. <u>PMID: 9096825</u>.
- 11 Theunissen S, Guerrero F, Sponsiello N, Cialoni D, Pieri M, Germonpré P, et al. Nitric oxide-related endothelial changes in breath-hold and scuba divers. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2013;40:135–44. <u>PMID: 23682545</u>.
- 12 Madden LA, Chrismas BC, Mellor D, Vince RV, Midgley AW, McNaughton LR, et al. Endothelial function and stress response after simulated dives to 18 msw breathing air or oxygen. Aviat Space Environ Med. 2010;81:41–5. doi:

10.3357/asem.2610.2010. PMID: 20058736.

- 13 Lambrechts K, Pontier J-M, Mazur A, Buzzacott P, Morin J, Wang Q, et al. Effect of decompression-induced bubble formation on highly trained divers microvascular function. Physiol Rep. 2013;1(6):e00142. doi: 10.1002/phy2.142. PMID: 24400144. PMCID: PMC3871457.
- 14 Cracowski J-L, Minson CT, Salvat-Melis M, Halliwill JR. Methodological issues in the assessment of skin microvascular endothelial function in humans. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2006;27:503–8. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2006.07.008. PMID: 16876881.
- 15 Roustit M, Cracowski J-L. Non-invasive assessment of skin microvascular function in humans: An insight into methods. Microcirculation. 2012;19:47–64. <u>doi: 10.1111/j.1549-8719.2011.00129.x. PMID: 21883640</u>.
- 16 Hellmann M, Roustit M, Cracowski J-L. Skin microvascular endothelial function as a biomarker in cardiovascular diseases? Pharmacol Rep. 2015;67:803–10. <u>doi: 10.1016/j.</u> pharep.2015.05.008. PMID: 26321284.
- 17 Castagna O, Blatteau J-E, Vallee N, Schmid B, Regnard J. The underestimated compression effect of neoprene wetsuit on divers hydromineral homeostasis. Int J Sports Med. 2013;34:1043–50. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1345136. PMID: 23780899.
- 18 Berghoff M, Kathpal M, Kilo S, Hilz MJ, Freeman R. Vascular and neural mechanisms of ACh-mediated vasodilation in the forearm cutaneous microcirculation. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2002;92:780–8. <u>doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01167.2000</u>. PMID: 11796692.
- 19 Loader J, Roustit M, Taylor F, MacIsaac RJ, Stewart S, Lorenzen C, et al. Assessing cutaneous microvascular function with iontophoresis: Avoiding non-specific vasodilation. Microvasc Res. 2017;113:29–39. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2017.04.006. PMID: 28457877.
- 20 Holowatz LA, Thompson CS, Minson CT, Kenney WL. Mechanisms of acetylcholine-mediated vasodilatation in young and aged human skin. J Physiol. 2005;563:965–73. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.080952. PMID: 15661816. PMCID: PMC1665610.
- 21 Kvernmo HD, Stefanovska A, Kirkebøen KA, Kvernebo K. Oscillations in the human cutaneous blood perfusion signal modified by endothelium-dependent and endotheliumindependent vasodilators. Microvasc Res. 1999;57:298–309. doi: 10.1006/mvre.1998.2139. PMID: 10329256.
- 22 Landsverk SA, Kvandal P, Bernjak A, Stefanovska A, Kirkeboen KA. The effects of general anesthesia on human skin microcirculation evaluated by wavelet transform. Anesth Analg. 2007;105:1012–9. doi: 10.1213/01. ane.0000281932.09660.96. PMID: 17898381.
- 23 Germonpré P, Balestra C. Preconditioning to reduce decompression stress in scuba divers. Aerosp Med Hum Perf. 2017;88:114–20. doi: 10.3357/AMHP.4642.2017. PMID: 28095955.
- 24 Loader J, Meziat C, Watts R, Lorenzen C, Sigaudo-Roussel D, Stewart S, et al. Effects of sugar-sweetened beverage consumption on microvascular and macrovascular function in a healthy population. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2017;37:1250–60. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.308010. PMID: 28408372.
- 25 De Marchi S, Prior M, Rigoni A, Zecchetto S, Rulfo F, Arosio

E. Ascorbic acid prevents vascular dysfunction induced by oral glucose load in healthy subjects. Eur J Intern Med. 2012;23:54–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2011.07.019. PMID: 22153532.

- 26 Abraham P, Bourgeau M, Camo M, Humeau-Heurtier A, Durand S, Rousseau P, et al. Effect of skin temperature on skin endothelial function assessment. Microvasc Res. 2013;88:56– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2013.04.005. PMID: 23628293.
- 27 Chouchou F, Pichot V, Garet M, Barthélémy J-C, Roche F. Dominance in cardiac parasympathetic activity during real recreational SCUBA diving. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2009;106:345–52. doi: 10.1007/s00421-009-1010-0. PMID: 19277697.
- 28 Landsverk SA, Kvandal P, Kjelstrup T, Benko U, Bernjak A, Stefanovska A, et al. Human skin microcirculation after brachial plexus block evaluated by wavelet transform of the laser doppler flowmetry signal. Anesthesiology. 2006;105:478–84. doi: 10.1097/00000542-200609000-00010. PMID: 16931979.
- 29 Cialoni D, Brizzolari A, Samaja M, Pieri M, Marroni A. Altered venous blood nitric oxide levels at depth and related bubble formation during scuba diving. Front Physiol. 2019;10:57. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00057. PMID: 30846941. PMCID: PMC6393372.
- 30 Koju N, Taleb A, Zhou J, Lv G, Yang J, Cao X, et al. Pharmacological strategies to lower crosstalk between nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase and mitochondria. Biomed Pharmacother. 2019;111:1478–98. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.11.128. PMID: 30841463.
- 31 Vinet A, Obert P, Courteix D, Chapier R, Lesourd B, Verney J, et al. Different modalities of exercise improve macrovascular function but not microvascular function in metabolic syndrome: The RESOLVE randomized trial. Int J Cardiol. 2018;267:165–70. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.05.073. PMID: 29866368.
- 32 Connes P, Alexy T, Detterich J, Romana M, Hardy-Dessources M-D, Ballas SK. The role of blood rheology in sickle cell disease. Blood Rev. 2016;30:111–18. doi: 10.1016/j. blre.2015.08.005. PMID: 26341565. PMCID: PMC6447059.
- 33 Pyke KE, Tschakovsky ME. The relationship between shear stress and flow-mediated dilatation: implications for the assessment of endothelial function: The shear stress stimulus-flow-mediated dilatation relationship. J Physiol. 2005;568:357–69. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2005.089755. PMID: 16051630. PMCID: PMC1474741.
- 34 Hodges GJ, Cheung SS. Noninvasive assessment of increases in microvascular endothelial function following repeated bouts of hyperaemia. Microvasc Res. 2020;128:103929. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2019.103929. PMID: 31676308.

Conflicts of interest and funding: nil

Submitted: 09 January 2020 Accepted after revision: 17 May 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Scuba diving fatalities in Australia 2001 to 2013: Chain of events

John Lippmann^{1,2}, David McD Taylor^{3,4}

¹ Australasian Diving Safety Foundation, Canterbury, Victoria, Australia

² Department of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Victoria, Australia

³ Emergency Department, Austin Hospital, Victoria, Australia

⁴ Department of Medicine, Melbourne University, Victoria, Australia

Corresponding author: Dr John Lippmann, Australasian Diving Safety Foundation, P.O. Box 478 Canterbury VIC 3126 Australia

<u>johnl@adsf.org.au</u>

Key words

Coroners findings; Diving incidents; Deaths; Drowning; Fitness to dive; Medical conditions and problems; Root cause analysis

Abstract

(Lippmann J, Taylor DM. Scuba diving fatalities in Australia 2001 to 2013: Chain of events. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):220–229. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.220-229. PMID: 32957123.)

Introduction: We aimed to identify the possible chain of events leading to fatal scuba diving incidents in Australia from 2001–2013 to inform appropriate countermeasures.

Methods: The National Coronial Information System was searched to identify scuba diving-related deaths from 2001–2013, inclusive. Coronial findings, witness and police reports, medical histories and autopsies, toxicology and equipment reports were scrutinised. These were analysed for predisposing factors, triggers, disabling agents, disabling injuries and causes of death using a validated template.

Results: There were 126 known scuba diving fatalities and 189 predisposing factors were identified, the major being health conditions (59; 47%), organisational/training/experience/skills issues (46; 37%), planning shortcomings (29; 23%) and equipment inadequacies (24; 19%). The 138 suspected triggers included environmental (68; 54%), exertion (23; 18%) and gas supply problems (15; 12%) among others. The 121 identified disabling agents included medical-related (48; 38%), ascent-related (21; 17%), poor buoyancy control (18; 14%), gas supply (17; 13%), environmental (13; 10%) and equipment (4; 3%). The main disabling injuries were asphyxia (37%), cardiac (25%) and cerebral arterial gas embolism/pulmonary barotrauma (15%).

Conclusions: Chronic medical conditions, predominantly cardiac-related, are a major contributor to diving incidents. Divers with such conditions and/or older divers should undergo thorough fitness-to-dive assessments. Appropriate local knowledge, planning and monitoring are important to minimise the potential for incidents triggered by adverse environmental conditions, most of which involve inexperienced divers. Chain of events analysis should increase understanding of diving incidents and has the potential to reduce morbidity and mortality in divers.

Introduction

Scuba diving safety can be influenced by a broad range of factors that present before, during and sometimes after the dive. Such factors include: health and fitness; organisation; planning; communication and supervision; equipment problems; decisional factors; and various environmental factors.^{1,2} A diving incident usually involves a trigger which may lead to a cascade of related events, some precipitated by the diver and some circumstantial, which may lead to morbidity or mortality. Several studies of diver fatalities have utilised a sequential or 'chain of events' analysis (CEA) to describe the suspected sequence of events within the incident. This began with a landmark report on US fatalities which divided the CEA into four categories.1 These were defined as the trigger, disabling agent (DA, an action or circumstance following the trigger which caused injury or illness), disabling injury (DI, directly responsible for death or incapacitation leading to drowning), and cause of death (specified by a medical examiner). The methodology described was adapted and subsequently applied to a large series of Australian fatalities.²

However, preceding the trigger may be factors which predispose to such an event. Some reports have highlighted the role that human factors may play in diving incidents.^{3,4} Such factors, among others, have been included in a revised CEA template as an additional category called 'predisposing factors'.⁵ This revised template was validated and subsequently used to analyse this current series of scuba diving fatalities. Such an analysis helps to identify common features in the incidents and can be used to devise appropriate countermeasures.

Methods

This was a case series of scuba diving-related fatalities that occurred in Australian waters from 2001 to 2013, inclusive.



Approval for the study was received from the Human Research Ethics Committees of the Victorian Department of Justice, the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, the Coroner's Court of Western Australia, the Queensland Office of the State Coroner and Deakin University, Melbourne.

SEARCH AND REVIEW

The methodology for identifying relevant cases is described in detail elsewhere.⁶ In brief, it comprised a comprehensive key word search of the National Coronial Information System (NCIS)⁷ to identify scuba diving-related deaths reported to various state coronial services for the years 2001 to 2013, inclusive. Cases identified were matched with those collected by the Divers Alert Network Asia-Pacific (DAN AP) via the media or the diving community in order to minimise the risk of over- or under-reporting. Relevant coronial findings, witness statements, police, autopsy and equipment reports and medical histories were reviewed, and annual case series were prepared and published.^{8–19}

CHAIN OF EVENTS ANALYSIS

This chain of events analysis for the scuba fatalities was based on the criteria and templates previously published.⁵ Event categories and sub-categories are shown in Figure 1, and categories are defined as follows:

Predisposing factor: A relevant factor(s) present prior to the dive, and/or prior to the trigger occurring, and which was believed to have predisposed to the incident and/or to key components in the accident chain (e.g., the trigger or disabling agent).

Trigger: The earliest identifiable event that appeared to transform an unremarkable dive into an emergency.

Disabling agent: An action or circumstance (associated with the Trigger) that caused injury or illness. It may be an action of the diver or other persons, function of the equipment, effect of a medical condition or a force of nature.

Disabling injury: Injury or condition directly responsible for death or incapacitation followed by death from drowning.

Cause of death: As specified by a medical examiner, which could be the same as the disabling injury or could be drowning secondary to injury.

After planning, one author (JL) applied the published templates to the data and obtained the reported results. Both authors were involved in writing the report. A hypothetical example of the application of such a template is: a diver with a faulty tank pressure gauge (predisposing factor) runs out of air (trigger), makes an emergency ascent (disabling agent), suffers a cerebral arterial gas embolism (disabling injury), becomes unconscious and subsequently drowns (cause of death).

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Descriptive analyses based on means (standard deviation) or medians (range) as appropriate were conducted using SPSS Version 25 (IBM, Armonk, New York). Comparisons of proportions employed odds ratios (OR) accompanied by 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). The level of significance was considered as $P \le 0.05$.

Results

There were 126 scuba diving fatalities during the study period. The mean (SD) age was 44 (13) years and 99 (79%) of the victims were male. Autopsy reports were available to the researchers for 123 (98%) of the cases.

PREDISPOSING FACTORS

One hundred and eighty-nine predisposing factors were identified as possible or likely contributors to the 126 deaths (Table 1). No predisposing factors were identified in seven deaths. The main factors were related to the victims' health and/or organisational/training/experience/skills-related factors prior to diving.

Pre-existing medical conditions: Forty-six divers (37%) were identified as having chronic medical conditions which likely contributed to their incident. These were predominantly cardiac conditions such as ischaemic heart disease (IHD), but also included respiratory conditions, hypertension, diabetes and epilepsy, among others. They are the subject of a separate report.²⁰

Organisational/Training/Experience/Skills: Inexperience and the associated relatively poor diving skills were implicated in 30 of the 46 deaths in this category. However, 222

Table 1

Predisposing factors (n = 189) associated with 126 scuba fatalities; some deaths involved multiple predisposing factors, hence the number of predisposing factors exceeds the number of cases; * = absence of items such as wetsuit, knife, fins, snorkel when needed

Predisposing factor	Subgroup	n	Mean (SD) age	Male/Female
		59 (47%)		
	Significant medical history	46		
Health	Fatigue	7	50 (12)	47/12
	Drug / medication intake	4		
	Obesity	2		
		46 (37%)		
Organisational/training/	Inexperienced overall	30		
experience/skills	Poor organisation	6	39 (13)	32/14
experience/skins	Lack of training / skills for dive	5		
	Lack of recent experience	5		
		29 (23%)		
Planning Poor pre-dive choice of:	Conditions	15		24/5
	Solo diving in poor conditions	6	40 (12)	
	Location	4		
	Other	4		
		24 (19%)		
Absence of appropriate	Faults	9		19/5
equipment or use of	Absence*	9	41 (12)	
faulty equipment	Over-weighting	4		
	Other	2		
		14 (11%)		
	Penetration	6		
Activity	Deep diving with CCR	3	41 (12)	13/1
	Seafood collection	3		
	Other	2		
		14 (11%)		
Supervision Poor supervision by:	Buddy	8	37 (12)	רוד
	Instructor	5	57 (12)	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
	Divemaster / guide	Divemaster / guide 1		
Communication		3 (2%)		
Poor communication or	Instructor and student	1	37 (8)	2/1
co-ordination between	Diver and others	1	57(0)	2/1
co oralination between.	Dive shop and instructor	1		

the victims included five experienced divers who had not dived for extended periods. Among five divers with little relevant experience were three very experienced divers who died due to a lack of familiarity with new equipment which included a drysuit, technical diving equipment and a rebreather. The six cases associated with organisational issues included a poor internal process by a dive shop for the oversight of the progress and needs of trainees, poor systems for the organising of introductory scuba dives, unqualified staff giving inappropriate medical advice and an inadequate system for ensuring the appropriate screening and oversight of inexperienced divers.

Planning: These factors involved poor planning decisions, generally immediately prior to the dive. The majority involved a decision to dive in obviously unsuitable conditions which included rough water and/or surge, very

poor visibility and/or strong currents. Six divers set out to dive solo in conditions that were obviously unsuitable, especially when alone, and another three intentionally separated in such circumstances. One diver failed to correctly plan his decompression requirements, and another his breathing gas requirements while diving in a cave. Other issues involved poor choice of instructor/student ratios and poor gas supply planning.

Absence of appropriate equipment or use of faulty equipment: Predisposing factors related to equipment were contributory to 24 incidents, some with multiple issues. Relevant faults were found in a variety of equipment which included the buoyancy compensation device (BCD), pressure gauge, regulator, alternative air source, oxygen sensors and tank valve. Incorrect gear configuration or assembly at the site contributed to four deaths, poor-fitting wetsuits to two

Table 2

Trigger	Subgroup	n	Mean (SD) age	Male/Female	
		68 (54%)			
	Conditions	37			
Environment	Immersion effects	19	45 (12)	52/16	
Environment	Entrapment	5	45 (15)	52/10	
	Marine animal	3			
	Other	4			
		23 (18%)			
Evertion	Pre-dive	4	52 (0)	21/2	
Exertion	During dive	13	52 (9)		
	Post-dive	6			
		15 (12%)		13/2	
	Out of gas	8			
Gas supply	Low gas	3	42 (0)		
Gas suppry	Incorrect mix	2	42 (9)		
	Contamination	1			
	Other	1			
Equipment*	N/A	10 (8%)	32 (12)	9/1	
Anxiety	N/A	10 (8%)	39 (15)	6/4	
Primary diver error	N/A	4 (3%)	37 (7)	2/2	
Buoyancy	N/A	3 (2%)	51 (10)	1/2	
Other	N/A	6 (5%)	43 (15)	5/1	
Unknown	N/A	14 (11%)			

Triggers (n = 139) associated with 126 scuba fatalities; some deaths involved multiple triggers; * = Various faults in regulators, tank valves, oxygen sensors, wet and dry suits

and weights in BCD pockets and unable to be ditched was contributory to one death. Substantial oil in cylinder air likely contributed to another.

Activity: Fourteen victims were undertaking activities that can potentially carry an increased risk of an incident. These included six penetration dives, three in freshwater caves and two in deep wrecks. In four of these, the victims became separated and ran out of breathing gas. Three incidents occurred during deep dives using a closed circuit rebreather (CCR). Another three incidents involved attacks by large sharks whilst the victims were either harvesting seafood, spearfishing or diving near where fishing was being conducted.

Poor supervision: In 13 of the 14 such incidents, poor decisions by the supervisor were made prior to the dive. Five of these involved a formal instructional situation and four involved divers who had very little or no experience. Another involved a diver (a non-instructor) teaching his girlfriend to dive. Most other incidents involved more experienced divers making poor pre-dive decisions, often about sites or conditions, which affected their inexperienced buddies.

Poor communication or co-ordination: Three incidents specifically involved poor pre-dive communication between divers and/or those overseeing them, although several cases in the preceding categories were also associated with communication or co-ordination issues.

TRIGGERS

One-hundred and thirty-nine possible or likely triggers were identified (Table 2).

Environmental: The main triggers were environment-related and were implicated in more than half of the fatalities. These were predominantly associated with adverse conditions which included current, rough seas, poor visibility, surge and depth. Twenty-three of the 37 divers with a conditionsrelated trigger were inexperienced, compared with 34 of 78 divers with other triggers. This indicates a higher association of conditions-related triggers among 'inexperienced' divers than with 'experienced' divers (OR 2.22, 95% CI 1.00–4.94; P = 0.05).

Nineteen fatalities were believed to have been associated with the cardiac-related effects of immersion; seven of these due to immersion *per se*, and twelve with the combination of immersion and exertion due to conditions. Five incidents involved entrapment due to environmental circumstances. Three deaths were associated with the presence of and subsequent attack by a shark.

Exertion: Exertion-related triggers were associated with exertion before, during or after a dive. This exertion was unrelated to adverse sea conditions and was what would normally be expected with swimming or walking whilst wearing scuba equipment. Seventeen of these 23

incidents resulted in a cardiac-related DI. Some causes included exertion before the dive (e.g., walking to the site wearing diving equipment), exertion during a dive (e.g., carrying heavy catch bags) and exertion post dive (e.g., long surface swims or boarding a boat).

Gas supply: Eleven of these 15 incidents involved low or exhaustion of breathing gas situations which occurred while hunting seafood, salvaging an anchor from a wreck at depth and during a cave penetration dive. Three incidents resulted from inappropriate breathing gas: one from contamination by oil; and two from incorrect breathing mixtures. One novice entered the water without his regulator in his mouth.

Equipment: The 10 equipment-related triggers included: one incident each of a faulty mouthpiece causing aspiration; faulty tank 'J-valve' causing loss of reserve air; tight wetsuit causing breathing restriction and subsequent panic; tank slippage causing loss of air supply; faulty mask causing leak and panic; alternate air source detachment causing loss of mask and panic; loss of fin causing mobility problems and panic; faulty oxygen sensors causing hyperoxia; faulty drysuit inflator causing problems at depth and during ascent; and faulty BCD inflator causing rapid ascent.

Anxiety: Anxiety is a likely trigger in a substantial number of diving-related deaths. However, it was only included as a factor in the CEA when there were specific witness accounts reporting that the victim displayed signs of anxiety, and this appeared to have led to panic and the subsequent fatality. There were 10 such accounts, all but one involving novice divers.

Buoyancy: Only three of the incidents appeared to have been triggered by a buoyancy-related problem. One involved a diver who had logged 55 dives but still had not mastered buoyancy control and who sank after venting too much air from her BCD during ascent. The other two involved experienced divers who were using relatively unfamiliar equipment; one a CCR and the other a drysuit.

Primary diver error: Many incidents involved diver error in the accident chain, some prior to the dive and others arising from poor decisions or arising subsequent to a problem. Four incidents are likely to have been triggered by primary diver error, in conjunction with other triggers. In one case, the diver failed to heed a repeated warning on his CCR. In another, a substantially over-weighted drysuit diver, relatively inexperienced in the use of her drysuit (although highly experienced otherwise), redescended alone with relatively little remaining air and inadvertently inverted while adjusting buoyancy. In the third incident, an experienced cave diver inadequately accounted for her ability to relocate and reach an alternative, and necessary, air supply on the other side of a narrow constriction. The final incident involved the diver entering the water without his regulator in place.

Other triggers: included three medical-related conditions, trauma, loss of dentures and inadequate decompression.

DISABLING AGENTS

There were 121 likely disabling agents identified in the 126 scuba fatalities (Table 3).

Medical: More than three-quarters of the medical-related disabling agents were likely due to cardiac conditions, predominantly ischaemic heart disease. The 'Other' category included two subdural haematomas, and one each from asthma and a pulmonary cyst.

Ascent: In at least 21 incidents, the disabling agents were clearly ascent-related, borne out by evidence of pulmonary barotrauma (PBT) or cerebral arterial gas embolism (CAGE). The actual ascent was unwitnessed in eight cases, including three where the diver had run out of breathing gas. There were other incidents in which the disabling agent may have been the ascent although this was unclear and, therefore, not included. Nine incidents were characterised by a witnessed rapid ascent, three of these involving exhaustion of the breathing gas. The incidents in which gas trapping occurred during ascent were likely associated with a pre-existing medical condition including asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and pleural effusion. These ascents were witnessed, and none were described as rapid.

Buoyancy: Eight victims became incapacitated by insufficient buoyancy on the surface as a direct consequence of failing to inflate their BCD and/or dump weights. Seven others were disabled while at depth and subsequently drowned due to poor buoyancy control. Two of these were drysuit divers who became inverted while trying to adjust buoyancy.

Gas supply: The identified events where the disabling agent was related to the lack of, or inappropriate supply of, breathing gas involved: direct exhaustion of breathing gas in eight; out of gas post-entrapment in three; loss of access to demand valve in four; and beginning the dive with inappropriate breathing gas in two (one involving suicide using pure helium and the other a hypoxic mix breathed at the surface).

Environmental: Seven deaths involved adverse sea conditions with six of the victims being disabled after heavy contact with rocks, and one drowning after being swept off the rocks. Three were disabled by shark attacks and another three were trapped and subsequently ran out of breathing gas as a direct result of entrapment.

Equipment: These incidents included one each of: incorrect fitting of an alternative air supply leading to detachment during the dive; equipment weight and bulk causing incapacitation in rough surface conditions; a ditched weight belt becoming entangled with the tank pressure gauge and

Table	3
-------	---

Disabling agents (n = 121) associated with 126 scuba fatalities; * = Unwitnessed but evidence of an ascent complication

Disabling agent	Subgroup	n	Mean (SD) age	Male/Female
		48 (38%)		
	Cardiac disease/dysfunction	38		
Medical	Oxygen seizure	3	50 (12)	42/6
	Immersion pulmonary oedema	≥ 3		
	Other	4		
		21 (17%)		
	Rapid ascent	9		
Ascent	Gas trapping	3	39 (13)	18/3
	Inadequate decompression	1		
	Unwitnessed*	8		
		18 (14%)		
Buovanav	Negative at surface	e 8 42(11)		0/0
Buoyancy	Poor control underwater 7 $42(11)$		313	
	Grossly overweighted	3		
		17 (13%)		
Gas supply	Out of gas	11	44 (13)	12/4
Cas suppry	Loss of regulator access	4	44 (13)	13/4
	Inappropriate mix	2		
Environmental		13 (10%)		
	Conditions	7	38 (11)	12/1
	Shark attacks	3	58(11)	12/1
	Entrapment	3		
Equipment		4 (3%)	38 (12)	4/0
Unknown		11 (9%)		

the loss of a fin and mask subsequent to impact with a boat hull.

DISABLING INJURIES

The predominant disabling injuries identified were asphyxia, cardiac causes and CAGE with or without evidence of PBT (Table 4). Others were immersion pulmonary oedema (IPE), trauma, and decompression sickness (DCS). In 21 cases, no clear disabling injury could be identified. In nine of these, there were indicators of a possible cardiac-related incident, although other factors, such as signs of drowning or CAGE, hampered a clear determination.

The numbers of victims in each of the Australian states identified with a cardiac-related disabling injury were: Queensland (10/29); Western Australia (5/19); South Australia (5/17); New South Wales (7/32); Victoria (4/20) and Tasmania (1/9). Among victims aged 45 years or more, 26 of 66 had a cardiac-related disabling injury, compared with six of 60 victims younger than 45 years. This indicates a strong association between being at least 45 years old and having a cardiac-related disabling injury (OR 5.85, 95% CI 2.20–15.55; P = 0.0004). Twenty-five of the 32 deaths attributed to a cardiac disabling injury were associated with exertion, compared with 18 of 94 non-cardiac deaths (78% vs. 19%). This indicates a strong association between

a disabling cardiac injury and preceding exertion (OR 6.31, 95% CI 2.52–15.80; P = 0.001).

Rough conditions were a trigger in 15 of 47 deaths attributed to asphyxia as the DI, and 6 of 79 of the deaths attributed to other disabling injuries (32% vs. 8%). This indicates a strong association between the trigger of rough conditions and asphyxia as the disabling injury (OR 5.70, 95% CI 2.03–16.04; P = 0.001). There were no other significant associations.

CAUSES OF DEATH

The predominant causes of death identified were drowning, which was reported in 64 (51%) of the incidents, cardiac causes (23, 18%) and PBT/CAGE (14, 11%). Others included trauma (three, 2%), IPE (two, 2%) and DCS (two, 2%). In 18 (14%) cases, no clear cause of death was identified by the pathologists.

Figure 2 compares the likely disabling injuries as identified by the COE analysis with the causes of death reported by the pathologists. Drowning has traditionally been (and still is in many places) recorded as the default cause of death when a lifeless diver was recovered from the water and no other obvious cause of death was apparent on autopsy. The difference between the 51% drowning as the cause of death

226

Table 4

Relative occurrence of disabling injuries in 126 scuba fatalities. Ages are in years. Data are mean (SD) unless otherwise specified. N/A – not applicable; PBT/CAGE – pulmonary barotrauma/cerebral arterial gas embolism; IPE – immersion pulmonary oedema; DCS – decompression sickness

Disabling injury	n (%)	Male/Female	Age (all)	Age (males)	Age (females)
Asphyxia	47 (37)	33/14	42 (12)	42 (10)	40 (15)
Cardiac	32 (25)	31/1	52(11)	52 (11)	46 (0)
CAGE/PBT	19 (15)	16/3	40 (14)	42 (14)	28 (12)
IPE	3 (2)	0/3	50 (1)	N/A	50 (1)
Trauma	3 (2)	3/0	29 (6)	29 (6)	N/A
DCS	1 (1)	1/0	45 (0)	45 (0)	N/A
Unclear	21 (17)	16/5	47 (12)	49 (12)	41 (11)

Figure 2

Comparison of disabling injuries and causes of death in 126 scuba fatalities; PBT/CAGE – pulmonary barotrauma/cerebral arterial gas embolism; IPE – immersion pulmonary oedema; DCS – decompression sickness



and 37% asphyxia as disabling injury may reflect cases where drowning was secondary to a cardiac arrhythmia or an injury such as CAGE.

Discussion

Various factors played an important part throughout many of these fatal events. These included pre-existing health conditions, poor fitness, lack of experience, organisational shortfalls, poor planning or supervision and inadequate equipment maintenance. In addition, inattention, carelessness, inappropriate attitude, poor decision-making and inappropriate actions, whether prior to or during an incident, can all influence the outcome. The results of this CEA highlight the value of the addition of the link for 'predisposing factors' which identified almost 200 factors that were present prior to the dives and which likely, or possibly, contributed to these fatalities. Almost one half of the predisposing factors identified were health-related and these are discussed in a separate report.²⁰ More than one third were associated with organisational factors, training, experience and skills; whilst one quarter were planningrelated. Many diving incidents involve more than one factor within and between the various categories in the CEA template, as clearly demonstrated here.

ORGANISATIONAL/TRAINING/EXPERIENCE/SKILLS FACTORS

An important organisational-level consideration is the need for improved education of the diving and medical communities in fitness-to-dive considerations, and how certain health conditions can impact diving safety. Another organisational issue that was apparent in several incidents was the need for dive operations to have clear guidelines on staff responsibilities as well as hand-over to ensure appropriate communication between staff about a customer in their care. The fact that almost three quarters of the victims in this series were found wearing their weight belts⁶ suggests that more needs to be done during and after basic scuba training to highlight the need to attain positive buoyancy in an emergency and to consolidate the required skills.

However, the predominant factor in this category was inexperience, which is discussed in detail in a previous paper.⁶ Although more than 90% of the victims were certified or undergoing training at the time of their fatal incident, approximately one half had done fewer than 30 lifetime dives and were, therefore, relative novices. As such, it is unsurprising that lack of skills and inexperience contributed to many deaths. In addition, lack of recent diving is likely to affect current competency and appears to have been contributory to some accidents in both experienced divers and novices.

The template on which this CEA was based⁵ is dynamic and should to be adjusted when necessary to improve its utility. In future studies, rather than utilising the combined category of organisational/training/experience/skills as defined in the template, it may be simpler and more effective to separate this into two separate categories; 'organisational' and 'individual diving capacity' with the latter incorporating an individual's training status, experience and skill level.

PLANNING-RELATED FACTORS

One quarter of the incidents involved poor planning decisions such as diving in patently adverse conditions, and/or diving solo or with an obviously ineffective buddy system. The latter is discussed in more detail in a previous paper.⁶ Poor planning was a factor in at least four of the seventeen deaths which occurred during diver training. Dive planning should always allow for adverse events ('Murphy's Law'); a history of trouble-free practice of a procedure is no guarantee of lack of future problems. Past poor practice where there have been no obvious repercussions can lead to 'normalisation of deviance' whereby it becomes acceptable not to follow best practice and so narrows the margin of safety.⁴

ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

Various environmental factors appear to have been the triggers in almost one half of the incidents. The majority of these were associated with adverse sea conditions including, singularly or in combination, strong currents, poor visibility, rough surface conditions and underwater surge. Inexperienced divers, especially those with poor aquatic skills and lack of comfort in the aquatic environment, can more easily underestimate and be overcome by what might be mild to moderate sea conditions for those with more experience and skill. Even diving veterans can become overconfident in what they believe to be manageable conditions. In this series, inexperienced divers (defined in this study as having done fewer than 30 dives) were twice as likely to have had a conditions-related trigger than those who had done more than 30 previous dives. Sea conditions are dynamic, and appropriate local knowledge, planning and monitoring are important to minimise the potential for such problems.

EXERTION

Exertion was the trigger, or a co-trigger, in over a quarter of these fatal incidents. Dependent on the wearing of weighty equipment, diving inherently involves some level of exertion which can be multiplied manyfold by the presence of a current and rough conditions. Given the potential cardiac demands associated with diving, it is unsurprising that cardiac-related disabling injuries were six times more likely to be associated with preceding exertion than were other disabling injuries.

EQUIPMENT-RELATED PROBLEMS

Although post-incident equipment examination, when conducted, revealed faults in the equipment of one third of the victims, these appear to have been directly contributory as a trigger in a relatively small percentage (8%) of the deaths.⁶ This is lower than the 18% previously reported for Australia (1972-2005),² 15% for the USA (1992-2003),¹ and 20% in the UK (1998–2009).²¹ The apparent reduction in equipment triggers may be due in part to improvements in the design and quality of equipment or in its maintenance and appropriate use by divers over time, as well as regional differences in equipment use. A recent report from a survey of European divers indicated an overall incidence of equipment malfunction in 2.7% of 39,099 dives.²² However, in the UK fatality series,²¹ over half of the equipment-related deaths involved the use of rebreathers which are more commonly used in the UK than in Australia and many other countries. The likely over-representation of rebreathers in 'near-misses' reported by some Australian divers²³ is testament to the greater complexity of these devices, and the increased need for training, maintenance and vigilance.²⁴⁻²⁶ Many fatal incidents involving rebreather divers appear to result from human error. However, a considerable number have also been attributed to design faults in the devices, something that is being progressively identified and addressed.24,27,28

All the equipment-related deaths in this series were preventable. For example, one inexperienced diver failed to secure his alternative-air second stage during assembly, such that it came detached during a cave dive. If the dive operator had secured the fitting, the death would likely not have occurred. Other problems arose from lack of maintenance. BCD inflator/deflator mechanisms have historically been a common cause of mishaps,²⁹ and continue to be so. Faulty submersible tank pressure gauges should have been identified well before the planned dive and repaired or replaced.

The use of pre-dive checklists should be invaluable in the prevention of a variety of diving mishaps, including those related to equipment, and should be strongly encouraged throughout the diving community, but especially among those using more complicated equipment, such as rebreathers.^{30–32}

GAS SUPPLY PROBLEMS

Gas supply-related issues comprised 12% of triggers and 13% of the disabling agents in this series, usually resulting in CAGE or asphyxia. Despite the ubiquity and relatively low cost of good quality submersible tank pressure gauges, breathing gas depletion remains a problem.⁶ This is usually a result of inexperience, inattention, poor planning or faulty equipment. All of these are preventable with appropriate equipment maintenance, careful gas supply planning and greater situational awareness prior to, and during, the diving. Technical divers need to be very careful about their choice of breathing gases to avoid using an inappropriate mixture during any part of a dive. Several deaths in this series were associated with the use of unsuitable breathing mixtures, either inadvertently or through poor planning.

Although contamination of breathing gas was not definitively identified as the direct cause of any death in a scuba diver in Australia between 2001 and 2013, it has been subsequently.³³ However, oil contamination was a likely contributor to one death in this series, in which the diver appeared to have become nauseated, made a rapid ascent and suffered a CAGE. Deficiencies in the required purity of the breathing air were found in over 8% of cases, so this is an area requiring vigilance. Correct compressor placement, maintenance and appropriate oversight by knowledgeable personnel are important; the addition of carbon monoxide monitoring is highly desirable.

LIMITATIONS

As with any uncontrolled case series, the collection and analysis of fatality data are subject to inevitable limitations and uncertainties associated with the incident investigations. Given that many incidents go unwitnessed, assertions in the reports are sometimes speculative. Important information may not have been available in some cases, which rendered CEA data incomplete, thus limiting the conclusions that could be drawn. Even with the use of a template, classification of cases into a sequence of five events in the CEA is imperfect and remains vulnerable to some subjectivity. The chain of successive events is a simplified representation of incidents that may be the result of parallel events and more factors than fit into the five categories used. Therefore, misclassification of factors into such categories is possible. However, this should not prevent identification of modifiable factors in what were, ultimately fatal events.

Conclusions

Chronic medical conditions, predominantly cardiac-related, are a major contributor to diving deaths. It is important that divers with such conditions, indeed all 'older' divers, undergo fitness-to-dive assessments, preferably with doctors with dive medical training. Other common predisposing factors involved organisational shortcomings, inadequate training, experience and skills, and poor planning and supervision. Appropriate local knowledge and monitoring are important to minimise the potential for the many incidents triggered by adverse environmental conditions, most of which involve inexperienced divers. An increased understanding of the impact of the many contributing factors by using chain of events analysis will enhance education about diving fatalities throughout the medical and diving communities. This has a considerable potential to reduce morbidity and mortality in divers.

References

- Denoble PJ, Caruso JL, de L Dear G, Vann RD. Common causes of open-circuit recreational diving fatalities. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2008;35:393–406. <u>PMID</u>: 19175195.
- 2 Lippmann J, Baddeley A, Vann R, Walker D. An analysis of the causes of compressed gas diving fatalities in Australia from 1972-2005. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2013;40:49–61. <u>PMID: 23397868</u>.
- 3 Lock G. Human factors within recreational scuba diving an application of the human factors analysis and classification system (HFACS). 21 March 2011. Available from: <u>https:// cognitasresearch.files.wordpress.com/2012/08/humanfactors-in-sport-diving-incidents.pdf</u>. [cited 2019 October 25].
- 4 Lock G. 2014 DISMS Annual Report. Cognitas Incident and Management Ltd. 01 Feb 2015. Available from: <u>https:// cognitasresearch.files.wordpress.com/2015/02/2014dismsan</u> <u>nualreport_final.pdf.</u> [cited 2019 October 25].
- 5 Lippmann J, Stevenson C, McD Taylor D, Williams J, Mohebbi M. Chain of events analysis for a scuba diving fatality. Diving Hyperb Med. 2017;47:144–54. doi: 10.28920/ dhm47.3.144-154. PMID: 28868594. PMCID: PMC6159623.
- 6 Lippmann J, Taylor D McD, Stevenson C. Scuba diver fatalities in Australia, 2001 to 2013: Diver demographics and characteristics. Diving Hyperb Med. 2020;50:105–14. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.2.105-114. PMID: 32557411.
- 7 National Coronial Information System (NCIS) [Internet]. Administered by the Victorian Department of Justice and Regulation. Available from: <u>http://www.ncis.org.au</u>. [cited 2019 June 22].
- 8 Lippmann J, Lawrence C, Fock A, Jamieson S. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2012. Diving Hyperb Med. 2018;48:141–67. doi: 10.28920/ dhm48.3.141-167. PMID: 30199888. PMCID: PMC6205854.
- 9 Lippmann J, Lawrence C, Fock A, Jamieson S, Harris R. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2011. Diving Hyperb Med. 2016;46:207–40. <u>PMID:</u> 27966202.
- 10 Lippmann J, Lawrence C, Fock A, Wodak T, Jamieson S, Harris R, et al. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2010. Diving Hyperb Med. 2015;45:154–75. <u>PMID: 26415067</u>.
- 11 Lippmann J, Lawrence C, Fock A, Wodak T, Jamieson S. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2009. Diving Hyperb Med. 2013;43:194–217. <u>PMID:</u> 24510326.
- 12 Lippmann J, Walker D, Lawrence C, Fock A, Wodak T, Harris R, et al. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2008. Diving Hyperb Med. 2013;43:16–34. <u>PMID: 23508659</u>.
- 13 Lippmann J, Walker D, Lawrence CL, Fock A, Wodak T, Jamieson S. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in

Australian waters 2007. Diving Hyperb Med. 2012;42:151–70. PMID: 22987462.

- 14 Lippmann J, Walker D, Lawrence C, Fock A, Wodak T, Jamieson S. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2006. Diving Hyperb Med. 2011;41:70–84. <u>PMID: 21848110</u>.
- 15 Walker D, Lippmann J, Lawrence C, Fock A, Wodak T, Jamieson S. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2005. Diving Hyperb Med. 2010;40:131–49. <u>PMID: 23111911</u>.
- 16 Walker D, Lippmann J, Lawrence C, Houston J, Fock A. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2004. Diving Hyperb Med. 2009;39:138–61. <u>PMID:</u> <u>22753244</u>.
- 17 Walker D, Lippmann J. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2003. Diving Hyperb Med. 2009;39:4–19. <u>PMID: 22753163</u>.
- 18 Walker D. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2002. Diving Hyperb Med. 2008;38:8–28.
- 19 Walker D. Provisional report on diving-related fatalities in Australian waters 2001. Diving Hyperb Med. 2006;36:122–38.
- 20 Lippmann J, Taylor D McD. Medical conditions in scuba diving fatality victims in Australia, 2001 to 2013. Diving Hyperb Med. 2020;50:98–104. <u>doi: 10.28920/dhm50.2.98-104. PMID: 32557410</u>.
- 21 Cumming B, Peddie C, Watson J. A review of the nature of diving in the United Kingdom and of diving fatalities (1998-2009). In: Vann RD, Lang MA, editors. Recreational diving fatalities. Proceedings of the Divers Alert Network 2010 April 8–10 Workshop. Durham (NC): Divers Alert Network; 2011. p. 99–117. Available from: https://www.diversalertnetwork.org/files/Fatalities. Proceedings.pdf. [cited 2019 June 22].
- 22 Cialoni D, Pieri M, Balestra C, Marroni A. Dive risk factors, gas bubble formation, and decompression illness in recreational scuba diving: Analysis of DAN Europe DSL data base. Front Psychol. 2017;8:1587. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2017.01587. PMID: 28974936. PMCID: PMC5610843.
- 23 Lippmann J, Taylor D McD, Stevenson C, Williams J. Challenges in profiling Australian scuba divers through surveys. Diving Hyperb Med. 2018;48:23–30. doi: 10.28920/ dhm48.1.23-30. PMID: 29557098. PMCID: PMC6467821.
- 24 Deep Life Design Group. Rebreather fatal accident database to 11 July 2019, with analysis. Nassau, Bahamas: Deep Life Ltd; 2017. Available from: <u>http://www.deeplife.co.uk/or_accident.php</u>. [cited 2019 October 25].
- 25 Fock AW. Analysis of recreational closed-circuit rebreather deaths 1998–2010. Diving Hyperb Med. 2013;43:78–85. <u>PMID: 23813461</u>.
- Stone B. Rebreather hazard analysis and human factors or how we can engineer rebreathers to be as safe as OC scuba. In: Vann RD, Denoble PJ, Pollock NW, editors. Rebreather Forum 3 Proceedings. Durham (NC): AAUS/DAN/PADI; 2013. p. 153–72. Available from: <u>http://media.dan.org/RF3_web.pdf</u>. [cited 2019 October 25].
- 27 Mitchell SJ. Rebreather Forum 3 Consensus. In: Vann RD, Denoble PJ, Pollock NW, editors. Rebreather Forum 3 Proceedings. Durham (NC): AAUS/DAN/PADI; 2013. p.

287–8. Available from: <u>http://media.dan.org/RF3_web.pdf</u>. [cited 2019 October 25].

- 28 Vann RD, Pollock NW, Denoble PJ. Rebreather fatality investigation. In: Pollock NW, Godfrey JM, editors. Diving for science 2007. Proceedings of the American Academy of Underwater Sciences 25th Symposium. Dauphin Island (AL): AAUS; 2007. p. 101–10.
- 29 Acott C. Evaluation of buoyancy jacket safety in 1,000 incidents. SPUMS Journal. 1996;26:89–94. Available from: http://archive.rubicon-foundation.org/xmlui/ bitstream/handle/123456789/6288/SPUMS_V26N2_10. pdf?sequence=1. [cited 2019 September 10].
- 30 Ranapurwala SI, Wing S, Poole C, Kucera KL, Marshall SW, Denoble PJ. Mishaps and unsafe conditions in recreational scuba diving and pre-dive checklist use: a prospective cohort study. Inj Epidemiol. 2017;4:16. doi: 10.1186/s40621-017-0113-z. PMID: 28480488. PMCID: PMC5457958.
- 31 Ranapurwala SI, Denoble PJ, Poole C, Kucera KL, Marshall SW, Wing S. The effect of using a pre-dive checklist on the incidence of diving mishaps in recreational scuba diving: a cluster-randomized trial. Int J Epidemiol. 2016;45:223–31. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyv292. PMID: 26534948.
- 32 Kohler R. Failure is not an option: The importance of using a CCR checklist. In: Vann RD, Denoble PJ, Pollock NW, editors. Rebreather Forum 3 Proceedings. Durham (NC): AAUS/DAN/ PADI; 2013. p. 246–51. Available from: <u>http://media.dan.org/ RF3_web.pdf</u>. [cited 2019 October 25].
- 33 Coroners court of Queensland. Inquest into the death of Andrew John Thwaites. [cited 2019 November 02]. Available from: <u>https://www.courts.qld.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf___file/0004/577093/cif-thwaites-aj-20180724.pdf</u>.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge Monash University National Centre for Coronial Information for providing access to the National Coronial Information System; State and Territory Coronial Offices; various police officers, dive operators and divers who provided information on these fatalities. Acknowledgements are also due to Dr Chris Lawrence, Dr Andrew Fock, Scott Jamieson, Tom Wodak, Dr Douglas Walker and Dr Richard Harris for their contributions to the annual case series, and Assoc Prof Christopher Stevenson for his input.

Conflicts of interest and funding

Dr Lippmann is Chairman and CEO of the Australasian Diving Safety Foundation (ADSF). This study was funded by Divers Alert Network Asia-Pacific and the ADSF.

Submitted: 22 January 2020 Accepted after revision: 01 April 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Evaluation of pressure in water-filled endotracheal tube cuffs in intubated patients undergoing hyperbaric oxygen treatment

Younès Benzidi¹, Thibault Duburcq¹, Daniel Mathieu¹, Erika Parmentier-Decrucq¹

¹ Intensive Care Unit and Hyperbaric Center, Lille University Hospital, Lille, France

Corresponding author: Erika Parmentier-Decrucq, Pôle de Réanimation Médicale, Hôpital Salengro, CHU, 2 rue Emile Laisne, 59037 Lille cedex, France

<u>erika.parmentier@chru-lille.fr</u>

Key words

Intensive care medicine; Mechanical ventilation; Cuff pressure; Patient monitoring; Ventilators

Abstract

(Benzidi Y, Duburcq T, Mathieu D, Parmentier-Decrucq E. Evaluation of pressure in water-filled endotracheal tube cuffs in intubated patients undergoing hyperbaric oxygen treatment. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):230–237. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.230-237. PMID: 32957124.)

Introduction: Inflating endotracheal tube cuffs using water instead of air before hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) is common. The objective of this study was to assess cuff pressure (P_{cuff}), when the cuff was inflated using water, in normobaric conditions and during HBOT.

Methods: This was a prospective, observational study taking place in hyperbaric centre and intensive care unit of the University Hospital of Lille. Every patient who required tracheal intubation and HBOT at 253.3 kPa (2.5 atmospheres absolute [atm abs]) was included. P_{cuff} was measured using a pressure transductor connected to the cuff inflating port. Measurements were performed at 'normobaria' (1 atm abs) and during HBOT at 2.5 atm abs.

Results: Thirty patients were included between February and April 2016. Recordings were analysable in 27 patients. Mean P_{cuff} at normobaria was 60.8 (SD 42) cmH₂O. Nineteen (70%) of patients had an excessive P_{cuff} (higher than 30 cmH₂O). Coefficient of variation was 69%. Mean P_{cuff} at 2.5 atm abs was 51.6 (40.7) cmH₂O, significantly lower than at normobaria (P < 0.0001). Coefficient of variation was 79%. In only five (18%) patients was $P_{cuff} < 20$ cmH₂O at 2.5 atm abs.

Conclusions: In normobaric conditions, when the cuff was inflated using water and not specifically controlled P_{cuff} was not predictable. The cuff was typically over-inflated exceeding safe pressure. During HBOT P_{cuff} decreased slightly.

Introduction

Endotracheal tube cuff pressure (P_{cuff}) monitoring is recommended for ventilated patients.¹ Target levels for P_{cuff} should be between 20 and 30 cmH₂O, to avoid both underpressure, causing micro-inhalations and ventilator associated pneumonia (VAP), and overpressure, which is a risk factor for tracheal mucosa ischaemia and tracheal stenosis.²⁻³ In prehospital clinical practice, P_{cuff} is not routinely measured. In a series of 107 patients with air inflation of the cuff, a systematic analysis of $\mathrm{P}_{\mathrm{cuff}}$ showed over-inflation in 79% of cases. P_{cuff} was 56 (SD 34) cmH₂O when intubation was performed outside the hospital and 69 (37) cmH₂O when intubation was performed within the hospital.⁴ In another study in the operating theatre, when not controlled, P_{cuff} was measured at 58 (31) cmH₂O.⁵ Without manometric control, cuff air inflating pressure is unpredictable and varies from one patient to another, however, over-inflation is usually observed.

During hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT), patients are subjected to ambient pressure variations. If cuffs remain inflated with air, which is compressible, cuff volume will decrease during compression – following the Boyle -Mariotte Law – leading to leakage during positive pressure ventilation. During decompression, an increase in cuff volume can cause cuff rupture. Water is non-compressible, and replacing cuff air with water before HBOT sessions is the accepted and usual technique.⁶ Ventilatory leakage is inversely correlated with P_{cuff} ⁷ In current practice, the quantity of water injected into the cuff is whatever volume is required to prevent ventilatory leakage.

This technique is empirical. To our knowledge, P_{cuff} of waterinflated endotracheal tubes has never been evaluated, and P_{cuff} is not monitored in HBOT conditions. Initial pressure levels in normobaric and hyperbaric conditions are unknown. Moreover, the completeness of cuff air removal under these conditions is unknown. Air bubbles remaining in the inflation system could cause unexpected pressure variations. The aim of this observational study was to determine P_{cuff} in normobaric and hyperbaric conditions, when endotracheal tube cuffs are inflated with water within a standard care protocol. As water-filled cuffs have long been used in our unit and in other hyperbaric treatment centres with no adverse effects, we were expecting to find equivalent pressures in cuffs, whether water or air-inflated.



Figure 1 Schematic of the cuff pressure (P_{outf}) and airway pressure (P_{aw}) monitoring system

Methods

This prospective observational pilot study was performed in the intensive care unit (ICU) and the hyperbaric centre of the Lille University Hospital in collaboration with the Clinical Investigation Centre – Technological Innovation of Lille (INSERM CIC-IT 807). Our study was considered by the Ethics Commission of the French Language Resuscitation Society (SRLF) as a low-risk, usual-care study for which waiver for consent was granted (CE SRLF 13-31). No changes in patient management were caused by our study since it was descriptive by design. Patients (or their families) were nevertheless informed orally and in writing. Although their consent was not required, they were free to refuse to be included at any time. The data were collected and processed anonymously.

The primary objective of this study was to evaluate the median P_{cuff} at 101.3 kPa ('normobaria', 1.0 atmosphere absolute [atm abs]) in water-inflated cuffs as compared to that in air-inflated cuffs. Secondary objectives were the assessment of median P_{cuff} at 253.3 kPa (2.5 atm abs) in both conditions, and any P_{cuff} variations during HBOT sessions.

During a three-month period, all intubated and ventilated adult patients receiving HBOT at 2.5 atm abs during working hours were included, whether intubated within the ICU or before admission.

The HBOT protocol used involved a 15-min pressure rise from normobaria to 2.5 atm abs, maintaining this pressure over 90 min, followed by a 15-min decompression period back to normobaria. As water is non-compressible, replacing air with water in endotracheal tube cuffs before HBOT sessions is the accepted and usual technique in our unit. The usual practice before compression is to aspirate the air and replace it with sterile water whilst maintaining the endotracheal tube in situ. The amount of water injected into the cuff is whatever volume is required to prevent ventilatory leakage.

 P_{cuff} and airway pressure (P_{aw}) were monitored continuously during HBOT sessions beginning at normobaria, 15 min prior to compression (initial P_{cuff}), 15 min after the session was over (final P_{cuff}) and during treatment (120 min). P_{cuff} was measured in the way we measure invasive arterial pressure. The cuff was connected to an arterial pressure transducer (Edwards Lifesciences) connected to the Physiotrace® (Physiotrace 1.0, Estaris Monitoring, Lille, France) data acquisition board (Figure 1).⁸ Pressure transducers and tubing were purged with water, then connected to the cuff using the inflation valve. Airway pressure (P_{aw}) was monitored continuously via a pressure transducer (Edwards Lifesciences) connecting the breathing circuit filter to the Physiotrace® acquisition station (Figure 1). Physiotrace® includes a blood pressure measurement module which enables calibration (performed before each measurement), acquisition and processing of the blood pressure transducer data. To meet HBOT safety requirements and reduce fire risks as much as possible, the acquisition station was placed outside the hyperbaric chamber and connected to the pressure transducers via conventional electrical wiring through sealed bushings. Signals were post-analysed by an expert in signal processing. Low quality signals or with artifacts were excluded from the study.

To answer a question raised by our initial results, we performed further experimental tests (cylindrical cuffed endotracheal tubes) at 1.0 and 2.5 atm abs under two conditions: 1) usual practice: aspirating the cuff air out then

Table 1

General demographic and clinical data. Data are n (%) or median [IQR]. ACV – assist-control ventilation mode; CO – carbon monoxide; HBOT – hyperbaric oxygen treatment; IP – inspiratory pressure; MV – mechanical ventilation; NSTI – necrotizing soft tissue infection; PEEP – positive end-expiratory pressure; PSV = pressure support ventilation mode; RR – respiratory rate; SAPS-2 – simplified acute physiology score; VAP – ventilator-associated pneumonia

Patients	27
Age (years)	48 [35-67]
SAPS-2	59 [39-64]
Weight (kg)	79 [67.5–88]
Male	22 (81)
HBOT indication	
Cervical NSTI	8 (30)
NSTI, other locations	11 (41)
Anoxic encephalopathy	6 (22)
Air embolism	1 (4)
CO intoxication	1 (4)
Delay between ICU	
admission and inclusion	1 [1-4]
(days)	
Intubation	
Orotracheal	24 (89)
Nasotracheal	3 (11)
Endotracheal tube size	7.5 [7-7.5]
(mm)	, [, ,]
Ventilator	
Siarétron®	24 (89)
Maquet®	3 (11)
ACV	25 (93)
Tidal volume (mL)	440 [420–480]
RR (breaths min ⁻¹)	20 [16-25]
PSV	2 (7)
IP (cmH ₂ O)	14 and 16
PEEP (cmH ₂ O)	6 [6–8]
VAP	2 (22)
MV duration (days)	11 [5–16.5]
Time spent without MV	2 [0, 7, 5]
(days)	2 [0-7.5]
ICU stay duration (days)	14 [8.5-23.5]
Mortality	8 (30)

replacing it with water; 2) aspirating absolutely all the air present in the cuff, its inflation channel, as well as in the control cuff by performing multiple fluid purges. The tests were performed in 'static' conditions, without ventilation, and in 'dynamic' conditions, with ventilation, on a test lung, at 1 and 2.5 atm abs.

The data collected were demographic (sex, age, weight) and clinical (HBOT indication, endotracheal tube used, mechanical ventilation (MV) specifics). Patient followup was continued until ICU discharge and clinical events related to the management of P_{cuff} such as clinical tracheal ischeamia, days without MV, length of stay in the ICU, and outcome were collected. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software (version 20.0, SPSS, Chicago, IL). Results for qualitative variables are presented as numbers (percentage) and for quantitative variables are expressed in median with interquartile range. Pressures before, during and after HBOT were compared using the Wilcoxon signedrank method.

Results

Between 01 February and 28 April 2016, 59 ventilated patients received HBOT. Twenty-nine patients could not be included because HBOT was urgent or because the session pressure was above 2.5 atm abs. Thus, 30 patients were included in the study; owing to artifacts, only the P_{cuff} and P_{aw} of 27 patients could be analysed.

The median age of patients was 48 (IQR 35–67) years, 81% were men. The median simplified acute physiology score (SAPS-2) was 59 (IQR 39–64). The median time between ICU admission and HBOT was 1 (IQR 1–4) day. In eight of the 27 patients, HBOT was prescribed for cervical necrotizing soft tissue infections, in 11 for necrotizing soft tissue infections in other locations, in 6 for post-anoxic encephalopathy following self-attempted hanging, and in two for other indications (Table 1).

INTUBATION AND VENTILATION

Intubation was orotracheal in 24 (89%) patients, whilst three were intubated with a nasotracheal tube because of airway compression due to cervical necrotizing soft tissue infection. These three patients also required a reinforced endotracheal tube (Mallinckrodt TM Lo-Contour reinforced). The median internal diameter of the endotracheal tube was 7.5 (IQR 7-7.5) mm. All patients were intubated before admission to our ICU, which is why nine different endotracheal tubes were identified. The Rüschelit® super safety clearTM tube was the most widely used (12/27, 44% of patients). All endotracheal tubes were made of polyvinyl chloride (PVC). Cuffs were cylindrical in 22 (81%) of cases, oval in four (MallinckrodtTM Lo-Contour reinforced) and conical in one (MallinckrodtTM TaperguardTM Evac). MallinckrodtTM Lo-Contour reinforced tubes were the only tubes with high-pressure cuffs. A tube with subglottic suction (MallinckrodtTM TaperguardTM Evac and Portex®SACETTTM) was used for two patients (Table 2).

A Maquet Servo-i HBO[®] (Getinge, Solna, Sweden) ventilator was used for ventilating three patients; two in pressure support ventilation (PSV) mode because of ventilator weaning and one under assist-control ventilation (ACV) mode. Twenty-four patients were ventilated with a Siaretron 1000 IPER® ventilator (Siare Engineering International Group, Crespellano-Valsamoggia, Italy) in ACV mode. When the ventilatory mode was ACV, the median tidal volume (TV)

Endotracheal tubes	Patients	Cuff shape	Subglottic suction
Rüschelit® super safety clear TM Teleflex, Wayne, USA	12	cylindrical	_
Rüsch® safety clear plus [™] Teleflex, Wayne, USA	2	cylindrical	_
Sheridan/HVT® Teleflex, Wayne, USA	1	cylindrical	_
Mallinckrodt [™] Lo-Contour reinforced Covidien, Dublin, Ireland	4	oval	_
Mallinckrodt [™] Hi-Contour Covidien, Dublin, Ireland	2	cylindrical	-
Mallinckrodt [™] oral/nasal tracheal tube cuffed Covidien, Dublin, Ireland	1	cylindrical	-
Mallinckrodt [™] Taperguard [™] Evac Covidien, Dublin, Ireland	1	conical	+
Portex® clear PVC oral/nasal soft seal® cuff Smith Medical, Minneapolis, USA	3	cylindrical	_
Portex® SACETT TM Smith Medical, Minneapolis, USA	1	cylindrical	+

 Table 2

 Endotracheal tube characteristics and manufacturers

Table 3

Endotracheal cuff (P_{euff}) and airway (P_{aw}) pressures at 1 and 2.5 atm abs for all patients (n = 27); Min = minimum; Max = maximum

Parameter	1 atm abs		2.5 atm abs			D	
	Median [IQR]	Min	Max	Median [IQR]	Min	Max	r
P_{cuff} (cmH ₂ O)	53.9 [24.6-84.7]	7.8	199	38.9 [22.6–61.5]	6.2	191	< 0.001
P_{aw} (cmH ₂ O)	11 [9.1–17]	6	21	12.2 [8.7–19.2]	6	23	0.024

was 440 (IQR 420–480) mL and the median respiratory rate (RR) was 20·min⁻¹ (IQR 16–25). Median positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) was 6 (IQR 6–8) cmH₂O.

Median duration of MV was 11 (IQR 5–16.5) days and time spent without MV was 2 (IQR 0–7.5) days. The median stay in ICU was 14 (IQR 8.5-23.5) days; eight of the 27 patients died.

CUFF PRESSURE DATA

Before HBOT, the initial P_{cuff} was 52.9 (IQR 27.6–84.8) cmH₂O with a lowest value of 6.1 cmH₂O, and a highest value of 203 cmH₂O. Back at atmospheric pressure, the final P_{cuff} was 57.1 (IQR 24.6–84.5) cmH₂O. Initial and final P_{cuff} were not statistically different. The median normobaric P_{cuff} was 53.9 (IQR 24.6–84.7) cmH₂O with a lowest value of 7.8 cmH₂O and a highest value of 199 cmH₂O. At 1 atm abs, P_{cuff} exceeded the usual limit of 30 cmH₂O in 19 (70%) of patients, between 20 and 30 cmH₂O in five of patients (5/27) and < 20 cmH₂O in three patients. The average recording time at 2.5 atm abs was 90 min. At 2.5 atm abs the median P_{cuff} was 38.9 (IQR 22.6–61.5) cmH₂O, significantly lower than at 1 atm abs before and after

the HBOT session (P < 0.001). At 2.5 atm abs, 18 (67%) of patients had a $P_{cuff} > 30 \text{ cmH}_2\text{O}$, four between 20 and 30 cmH₂O and five < 20 cmH₂O. The median P_{aw} was 11 (IQR 9.1–17) cmH2O at 1 atm abs and 12.2 (IQR 8.7–19.2]) cmH₂O at 2.5 atm abs (P = 0.024) (Table 3).

PRESSURE DATA FOR RÜSCHELIT[®] SUPER SAFETY CLEAR[™] TUBES

Initial P_{cuff} was 47.7 (IQR 27.1–67.3) cmH₂O. Final P_{cuff} was 47.6 (IQR 23.4–68.9) cmH₂O. Initial and final P_{cuff} were not statistically different. The median normobaric P_{cuff} was 47.2 (IQR 24.4–68.1) cmH₂O with a lowest value of 16.2 cmH₂O and a highest value of 102 cmH₂O. At 2.5 atm abs, the median P_{cuff} was 34.8 (IQR 18.7–49.2) cmH₂O, significantly lower than at 1 atm abs before and after the session (P = 0.002). The median P_{aw} was 12.5 (IQR 9.4–17.3) cmH₂O at 1 atm abs and 14 (IQR 9.1–19.4]) cmH₂O at 2.5 atm abs (P = 0.022).

Discussion

In complete contrast with the expected results, the P_{cuff} was high in water-inflated cuffs. The median P_{cuff} at 1 atm abs when cuffs were water-filled was









235

53.9 (IQR 24.6–84.7]) cmH₂O (n = 27) and 47.2 (IQR 24.4–68.1) cmH₂O in the 12-patient group with Rüschelit® super safety clearTM tubes. To our knowledge, this was the first time that this parameter was assessed in these conditions. The gauges usually used to control and adjust the P_{cuff} operate only when the cuffs are inflated with air. The experimental system (Figure 1) devised to measure P_{cuff} with water is actually simple and could be made available on a routine basis.

The results are consistent with other data.⁴ Without manometric control, cuff inflation with air or water is unpredictable from one patient to another and, therefore, tends to over-inflation.⁴ This over-inflation might be explained by the lack of clinical detection. Since air leaks during mechanical ventilation are inversely correlated with P_{cuff} , cuff underinflation can be clinically detected as an audible leak, loss of volume from the ventilation circuit, or detected by the ventilator monitor.⁷ This method for assessing pressure is unreliable and does not ensure that a level of P_{cuff} above 20 cmH₂O will be maintained as recommended to avoid microinhalations.1 In contrast, the tracheal ischaemia potentially induced by cuff over-inflation is not clinically detectable. Nurses palpating the external ('control') cuff on the inflation tube to estimate P_{cuff} is not a reliable method.9

A secondary objective of the study was to describe the changes in P_{cuff} during HBOT sessions. At 2.5 atm abs, on average, P_{euff} decreased by 15 cmH₂O to reach a median P_{cuff} of 38.9 (IQR 22.6-61.5) cmH₂O. This was also observed in the 12 patients intubated with the Rüschelit® endotracheal tube. Back at 1 atm abs, P_{cuff} returned to its original level (Figure 2). Water being non-compressible, we hypothesised an incomplete aspiration of air before replacing it with water in the cuffs. Since any remaining air bubbles are compressible, according to Boyle-Mariotte's Law, their presence results in the decrease in recorded P_{cuff}. To explore this hypothesis, we performed tests as explained in the Methods section. The results are shown in Figures 3 and 4. P_{euff} remains stable at an ambient pressure of 1 atm abs, but there is a small but clear decrease in $\boldsymbol{P}_{\rm cuff}$ when ambient pressure increases to 2.5 atm abs, with a recovery of the original P_{cuff} after returning to 1 atm abs, whether conditions were static or dynamic (Figure 3). Conversely, after repetitive air removal manoeuvers, P_{cuff} was totally stable, whether at 1 or 2.5 atm abs, under static or dynamic conditions (Figure 4).

Besides the volume of air or water injected, P_{cuff} can be influenced by other factors such as tracheal size and the ratio of tracheal diameter and cuff diameter, cuff type (high or low pressure), thickness, compliance, geometry, curvature of the tracheal tube and position in the trachea.¹⁰⁻¹² Since none of these factors vary during HBOT sessions, they cannot be blamed for hyperbaric P_{cuff} variations. Patient temperature also influences P_{cuff} .¹³ In theory, patient cooling could lower cuff pressure, but since ambient temperature increases during a hyperbaric exposure this is unlikely. We conclude that imperfect purging of air from the cuff, is the most plausible cause of P_{cuff} reduction during the period at 2.5 atm abs.

High P_{cuff} appears to be a major risk factor for tracheal ischaemia. The main complication of tracheal ischaemia is the occurrence of tracheal stenosis. The occurrence of tracheomalacia, false obstructive tracheal membranes, tracheo-oesophageal or tracheo-innominate fistulas is unusual. Tracheal mucosa perfusion was reduced at a $P_{out} > 30 \text{ cmH}_{2}O$ and completely suppressed at $> 50 \text{ cmH}, \text{O.}^3$ An animal study found that superficial lesions appeared after 15 min of intubation at 27 cmH₂O tracheal pressure.¹⁴ The median P_{cuff} at 1 atm abs for our patients was 53.9 (IQR 24.6-84.7) cmH₂O and median intubation time was 11 days (IQR 5-16.5). In our treatment protocol, most patients requiring HBOT were given two sessions a day. Their cuff remained inflated with water throughout the treatment, for several days. Yet no clinical event related to possible tracheal ischaemia was reported. Literature analysis shows that clinically detected consequences involving tracheal ischaemia are rare events, especially when tracheal ischaemia is not systematically sought. Its incidence has not been evaluated recently. But in tomography of 47 patients after tracheal intubation, a tracheal size reduction greater than 10% was found in 9 cases. None of those tracheal stenoses were symptomatic.¹⁵ In another study, when tracheal stenosis was routinely sought three months after intubation, the incidence was 11%.16

One mitigating factor is that the measured P_{cuff} may be different to the tracheal mucosa pressure applied by the cuff. While for a high pressure endotracheal tube, a 30 cmH₂O P_{cuff} generates an equivalent pressure on the tracheal mucosa, the P_{cuff} for a low pressure tube, generates a lower pressure on the tracheal mucosa because of the elastic forces of the cuff material.17 Half of our patients were intubated with tubes with high-volume low-pressure cuffs (Rüschelit® super safety clearTM and MallinckrodtTM TaperguardTM Evac). Cuff inflation with water instead of air may still induce a tracheal mucosa pressure different from that expected with air for the same P_{euff}. However, this has never been studied. Despite the very high P_{cuff} we measured, no clinical events due to tracheal ischaemia occurred. Since this study was observational, it lacks medium-term and long-term bronchoscopy follow-up to screen for tracheal stenosis.

Our study was observational and has not shown any clinical impact, neither regarding cuff overpressure during HBOT nor for P_{cuff} decrease at 2.5 atm abs. Nevertheless, in the light of previous clinical studies and current recommendations, a change in our practice is under consideration, with an evaluation of the effect this change would have. We feel our results should undergo validation by other centres following the same practice.

An alternative would be replacing water with air at the end of each HBOT session. However, if two HBOT sessions are performed per day, this means replacing water or air in the cuff four times a day. These manipulations are known to be a risk factor for ventilator acquired pneumonia and are thus avoided in our practice. Water is replaced by air if hyperbaric treatment is stopped and the patient remains intubated. Alternatively, an endotracheal tube with an expansile foam cuff could be used (Bivona®Fome Cuff Wire Reinforced, Smith Medical, Minneapolis, USA). The foam cuff is connected to ambient air, thus inflating itself. Under standard conditions with air inflation, this type of endotracheal tube would create fewer tracheal ischaemic lesions than would a high-volume low-pressure cuff tube.^{18,19} This system, however, has not been evaluated under hyperbaric conditions. Moreover if used, many ICU patients would require re-intubation since this may not be the usual device with which the patients were intubated. As an alternative, a smart Cuff Manager which monitors and regulates the internal pressure of high-volume, low-pressure cuffs is being tested. This seems promising for sessions at 2.5 atm abs but inefficient at 4 atm abs.

Several devices for the continuous control of tracheal cuff pressure have been successfully tested in ICU patients. They allow a more reliable control of P_{cuff} around a target value than intermittent control.^{20–22} Among these devices, only pneumatic pressure regulators, unlike electrical pressure regulators, have shown effectiveness in reducing ventilator acquired pneumonia risk.²³ Such a regulator could be an interesting alternative in the control of initial P_{cuff} and could limit the depression of the P_{cuff} during HBOT. If the cuff is inflated with air, the device must be extremely reactive in order to avoid a major cuff overpressure and rupture during decompression. However, this system requires evaluation during HBOT. This device has never been tested when the cuff is inflated with water.

Finally a pressure transducer could be used to control P_{cuff} as in the present study. This method has previously been described outside HBOT.²⁴ P_{cuff} control could be continuous during HBOT sessions, with a detection of under- and over-pressure episodes, to which the inside attendant could provide the necessary adjustments. An initial pressure measurement at 1 atm abs may suffice if a complete purge of the air by the method described in the protocol is performed. This method has the advantage of being simple, inexpensive and does not require buying or testing any additional hardware.

There are some limitations to our study. The sample size is small. Also, patients were intubated with many different endotracheal tubes. For ethical reasons, we wished to provide a general overview of some points in our daily practice. The next stage should be to perform a larger study in terms of number of patients all fitted with the same endotracheal tubes. Our results, even though they are not necessarily generalizable, need to be confirmed by further study with a view to avoiding high P_{cuff} and potential tracheal ischaemias.

Conclusions

The median P_{cuff} at 1 atm abs, when the cuff is inflated with water and is not controlled by a dedicated device, is not predictable and usually far above the recommended standards. During HBOT sessions, the P_{cuff} drops, probably due to incomplete air purging of the inflation system. The clinical consequences of these observations have not been evaluated. Measuring water-inflated P_{cuff} is easy. It now remains to be proved whether a complete purge of air from the inflation system could reliably avoid the P_{cuff} drop observed at 2.5 atm abs.

References

- American Thoracic Society, Infectious Diseases Society of America. Guidelines for the management of adults with hospital-acquired, ventilator-associated, and healthcareassociated pneumonia. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005;171:388–416. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200405-644ST. PMID: 15699079.
- 2 Rello J, Soñora R, Jubert P, Artigas A, Rué M, Vallés J. Pneumonia in intubated patients: Role of respiratory airway care. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1996;154:111–5. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.154.1.8680665. PMID: 8680665.
- 3 Seegobin RD, van Hasselt GL. Endotracheal cuff pressure and tracheal mucosal blood flow: Endoscopic study of effects of four large volume cuffs. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). 1984;288(6422):965–8. doi: 10.1136/bmj.288.6422.965. PMID: 6423162. PMCID: PMC1442489.
- 4 Galinski M, Tréoux V, Garrigue B, Lapostolle F, Borron SW, Adnet F. Intracuff pressures of endotracheal tubes in the management of airway emergencies: The need for pressure monitoring. Ann Emerg Med. 2006;47:545–7. doi: 10.1016/j. annemergmed.2005.08.012. PMID: 16713783.
- 5 Liu J, Zhang X, Gong W, Li S, Wang F, Fu S, et al. Correlations between controlled endotracheal tube cuff pressure and postprocedural complications: A multicenter study. Anesth Analg. 2010;111:1133–7. doi: 10.1213/ ANE.0b013e3181f2ecc7. PMID: 20736432.
- 6 Weaver LK. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment for the critically ill patient. Diving Hyperb Med. 2015;45:1. <u>PMID: 25964030</u>.
- Pitts R, Fisher D, Sulemanji D, Kratohvil J, Jiang Y, Kacmarek R. Variables affecting leakage past endotracheal tube cuffs: A bench study. Intensive Care Med. 2010;36:2066–73. doi: 10.1007/s00134-010-2048-5. PMID: 20852839.
- 8 De Jonckheere J, Logier R, Dassonneville A, Delmar G, Vasseur C. PhysioTrace: An efficient toolkit for biomedical signal processing. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc. 2005;7:6739–41. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2005.1616051. PMID: 17281820.
- 9 Hoffman RJ, Parwani V, Hahn I-H. Experienced emergency medicine physicians cannot safely inflate or estimate endotracheal tube cuff pressure using standard techniques. Am J Emerg Med. 2006;24:139–43. doi: 10.1016/j. ajem.2005.07.016. PMID: 16490640.
- Hoffman RJ, Dahlen JR, Lipovic D, Stürmann KM. Linear correlation of endotracheal tube cuff pressure and volume. West J Emerg Med. 2009;10(3):137–9. <u>PMID: 19718371</u>. <u>PMCID: PMC2729210</u>.
- 11 Lichtenthal P, Borg U. Endotracheal cuff pressure: Role of

tracheal size and cuff volume. Crit Care. 2011;15(Suppl 1):P147. doi: 10.1186/cc9567.

- 12 Bernhard WN, Yost L, Joynes D, Cothalis S, Turndorf H. Intracuff pressures in endotracheal and tracheostomy tubes. Related cuff physical characteristics. Chest. 1985;87:720–5. doi: 10.1378/chest.87.6.720. PMID: 3996057.
- 13 Souza Neto EP, Piriou V, Durand PG, George M, Evans R, Obadia JF, et al. Influence of temperature on tracheal tube cuff pressure during cardiac surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1999;43:333–7. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-6576.1999.430315.x. PMID: 10081541.
- 14 Nordin U. The trachea and cuff-induced tracheal injury. An experimental study on causative factors and prevention. Acta Oto Laryngol Suppl. 1977;345:1–71. <u>PMID: 335778</u>.
- 15 Stauffer JL, Olson DE, Petty TL. Complications and consequences of endotracheal intubation and tracheotomy. A prospective study of 150 critically ill adult patients. Am J Med. 1981;70:65–76. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(81)90413-7. PMID: 7457492.
- 16 Kastanos N, Estopá Miró R, Marín Perez A, Xaubet Mir A, Agustí-Vidal A. Laryngotracheal injury due to endotracheal intubation: Incidence, evolution, and predisposing factors. A prospective long-term study. Crit Care Med. 1983;11:362–7. doi: 10.1097/00003246-198305000-00009. PMID: 6839788.
- 17 Doyle A, Santhirapala R, Crowe M, Blunt M, Young P. The pressure exerted on the tracheal wall by two endotracheal tube cuffs: A prospective observational bench-top, clinical and radiological study. BMC Anesthesiol. 2010;10:21. doi: 10.1186/1471-2253-10-21. PMID: 21143882. PMCID: PMC3016350.
- 18 Lederman DS, Klein EF, Drury WD, Donnelly WH, Applefeld JJ, Chapman RL, et al. A comparison of foam and air-filled endotracheal-tube cuffs. Anesth Analg. 1974;53:521–6. <u>PMID: 4858245</u>.
- 19 Gordin A, Chadha NK, Campisi P, Luginbuehl I, Taylor G, Forte V. Effect of a novel anatomically shaped endotracheal tube on intubation-related injury. Arch Otolaryngol Head

Neck Surg. 2010;136:54–9. doi: 10.1001/archoto.2010.195. PMID: 20083779.

- 20 Weiss M, Doell C, Koepfer N, Madjdpour C, Woitzek K, Bernet V. Rapid pressure compensation by automated cuff pressure controllers worsens sealing in tracheal tubes. Br J Anaesth. 2009;102:273–8. doi: 10.1093/bja/aen355. PMID: 19112060.
- 21 Valencia M, Ferrer M, Farre R, Navajas D, Badia JR, Nicolas JM, et al. Automatic control of tracheal tube cuff pressure in ventilated patients in semirecumbent position: A randomized trial. Crit Care Med. 2007;35:1543–9. doi: 10.1097/01. CCM.0000266686.95843.7D. PMID: 17452937.
- 22 Duguet A, D'Amico L, Biondi G, Prodanovic H, Gonzalez-Bermejo J, Similowski T. Control of tracheal cuff pressure: A pilot study using a pneumatic device. Intensive Care Med. 2007;33:128–32. doi: 10.1007/s00134-006-0417-x. PMID: 17063357.
- 23 Nseir S, Zerimech F, Fournier C, Lubret R, Ramon P, Durocher A, et al. Continuous control of tracheal cuff pressure and microaspiration of gastric contents in critically ill patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;184:1041–7. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201104-0630OC. PMID: 21836137.
- 24 Ganigara A, Ramavakoda CY. Continuous real time endotracheal tube cuff pressure waveform. J Clin Monit Comput. 2014;28:433–4. doi: 10.1007/s10877-014-9584-4. <u>PMID: 24838549</u>.

Conflicts of interest and funding: nil

Submitted: 25 February 2019 Accepted after revision: 18 March 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.
Assessment of insulin sensitivity during hyperbaric oxygen treatment

David Wilkinson^{1,2}, Suzy Szekely¹, Brian Gue², Charmaine S Tam³, Ian Chapman², Leonie K Heilbronn²

¹ Hyperbaric Medicine Unit, Royal Adelaide Hospital, Adelaide, Australia

² Adelaide Medical School, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

³ Centre for Translational Data Science and Northern Clinical School, Sydney, Australia

Corresponding author: Dr David Wilkinson, Hyperbaric Medicine Unit, Royal Adelaide Hospital, Port Road, Adelaide, SA 5000, Australia

david.wilkinson@sa.gov.au

Key words

Endocrinology; Hyperbaric research; Obesity; Metabolism; Physiology

Abstract

(Wilkinson D, Szekely S, Gue B, Tam CS, Chapman I, Heilbronn LK. Assessment of insulin sensitivity during hyperbaric oxygen treatment. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):238–243. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.238-243. PMID: 32957125.)

Introduction: Previous studies using a hyperinsulinaemic, euglycaemic glucose clamp have demonstrated an increase in peripheral insulin sensitivity in men with and without Type-2 diabetes mellitus on the third and thirtieth hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) session. In two studies using different techniques for assessment of insulin sensitivity, we investigated the onset and duration of this insulin-sensitising effect of HBOT.

Methods: Men who were obese or overweight but without diabetes were recruited. One study performed a hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic glucose clamp (80 mU.m⁻².min⁻¹) at baseline and during the first HBOT exposure (n = 9) at a pressure of 203 kPa. Data were analysed by paired *t*-test. The other study assessed insulin sensitivity by a frequently sampled intravenous glucose tolerance test (FSIGT) at three time points: baseline, during the third HBOT and 24-hours post-HBOT (n = 9). Results were analysed by repeated-measures ANOVA.

Results: There was a significant 23% increase in insulin sensitivity by clamp measured during the first HBOT exposure. The FSIGT showed no significant changes in insulin sensitivity.

Conclusions: The hyperinsulinaemic, euglycaemic glucose clamp demonstrated a significant increase in peripheral insulin sensitivity during a single, 2-hour HBOT session in a group of men who were obese or overweight but without diabetes. As an alternate technique for assessing insulin sensitivity during HBOT, the FSIGT failed to show any changes during the third HBOT and 24-hours later, however modification of the study protocol should be considered.

Introduction

While hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) is not used to treat diabetes mellitus *per se*, it has been observed that when people with diabetes undergo HBOT they may experience a decrease in blood glucose levels (BGL), potentially inducing clinical hypoglycaemia.^{1,2} One study showed a substantial average BGL decrease of 3.5 mmol.l⁻¹ during a 2-hour HBOT session, with no change in serum insulin concentrations, suggesting an increase in insulin sensitivity as an underlying mechanism.³

Insulin resistance is defined as a relative impairment of the action of insulin on target tissues, particularly muscle and liver. The development of insulin resistance is the best predictor of those likely to develop type-2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in the future.⁴ The inverse of insulin resistance is termed insulin sensitivity. In addition, obesity is strongly associated with the development of insulin resistance and T2DM via activation of a chronic inflammatory state.⁵ The insulin resistance has effects on peripheral tissue glucose uptake as well as hepatic glucose production although an important effect is found in the peripheral tissues, specifically muscle.⁶

Of the many techniques available to assess insulin sensitivity, the hyperinsulinaemic, euglycaemic glucose clamp is the gold standard.^{7,8} In a preliminary study of men (with and without T2DM) who were receiving a course of 30 HBOT sessions for medical indications, the glucose clamp technique revealed a substantial and significant increase in insulin sensitivity from baseline during their third (37% increase) and thirtieth (41% increase) HBOT sessions.⁹ On subgroup analysis, this increase was significant only in those with T2DM, however numbers were small. A subsequent study, again using the glucose clamp technique, enrolled men who were obese or overweight (body mass index (BMI) > 25 kg.m²), with and without T2DM.¹⁰ This study demonstrated significant increases in insulin sensitivity during the third daily HBOT session in those with T2DM

(57% increase) and without (29% increase). The increased insulin sensitivity was still measurable 30-minutes after exit from the hyperbaric chamber.

Unanswered questions include how quickly the insulinsensitising effect of HBOT occurs, how long it persists and its underlying mechanisms. To investigate this, we planned to assess insulin sensitivity during the first HBOT using the hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic glucose clamp. However, while the glucose clamp technique is accurate, it is labour intensive and made more complicated by being performed within a hyperbaric chamber under pressure. We therefore designed a further study to assess an alternative, technically easier method of assessing insulin sensitivity in the chamber, which, if sufficiently accurate, could be more easily used for repeated studies on the same participant. Having previously shown that the insulin-sensitising effect could be demonstrated in men without T2DM, we designed these studies using men who were obese or overweight $(BMI > 25 \text{ kg.m}^{-2})$ but without diabetes. This paper reports two studies: the use of the hyperinsulinaemic, euglycaemic glucose clamp to test the effect on insulin sensitivity during the first HBOT session and secondly, the use of a frequently sampled intravenous glucose tolerance test (FSIGT) to assess insulin sensitivity during HBOT and after 24-hours.

Methods

Both studies were approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the Royal Adelaide Hospital (RAH121212a, RAH140321) and the University of Adelaide and entered on a trial registry site (NCT02009813; NCT02136615). Both studies were carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. All participants provided written, informed consent.

PARTICIPANT SELECTION

Both studies enrolled participants via local advertisement and a web-based recruitment company. Only men were studied as insulin sensitivity in women can vary throughout the menstrual cycle. Other inclusion criteria included age over 18 years with no history of diabetes; participants were obese or overweight (BMI > 25 kg.m⁻²). Exclusion criteria included: prescribed or non-prescribed medication that may affect glucose homeostasis (e.g., corticosteroids); smoking; alcohol intake > 140 g·week⁻¹; regular, high-intensity exercise (> twice weekly); blood donation or involvement in any other study within the last three months. All participants were assessed for fitness to undertake HBOT by a hyperbaric physician.

HYPERINSULINAEMIC EUGLYCAEMIC GLUCOSE CLAMP STUDY DESIGN

The hyperinsulinaemic, euglycaemic glucose clamp was first described by DeFronzo in 1979.¹¹ Insulin is infused at a constant rate that is above fasting levels, to stimulate glucose disposal in peripheral tissues but suppress hepatic glucose output. A variable dose glucose infusion is guided by regular blood sampling to measure BGL and 'clamp' the BGL at a pre-determined level (in this case, 6 mmol.1⁻¹). After running the infusions for a period of time, a steady-state can be reached where BGL and glucose infusion are stable. At this point, the glucose infusion rate (GIR) is equal to the glucose disposal rate. The GIR is a direct measure of whole body glucose disposal for a given level of hyperinsulinaemia.⁸

Ten participants were enrolled. A dual-emission X-ray absorptiometry scan (DXA) was performed at baseline for all participants to determine fat free mass (FFM). All participants attended the hyperbaric medicine unit after a 10 h overnight fast. Two intravenous cannulae were inserted into contralateral arms, one for the insulin and glucose infusions and the other for blood sampling. A primed insulin (Actrapid, Novo Nordisk, Baulkham Hills, Australia) solution (80 mU·m⁻²·min⁻¹) was infused for 3.5 h as previously described.¹⁰ Blood samples were taken at 5-10 min intervals and BGL measured by glucometer (Accu-Chek Performa, Roche Diagnostics, Sydney, Australia). BGL was maintained at 6 mmol·l⁻¹ with a variable infusion of 25% dextrose (Baxter Healthcare, Old Toongabbie, Australia). Insulin sensitivity was determined by the GIR during two separate but consecutive 30-minute steady state (SS) periods in the last hour of the infusion; SS1 corresponded with 2.5-3 h and SS2 with 3-3.5 h. The GIR was standardised for FFM from the DXA scan.

The following day, all participants returned after overnight fasting and the 3.5 h glucose clamp was repeated using the same protocol, this time overlayed with a 2 h HBOT session. The twin-lock, multiplace hyperbaric chamber (Fink Engineering/Cowan Engineering, Australia, 1994) was compressed to 203 kPa followed by breathing 100% oxygen by mask or hood during 90 min at 203 kPa and a 30 min linear decompression to 101.3 kPa. Insulin sensitivity was determined by the GIR during the same two SS periods, so SS1 coincided with the last 30 min of the 2 h HBOT session and SS2 with the first 30 min after exit from the chamber. Statistical analyses were performed using Statistica (version 12, Statsoft, Tulsa, OK, USA). A paired *t*-test was used to compare GIR. Statistical significance was considered at P < 0.05.

FREQUENTLY SAMPLED INTRAVENOUS GLUCOSE TOLERANCE TEST STUDY DESIGN

An indirect measure of insulin sensitivity was developed by Bergman in 1979 using mathematical modelling of glucose and insulin data from an intravenous glucose tolerance test.¹² Following the glucose bolus, frequent measurement of blood glucose and insulin are made. The complex relationship between glucose and insulin in the disposal of glucose from the blood is built into pharmacokinetic models that are fit to the data. Parameters that provide best fit are derived. This includes insulin sensitivity (S_1), defined as fractional glucose disappearance per insulin concentration unit.⁸ Other parameters include: glucose effectiveness (S_G), the ability of glucose to promote its own disposal; the acute insulin response to glucose (AIR_G) or first-phase insulin response; the disposition index (DI), a product of insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion, which is a constant. The mathematics to calculate these parameters has been packaged into a commercially available software program (MINMOD Millennium, Pasadena, CA, USA). The FSIGT has shown reasonable correlation with the glucose clamp (r = 0.54).⁷

Twelve participants were enrolled. On the first study day (Day 1) all participants attended the hyperbaric medicine unit at the Royal Adelaide Hospital after a 10-hour overnight fast. A baseline FSIGT was performed in room air with the participant resting in a chair outside of the hyperbaric chamber according to the following protocol. Two intravenous cannulae were inserted into contralateral forearms and blood taken for time zero. A glucose bolus was given into one of the cannulae at time zero over one minute. The weight-dependant bolus used 25% dextrose (Baxter Healthcare, Old Toongabbie, Australia) at 300 mg·kg⁻¹ to a maximum dose of 120 ml (30 g dextrose). Blood sampling from the other cannula was performed at 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 19, 22, 25, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 90, 120, 150 and 180 minutes.

Each participant then underwent three HBOT sessions on consecutive days (Days 2–4), with compression to 203 kPa breathing oxygen for 90 min and a 30 min decompression. During the third HBOT session on Day 4, another FSIGT was performed using the same protocol as on Day 1. Compression of the chamber to 203kPa takes 7 minutes and time zero for the dextrose bolus aligned with the start of oxygen breathing during the 90 min period at 203 kPa. A further FSIGT was performed 24 h later on Day 5, in air outside the hyperbaric chamber. The three FSIGTs were performed at a similar time of the day.

Blood samples taken at each of the time points were analysed for glucose and insulin. Insulin was measured by radioimmunoassay (Millipore, St. Charles, MO, USA). Glucose was measured using commercial enzymatic kits on a Beckman AU480 clinical analyser (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA). All samples for each subject were analysed within the same analytic run to minimise instrument variation. The glucose and insulin data were entered into the minimal model software to derive insulin sensitivity and the other parameters. These measures were statistically analysed by repeated measures ANOVA using SPSS for Windows (Version 22, SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). Statistical significance was considered at P < 0.05.

Table 1Demographics of participants in the glucose clamp study, n = 9;DXA – dual-emission X-ray absorptiometry scan

Parameter	Mean (SD)
Age	47 (5.7)
Height (cm)	176.4 (10.3)
Weight (kg)	97 (15.1)
Body mass index (kg.m ⁻²)	31.1 (3.0)
DXA fat free proportion (%)	64.3 (0.1)
Baseline insulin sensitivity (mg.kgFFM ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹)	8.57 (3.02)

Results

HYPERINSULINAEMIC EUGLYCAEMIC GLUCOSE CLAMP

One participant sustained a minor middle ear barotrauma during compression at the start of the HBOT. He was removed from the hyperbaric chamber and excluded from the study. Characteristics of the remaining nine participants are shown in Table 1. The GIR data were normally distributed by Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Figure 1A shows the GIR during SS1 (the last 30 min of the HBOT session). There was a significant increase in insulin sensitivity from Day 1 to Day 2, as measured by the GIR (t = -2.89, df = 8, P = 0.02). Figure 1B shows the GIR during SS2 (the first 30 min after leaving the chamber), the rise was not statistically significant (t = -1.87, df = 8, P = 0.10).

FREQUENTLY SAMPLED INTRAVENOUS GLUCOSE TOLERANCE TEST

One participant sustained a minor middle ear barotrauma at the start of compression and was removed from the hyperbaric chamber; another withdrew for personal reasons. On laboratory analysis, another participant had glucose and insulin levels on arrival for the FSIGT on the third HBOT and again 24 h later which suggested a failure to follow the fasting protocol, and these data were excluded. Characteristics of the remaining nine participants are shown in Table 2. The results of the minimal model analysis of the FSIGT are shown in Table 3. Data sets for all parameters showed large variances and there were no significant changes in any of the measured parameters.

Table 2Demographics of participants in the FSIGT study, n = 9

Parameter	Mean (SD)
Age	37.1 (13)
Weight (kg)	99.3 (15.2)
Height (cm)	172.6 (3.8)
Body mass index (kg.m ⁻²)	33.2 (4.1)

Figure 1 (A) Glucose infusion rate (GIR) at baseline vs. HBOT during SS1 (last 30 min in chamber); (B) GIR at baseline vs. HBOT during SS2 (first 30 min after HBOT); * P = 0.02



Table 3

Insulin sensitivity and other parameters derived from minimal model analysis; data are mean (SD); $S_1 =$ Insulin sensitivity, $S_G =$ Glucose effectiveness, AIR_G = Acute insulin response to glucose

Parameter	Day 1	Day 4	Day 5
$S_{I}(mU\cdot l^{-1}\cdot min^{-1})$	3.35 (1.27)	3.82 (2.09)	4.23 (3.38)
S_{G} (min ⁻¹ x100)	1.55 (0.79)	1.58 (0.92)	1.48 (0.82)
$AIR_{G} (mU \cdot l^{-1} \cdot min^{-1})$	720 (462)	573 (275)	706 (364)
Disposition index	2304 (2004)	1862 (1115)	2165 (1089)

Discussion

Using an in-chamber hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic glucose clamp technique, we have previously shown that routine HBOT typically used for clinical indications is associated with significant increases from baseline in peripheral insulin sensitivity on the third day of daily HBOT sessions.9,10 Utilising the same clamp technique, we have now found that the HBOT-induced increase in insulin sensitivity occurs during the very first HBOT session. This study also confirms the previous findings that the insulinsensitising effect of HBOT can be identified in overweight/ obese men without diabetes and is not specific to those with diabetes. The findings that the effect can be identified during the first HBOT exposure and in men without diabetes should make future studies examining the effects of HBOT on insulin sensitivity and the effects underlying them easier to undertake.

In our previous study using the glucose clamp technique, HBOT significantly increased insulin sensitivity not only during the final 30 min of the 2 h spent under HBOT conditions, but also during the first 30 min after exit from the hyperbaric chamber, when performed on the third HBOT exposure.¹⁰ The current study used the glucose clamp technique on the first HBOT and found significantly increased insulin sensitivity under hyperbaric conditions (during SS1). In contrast, there was not a significant increase over baseline insulin sensitivity during the first 30 min after leaving the chamber (SS2). There is a trend towards an increase in insulin sensitivity, however small sample size and large variance in the data make statistical significance more difficult to achieve. Another consideration as to why SS2 did not achieve significance in the current study could be that one HBOT has less impact than three; there was a 23% increase in insulin sensitivity during the first HBOT compared to a 29% increase in men without diabetes during the third HBOT.¹⁰ There may be some accumulation of the HBOT effect with repeated exposures, however its duration of effect is not known. It is clear however, that one 2 h HBOT session is sufficient to see a change in insulin sensitivity. This finding is also consistent with clinical practice in hyperbaric medicine where anecdotally, people with diabetes have experienced a fall in their BGL during their first HBOT session.

Our previous studies performed the clamp on the third HBOT session for two reasons: to improve the chances of identifying an effect if some accumulated exposure was important, and also to give the participant the opportunity to practice middle ear equalisation manoeuvres that are required during pressurisation of the hyperbaric chamber, prior to undergoing the glucose clamp procedure. While potential difficulty with ear equalisation was assessed during their initial medical review, middle ear barotrauma continues to be the most frequent complication associated with clinical HBOT (approximately 2%).¹³ Indeed, one of our participants in this study had been established on his second glucose clamp with infusions of glucose and insulin when he was wheeled into the chamber only to find he could not satisfactorily equalise his ears on compression, resulting in his removal from the chamber and from the study. Despite the small sample size in this study, a significant increase in insulin sensitivity was identified, consistent with the two previously published studies.

Our attempts to replace the glucose clamp technique with the simpler FSIGT have not been successful. While the FSIGT requires frequent blood sampling over several hours, it avoids the necessity of passing samples through the medical lock for immediate glucometer analysis and the rapid decisions required to maintain blood glucose concentrations during a glucose clamp. However, under the same HBOT conditions as in our three glucose clamp studies, all of which showed increased insulin sensitivity during the first or third HBOT session, we found no significant effect of HBOT on insulin sensitivity when assessed by the FSIGT during the third HBOT and at 24 h later.

There are a number of reasons the FSIGT may have failed to pick up such an effect. First, the sample size was small and there was substantial variation in the data. Second, the FSIGT is known to be less reliable in people with insulin resistance. Several modifications to this technique have been suggested, such as giving tolbutamide or an insulin infusion early in the FSIGT, which has improved the correlation with glucose clamp studies.⁷ However, in pursuit of a simpler technique and with a group of men without diabetes, we did not modify the FSIGT.

Third, and perhaps more likely, we performed the FSIGT too soon after the participants started their HBOT session. While we have demonstrated an increase in insulin sensitivity during steady state periods 2.5 to 3.5 h into the clamp (at the end of an HBOT exposure), we have not specifically tested insulin sensitivity earlier in the HBOT session using a glucose clamp technique. If the insulin-sensitising effect of HBOT requires some duration of exposure to activate, then giving the glucose bolus of the FSIGT at the beginning of the HBOT session may not be the best time. The bulk of the glucose disposal would have taken place in the early part of the HBOT session and missed a later-onset effect identified in the clamp studies. Future studies using the FSIGT should perform the procedure towards the end of the HBOT session. On a cautionary note, such a study design may create the potential for the fasting participant with diabetes to develop hypoglycaemia during their HBOT session prior to the FSIGT, and they would need regular monitoring of their in-chamber BGL. If hypoglycaemia occurred during the HBOT, intervention would be required and the FSIGT would not be able to proceed.

The third FSIGT performed 24-hours post HBOT also did not demonstrate an effect of HBOT on insulin sensitivity, but we cannot say whether this is because such an effect was not present (i.e., a stimulatory effect of the previous day's HBOT had worn off), or whether such an effect was present but could not be detected due to limitations with the FSIGT technique.

The FSIGT was chosen because it was anticipated to be easier to perform and more easily tolerated by the participant than the glucose clamp. In the end, both techniques were found to be labour-intensive in a hyperbaric chamber. Importantly for undertaking assessment of insulin sensitivity in the novel environment of a hyperbaric chamber, every endeavour was made to perform these techniques according to established protocols. The fasting participants were tested at the same time of the day. They were kept sedentary in comfortable chairs for the duration of the study and wheeled into and out of the hyperbaric chamber. The glucometer utilised a glucose dehydrogenase reagent as opposed to glucose oxidase, making it less sensitive to ambient oxygen pressures.¹⁴

Our hyperbaric facility, along with many others, manages potential hypoglycaemia in patients with diabetes by monitoring their BGL before they enter the hyperbaric chamber and by repeating it if clinically indicated. Continued investigation is warranted in this field, both for the safety of hyperbaric patients with diabetes but also for the potential to identify novel pathways of glucose control.

Conclusion

The glucose clamp performed during the first HBOT session demonstrated a significant increase in insulin sensitivity, earlier than in our previously published studies which showed an increase in insulin sensitivity in men with and without diabetes on the third and thirtieth HBOT.^{9,10} The hyperinsulinaemic, euglycaemic glucose clamp appears to be a useful tool to undertake these investigations. The FSIGT in its current design is probably not a good tool to assess insulin sensitivity in a hyperbaric chamber.

References

- Trytko B, Bennett MH. Blood sugar changes in diabetic patients undergoing hyperbaric oxygen therapy. SPUMS Journal. 2003;33:62–9.
- 2 Al-Waili NS, Butler GJ, Beale J, Abdullah MS, Finkelstein M, Merrow M, et al. Influences of hyperbaric oxygen on blood pressure, heart rate and blood glucose levels in patients with diabetes mellitus and hypertension. Arch Med Res. 2006;37:991–7. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2006.05.009. PMID: 17045116.
- 3 Ekanayake L, Doolette DJ. Effects of hyperbaric oxygen treatment on blood sugar levels and insulin levels in diabetics.

SPUMS Journal. 2001;31:16-20.

- 4 Warram JH, Martin BC, Krolewski AS, Soeldner JS, Kahn CR. Slow glucose removal rate and hyperinsulinemia precede the development of type II diabetes in the offspring of diabetic parents. Ann Intern Med. 1990;113:909–15. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-113-12-909. PMID: 2240915.
- 5 Wellen KE, Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. J Clin Invest. 2005;115:1111–9. doi: 10.1172/ JCI25102. PMID: 15864338. PMCID: PMC1087185.
- 6 Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: Direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science. 1993;259(5091):87– 91. doi: 10.1126/science.7678183. PMID: 7678183.
- Borai A, Livingstone C, Ferns GAA. The biochemical assessment of insulin resistance. Ann Clin Biochem. 2007;44(Pt 4):324–42. doi: 10.1258/000456307780945778. PMID: 17594780.
- 8 Muniyappa R, Lee S, Chen H, Quon MJ. Current approaches for assessing insulin sensitivity and resistance in vivo: advantages, limitations, and appropriate usage. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2008;294:E15–26. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00645.2007. PMID: 17957034.
- 9 Wilkinson D, Chapman IM, Heilbronn LK. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy improves peripheral insulin sensitivity in humans. Diabet Med. 2012;29:986–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03587.x. PMID: 22269009.
- 10 Wilkinson D, Nolting M, Mahadi MK, Chapman I, Heilbronn L. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy increases insulin sensitivity in overweight men with and without type 2 diabetes. Diving Hyperb Med. 2015;45:30–6. <u>PMID: 25964036</u>.
- 11 DeFronzo RA, Tobin JD, Andres R. Glucose clamp technique: a method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. Am J Physiol. 1979;237:E214–23. doi: 10.1152/

ajpendo.1979.237.3.E214. PMID: 382871.

- 12 Bergman RN, Ider YZ, Bowden CR, Cobelli C. Quantitative estimation of insulin sensitivity. Am J Physiol. 1979;236:E667– 77. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.1979.236.6.E667. PMID: 443421.
- 13 Camporesi E. Side effects. In: Weaver LK, editor. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy indications. 13th ed. Florida: Best Publishing Company; 2014. p. 247–52.
- 14 Tang Z, Louie RF, Lee JH, Lee DM, Miller EE, Kost GJ. Oxygen effects on glucose meter measurements with glucose dehydrogenase- and oxidase-based test strips for point-of-care testing. Crit Care Med. 2001;29:1062–70. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200105000-00038. PMID: 11378622.

Acknowledgements

We thank the staff of the Hyperbaric Medicine Unit who helped perform these studies. I would like to acknowledge the support I have received for my research through the provision of an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship.

Conflicts of interest and funding

The authors have no conflicts to declare. Grants were provided by the Royal Adelaide Hospital Research Committee and Australasian Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine Research Trust.

Submitted: 07 January 2020 Accepted after revision: 18 March 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine Journal is on Facebook

Like us at:

https://www.facebook.com/divingandhyperbaricmedicine/

The evaluation of in-chamber sound levels during hyperbaric oxygen applications: Results of 41 centres

Taylan Zaman¹, Abdusselam Celebi², Bengusu Mirasoglu³, Akin Savas Toklu³

¹ Gulhane Research and Training Hospital, Underwater and Hyperbaric Medicine Department, Ankara, Turkey

² Iskenderun State Hospital, Underwater and Hyperbaric Medicine Department, Hatay, Turkey

³ Istanbul Faculty of Medicine, Underwater and Hyperbaric Medicine Department, Istanbul, Turkey

Corresponding author: Dr Bengusu Mirasoglu, Istanbul Tip Fakultesi, Sualti Hekimligi ve Hiperbarik Tip Anabilim Dali, 34093 Fatih, Istanbul, Turkey

bengusu.mirasoglu@istanbul.edu.tr

Key words

Noise; Hyperbaric facilities; Health; Hearing; Noise-induced hearing loss (NIHL); Multiplace chamber

Abstract

(Zaman T, Celebi A, Mirasoglu B, Toklu AS. The evaluation of in-chamber sound levels during hyperbaric oxygen applications: Results of 41 centres. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):244–249. doi: 10.28920/ dhm50.3.244-249. PMID: 32957126.)

Introduction: Noise has physical and psychological effects on humans. Recommended exposure limits are exceeded in many hospital settings; however, information about sound levels in hyperbaric oxygen treatment chambers is lacking. This study measured in-chamber sound levels during treatments in Turkish hyperbaric centres.

Methods: Sound levels were measured using a sound level meter (decibel meter). All chambers were multiplace with similar dimensions and shapes. Eight measurements were performed in each of 41 chambers; three during compression, three during decompression, and two at treatment pressure, one during chamber ventilation (flushing) and one without ventilation. At each measurement a sound sample was collected for 25 seconds and A-weighted equivalent (LA_{eq}) and C-weighted peak (LC_{reat}) levels were obtained. Recorded values were evaluated in relation to sound level limits in regulations.

Results: The highest sound level measured in the study was 100.4 dB(A) at treatment pressure while ventilation was underway and the lowest was 40.5 dB(A) at treatment pressure without ventilation. Most centres had sound levels between 70 dB and 85 dB throughout the treatment. Ventilation caused significant augmentation of noise.

Conclusions: The chambers were generally safe in terms of noise exposure. Nevertheless, hyperbaric chambers can be very noisy environments so could pose a risk for noise-related health problems. Therefore, they should be equipped with appropriate noise control systems. Silencers are effective in reducing noise in chambers. Thus far, hyperbaric noise research has focused on chambers used for commercial diving. To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate noise in hospital-based chambers during medical treatments.

Introduction

There are miscellaneous definitions for noise in acoustics or phonology, but it can simply be defined as unwanted sound. Basically, there is no difference between sound and noise. Sound waves can be perceived as speech, music or noise depending on the individual.¹ Noise in health sciences is accepted as a source of stress and has long been known to have physical and psychological effects on humans.² Hearing impairment known as noise-induced hearing loss (NIHL) is the most apparent impact, however, many other influences on body functions have been observed. It has been associated with high blood pressure and increased coronary heart disease risk as well as hormonal and psychosocial disturbances.^{3–5} In addition, there is growing evidence that noise contributes to burnout and error risk related to impaired concentration and miscommunication.^{6,7}

NIHL may develop after exposure to impulsive (instant high level) sounds. The human ear senses sounds between 0–140

dB. Whereas a noise of 120 dB causes discomfort in the ear, sounds between 125–135 dB cause pronounced pain. At 140 dB, tympanic membrane rupture may be seen and permanent damage might occur.^{8,9} Prolonged and repeated exposure to lower sound levels can also deteriorate hearing and cause gradual impairment. To avoid damage, noise standards that set out exposure limits and measures to be taken for hearing protection have been determined.²

There are various sources of noise in daily life. Humans are exposed to noise from industry, transportation, recreation and work. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), the maximum level of noise exposure should not exceed 85 dB in daily life. Work is one of the places that humans spend most of their time and are exposed to noise. Therefore, regulations for worksites have also been developed and maximum sound levels at which an employee can work with respect to time are well defined. These regulations also mandate actions such as hearing protections or reducing sound at source when limits are exceeded. Noise standards vary among countries, but generally, in developed countries the acceptable maximum noise level is 85-90 dB(A), for five days a week and eight hours per day. A'3dB doubling factor' which implies that an increase of three dB in sound level requires a reduction of exposure time by two, is applied to these limits.¹⁰ Occupational noise standards in Turkey are defined in the legislation Regulation on the Protection of Employees from Noise-related Risks and these are similar to other global standards.¹¹ The maximum allowed sound levels with respect to exposure times in Turkish regulations are given in Table 1.

Hospitals are worksites where occupational noise can be encountered. Medical equipment, alarms, portable vehicles, personnel activities, communication systems, and air conditioning and ventilation systems are some sources of noise.¹² Although not mandatory, there are recommendations for hospital noise. Sound levels should not exceed 30 dB and peaks should not be over 40 dB in hospitals according to the WHO. Similarly, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) recommends a maximum sound level of 45 dB(A).^{1,13} It has been shown in many studies that these limits are exceeded, especially in intensive care units.14,15

Hyperbaric oxygen treatment centres can also be noisy environments. According to the European regulation for pressure vessels for human occupancy (EN 14931), the average sound level should not exceed 70 dB(A) at treatment pressure with (maximum) ventilation on, and 90 dB(A) during compression and decompression.¹⁶ Studies have been performed in chambers used in diving operations but few studies have focused on sound levels in hospital-based chambers. The aim of this study was to measure in-chamber sound levels in different hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) centres in Turkey and to evaluate the possible effects on patients and health care providers by comparing the measured sound levels with international standards.

Methods

The study was approved by our Institutional Review Board. It was supported by Istanbul University Scientific Research Fund (Project No.: 20326).

All HBOT centres in Turkey were contacted either by phone or e-mail and the study was explained in detail. Sound level measurements were planned with centers that agreed to participate. Measurement days were randomly selected but were always weekdays on which treatments were conducted. All participating centres had cylindrical, steel multiplace chambers with similar dimensions. All chambers were equipped with similar furnishings, piping systems and internal instruments. Compression and decompression rates were similar for all chambers and ranged between 10-12 kPa·min⁻¹ (equivalent to 1-1.2 metres' seawater [msw] per minute). Sound levels were measured in the chamber; three times during compression, three times during decompression and two times at treatment pressure (243 kPa, [2.4 atmospheres absolute [atm abs] pressure]), one with ventilation and one without. In this context 'ventilation' refers to a process where gas is flushed into and vented from the chamber at equivalent rates such that the pressure within remains constant. In many jurisdictions this is referred to as 'flushing'. Measurements during compression were performed between 15–30 kPa, 60-75 kPa and 120-134 kPa pressures (1.5-3 msw, 6-7.5 msw and 12-13.5 msw depth equivalents). Measurements during decompression were performed in reverse order.

Sound level measurements were performed using a Bruel & Kjaer Type 2240 sound level meter (SLM) (Bruel & Kjaer, Naerum, Denmark) and Bruel & Kjaer type 4231 sound level calibrator which is compatible with the SLM (Figure 1). This device is an integrated – average field

Figure 1 Bruel & Kjaer Type 2240 SLM (left) and Bruel & Kjaer type



245



Table 1

Maximum daily exposure times with respect to sound levels according to Turkish regulations



Type 1 sound meter and complies with International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) 61672-1 standards. It can measure sound pressure levels between 30 to 140 dB(A) and frequencies between 20 Hz to 16 kHz. The device can operate between -10° C and 50° C and for 16 hours on two 1.5 Volt LR6/AA alkaline batteries. It weighs 245 g and is portable so can be carried easily to measurement spots. Information about the compatibility of device in hyperbaric conditions was provided by the manufacturer prior to performing the study.

All measurements were performed during routine HBOT sessions. The SLM was placed at least one metre away from the sides of the chamber and 130 cm above the floor, which would be the ear level of a sitting patient. At each measurement interval, a sound sample was collected for 25 seconds and A-weighted equivalent continuous sound levels (LA_{eq}) and C-weighted peak sound levels (LC_{peak}) were obtained. LA_{eq} defines the equivalent of total sound energy measured over a period of time and is basically the average sound level. LC_{peak} shows the instantaneous highest sound level. Before each measurement during compression and decompression the SLM was calibrated because the pressure in the chamber changes continuously. The calibration level was 94 dB.

Measured LA_{eq} and LC_{peak} values in dB(A) and dB(C), respectively, were recorded in Microsoft Excel[®] 2016. Recorded values are presented descriptively and evaluated in means of sound level limits in regulations. Statistical analysis was performed using the Med-Calc[®] for Windows (version 11.2.1.0). Data distribution was evaluated using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and Student's *t*-test was used to compare paired samples. Significance was accepted at P < 0.05.

Results

Forty-one HBOT centres from eight different cities participated in the study. The highest LA_{eq} (equivalent continuous sound level) measured in the study was 100.4 dB(A) at the treatment pressure during ventilation and the lowest was 40.5 dB(A) at treatment pressure without ventilation. The highest and lowest sound levels recorded at compression, treatment depth and decompression throughout the study are given in Table 2. The distribution of centres with respect to sound levels at each sample collection interval is given in Table 3.

Most of the centres had sound levels between 70 dB(A) and 85 dB(A) throughout the treatment, whereas only four were lower than 70 dB(A). These four were those with sound levels lower than 70 dB(A) at treatment depth both with ventilation on and off. Thirteen centres exceeded the 85 dB(A) limit at treatment depth with the ventilation on but all were below this limit when the ventilation was off. The sound levels were found to be significantly higher when the ventilation was on in all centres. (P < 0.001)

Other than the four centres that were below 70 dB(A) throughout treatment, another three and four centres were below 70 dB(A) all through compression and decompression, respectively. Three exceeded the 85 dB(A) in all three measurements of compression. Only one centre was over 85

Devementar		Compagian	At treatmen	nt pressure	Decomprosion
Parame	ler	Compression	Vent. on	Vent. off	Decompression
L	Highest	95.6	100.4	79.0	94.0
$d\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{A})$	Lowest	58.6	63.9	40.5	47.7
L	Highest	109.3	113.6	99.1	106.7
dB(C)	Lowest	76.0	85.7	74.5	77.5

 Table 2

 Highest and lowest L_{rest} values during compression, treatment depth and decompression in the study; Vent. = ventilation

Table 3

Number of centres with respect to measured sound level in each sample collection interval. C1, C2 and C3 – measurement intervals at the beginning, midway through and towards the end of compression; D1, D2 and D3 – measurement intervals at the beginning, midway through and towards the end of decompression; Vent. = ventilation

Sound level	Com	pressio	n (<i>n</i>)	Treatmen	Decompression (<i>n</i>)			
dB(A)	C1	C2	C3	Vent. on	Vent. off	D1	D2	D3
≤ 70	15	11	8	4	19	10	13	16
70.1–85	23	25	27	24	22	29	26	22
> 85	3	5	6	13	_	2	2	3
> 90	2	3	3	5	-	2	1	2

dB(A) all through decompression. Few exceeded 85 dB(A) in one or two measurement points during compression or decompression.

When the '3 dB doubling factor' was taken into account, a sound level of 95 dB(A) at treatment pressure and 105 dB(A) during compression and decompression could be permissible. In this case, only three centres exceeded the limit at treatment pressure with ventilation working. None remained over the limits all through treatment. Also, none exceeded the allowed LC_{peak} levels in any sample collection interval.

Discussion

Sound is a pressure wave that is formed by a vibrating object and travels through a medium by transferring energy from one particle to another. Sound pressure, which is the deviation in atmospheric pressure by a sound wave, is the most important parameter to understand its effects. The human ear can sense sound pressure between 20 μ Pa to 100 Pa. These two values are separated by a factor of more than a million, thus it is not practical to obtain sound pressure measurements in a linear scale of Pa since the range would be too wide. Accordingly, sound pressure level (SPL), which is the logarithmic ratio of a measured value to a reference value, namely 20 μ Pa is used for acoustic parameters. SPL is measured using a SLM and expressed in decibels (dB).¹

Another parameter important in sound measurements is frequency weighting. Frequency is the number of sound waves passing a fixed point per second and measured in Hertz (Hz). The human ear can hear between 20 Hz to 20 kHz but is more sensitive to frequencies between 500 Hz to 8 kHz and less sensitive to very high and low pitches. A measurement device, on the other hand, does not have this selectivity. To ensure that a SLM measures what a human ear perceives, frequency weighting that filters the relative strength of various frequencies is used. The most common one is A-weighting, as it is accepted to be the most approximate frequency response to human hearing.8 It cuts off the very low and very high frequencies that an average human cannot hear. C-weighting, on the other hand, also takes extreme high and low frequencies into account and is more commonly used for measuring peak sound levels. Measured sound levels are expressed as dB(A) or dB(C).

Hearing under pressure may differ from hearing at atmospheric pressure due to changes in acoustic parameters of the media through which a sound wave travels.¹⁷ It has been shown that the hearing threshold increases underwater because bone conduction, which has less contribution to hearing compared with air conduction, becomes the major way sound is transmitted when the tympanic membrane is in contact with water (known as wet ear).¹⁸ In other words, humans are less sensitive to sound underwater and higher sound levels would have less impact.¹⁹ Despite this, studies have revealed divers may face noise-induced hearing

impairment.^{20,21} In dry hyperbaric environments, on the other hand, threshold shift has not been detected either with air or other gases, so susceptibility to noise is not thought to be different from normal air.¹⁸ In addition, chambers are confined environments and can be noisy due to the turbulence generated from high pressure gas merging into still gas and passing through pipes during compression and ventilation. Also, cylindrical chambers are highly reflective for sound waves.^{18,22} In fact, a study that questioned patient experience of hyperbaric treatment in Australia showed that noisiness in the chamber was one of the primary reasons for discomfort.²³ Yet, there are only a few studies discussing sound levels in chambers even though noise can reach sufficiently high intensities as to cause health hazards during hyperbaric interventions.

In a 1970 report, sound levels were measured in a US Navy chamber during compression and decompression with average rates of 210 kPa·min⁻¹ (21 msw·min⁻¹) and 180 kPa·min⁻¹ (18 msw·min⁻¹), respectively. The sound levels were over 100 dB(A) in both.²⁴ Later, sound levels were measured in a US Navy chamber during compression and decompression, both at 180 kPa·min⁻¹ (18 msw·min⁻¹) and chamber ventilation at different depths. Almost all measurements read over 110 dB(A) and the highest sound level was 121 dB(A) at a pressure of 150 kPa (15 msw).²⁵ A series of measurements performed in British Royal Navy chambers revealed similarly high sound levels.¹⁸ In recent decades, hospital-based chambers, which are generally operated at much lower compression and decompression rates than those used in the above studies and which are fitted with newer systems and equipment have prevailed. Until this study, there has been a lack of information regarding noise in these chambers, although they are mostly reserved for patients who are likely less used to and are expected to be more sensitive to noisy environments compared with industrial and navy divers.

In this study, sound levels in 41 different hyperbaric chambers were measured during compression, decompression and at treatment pressure. It was found that most of the chambers were under occupational noise level limits during treatment, although most exceeded the European pressure vessel standard at treatment pressure. Also, it was seen that ventilation increased the noise in the chamber significantly. Yet, chambers in this study can generally be considered safe in terms of noise for usual two-hour treatments. However, if longer treatment tables, such as the US Navy Table 6, are needed, some chambers may entail a risk. Noise has been shown to have adverse effects on patient outcomes, besides well-known noise-related health problems.²⁶ Studies investigating effects on patients suggest that prolonged noise exposure is related to slower healing, longer hospitalisation and increased pain medication.27 In this regard, use of hearing protection may be considered for longer treatments or during ventilation in chambers in which higher sound levels are encountered.

The measured sound levels reported in this study are lower than in previous reports; however, the intended purpose of navy diving chambers, much higher compression rates and variability of measurement techniques are notable in terms of this comparison. A major difference that should not be ignored is the presence of advanced silencers in the chambers in which we performed measurements. Silencers and mufflers are effective ways of controlling noise in hyperbaric chambers. They are usually installed at inlets of air pipes or exhausts and reduce the sound transmission while allowing the free flow of air. Attenuation in the range of 20 to 40 dB was shown in a study performed in chambers and diving bells equipped with different designs of silencers.²² Tests were conducted at pressures between 101.3 kPa (1 atm abs) in air to 608 kPa (6 atm abs) and heliox. In another study where four different silencers were compared during decompression from 506 kPa (5 atm abs), it was seen that the measured sound levels varied greatly.¹⁷ Thus, the presence of a silencer and its design and attenuation capacity are all important for effective noise control. This may explain the variability of sound levels in our study since all chambers were equipped with silencers. Cladding chambers with sound absorbent materials might be another option for noise control; however, it should not represent a fire risk or cause hygiene problems.

Staff working around the chamber, especially chamber operators, may be exposed to noise, probably for long hours. The present study focuses on the noise in the chamber and does not reflect the exposure in the vicinity but such measurements may provide an insight. Sound levels around chambers should also be determined for the prevention of possible long-term health hazards for staff working in hyperbaric units.

LIMITATIONS

It is known that even small changes of conditions within a space may cause alterations in the sound field. Despite the similar structure of the chambers, the number of occupants during measurements was not the same. Also, the interior designs differed slightly. Therefore, a direct comparison of the chambers in terms of noisiness is not possible and was not the aim of the study. In addition, for a given chamber the measured sound level could have been different with a different number of occupants or a change in interior configuration, but the size of this effect is not predictable. The effects of chamber occupants and interior design on sound levels may be investigated in further studies.

Another important point in noise measurement is its effect on people. Even if the measured sound levels are within permitted limits, it is possible that patients and staff perceive it as disturbing due to hearing differences or confined space anxiety. Therefore, the impact of measured sound levels on comfort and health also needs to be evaluated. Further studies focusing on the perception of occupants should be conducted to claim that hyperbaric chambers are truly safe in terms of noise.

Conclusion

This study revealed that hyperbaric chambers can be noisy during ventilation and sound levels in the chamber may exceed safe limits when longer treatments are administered. In this regard, an assessment for compliance with noise regulations can be recommended for all hyperbaric chambers. Measures to minimize the impacts can be considered for chambers or operations that would pose a risk. Also, national legislations on hyperbaric chambers should be regulated for noise standards and chamber manufacturers should be obliged to comply with requirements. To our knowledge, this is the first study to focus on noise during treatments in hospital-based hyperbaric chambers and may serve as a pilot study for further research.

References

- Berglund B, Lindvall T, Schwela DH, World Health Organization. Occupational and Environmental Health Team. Guidelines for community noise. World Health Organisation; 1999. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/66217</u>. [cited 2019 Aug 01].
- 2 Good practice guide on noise exposure and potential health effects. EEA Technical Report. Report No. 11. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency; 2010. Available from: <u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/good-practice-guide-on-noise</u>. [cited 2019 Aug 01].
- 3 Eriksson HP, Andersson E, Schiöler L, Söderberg M, Sjöström M, Rosengren A, et al. Longitudinal study of occupational noise exposure and joint effects with job strain and risk for coronary heart disease and stroke in Swedish men. BMJ Open. 2018;8(4):e019160. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019160. PMID: 29615446. PMCID: PMC5892764.
- 4 Kerns E, Masterson EA, Themann CL, Calvert GM. Cardiovascular conditions, hearing difficulty, and occupational noise exposure within US industries and occupations. Am J Ind Med. 2018;61:477–91. doi: 10.1002/ajim.22833. PMID: 29537072.
- 5 Barbaresco GQ, Reis AVP, Lopes GDR, Boaventura LP, Castro AF, Vilanova TCF, et al. Effects of environmental noise pollution on perceived stress and cortisol levels in street vendors. J Toxicol Environ Health A. 2019;82:331–7. doi: 10.1080/15287394.2019.1595239. PMID: 30915910.
- 6 Ryherd EE, Waye KP, Ljungkvist L. Characterizing noise and perceived work environment in a neurological intensive care unit. J Acoust Soc Am. 2008;123:747–56. doi: 10.1121/1.2822661. PMID: 18247879.
- 7 Terzi B, Azizoğlu F, Polat Ş, Kaya N, İşsever H. The effects of noise levels on nurses in intensive care units. Nurs Crit Care. 2019;24:299–305. doi: 10.1111/nicc.12414. PMID: 30815931.
- 8 Moller AR. Effects of the physical environment: Noise as health hazard. In: Wallace RB, editor. Public health and human ecology. 15th ed. East Norvvalk, Conneticut: Appleton-Lange; 2008. p. 755–62.
- 9 Flamme GA, Stephenson MR, Deiters K, Tatro A, van Gessel D, Geda K, et al. Typical noise exposure in daily life. Int J Audiol.

2012;51 Suppl 1:S3–11. doi: 10.3109/14992027.2011.635316. PMID: 22264061. PMCID: PMC4685462.

- 10 National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH). Criteria for a recommended standard: Occupational exposure to noise revised criteria 1998. Cincinatti (OH): US Department of Health and Human Services; 1998. p. 126.
- 11 Official Gazette. Regulation on the protection of employees from noise-related risks. 28.07.2013. No. 28721.
- Choiniere DB. The effects of hospital noise. Nurs Adm Q. 2010;34:327–33. <u>doi: 10.1097/NAQ.0b013e3181f563db</u>. <u>PMID: 20838178</u>.
- 13 United States Environmental Protection Agency [Internet]. EPA identifies noise levels affecting health and welfare. Washington: The Association. Available from: <u>https://archive.epa.gov/epa/aboutepa/epa-identifies-noise-levels-affecting-health-and-welfare.html</u>. [cited 2019 June 07].
- 14 Garrido GAP, Camargo CY, Velez-Pereira AM. Noise level in a neonatal intensive care unit in Santa Marta – Colombia. Colomb Med (Cali). 2017;48:120–5. doi: 10.25100/ cm.v48i3.2173. PMID: 29213154. PMCID: PMC5687863.
- 15 Voitl P, Sebelefsky C, Mayrhofer C, Woditschka A, Schneeberger V. Noise levels in general pediatric facilities: A health risk for the staff? PLoS One. 2019;14(3):e0213722. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0213722. PMID: 30865703. PMCID: PMC6415854.
- 16 EN 14931:2006 Pressure vessels for human occupancy (PVHO) - Multi-place pressure chamber systems for hyperbaric therapy - Performance, safety requirements and testing. European Committee for Standardization; June 2006.
- 17 Simpson ME, Mackenzie J. Noise exposure limits under hyperbaric conditions. HSE Offshore Technology Report. Report No. OTO 2000 074. Oxfordshire: HSE Offshore Safety Division; 2000. Available from: <u>http://www.hse.gov.</u> uk/research/otopdf/2000/oto00074.pdf. [cited 2019 Aug 01].
- 18 Anthony TG, Wright NA, Evans MA. Review of diver noise exposure. Underwater Technology. 2010;29:21–39. doi: 10.3723/ut.29.021.
- 19 Parvin SJ, Nedwell JR. Underwater sound perception and the development of an underwater noise weighting scale. Underwater Technology. 1995;21:12–19.
- 20 Skogstad M, Eriksen T, Skare Ø. A twelve-year longitudinal study of hearing thresholds among professional divers. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2009;36:25–31. <u>PMID: 19341125</u>.
- 21 Lie A, Engdahl B, Hoffman HJ, Li C-M, Tambs K.

Occupational noise exposure, hearing loss, and notched audiograms in the HUNT Nord-Trøndelag hearing loss study, 1996–1998. Laryngoscope. 2017;127:1442–50. doi: 10.1002/ lary.26256. PMID: 27696439. PMCID: PMC5484347.

- 22 Edwards I. Measurement of blowdown noise under hyperbaric conditions. HSE Offshore Technology Report. Report No. OTO 98 026. Oxfordshire: HSE Offshore Safety Division; 1998. Available from: <u>http://www.hse.gov.uk/research/ otopdf/1998/oto98026.pdf</u>. [cited 2019 Aug 01].
- 23 Chalmers A, Mitchell C, Rosenthal M, Elliott D. An exploration of patients' memories and experiences of hyperbaric oxygen therapy in a multiplace chamber. J Clin Nurs. 2007;16:1454–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2006.01700.x. PMID: 17655533.
- 24 Murry T. Noise levels inside navy diving chambers during compression and decompression. Report No. 643. Groton (Conn): US Naval Submarine Medical Center; 1970. Available from: <u>https://apps.dtic.mil/dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/722665.pdf</u>. [cited 2019 Aug 01].
- 25 Summit JK, Reimers SD. Noise: A hazard to divers and hyperbaric chamber personnel. Aerosp Med. 1971;42:1173–7. <u>PMID: 5119684</u>.
- 26 Basner M, Babisch W, Davis A, Brink M, Clark C, Janssen S, et al. Auditory and non-auditory effects of noise on health. Lancet. 2014;383(9925):1325–32. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61613-X. PMID: 24183105. PMCID: PMC3988259.
- 27 Bliefnick JM, Ryherd EE, Jackson R. Evaluating hospital soundscapes to improve patient experience. J Acoust Soc Am. 2019;145:1117. doi: 10.1121/1.5090493. PMID: 30823810.

Conflicts of interest and funding

No conflicts of interest are declared. The study was supported by a grant from the Istanbul University Scientific Research Fund (Project No.: 20326).

Submitted: 25 November 2019 Accepted after revision: 26 May 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

An observational trial to establish the effect of hyperbaric oxygen treatment on pelvic late radiation tissue injury due to radiotherapy

James Andren¹, Michael H Bennett^{1,2}

¹ Department of Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine, Prince of Wales Hospital, Sydney, Australia ² Prince of Wales Clinical School, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

Corresponding author: Dr James Andren, 4 Adelaide Place, Canterbury CT1 2QA, England *jandren@doctors.org.uk*

Key words

Endothelium; Gastro-intestinal tract; Genito-urinary tract; Pain; Soft-tissue radionecrosis; Cancer

Abstract

(Andren J, Bennett MH. An observational trial to establish the effect of hyperbaric oxygen treatment on pelvic late radiation tissue injury due to radiotherapy. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):250–255. <u>doi: 10.28920/</u><u>dhm50.3.250-255</u>. <u>PMID: 32957127</u>.)

Introduction: Rates of pelvic cancer are growing globally with around half of these patients receiving radiotherapy. In a small proportion, radiotherapy results in significant late radiation tissue injury (LRTI) to surrounding tissue, most commonly affecting the bladder and bowel mucosa. We conducted a combined prospective and retrospective observational trial to establish the effectiveness of hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) in improving the symptoms and signs of LRTI in these patients.

Methods: Fifty-two patients were included after receiving radiotherapy for cancers of the bowel, bladder, cervix, prostate or vulva. They received HBOT at 203–243 kPa (2.0–2.4 atmospheres absolute (atm abs)) for 90 minutes with the median number of treatments being 30 (IQR 1). Late effects normal tissues – subjective, objective, management, analytic (LENT-SOMA) scores were recorded before and after treatment.

Results: The mean LENT-SOMA scores before and after HBOT were 11.7 (SD 5.3) and 8.1 (5.1) respectively. This reduction in score of 3.7 (95% CI 2.6 to 4.8) was statistically significant (P < 0.001). For radiation cystitis the mean reduction was 3.7 (95% CI 2.4 to 5.0, P < 0.001) and for radiation proctitis was 3.8 (95% CI 1.4 to 6.1, P = 0.004). There were no significant adverse effects recorded.

Conclusions: Hyperbaric oxygen treatment may be an effective and safe treatment for pelvic late tissue radiation injury.

Introduction

Cancer is a significant issue worldwide, causing nearly one in six deaths globally.¹ Pelvic tumours make up the largest group of solid cancers in the USA.² One of the most frequent modalities of treatment is radiotherapy with around half of cancer patients receiving either curative or palliative radiotherapy. Whilst effective at eliminating cancer cells, there is unavoidable damage to surrounding tissues. These effects are often divided into early (within weeks) and late (months to years). The early phase involves DNA damage and cell death (commonly during mitosis or through apoptosis) and is usually self-limiting.^{3,4} It characteristically affects rapidly proliferating cells such as the mucosa of the bowel and bladder. In contrast, the late phase is driven in part by chronic oxidative stress and abnormal cytokine cascades.5 This leads to chronic inflammation, progressive endarteritis, hypoxia and fibrosis.⁶ Once again, the most affected tissues are the mucosal surfaces. Of all patients receiving pelvic radiotherapy around 5-18% will develop symptomatic late radiation tissue injury (LRTI).7

The clinical manifestations of this process are organ specific. In the rectum, they vary from mild (minor bleeding,

excessive mucus production, tenesmus, diarrhoea and urgency) to severe (major bleeding, ulceration, stricture and fistula formation). In the bladder, frequency, incontinence and haematuria with clot retention are common. In severe cases of both rectal and bladder injury, blood loss can result in significant anaemia and require repeated blood transfusion and/or surgical removal of the organ. The severity of these symptoms is largely dependent on cumulative radiation dose and the area of tissue affected, and is often responsible for a significant reduction in quality of life.^{8–10} Despite this, there is wide variability between patients who have received the same radiation dose.¹¹

Advances in cancer treatment mean an ever-increasing number of survivors, with around half of patients being long-term survivors.¹² This suggests an increasing number of patients may suffer from LRTI in the future and has led to an increased interest in methods to reduce this substantial burden. Conventional approaches involve either medical or surgical symptom control, the cost of which commonly totals tens of thousands of dollars per year.¹³ Unfortunately, these have limited efficacy or unpleasant side effects of their own. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) has for some time been reported as useful in LRTI.^{14–17} However, there are also data to support the contrary view. For example, a randomised controlled trial (RCT) published in 2016 demonstrated no improvement in chronic bowel dysfunction with HBOT.¹⁸ High quality trials involving HBOT are difficult to undertake for a number of reasons and to date the only other four RCTs published in pelvic LRTI were crossed-over in the short term,¹⁷ unblinded,^{19,20} or both.²¹ The majority of reports are non-controlled retrospective or observational studies, often vulnerable to regression to the mean and placebo effect.¹⁵ In light of this, multiple authors have suggested that further research is needed.^{14,22}

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effectiveness of HBOT for ameliorating the symptoms and signs of pelvic LRTI presenting to our clinical service. We hypothesised that HBOT is an effective treatment for these patients. We also aimed to evaluate the use of a long proposed, but little used, system for grading these symptoms and signs: the 'late effects normal tissues – subjective, objective, management, analytic (LENT-SOMA) scoring system'. In particular, we want to evaluate both the ease of use and practicality of this score of clinical severity for incorporation into a prospective registry under development.

Methods

The study was approved by the Prince of Wales Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC 17/010(LNR/17/ POWH/24). Informed consent was waived on the basis that all data is obtained routinely from all patients in our unit. The study was conducted at the Prince of Wales Department of Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. We recruited patients retrospectively who completed treatment from July to December 2017 and prospectively from January to April 2018. The study subjects were drawn from patients accepted for treatment during the study period. Inclusion criteria were: a diagnosis of pelvic LRTI made by the referring physician based on symptomatology or objective findings on endoscopy. Endoscopic evaluation is preferred as it allows for exclusion of recurrence of cancer, which can present similarly to LRTI. It also allows for objective assessment of treatment response when repeated during the post-HBOT period.

TREATMENT PROTOCOL

Treatments were once a day Monday to Friday, for six weeks (30 treatments planned in total). Most patients were treated in a multiplace chamber breathing oxygen using a hood or mask at 243 kPa (2.4 atmospheres absolute [atm abs]) for 90 minutes. The remainder were treated in a monoplace chamber, breathing 100% O_2 at 203 kPa (2.0 atm abs) for the same length of time. Both groups had a 5-minute air break at 45 minutes. Historically these two treatments have been considered roughly equivalent in terms of oxygen dose; allowing for some ambient air entrainment in the multiplace system. We aimed to minimise any gaps in treatment but sometimes this was not possible due to patient

circumstances, appointments at other medical facilities or complications such as two to three days off recovering from barotrauma to the middle ear. After completion of this initial course, patients were discharged home and reviewed one month later for the consideration of a further course of treatment if required, to a maximum total of 50 sessions.

DATA COLLECTION

Symptoms were evaluated before starting and after finishing treatment. Where possible this was performed by the same doctor. We used the 'bladder' and 'bowel' domains of the original LENT-SOMA scoring system. This system was created in 1995 to address a need for a uniform scoring system applicable to LRTI in a wide range of tissue sites.²³ It has been validated for scoring the severity of LRTI in the pelvis and has been shown to correlate well with other scales for bladder and bowel symptoms.^{24–26}

The score is the sum of three numerical domains: *subjective* (asking about symptoms such as pain), *objective* (documenting signs such as bleeding or observations on endoscopy) and *management* (asking about medical management such as iron therapy). Each domain asks about several relevant symptoms, objective findings and interventions respectively. For each of these, there is a possible score between 1 (the least) to 4 (the worst) possible manifestation of that item. Any field for which there is no contribution (e.g., no pain) does not contribute to the score. It was not practical to include the objective domain as few patients underwent endoscopy at meaningful intervals before and after treatment.

Age, sex, type of malignancy, site and dose of radiation, comorbidities, length of HBOT, complications and reasons for any early termination of the course were recorded.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Statistical analysis was performed using StatsDirect v3.1.11 (StatsDirect Ltd, Merseyside, UK). Parametric testing was deemed to be appropriate after visual inspection of the distribution of LENT-SOMA scores. Continuous data were assessed using paired *t*-tests and correlations were evaluated using simple linear regression and logistic regression as appropriate. A *P*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data will be presented as mean and standard deviation or confidence interval, where appropriate. No formal sample size calculation was made on this opportunistic patient cohort.

Results

Fifty-eight patients were initially enrolled. Two withdrew because of work/social commitments. One had a recurrence of cancer and one had to restart chemotherapy. Two did not reply to our request for follow-up (see Figure 1). Data were therefore available for 52 patients. Of these,

Figure 1

PRISMA diagram demonstrating dropouts during the study



44 (84.6%) were male. The average age was 67.9 years (SD 10.1). The primary sites of LRTI were bladder (38 patients) bowel (13) and vulva (1). The primary malignancies were cancers of the prostate (41 patients), cervix (4), rectum (3), endometrium (2), bladder (1) and vulva (1).

Forty-eight of the 52 patients substantially completed the prescribed course of 30 treatments (27 to 31 sessions), while four completed a prescribed course of 20 treatments. Six of those completing an initial course of 30 treatments opted to have further sessions after the clinical evaluation of response (three had a further 20 sessions, two had eight and one had ten).

For the whole group, the mean LENT-SOMA score prior to HBOT was 11.7 (SD 5.3) while after completion of HBOT it was 8.1 (5.1). The maximum possible score was 44 in the rectum domain and 40 in the bladder domain. The mean reduction in score of 3.7 over the treatment period (95% CI 2.6 to 4.8) was statistically significant, P < 0.001. Subgroup analysis by affected site demonstrated a similar reduction for those with either proctitis or cystitis (mean reductions of 3.8 (95% CI 1.4 to 6.1); P = 0.004 and 3.7 (2.4 to 5.0); P < 0.001 respectively).

Simple linear regression demonstrated a statistically significant relationship between the severity of LRTI on presentation and the subsequent absolute reduction in LENT-SOMA scores (P = 0.003). There was no such clear relationship between the reduction in LENT-SOMA score and the number of HBOT sessions (P = 0.71), number of comorbidities (P = 0.50) or age (P = 0.21).

Thirteen of the 52 (25%) patients complained of ear pain during HBOT, of which two (3.8%) had clinically demonstrable barotrauma on examination. In both cases, this resolved and they were able to complete the course of treatment after a delay of two and three days respectively without further intervention. Four (7.7%) patients complained

of myopia, which also resolved spontaneously. There were no other adverse events of therapy reported.

Discussion

The present findings are consistent with previous trials suggesting HBOT is an effective intervention for improving symptomatology in patients with LRTI. This was demonstrated by statistically significant improvements in scores using the LENT-SOMA grading system and our impression that the magnitude of these improvements is clinically important. A seemingly modest reduction of 3.7 can convey marked changes in a patient's quality of life. Examples from our series include a patient who had significant urinary frequency with recurrent admissions for clot-retention who became catheter-free and able to pass the night without having to urinate, and another who was housebound with social anxiety related to faecal incontinence is now able to socialise normally.

The most appropriate trial with which to compare the present proctitis scores is an RCT that demonstrated an improvement in LENT-SOMA scores after HBOT of 5.07 (from 12.55 to 7.48).¹⁷ This is comparable to our mean improvement of 3.7 (from 11.7 to 8.1). We were unable to find any comparable trials using the LENT-SOMA system to assess symptoms of radiation cystitis. A recent RCT by Oscarsson et al. investigated HBOT treatment for radiation cystitis (as well as proctitis).¹⁵ Their primary outcome was an improvement in expanded prostate cancer index composite (EPIC) scores, which have a large overlap with the subjective domain in the LENT-SOMA system. They observed an improvement in urinary symptoms of 22%, comparable to a 29.6% improvement in our group. We also demonstrated HBOT to be a safe intervention as evidenced by our low rate of side effects and absence of severe complications requiring early termination of the treatment course. HBOT has been shown to reduce the daily medical expenses for a patient with LRTI from AUD231.09 to AUD19.08.13 The cost of a course of HBOT to treat LRTI at Prince of Wales Hospital has been estimated at AUD7153.27 We believe this is a cost effective alternative to conventional treatments.

The present finding of a relationship between pretreatment symptom severity and absolute improvement in LENT-SOMA scores makes clinical sense. The worst affected by any disease have the greatest potential for improvement. When we instead looked at the percentage improvement relative to the original score there was no trend, suggesting patients with worse symptoms did not improve disproportionately compared to those with mild disease. The absence of a relationship between number of treatments and change in LENT-SOMA scores probably reflects the fact that the majority received very close to 30 treatments (median 30, IQR one). It is also probable our study was not sufficiently powered to establish such a link. The six patients who had a further course of HBOT (an extra planned 10–20 treatments) had a smaller improvement in scores (1.5 vs. 3.9 for 'non-extenders') after completion of all treatments. Although this was not statistically significant it may represent a cohort of poor responders to HBOT.

THE LENT-SOMA SCORING SYSTEM

When the LENT-SOMA scoring system was released in 1995 the authors recommended taking the sum of all individual item scores and dividing by the number of items for which there was a score recorded, to give the overall severity score. Initial observations suggested this could lead to a misleadingly low overall score in a patient who had a high score in only one domain with low scores in all others.²⁸ It has become common practice over the years to report the sum of raw scores from each domain, as we have done in this report. This does not allow for comparison between different tissue types, as was the original aim of the system, but we feel it is a better representation of the impact of radiation injury on the individual.

Any system evaluating the side effects of a therapy must find a balance between high sensitivity and specificity for the diagnosis (e.g., mucosal changes on cystoscopy/ sigmoidoscopy) and a representation of the impact on the patient (e.g., quality of life or functional assessments).¹¹ The four domains in the LENT-SOMA tables (subjective, objective, measured, analytic) was an attempt to strike this balance and it has been shown to have correlation with quality of life (QoL) scores.²⁹ Interestingly, several patients in the present cohort reported significant improvements during an informal discussion of QoL despite little improvement in their LENT-SOMA score and others reported the reverse.

Some studies have used cut-offs (e.g., an improvement of two points) as the minimum improvement likely to be important to an individual patient. Instead, we simply reported the mean changes in score, along with statistical significance testing of before and after scores. While any such assessment is very subjective, it is inferred from the observed changes over the course of treatment that many patients are improved in a clinically meaningful way. This investigation has prompted inclusion of a brief QoL assessment at first consultation, at treatment completion and at four week follow-up.

There were several other practical issues with the scoring system. Firstly, the scoring terminology was not very clear or intuitive, i.e., using criteria such as 'occasional' or 'intermittent' rather than clearly defined frequencies. Secondly, the inclusion of double criteria led to room for interpretation, i.e., dysuria could be 'occasional and minimal' (Grade 1) or 'persistent and intense' (Grade 3), but what if it was occasional yet intense? We feel in part this accounts for our anecdotal observations of inter-interpreter variability when different doctors scored symptoms in the same patient. The objective and analytic domains in the LENT-SOMA tables were also sources of difficulty. Many patients had not had a recent cystoscopy/sigmoidoscopy or the results were very difficult to track down. As we re-assessed the patients shortly after they had completed treatment there was little opportunity for them to be re-evaluated objectively (on endoscopy).

Over the course of writing this paper, we have been introduced to an adaptation of the original LENT-SOMA tables that solve many of the above problems. For example, the separation of the frequency and severity of a symptom into two separate scores and the replacement of vague criteria such as 'occasional' with 'monthly'. In addition, the questionnaire has been divided into two sections. Subjective/ management criteria are filled out as much as possible by the patient, removing interpreter bias. The clinician then fills out a questionnaire regarding objective findings (e.g., cystoscopic) where available. These are recommended for future use.³⁰

LIMITATIONS

Aside from the difficulties with the LENT-SOMA scoring system, there were other issues requiring acknowledgement. The LENT-SOMA assessments were made by physicians involved in patient care and there was no comparator group with which to draw a comparison; either may bias the result favourably. As such, regression to the mean or a participation effect unrelated to any actual pathophysiological therapeutic benefit of HBOT cannot be ruled out. It is widely accepted that the 'ritual' of regular daily exposure over six to eight weeks to the chamber environment, supportive staff and one's fellow patients may make HBOT a powerful placebo procedure.³¹ This effect may have been demonstrated in the Clarke et al. RCT, where 63% of the control group reported some response to sham treatment.¹⁷

Unfortunately having a control group is both technically challenging due to the nature of the treatment and highly consumptive of resources. Inevitably, in a busy service it means denying or delaying patients with accepted indications because of the fixed capacity of the chamber and attendant staff. A further ethical consideration surrounds the denial of what has become a routine accepted treatment to the putative control group. While we have demonstrated the effect we could anticipate in the active arm of a blinded, sham-controlled future study, we do not at this time have plans for a future controlled study.

A further limitation was the limited follow-up period of one month after treatment completion. This has two implications. Firstly, it has been shown that patients continue to improve for several months after HBOT, and there is potential to miss some improvements that manifested after follow-up.¹⁷ Secondly, it is not possible to comment on whether or not any improvement in symptoms will have a lasting effect.

Conclusions

A review of the treatment outcome for LRTI patients in our unit suggests these patients are positively impacted by HBOT and this is consistent with most previous reports. There continues to be a good case for high quality, blinded and randomised trials, possibly in a group of patients for whom HBOT is not currently available due to geographical or regulatory constraints.

References

- Who.int [Internet]. WHO Fact Sheet on Cancer. c2018. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer</u>. [cited 2019 Dec 01].
- 2 US Cancer Statistics Working Group. US Cancer Statistics Data Visualizations Tool, based on November 2017 submission data (1999-2015). c2018. Available from: <u>https://gis.cdc.gov/</u> <u>Cancer/USCS/DataViz.html</u>. [cited 2019 Dec 01].
- Bentzen SA, Saunders MI, Dische S, Bond SJ. Radiotherapyrelated early morbidity in head and neck cancer: Quantitative clinical radiobiology as deduced from the CHART trial. Radiother Oncol. 2001;60:123–35. doi: 10.1016/s0167-8140(01)00358-9. PMID: 11439207.
- 4 Hendry JH, West CML. Apoptosis and mitotic cell death: Their relative contributions to normal-tissue and tumour radiation response. Int J Radiat Biol. 1997;71:709–19. <u>PMID: 9246185</u>.
- 5 Fleckenstein K, Gauter-Fleckenstein B, Jackson IL, Rabbani Z, Anscher M, Vujaskovic Z. Using biological markers to predict risk of radiation injury. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2007;17:89–98. doi: 10.1016/j.semradonc.2006.11.004. PMID: 17395039.
- 6 Stone HB, Coleman CN, Anscher MS, McBride WH. Effects of radiation on normal tissue: Consequences and mechanisms. Lancet Oncol. 2003;4:529–36. doi: 10.1016/ s1470-2045(03)01191-4. PMID: 12965273.
- Waddell BE, Rodriguez-Bigas MA, Lee RJ, Weber TK, Petrelli NJ. Prevention of chronic radiation enteritis. J Am Coll Surg. 1999;189:611–24. doi: 10.1016/s1072-7515(99)00199-4. PMID: 10589598.
- 8 Dearnaley DP, Khoo VS, Norman AR, Meyer L, Nahum A, Tait D, et al. Comparison of radiation side-effects of conformal and conventional radiotherapy in prostate cancer: A randomised trial. Lancet. 1999;353:267–72. doi: 10.1016/ s0140-6736(98)05180-0. PMID: 9929018.
- 9 Emami B, Lyman J, Brown A, Coia L, Goitein M, Munzenrider JE, et al. Tolerance of normal tissue to therapeutic irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1991;21:109–22. doi: 10.1016/0360-3016(91)90171-y. PMID: 2032882.
- 10 Michalski JM, Gay H, Jackson A, Tucker SL, Deasy JO. Radiation dose-volume effects in radiation-induced rectal injury. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;76:S123–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2009.03.078. PMID: 20171506. PMCID: PMC3319467.
- Bentzen SM. Preventing or reducing late side effects of radiation therapy: Radiobiology meets molecular pathology. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006;6:702–13. <u>doi: 10.1038/nrc1950</u>. <u>PMID: 16929324</u>.
- 12 Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:394–424. doi: 10.3322/ caac.21492. PMID: 30207593.

- 13 Smart D, Wallington M. A cost-analysis case study of radiation cystitis treatment including hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Diving Hyperb Med. 2012;42:92–7. <u>PMID: 22828818</u>.
- Bennett MH, Feldmeier J, Hampson NB, Smee R, Milross C. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for late radiation tissue injury. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;4(4):CD005005. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005005.pub4. PMID: 27123955. PMCID: PMC6457778.
- 15 Oscarsson N, Arnell P, Lodding P, Ricksten S-E, Seeman-Lodding H. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment in radiation-induced cystitis and proctitis: A prospective cohort study on patient-perceived quality of recovery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87:670–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2013.07.039. PMID: 24035333.
- 16 Cardinal J, Slade A, McFarland M, Keihani S, Hotaling JN, Myers JB. Scoping review and meta-analysis of hyperbaric oxygen therapy for radiation-induced hemorrhagic cystitis. Curr Urol Rep. 2018;19:38. <u>doi: 10.1007/s11934-018-0790-3</u>. <u>PMID: 29654564</u>.
- 17 Clarke RE, Tenorio LMC, Hussey JR, Toklu AS, Cone DL, Hinojosa JG, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment of chronic refractory radiation proctitis: A randomized and controlled double-blind crossover trial with long-term follow-up. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72:134–43. doi: 10.1016/j. ijrobp.2007.12.048. PMID: 18342453.
- 18 Glover M, Smerdon GR, Andreyev HJ, Benton BE, Bothma P, Firth O, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen for patients with chronic bowel dysfunction after pelvic radiotherapy (HOT2): A randomised, double-blind, sham-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:224–33. <u>PMID: 26703894</u>. <u>PMCID: PMC4737893</u>.
- 19 Oscarsson N, Müller B, Rosén A, Lodding P, Mölne J, Giglio D, et al. Radiation-induced cystitis treated with hyperbaric oxygen therapy (RICH-ART): A randomised, controlled, phase 2–3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20:1602–14. <u>PMID: 31537473</u>.
- 20 Sidik S, Hardjodisastro D, Setiabudy R, Gondowiardjo S. Does hyperbaric oxygen administration decrease side effect and improve quality of life after pelvic radiation? Acta Med Indones. 2007;39:169–73. <u>PMID: 18046062</u>.
- 21 Lewis AL, Hardy KR, Huang ET, Bolotin T, Clark JM, Thom SR. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy decreases gross haematuria and improves quality of life in patients with radiation cystitis [Abstract]. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2005;32:236.
- 22 Creutzberg CL. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for radiationinduced injury: Evidence is needed. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:132–4. <u>doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(15)00534-3</u>. <u>PMID: 26703892</u>.
- 23 Rubin P, Constine LS, Fajardo LF, Phillips TL, Wasserman TH. RTOG late effects working group. Overview. Late effects of normal tissues (LENT) scoring system. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1995;31:1041–2. doi: 10.1016/0360-3016(95)00057-6. PMID: 7713774.
- 24 Routledge JA, Burns MP, Swindell R, Khoo VS, West CML, Davidson SE. Evaluation of the LENT-SOMA scales for the prospective assessment of treatment morbidity in cervical carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2003;56:502–10. doi: 10.1016/s0360-3016(02)04578-9. PMID: 12738327.
- 25 Davidson SE, Burns MP, Routledge JA, Swindell R, Bentzen SM, West CML. Assessment of morbidity in carcinoma of the cervix: a comparison of the LENT SOMA scales and the Franco-Italian glossary. Radiother Oncol. 2003;69:195–200. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2003.09.005. PMID: 14643958.

- 26 Anacak Y, Yalman D, Ozsaran Z, Haydaroğlu A. Late radiation effects to the rectum and bladder in gynecologic cancer patients: The comparison of LENT/SOMA and RTOG/ EORTC late-effects scoring systems. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;50:1107–12. doi: 10.1016/s0360-3016(01)01527-9. PMID: 11483319.
- 27 Cronin P, Hoggan B, Goodall S, Cameron A. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for the treatment of non-neurological soft tissue radiation injuries – a cost effectiveness analysis [Abstract]. Value in Health. 2012;15:A602. doi: 10.1016/j. jval.2012.08.005.
- 28 Denekamp J, Bartelink H, Rubin P. Correction for the use of the SOMA LENT tables. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1996;35:417. doi: 10.1016/0360-3016(96)86424-8. PMID: 8635954.
- 29 Ho KF, Farnell DJJ, Routledge JA, Burns MP, Sykes AJ, Slevin NJ, et al. Comparison of patient-reported late treatment toxicity (LENT-SOMA) with quality of life (EORTC QLQ-C30 and QLQ-H&N35) assessment after head and neck

radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol. 2010;97:270–5. doi: 10.1016/j. radonc.2010.01.017. PMID: 20554338.

- 30 Trust TCNF. CTCAE/LENT SOMA questionnaires; c2005. Available from: <u>https://www.christie.nhs.uk/about-us/our-standards/clinical-outcomes/clinical-oncology-scoring-treatment-effects/ctcaelent-soma-questionnaires/</u>. [cited 2019 Dec 02].
- 31 Mitchell SJ, Bennett MH. Unestablished indications for hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Diving Hyperb Med. 2014;44:228–34. <u>PMID: 25596836</u>.

Conflicts of interest and funding: nil

Submitted: 19 January 2020 Accepted after revision: 09 June 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.



HBO Evidence has moved!

Due to the demise of the Wikispaces platform, the Database of RCTs in Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine (DORCTHIM) has a new address. New url: http://hboevidence.wikis.unsw.edu.au

The conversion to the new platform is still under way, but all the information is there and reformatting work continues.

We still welcome volunteers to contribute CATs to the site. Contact Professor Michael Bennett <u>m.bennett@unsw.edu.au</u> if you are interested.

Thermal balance of spinal cord injured divers during cold water diving: A case control study

Urska Gajsek^{1,2}, Arne Sieber^{3,4}, Zarko Finderle²

¹ Department of Abdominal and General Surgery, University Clinical Center Maribor, Maribor, Slovenia

² Institute of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia

³ Seabear Diving Technology, Leoben, Austria

⁴ Chalmers University of Technology, Gothenburg, Sweden

Corresponding aurthor: Urska Gajsek, Department of Abdominal and General Surgery, University Clinical Center Maribor Ljubljanska 5, 2000 Maribor, Slovenia

<u>urska.gajsek@ukc-mb.si</u>

Key words

Scuba diving; Visual analogue scale; Disability; Diving; Disabled diver; Hypothermia

Abstract

(Gajsek U, Sieber A, Finderle Z. Thermal balance of spinal cord injured divers during cold water diving: A case control study. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):256–263. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.256-263. PMID: 32957128.) Introduction: This study compared the thermal balance of spinal cord injured (SCI) divers and able-bodied (AB) divers during recreational cold-water dives.

Methods: Ten divers (5 AB, 5 SCI) in matched pairs dived in a shallow lake (temperature 6°C) for 30 to 36 min wearing 5 mm 'Long John' neoprene wetsuits. A gastrointestinal temperature radio pill recorded gastro-intestinal temperature (T_{gi}) prior to, immediately after and at 5, 10, 15, 30, 60, 120 min post-dive. Subjective ratings of temperature perception were recorded concomitantly using a visual analogue scale (VAS).

Results: No difference between SCI and AB divers in T_{gi} before the dive was observed (P = 0.85). After the dive, SCI divers cooled significantly more than AB at all measured time intervals (P < 0.001). Post dive, the mean maximum fall in T_{gi} during the recovery phase in SCI divers was 0.85° C (SD 0.20) and in the AB group was 0.48° C (0.48). In addition, there was greater individual variation in SCI divers compared to AB divers. There were no statistically significant differences in temperature perception between the groups either before or at any time after the dives.

Conclusions: In contrast to AB divers, divers with SCI were unable to maintain T_{gi} during short shallow dives in 6°C water and their temperatures fell further post-dive. The reduction in T_{gi} was not reflected in the subjective ratings of temperature perception by the SCI divers. The study was too small to assess how the level of spinal injury influenced thermal balance.

Introduction

The annual incidence of traumatic spinal cord injury (SCI) in developed countries is estimated at 15 to 40 cases per million people.1 The American Disabilities Act of 1990 and the British Disability Discrimination Act of 1995 have formed the basis for greater integration of SCI individuals into society. Today, individuals with spinal cord injury participate in sports and some even compete in high-level organised events such as the Summer and Winter Paralympic Games.² Recreational scuba diving is becoming a popular sport among SCI individuals. According to a survey of scuba diving for disabled divers, over 50% of British dive clubs had been involved in the training of disabled divers between 1998 and 2000.3 Specialised training for SCI recreational divers is now available worldwide through national or regional associations for handicapped divers, as well as dive education organisations.4

SCI divers participate in both warm- and cold-water diving. One of the main issues for divers is thermal protection since the ratio of heat conductivity of water to air is approximately 24:1.⁵ Although SCI individuals participate in winter paralympic sports (alpine skiing, ice sledge hockey, Nordic skiing, wheelchair curling, biathlon), the heat loss during these activities conducted in cold air is substantially less than that experienced during immersion in cold water.

Autonomic and behavioural responses are involved in the maintenance of deep body temperature in humans within a narrow range despite large variations in ambient conditions and activity level. Central foci initiate appropriate effector mechanisms in response to thermal afferent information from skin and core regions. Injury to the spinal cord abolishes thermal afferent information from regions innervated by nerves emerging from the spinal cord below the injury. Thus, although hypothalamic and cortical regions involved in autonomic and behavioural temperature regulation are not affected, their actions are limited to the regions above the spinal cord lesion. Consequently, the ability of SCI individuals to regulate body temperature and to sense cold is impaired.^{6,7} The severity of impairment is directly related to the injury level and completeness of the lesion. Deep or central temperature receptors sensitive to cold can initiate

shivering above the level of the SCI.⁶ Individuals with SCI show lower core temperature after cold exposure in comparison to able-bodied controls.^{8,9} Central temperature mechanisms remain unaffected.¹⁰

As hypothermia is one of the risks in diving,¹¹ suitable thermal protection is part of the personal protective equipment of any diver. While in tropical waters neoprene rubber suits are the primary choice, drysuits are usually recommended for cold-water diving. However, in drysuit diving, gas must be delivered and released from the suit to maintain a constant volume during diving and to minimise the squeeze on descent or uncontrolled ascent due to excessive air. In general, drysuit diving requires specific training to control buoyancy. SCI divers need to use their arms to prevent uncontrolled rapid ascent and at the same time operate the suit and buoyancy compensator inflation and exhaust valves. The compensating air is usually taken from the breathing cylinder, decreasing diving time. Most dry suits have baggy trousers to allow passage of the feet to the boots. A large volume of air can be trapped in the legs, leading to body inversion. This can occur much faster in SCI divers who may have difficulty maintaining horizontal trim.¹² All the above might explain why SCI divers usually only use neoprene rubber wetsuits. The drawback of a wetsuit in contrast to a drysuit is that it does not offer the same level of thermal protection.

Several studies have investigated the issue of hyperthermia in SCI individuals during fever¹³ and during activities conducted in warm air environments,^{14,15} but there is only anecdotal information regarding the risk of cold injury among SCI individuals conducting activities in cold environments. During activities in cold air, the risk of local freezing and non-freezing cold injury to regions below the lesion and of hypothermia is most likely higher among SCI compared to able-bodied individuals. In contrast to activities conducted in air, where exposure time is essentially unlimited, during diving the exposure to the high heat loss environment is limited by the capacity of the breathing air supply.

In cold water diving the main problem is hypothermia.¹⁶ Therefore, SCI divers would benefit from recommendations regarding planning such dives. The present study was conducted to compare gastrointestinal temperature as a valid surrogate marker of core temperature following a shallow dive in cold water in SCI and non-SCI divers. We hypothesised that SCI divers exposed to the same environmental conditions would demonstrate a larger reduction in core temperature than their able-bodied dive partners.

Methods

The study was approved by the National Committee for Medical Ethics at the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Slovenia. Written informed consent was obtained and it was made clear to all the participants that they could terminate the dive at any point. All volunteers were familiar with the methods and the diving protocol.

STUDY POPULATION

Five SCI and five able-bodied (AB) divers participated. All were experienced divers (between 100 and 300 logged diving hours), with previous experience in cold-water diving. All SCI divers were at least five years post-injury with levels of injury of T6 (two divers), T9 (one diver) and T12 (two divers), ASIA score A¹⁷ and had no history of cardiovascular disease or diabetes. Paraplegia was the result of injuries sustained in either traffic or sports accidents, and in one case from a war injury. All five SCI divers received their diver training and certification after their spinal cord injury. Diving experience in the SCI group varied from three to 11 years and around 20 h per year of diving. Divers were matched by body mass index (BMI) and sex. Body surface area (BSA):¹⁸

BSA $(m^2) = (height [cm] x weight [kg]) / 3,600$ (1) Lean body weight (LBW),¹⁹ adult men:

LBW (kg) = $(9,270 \text{ x total body weight } [kg])/(6,680 + (216 \text{ x BMI } [kg \cdot m^{-2}]))$ (2)

adult women: LBW (kg) = $(9,270 \text{ x total body weight } [kg])/(8,780 + (244 \text{ x BMI } [kg \cdot m^{-2}]))$ (3)

were calculated. Demographic data for all participants are summarised in Table 1.

DIVING PROTOCOL

The Adriatic Chapter of the International Association of Handicapped Divers (IAHD) organised a single recreational cold-water (6°C) dive at Gruener Lake in Tragoess, Austria, which is a shallow (maximum depth 5.4 metres' fresh water [mfw]) alpine lake at an altitude of 779 m. Appropriate altitude and fresh water considerations were included in the planning of the dives. Dives were limited to the maximum depth of the lake and a maximum of 35 min duration, and were conducted in pairs, each pair consisting of a SCI and a BMI-matched AB diver. SCI divers were instructed to start leisurely swimming after a 2 min descent and safety check and AB divers to adjust the swim pace accordingly. The pair swam for 15 min to the centre of the lake, turned around and swam back for 15 min. Table 2 lists pair-matched diving profiles.

All divers used two-piece 5-mm neoprene wetsuits, comprising 'Long John' trousers and long-sleeved jackets. The overlapping 'Long Johns' and jacket provided a 10-mm insulative layer of neoprene for the torso. The SCI divers used tailored suits (Kanoko[®] superstretch/ Pile[®] thermic inside, zipper to face, ELIOS, Italy), the AB divers used their own 5 mm thick neoprene wet suits, which were not standardised for the study. The dive profiles (depth and duration) and water temperature were recorded with dive computers worn by each diver (D-series, Suunto, Finland). The divers entered the water from the shore. The first post-

Table 1

Demographic data for spinal cord injured (SCI) and able bodied (AB) divers; BMI = body mass index; BSA = body surface area; LBW = lean body weight

Divers	Sex	Age	Height (cm)	Weight (kg)	BMI (kg·m ⁻²)	BSA ¹⁷ (m ²)	BSA/weight (m ² ·kg ⁻¹)	LBW ¹⁸ (kg)	Injury level
SCI1	М	45	172	68	23.0	1.80	0.025	55	T9
SCI2	М	39	170	80	27.7	1.94	0.024	60	T6
SCI3	M	44	188	85	24.0	2.11	0.025	67	T12
SCI4	W	41	158	52	20.8	1.51	0.030	41	T6
SCI5	М	40	185	88	25.7	2.13	0.024	68	T12
AB1	M	23	180	76	23.5	1.95	0.026	61	/
AB2	М	51	180	89	27.5	2.11	0.024	67	/
AB3	M	60	175	76	24.8	1.92	0.025	59	/
AB4	W	35	168	60	21.3	1.67	0.028	47	/
AB5	M	48	173	78	26.1	1.94	0.025	60	/

Pair-matched diving profiles for SCI and AB divers										
Diver pair	Max. depth (m)	Average depth (m)	Duration (min)							
SCI1	4	2.1	35							
AB1	4.5	2.8	36							
SCI2	5.3	2.8	36							
AB2	5.4	3.3	35							
SCI3	4.1	2.3	33							
AB3	4.6	2.8	33							
SCI4	5	2.9	30							
AB4	5.2	3	30							
SCI5	4.2	2.5	33							

2.7

2.7 (0.34)

4.5

4.6 (0.51)

Table 2

dive gastrointestinal temperature $(T_{\sigma i})$ measurements were performed immediately after the divers reached the shore. Non-divers helped the SCI and AB divers with the diving equipment. SCI divers had help with the wheelchair transfer and were pushed from the shore to the observational terrace (50 m distant). All divers changed into dry clothes (long trousers, T-shirt, fleece jacket, Windstopper jacket, cap) and shoes after the dive and covered themselves with a provided fleece blanket. Both groups remained seated outdoors at a table for 120 min, chatting. Weather was partly cloudy, air temperature 17° C with light wind $(1 \text{ m} \cdot \text{s}^{-1})$.

AB5

Mean (SD)

DEEP BODY TEMPERATURE ASSESSMENT

T_{gi} was used as a marker of core temperature using an ingestible radio pill (CorTemp® Temperature Sensor 262K15VSOHCO38075, HQInc, Palmetto, USA), which relayed the temperature information to an external receiver/ recorder (CorTemp® Data Recorder 262K w/HR HT 130042, HQInc, Palmetto, USA). These pills contain temperature recording and radio frequency emitting electronic circuits, powered by a small battery. Because there are no data about the pressure resistance of the capsules, a laboratory pressure test was performed at Seabear Diving Technology, Graz, Austria. Capsules were tested 24 hours before the dive whilst recording at approximately 1 mPa in a pressure chamber filled with water. No mechanical deformities of pills or erroneous temperature measurements were detected.

32

33.3 (2.2)

The radio pill was ingested with a granola bar (Frutabela, Fructal, Slovenia) one hour before the dive. Variable gut motility among the subjects may cause the T_{gi} temperature to correspond to different regions of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. According to normal gastric emptying (up to 2 h)²⁰ and small bowel transit time (up to 2 h in more than 80% population),²¹ the radio pill was most likely positioned in the jejunum during measurements. The location of a GI radio pill may vary among subjects and it has been shown in one individual that the detected temperature changed with the GI location.²² In contrast, no difference in measurements were seen when a sensor was ingested 24 h or 40 min before the first reading.²³ Since the gastrointestinal radio pill temperature system is designed for use in air, the radio receiving unit which receives and stores the amplitude

Figure 1 Individual T_{gi} before the dive (predive), immediately after the dive (pd 0) and maximal post-dive fall (maxdrop) for SCI divers (green) and AB divers (blue)



Table 3Mean (SD) T_{gi} for SCI and AB divers pre dive, immediately post dive and at 5, 10, 15, 30, 60 and 120 min post-dive; the lowest temperature
for each SCI diver is in bold; PD = post dive

Tgi (°C)	Pre-dive	PD 0	PD 5	PD 10	PD 15	PD 30	PD 60	PD 120
SCI1	37.7	37.2	37.1	37.1	37.1	37.0	37.4	36.5
SCI2	38.0	36.7	36.4	36.2	36.0	36.0	35.8	36.7
SCI3	37.5	36.1	35.6	35.3	35.0	35.0	35.6	36.5
SCI4	37.7	35.9	35.9	35.6	35.4	35.3	35.9	36.7
SCI5	37.2	37.7	37.5	37.3	37.1	36.9	36.8	36.7
Mean	37.6	36.7	36.5	36.3	36.1	36.0	36.3	36.6
(SD)	(0.3)	(0.8)	(0.8)	(0.9)	(0.9)	(0.9)	(0.8)	(0.1)
Tgi (°C)	Pre-dive	PD 0	PD 5	PD 10	PD 15	PD 30	PD 60	PD 120
AB1	37.5	37.9	37.8	37.7	37.7	37.8	38.0	37.9
AB2	37.4	37.5	37.4	37.4	37.4	37.4	37.4	37.3
AB3	38.4	38.8	38.5	38.6	38.4	38.6	38.0	37.8
AB4	37.4	37.5	37.4	37.5	37.6	37.6	37.7	37.5
AB5	37.6	37.6	37.4	37.3	37.3	37.4	36.9	36.5
Mean	37.7	37.9	37.7	37.7	37.7	37.8	37.6	37.4
(SD)	(0.4)	(0.6)	(0.5)	(0.5)	(0.4)	(0.5)	(0.5)	(0.6)
<i>P</i> -value	0.85	0.027	0.017	0.015	0.010	0.006	0.012	0.014

modulated signal from the pill only works in air. T_{gi} were recorded prior to, directly after and at minutes 5, 10, 15, 30, 60 and 120 after the dive. During this post-dive period, the subjects were requested not to eat or drink.

TEMPERATURE PERCEPTION

Divers were requested to provide overall ratings of temperature perception on a visual analogue scale (VAS) comprising a 10 cm horizontal line with 0 representing no perception of cold and 10 the perception of severe cold. The subjects rated their sensation of cold in parallel to the core temperature recordings pre-dive and at 0, 5, 10, 15, 30 and 60-min post-dive. In addition, it was noted if a subject was shivering.

STATISTICAL ANALYSES

After test for normality (Shapiro-Wilk test) a two-way mixed ANOVA statistical model, calculated with IBM SPSS® 25.0 software, was used to assess the effect of time, group and interaction between time and group on T_{gi} . Paired sample *t*-tests were used to establish whether the mean T_{gi} recorded at specific times were different between the groups; data are presented as mean (SD). It was not possible to assess changes in T_{gi} against injury level in the SCI divers because of the small numbers. Subjective ratings of temperature perception of the SCI and AB divers were evaluated with Mann-Whitney U tests (M-WU); these data being presented as median and inter-quartile range (IQR). The alpha level of significance was set at 0.05.



Results

All divers completed the dives according to the dive plan. There were no untoward events either during or immediately after the dives and all planned temperature measurements in all divers were documented successfully.

DEEP BODY TEMPERATURE

Individual pre-, immediate post-dive and lowest post-dive T_{gi} are shown in Figure 1. There was no difference in pre-dive T_{gi} between the groups (SCI: 37.6°C (SD 0.2); AB: 37.7°C (0.4); P = 0.85) but a significant difference post-dive (SCI: 36.7°C (0.77); AB: 37.9°C (0.56); P = 0.02). Table 3 lists all measured T_{gi} .

Post-dive, the mean maximum fall in the recovery phase in T_{gi} in SCI divers was 0.85°C (0.2) and in the AB group 0.48°C (0.48). In addition, there was greater individual variation in SCI divers (mean max difference (SD): 1.75°C (0.6)) compared to AB divers (0.75°C (0.4)) in the recovery phase. The dive did not significantly alter the deep body temperature of the AB group (before: 37.7°C (0.4); after: 37.4°C (0.6); P = 0.47).

ANOVA revealed that there were significant main effects on T_{gi} for time (F[7.56] = 9.789; P < 0.001), group (F[1.8] = 11.61; P = 0.009) and interaction between time and group (F[7.56] = 5.47; P < 0.001). Thus, there were statistically significant differences in T_{gi} between the SCI and AB divers measured post-dive. Figure 2 shows the mean T_{gi} for both groups through the measured time. In the AB group, mean T_{gi} after 120 min is only 0.3°C less than the pre-dive mean, whereas in the SCI group, it is 1.0°C lower (pre-dive: 37.6°C (0.27), 120 min post-dive: 36.6°C (0.14)).

COLD SENSATION

There were no statistically significant differences in the perception of temperature between the AB and SCI divers either before, immediately after or at any time post-dive (Figure 3). SCI divers started to report increasing perceptions of cold immediately after to 15 min post-dive. Thereafter, despite a continued reduction in T_{gi} , the SCI divers did not perceive any further increases in cold perception after 15 min post-dive (Figure 3). Only SCI divers 3 and 4 (one T6 and the other T12 injury levels) exhibited shivering around the torso and sternocleidomastoid muscles lasting about 25 min post dive.

Discussion

The principal finding of the present study is that SCI divers experienced a significant but variable fall in T_{gi} during and after a 30–35-min, shallow, cold-water (6°C) dive. In contrast, AB divers exhibited uniformly only a minimal change in deep body temperature during the dive and no 'afterdrop' post dive.



Figure 3

Assessment of cold with a visual analogue scale (0 – no cold and 10 – severe cold) in five SCI divers (green) and five AB divers (blue) prior to the dive and at 0, 5, 10, 15, 30 and 60 min post-dive (median [IQR] as box and whisker plots)

Since a given dive pair, comprising an AB and SCI diver, conducted the dive together, the activity of the two divers should be similar. Before the dive, all divers were instructed to swim leisurely. However, the pattern of swimming between groups was different. For SCI divers, propulsion is provided by using the arms and non-SCI divers the legs. Core temperature falls significantly more when exercise is performed by the arms when compared with the legs in cold water.²⁴ The larger surface area-to-body mass ratio will also contribute to this accelerated heat loss. According to the values for surface-to-mass ratio, the ratio for arms is almost twice that for legs.²⁵ SCI have a higher convective coefficient²⁶ and, therefore, higher absolute heat flux to cold water. On the other hand, the muscle temperature depends on exercise intensity, which might be higher in the SCI group. Also, blood flow would be greater in higher intensity exercise, so a greater proportion of heat is transferred to the core. It can be postulated that the SCI group were exercising at a higher intensity than the AB divers whilst swimming side-by-side at the same pace and, therefore, had a higher metabolic rate. However, the peripheral location of the working, perfused muscles indicates that most of this heat would be lost to the cold water. It is assumed that SCI divers have greater conductive and convective heat transfer at the neoprene-water interface than AB divers.

It is also likely that there are differences in the pattern and magnitude of heat loss from different body regions. Despite the thermal insulation provided by the neoprene suit, the skin temperature during the dive most likely decreased to a level where vasoconstriction was initiated to retain heat. Whereas, for the regions above the level of the spinal cord injury the level of vasoconstriction was most likely similar to or possibly greater than that in the AB divers, regulation of perfusion of regions below the injury would be substantially impaired in the SCI divers.²⁷ The difference in perfusion of peripheral regions within the two diver groups using skin temperatures was not monitored in the present study. Nevertheless, the greater cooling of the core region of the SCI divers can be attributed to impairment in the regulation of peripheral perfusion and, thus, impairment of the heat retention response.

The 'afterdrop' in core temperature is a characteristic response observed during rewarming of individuals after exposure to a high heat loss environment inducing core temperature cooling.²⁸ The aetiology of the core temperature afterdrop is suggested to be the thermal inertia in heating the cooled peripheral regions.^{29,30} The SCI group experienced greater continued cooling during the post-dive 120 min observation time. The heat production created as a byproduct from exercise stopped after the dive. Divers stayed in an air environment in which further cooling via convection (light wind $(1 \text{ m} \cdot \text{s}^{-1})$) and evaporation (before changing into dry clothes) can occur. SCI divers needed longer (up to 10 min) to change and, therefore, were more exposed to heat loss. The absence of a significant T_{i} after-drop in the AB divers suggests that they remained in or close to thermal balance during and after the dive. However, the difference in afterdrop was so prominent that longer changing time can only contribute to cooling without being a main reason for it.

COLD PERCEPTION

The perception of body temperature was similar in the two groups despite the lower T_{gi} in the SCI group. A rating of temperature perception is a result of cortical integration of thermo-afferent information. The lack of sensory information from the regions below the injury would not appear to contribute significantly to the overall perception of

cold in the SCI divers. Consequently, within the framework of the dives conducted and the cold exposure experienced by the SCI divers, it would appear that their behavioral regulation of body temperature would be appropriate but is altered, which might present safety issues.

SHIVERING

Despite the decrease in core temperature in the SCI divers during the dive, shivering was observed in only two of them post dive. Shivering in humans with an intact spinal cord is initiated by thermo-afferent information from temperature sensors in the skin, as well as direct thermal stimulation (temperature of blood perfusing the region) of hypothalamic temperature neurons. Whereas, the former is probably substantially reduced in SCI, it is the latter that provides the stimulus for shivering in muscles with intact innervation.³¹ Previous studies suggest that the muscles of the lower extremities are not activated during the initiation of shivering; activation of the shivering proceeds caudally starting with the mastoid and sternocleidomastoids muscles.^{32,33} The impaired activation of the leg muscles in SCI divers is likely less important than the impairment of heat retention in this situation. Because both groups remained seated during the observation time, the activity level of the divers post-dive did not account for the slower rewarming in the SCI divers.

LIMITATIONS

The small number of divers is the main limitation of the study. However, it is difficult to find SCI divers with similar levels of injury who also perform cold-water dives. This is likely why there have been no previous studies of SCI vs. AB divers. All the SCI divers were classified as ASIA score A (no sensory or motor function is preserved in the sacral segments S4–S5) and had an injury at the thoracic level with the complete absence of motor function below the level of injury. The variability of the cooling pattern could be the result of the different levels of thoracic injury (T6 to T12), but the small numbers prevent any worthwhile analysis of this relationship.

Matching divers by BMI could be a possible limitation of the study. BMI does not reflect location or amount of body fat but it is internationally recognised as a marker of obesity and adiposity.^{34,35} A higher BMI, whether reflecting greater body fat, increased muscle mass or simply overall size, is associated with a slower drop in core temperature during cold-water swimming.^{36,37} Therefore, it was assumed that BMI matching was appropriate for the given conditions. Also, the two groups were shown to be matched for the body surface area-to-mass ratio, a factor that contributes to heat loss (Table 1).³⁸

Using gastrointestinal temperature as a marker of core temperature could be a limitation because the location of the radio pills is dependent upon gastrointestinal motility. Despite that, the radio pill is widely accepted and used in field-based exercise studies as an indicator of core temperature.³⁹ Finally, for real-time detailed core temperature changes, continuous temperature monitoring during the dive is essential. Unfortunately, no commercial measurement system has been available until recently.

Conclusions

In a shallow dive in 6°C water, the deep body temperature of SCI divers fell significantly, whereas in AB divers it remained stable. However, the decrease in T_{gi} approached levels considered hypothermic (35°C) in only one (with a T12 injury) of the five SCI divers. The subjective perception of cold by SCI divers did not reflect the reduction in T_{gi} observed. Further studies are needed with larger numbers, various water temperatures, dive times and injury levels, preferably in controlled laboratory conditions and with indive monitoring.

References

- Sekhon LH, Fehlings MG. Epidemiology, demographics, and pathophysiology of acute spinal cord injury. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2001;26:S2–12. <u>doi: 10.1097/00007632-200112151-00002. PMID: 11805601</u>.
- Webborn N, Van der Vilet P. Paralympic medicine. Lancet.
 2012;380:65–71. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60831-9.
 PMID: 22770458.
- 3 Shelly S, Dowse ML, Bryson P. The report on the data from the 1998–2000 survey of scuba diving for disabled divers and divers with other conditions that may affect their diving (injury, surgery and disease). Plymouth: Diving Disease Research Center; 2002. p.5–10.
- 4 Arnhold P, Lepore M. Aquatics. In: Winnick J, Porretta DL, editors. Adapted physical education and sport, 6th ed. Champaign (IL): Human Kinetics; 2017. p. 491.
- 5 Clark RP, Edholm OG. Man and his thermal environment. London, England: Edward Arnold Ltd; 1985.
- 6 Downey JA, Lemons DE. Human thermoregulation. In: Downey JA, Myers SJ, Gonzalez EG, Lieberman JS, editors. The physiological basis of rehabilitation medicine, 2nd ed. Stoneham (MA): Butterworth-Heinemann; 1994. p. 351–63.
- Khan S, Plummer M, Martinez-Arizala A, Banovac K. Hypothermia in patients with chronic spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med. 2007;30:27–30. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2007.11753910. PMID: 17385266. PMCID: PMC2032005.
- 8 Sawka MN, Latzka WA, Pandolf KB. Temperature regulation during upper body exercise: able-bodied and spinal cord injured. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1989;21:S132–40. <u>PMID:</u> 2691825.
- 9 Gass EM, Gass GC. Thermoregulatory responses to repeated warm water immersion in subjects who are paraplegic. Spinal Cord. 2001;39:149–55. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3101117. PMID: 11326325.
- 10 Garstang SV, Miller-Smith SA. Autonomic nervous system dysfunction after spinal cord injury. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2007;18:275–96. <u>doi: 10.1016/j.pmr.2007.02.003</u>. <u>PMID: 17543773</u>.
- 11 Mekjavic IB, Tipton MJ, Eiken O. Thermal considerations in diving. In: Brubakk AO, Neuman TS, editors. Bennett and

Elliott's physiology and medicine of diving, 5th ed. Edinburgh: Saunders Ltd; 2003. p. 115–52.

- 12 Barsky SM, Long D, Stinton B. Dry suit diving: a guide to diving dry. Ventura (CA): Hammerhead Press; 2006. p. 152.
- 13 Schmidt KD, Chan CW. Thermoregulation and fever in normal persons and in those with spinal cord injuries. Mayo Clin Proc. 1992;67:469–75. doi: 10.1016/s0025-6196(12)60394-2. PMID: 1405774.
- 14 Yamasaki M, Kim KT, Choi SW, Muraki S, Shiokawa M, Kurokawa TJ. Characteristics of body heat balance of paraplegics during exercise in a hot environment. Physiol Anthropol Appl Human Sci. 2001;20:227–32. doi: 10.2114/jpa.20.227. PMID: 11575185.
- 15 Webborn N, Price MJ, Castle PC, Goosey-Tolfrey VL. Effects of two cooling strategies on thermoregulatory responses of tetraplegic athletes during repeated intermittent exercise in the heat. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2005;98:2101–7. doi: 10.1152/ japplphysiol.00784.2004. PMID: 15677741.
- 16 Broaddus VC, Mason RJ, Ernst JD, King TE, Lazarus SC, Murray JF, et al. In: Murry and Nadel's textbook of respiratory medicine, 6th ed. Philadelphia (PA): Elsevier; 2016. p. 1676.
- 17 Jha A. ASIA Impairment Scale. In: Kreutzer JS, DeLuca J, Caplan B, editors. Encyclopedia of clinical neuropsychology. New York: Springer; 2011. p. 324.
- 18 Mosteller RD. Simplified calculation of body-surface area. N Engl J Med. 1987;317:1098. <u>doi: 10.1056/</u> NEJM198710223171717. PMID: 3657876.
- 19 Janmahasatian S, Duffull SB, Ash S, Ward LC, Byrne NM, Green B. Quantification of lean bodyweight. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2005;44:1051–65. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200544100-00004. PMID: 16176118.
- 20 Guo JP, Maurer AH, Fisher RS, Parkman HP. Extending gastric emptying scintigraphy from two to four hours detects more patients with gastroparesis. Dig Dis Sci. 2001;46:24–9. doi: 10.1023/a:1005697422454. PMID: 11270790.
- 21 Kim SK. Small intestine transit time in the normal small bowel study. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med. 1968;104:522–4. doi: 10.2214/ajr.104.3.522. PMID: 5687899.
- 22 Taylor NAS, Tipton MJ, Kenny GP. Considerations for the measurement of core, skin and mean body temperatures. J Ther Bio. 2014;46:72–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2014.10.006. PMID: 25455943.
- 23 Domitrovich JW, Cuddy JS, Ruby BC. Core-temperature sensor ingestion timing and measurement variability. J Athl Train. 2010;45:594–600. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-45.6.594. PMID: 21062183. PMCID: PMC2978011.
- 24 Toner MM, Sawka MN, Pandolf KB. Thermal responses during arm and leg and combined arm-leg exercise in water. J Appl Physiol Respi Environ Exerc Physiol. 1984;56:1355–60. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1984.56.5.1355. PMID: 6725090.
- 25 Burton AC. Human calorimetry. II. The average temperature of the tissues of the body. J Nutr. 1935;9:261–80. ISSN : 0022-3166.
- 26 Whiterspoon JM, Goldman RF, Breckenridge JR. Heat transfer coefficients of humans in cold water. J Physiol Paris. 1971;63:459–62. <u>PMID: 5121976</u>.
- 27 West CR, Alyahya A, Laher I, Krassioukov A. Peripheral vascular function in spinal cord injury: A systematic review. Spinal Cord. 2013;51:10–9. doi: 10.1038/sc.2012.136. PMID: 23184028.
- 28 Hayward JS, Eckerson JD, Kemna D. Thermal and cardiovascular changes during three methods of resuscitation from mild hypothermia. Resuscitation. 1984;11:21–33. doi:

10.1016/0300-9572(84)90031-5. PMID: 6322264.

- 29 Savard GK, Cooper KE, Veale WL, Malkinson TJ. Peripheral blood flow during rewarming from mild hypothermia in humans. J Appl Physiol (1985). 1985;58:4–13. doi: 10.1152/ jappl.1985.58.1.4. PMID: 3968020.
- 30 Giesbrech GG, Bristow GK. A second postcooling afterdrop: more evidence for a convective mechanism. J Appl Physiol (1985). 1992;73:1253–8. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1992.73.4.1253. PMID: 1447067.
- 31 Attia M, Engel P. Thermoregulatory set point in patients with spinal cord injuries. Paraplegia. 1983;21:233–48. doi: 10.1038/sc.1983.37. PMID: 6622050.
- 32 Tikuisis P, Bell DG, Jacobs I. Shivering onset, metabolic response, and convective heat transfer during cold air exposure. J Appl Physiol (1985). 1991;70:1996–2002. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1991.70.5.1996. PMID: 1864780.
- Bell DG, Tikuisis P, Jacobs I. Relative intensity of muscular contraction during shivering. J Appl Physiol (1985). 1992;72:2336–42. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1992.72.6.2336. PMID: 1629089.
- 34 Kusowska-Wolk A, Karlsson P, Stolt M, Rössner S. The predictive validity of body mass index based on self-reported weight and height. Int J Obes. 1989;13:441–53. <u>PMID: 2793299</u>.
- 35 Ode JJ, Pivarik JM, Reeves MJ, Knous JL. Body mass index as a predictor of percent fat in college athletes and nonathletes. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39:403–9. <u>doi: 10.1249/01.</u> <u>mss.0000247008.19127.3e</u>. <u>PMID: 17473765</u>.
- 36 Nuckton TJ, Claman DM, Goldreich D, Wendt FC, Nuckton JG. Hypothermia and afterdrop following open water swimming: the Alcatraz/San Francisco swim study. Am J Emerg Med. 2000;18:703–7. doi: 10.1053/ajem.2000.16313. PMID: 11043627.
- 37 Brannigan D, Rogers IR, Jacobs I, Montgomery A, Williams A, Khangure N. Hypothermia is a significant medical risk of mass participation long-distance open water swimming. Wilderness Environ Med. 2009;20:14–8. <u>doi: 10.1580/08-WEME-OR-214.1. PMID: 19364182</u>.
- 38 Armstrong N, Van Mechelen W. Oxford textbook of children's sport and exercise medicine. Oxford (UK): Oxford University Press; 2017. Chapter 14.
- 39 Byrne C, Lim CL. The ingestible telemetric body core temperature sensor: A review of validity and exercise applications. Br J Sports Med. 2007;41:126–33. doi: 10.1136/ bjsm.2006.026344. PMID: 17178778. PMCID: PMC2465229.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the IAHD Adriatic organization and their members and Professor Igor B Mekjavic for his advice.

Conflicts of interest and funding

Nil conflicts of interest. The equipment was provided by the Institute of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia.

Submitted: 05 March 2018 Accepted after revision: 17 June 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Review article Monoplace chamber treatment of decompression illness: Review and commentary

Richard Clarke¹

¹ National Baromedical Services, Columbia, South Carolina, USA

Corresponding author: Richard Clarke, National Baromedical Services, Nine Richland Medical Park, Suite 440, Columbia, SC 29203, USA <u>dick.clarke@prismahealth.org</u>

Key words

Cerebral arterial gas embolism; Decompression sickness; Diving medicine; Patient monitoring; Recompression; Pressure chambers

Abstract

(Clarke R. Monoplace chamber treatment of decompression illness: Review and commentary. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):264-272. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.264-272. PMID: 32957129.) This paper summarises the history and capabilities of monoplace chambers in treatment of decompression illness (DCI); both in support of diving operations and in the hospital setting. In the field, monoplace hyperbaric chambers provide victims of DCI immediate access to recompression in settings where traditional multiplace chambers are not available. Alternatively, they may facilitate pressurised transport to a multiplace chamber for continued management. Recently, collapsible lightweight versions have improved suitability for field deployment aboard small vessels in remote settings, and for use by less technically capable military, occupational and civilian operators. The resulting elimination of treatment delays may prove lifesaving and central nervous system sparing, and avoid subsequent diving fitness disqualification. Monoplace chambers thus facilitate diving operations that would otherwise be difficult to condone on health and safety grounds. The 1960s saw the introduction of multiplace hyperbaric chambers into the hospital setting, as a number of non-diving conditions appeared to benefit from hyperbaric oxygen. This coincided with interest in hyperbaric oxygen as a solid tumour radiation sensitiser. Development of a novel acrylic-hulled single occupancy chamber enabled patients to undergo radiotherapy while pressurised within its oxygen atmosphere. Increasing numbers of health care facilities adopted this chamber type as a more economical, less complex alternative to the multiplace chamber. Incorporation of relevant biomedical technologies have allowed monoplace chambers to support increasingly complex patients in a safe, effective manner. Despite these advances, criticism of medical centre-based monoplace chamber treatment of DCI exists. This paper evaluates this controversy and presents relevant counter-arguments.

Introduction

Therapeutic recompression has long represented standard care for those suffering decompression illness (DCI). It was proposed in 1854,1 then first employed in a systematic fashion during excavation of the Hudson River tunnel.^{2,3} By the early twentieth century, an on-site recompression or hyperbaric chamber was increasingly considered essential support for compressed air operations.^{4,5} Constructed of steel, it was large enough to accommodate several occupants. This afforded immediate and simultaneous treatment of multiple patients, given large 'at risk' populations employed within pressurised bridge caissons and mass transit tunnels. Connected to the chamber was an entry compartment, or air lock, to facilitate transfer of patients and support personnel into and from the main compartment while it remained pressurised. The chamber's principal therapeutic basis was that of Boyle's Law; namely, air pressure increases proportionally decrease the volume of gas emboli.

On-site recompression chambers were soon associated with naval and civilian diving operations. In contrast to referenced fixed location civil engineering projects, diving worksites involved fewer at-risk personnel, occasionally operated from water-borne platforms, and were increasingly remote. To support this form of compressed air work, traditional large permanently emplaced multiplace chamber design evolved to one that was smaller and relatively transportable. Subsequent use of aluminum alloy further decreased weight and enhanced transportability.

Growth in demand for underwater work, occasional space limitations, increasingly remote worksites and certain economic constraints led to the introduction of a single occupancy 'monoplace' chamber. Air remained the compression gas and operating pressures of early models equalled many of their multiplace counterparts.^{6,7} In due course, oxygen, delivered by facemask, became an important therapeutic adjunct, as it did for the multiplace chamber. Monoplace chamber support of diving operations commonly involves two distinct strategies. One is to effect treatment while the chamber remains at the dive site, thereby ensuring its continued availability during ongoing underwater activities. The alternative is a transportable system, although chamber designs are not mutually exclusive. In this second example, and upon initiation of on-site recompression, transfer of the pressurised diver to a regional multiplace chamber occurs by whatever expedited means planned or available. Upon arrival, the patient relocates to the multiplace chamber. Several factors dictate how this is accomplished. If the monoplace is equipped with a flange coupling compatible with the multiplace, transfer under pressure takes place by physical connection of the two chambers.⁸ Once attached, compression of the multiplace chamber to equal monoplace pressure occurs, at which point multiplace inside attendants (IAs) open interconnecting hatches and assist the patient into the multiplace compartment for continued treatment. Monoplace chamber design tends to be narrower and lighter in order to accommodate this transfer method. In the absence of a physical connection capability, and size constraints permitting, support personnel place the monoplace into the unpressurized multiplace chamber.9 The multiplace is then compressed to monoplace pressure and the patient relocated as before. Failing the ability to effect either option, one may elect to complete treatment in the monoplace or decompress it and promptly recompress the patient in the multiplace. Various clinical circumstances, operational constraints and environmental factors dictate which of these decisions would best apply.

In the 1980s a fabric-hulled compressed air monoplace chamber was introduced.¹⁰ Exceptionally lightweight, it is readily transportable in carrying cases. Although it lacks the degree of pressurisation inherent in earlier monoplace designs, it has an oxygen delivery system so is capable of providing US Navy Treatment Table 6 (USN TT6); an essential DCI standard of care.¹¹ Such chambers presently support unique military needs,¹² civilian professional, marine science¹³ and recreational diving communities,¹⁴ and have proven an effective on-site option to reduce inherent treatment delays.^{13,14}

There has been little criticism of monoplace chamber support of a wide range of diving activities and its transfer under pressure capability.^{15–18} On the contrary, its increased acquisition in recent years appears testament to its perceived lifesaving and central nervous system-sparing potential, and avoidance of outcomes that result in career-ending diving medical disqualification. Monoplace chambers support diving operations that would otherwise be difficult or impossible to condone on health and safety grounds. This is certainly the case in remote settings where injured diver retrieval can be complex, lengthy, hazardous and expensive. Cocos Island, essentially a rocky outcrop off Costa Rica and popular for cage diving among great white sharks, is one example. It is only accessible by boat so injured divers must endure the 30-hour return trip to the mainland for care. Fixed wing aircraft cannot land and the island is well beyond helicopter range. 'Fast boat' recovery attempts are dangerous and may be thwarted by unpredictable weather conditions that far into the Pacific. The author was recently involved in a 28-hour retrieval of a diver from San Benitos Island, off Baja California, Mexico.

The 1960s saw the introduction of hospital-based multiplace hyperbaric chambers as several other conditions appeared to benefit from their use. This same period coincided with considerable interest in hyperbaric oxygen (HBO) as a solid tumour radio-sensitizer.^{19,20} A newly designed acrylic-hulled monoplace chamber facilitated this novel approach; one that enabled patients to undergo radiotherapy while pressurised within its oxygen atmosphere.²¹ Hospitals increasingly adopted this chamber type as a more economical and operationally less complex alternative to the multiplace chamber for provision of HBO treatment (HBOT). Over the ensuing years, several biomedical technologies have been developed or adapted to allow monoplace chamber support of increasingly complex cases.²²⁻²⁸ Today, it affords safe and effective therapy across the full range of patient states, from ambulatory cases to those critically ill and dependent upon mechanical ventilation.

In contrast to its on-site support role, the hospital based monoplace chamber enjoys a practice setting readily supported by advanced diagnostic capabilities, complementary therapies and multidisciplinary expertise. Given this optimal clinical environment, given that the monoplace meets US Navy minimum hardware capabilities for recompression therapy,²⁹ given that it has been successfully employed over several decades,^{30–34} and given that it is considered appropriate for treatment of DCI in authoritative reviews,^{11,35} it is surprising that there has been criticism of its use for this purpose in the hospital setting.^{32,36,37}

Monoplace chamber perceived limitations addressed

Criticisms of the monoplace chamber in general and its use to treat DCI in particular can be summarised as patient isolation, lack of an air break delivery system, inability to support critically ill patients, limited pressurisation capability, heightened fire risk, impact of decompression on an existing pneumothorax and management of excreta. What follows is a review of the monoplace chamber's current capabilities in the context of these criticisms. It should enlighten those not familiar with, or have a dated understanding of the scope of the monoplace hyperbaric delivery system's technical arrangements and operational standards, the sum of which should serve to dispel much negative dogmatism.

PATIENT ISOLATION

The principal advantage of the multiplace chamber is the ability to accompany patients during treatment. For the injured diver, this affords objective assessment of treatment response to guide subsequent management decisions. Typically today, this will centre on whether to extend the USN TT6. Historically, treatment decisions based upon clinical response were more impactful given a multitude of recompression approaches, therapeutic gas choices, saturation storage options and subsequent decompression table selection.

Should the diver exit the multiplace chamber incompletely recovered, follow-up treatments using USN TT5, 6, or 9, are commonly rendered until resolution, or no sustained improvement following two consecutive treatments.³⁸ There is no credible evidence to indicate that this 'simplified' approach is any less effective than deeper, longer and operationally more complex options, most of which have since been abandoned.

Appropriately equipped and knowledgably staffed monoplace chambers readily support a USN TT 6. The key 'monoplace' decision is how to address the issue of medically necessary extensions in the absence of objective guidance. For more than three decades, the hyperbaric medicine programme at the author's institution has successfully employed one such approach. It involves table extension determination at the beginning rather than the end of the third oxygen breathing cycle at 284 kPa (2.8 atmospheres absolute [atm abs]). If the patient reports being asymptomatic at this time point, the USN TT6 is continued without extension(s). Should a residual undetected deficit exist, it has the therapeutic benefit of oxygen for 20 more minutes at 284 kPa and several additional hours during delivery of the remainder of the table. Should a post-treatment assessment determine incomplete relief, serial follow-up treatments occur consistent with multiplace operations. If the patient remains symptomatic at the beginning of the third oxygen cycle at 284 kPa, extension(s) occurs at that pressure. Assessment also takes place at 192 kPa (1.9 atm abs), in determining any additional extensions. Employment of all four extensions resulting in an 8-hour chamber exposure has been uneventfully administered.

Evaluating the patient's oxygen delivery system for good fit, and its management should central nervous system (CNS) oxygen toxicity develop is another important multiplace chamber inside attendant function. During monoplace operations, the patient breathes directly from the chamber's oxygen atmosphere so the potential multiplace chamber mismatch between chamber pressure and oxygen pressure when using an oral nasal mask does not exist.^{39,40} As patients are readily visible from the monoplace control panel, any suggestion of oxygen intolerance prompts instruction to the patient to begin breathing air. Air delivery systems for the full range of patient states and are discussed in the next section.

If the chamber operator misses premonitory events and/or seizure occurs, chamber pressure remains unchanged until seizure activity has ceased. Even though the patient remains in a pressurized oxygen atmosphere, seizure latency is similar to patients immediately converted to air breathing, as would occur in a multiplace chamber. This has been a consistent observation during many decades of monoplace operations; namely, it is not necessary to interrupt oxygen breathing to halt an oxygen-induced seizure. Some may find this counter-intuitive as in their experience removal of the multiplace patient oxygen delivery system was associated with seizure cessation. The seizure would have ceased if mask/hood oxygen breathing continued, as oxygen is metabolized to sub toxic levels. For a patient to remain exposed to hyperbaric oxygen following a seizure, however, invites a second episode. Therefore, once all seizure activity has ended and the patient appears to be ventilating spontaneously, the monoplace chamber is decompressed.

Should a sudden change in patient status take precedence, decompression of the monoplace chamber from its highest operating pressure will take no more than approximately 120 seconds. This represents a distinct advantage over multiplace operations in terms of time of access to advanced care and related inside attendant decompression risk. Several cases of inside attendant DCI secondary to such multiplace chamber 'aborts' were included in a recent attendant DCI review.⁴¹ One involved treatment of a complex CAGE patient who developed ventricular fibrillation during the latter stages of a USN TT6A. Defibrillation was urgently required and considered inherently dangerous under hyperbaric conditions,⁴² and chambers 'must be surfaced to perform defibrillation' in accordance with US Navy policy.³⁸ Subsequent accelerated decompression resulted in a significant inside attendant decompression injury, with permanent and career-ending sequelae. Conceivably, a replacement IA could rapidly enter the chamber as it is decompressed in order to assume patient management, thereby allowing the original IA to undergo scheduled decompression in a separate lock. Time and resources did not permit such substitution in the referenced cases. In cases of multiplace chamber cardiopulmonary arrest, CPR can and is likely to be administered during emergent decompression, something not, of course, available in a monoplace chamber.

LACK OF AIR BREAKS

The original design of the monoplace chamber was to deliver 100% oxygen in a continuous manner. As such, there was no consideration to equip it with an intermittent air breathing capability, thus preventing treatment of DCI in accordance with typical US Navy protocols. This prompted development of a monoplace-specific treatment table that did not require air breaks, since proven effective for both acute and delayed DCI presentations.^{31,32,34}

In 1984, the author incorporated the aviator type oro-nasal mask in common use during multiplace chamber use at the time into monoplace operations, thereby allowing administration of USN TT5 and 6. It eventually became the position of the National Board of Diving and Hyperbaric

Medical Technology that all hyperbaric chambers, regardless of type, should be equipped with an air break capability.⁴³ This position has more to do with CNS oxygen toxicity prophylaxis and management of any premonitory events than treatment of DCI, *per se*, but serves both purposes.

Options now exist to enable provision of air breaks for all patient states. In those fully alert and orientated, the referenced oro-nasal mask was the early choice. As it is relatively costly, requires some maintenance and has decontamination needs, an inexpensive disposable nonrebreather oro-nasal mask (Vyaire Medical, Mettawa (IL), USA, ref 001203) evolved as an alternative and is increasingly in use today. This author has confirmed its air break effectiveness via in-chamber transcutaneous PO₂ monitoring. Careful regulation of air delivery to this free flow device is required to avoid overt dilution of the chamber's oxygen atmosphere. Observing the rebreather bag to collapse slightly upon inspiration suggests an appropriate rate of flow. Restrained patients, and others unable to manipulate a face mask (bulky burn dressing covering the hands, for example), are fitted with a face tent (CareFusion, Yorba Linda (CA), USA, Ref: 001220) prior to entry into the chamber. Oxygen flows to the device during active treatment to avoid CO₂ accumulation. To initiate an air break, the chamber operator switches the face tent's oxygen supply to air and reverts to oxygen upon completion of the air break. For patients with a tracheostomy, attachment of a trach collar (CareFusion, Yorba Linda (CA), USA, Ref: 001225) serves this same purpose. Control of oxygen and air to the collar occurs in the same manner as the face tent. For mechanically ventilated patients, adaption of the external control module and inchamber anaesthesia bag readily permits intermittent air breathing.24 Switching the chamber compression gas from oxygen to air to attempt provision of air breaks is ineffective and should be avoided.44

SUPPORT OF SERIOUSLY ILL PATIENTS

Intravenous fluid and drug administration is commonplace. The infusion pump remains outside the chamber and a through-hull assembly within the chamber door allows as many as six separate infusion lines to connect into the chamber, depending on make and model.

ECG monitoring during monoplace operations is likewise commonplace and can involve either three or five leads. Each connects to a 19-pin through-hull electrical penetrator, so capacity exists to include central arterial and central venous pressure measurements (five lines each) in those so monitored. Manually operated pressure infusers with oxygen-compatible lubricant support the heparinized solution (Ethox Medical, Buffalo (NY), USA). A monoplace-specific non-invasive blood pressure monitor became available in the 1990s (CAS Medical Systems, Branford (CT), USA). It proved particularly useful in that it avoided the need for arterial line placement in patients who require close monitoring otherwise occurring noninvasively. Unfortunately, it is no longer available due to a lack of commercial viability and there may be an occasional need for arterial line placement.

Removal of the vacuum drainage assembly and attachment of a Heimlich chest drain valve (Bard Medical, Franklin Lakes (NJ), USA. Ref 373460) accommodates patients with a chest tube(s). Urinary catheter management involves emptying the drainage bag and rolling it up with the vent open to expel residual air, then resealing, prior to treatment. This helps promote drainage, as the bag will not hang very far below the level of the bladder.

A monoplace-specific ventilator has been available since 1978 (Sechrist Industries, Anaheim (CA), USA) with PEEP and CPAP capabilities. As noted, it is readily adaptable for provision of air breaks.²⁴ One aspect of ventilator-patient airway management not presently available is suctioning. Attempts to do so by using the internal to external chamber pressure differential have not yet evolved to standard practice because of technical and safety considerations. Suctioning prior to treatment has proven effective enough not to interrupt treatment in the three-decade Prisma Health Richland Hospital experience.

In summary, an appropriately equipped monoplace chamber managed by a knowledgeable team is capable of supporting the full range of patient states.

LIMITED PRESSURISATION CAPABILITY

This was more a shortcoming when treatment pressures greater than 284 kPa were commonplace. Animal studies of cerebral arterial air embolism (CAGE) failed to demonstrate any advantage to preceding 304 kPa (3.0 atm abs) with compression to 608 kPa (6.0 atm abs) in terms of recovery of cortical evoked potentials and cerebral blood flow.⁴⁵ These same authors suggested that there might be advantages to confining treatment to 284 kPa. An open-skull animal model of cerebral air embolism using air as the compression and breathing gas reported elimination of arterial bubbles at pressures of 284 kPa (2.8 atm abs) (one animal), 344 kPa (3.4 atm abs) (three animals) and 405 kPa (4.0 atm abs) (two animals).46 In every instance, there was evidence of change in bubble size and partial restoration of circulation just beyond 203 kPa (2.0 atm abs). Recent authoritative reviews have concluded that there is no conclusive evidence that higher pressures offer any advantage over 284 kPa for both decompression sickness (DCS)¹¹ and CAGE⁴⁷ (these clinical entities being collectively referred to as DCI). US Navy clinical experience comparing CAGE treated on USN TT6A (which includes an initial exposure to 608 kPa) and USN TT6 found no difference in rate of symptom resolution.48 Recurrence (an ominous prognostic sign⁴⁹) occurred in 19% of those treated on TT6A, and none when using TT6. Onsite monoplace chambers may not always be adequate for the very rare instance of a diver who experiences a rapid uncontrolled ascent after a provocative depth-time exposure.

Such instances have been associated with the use of dry suits during military and civilian diving operations.

Current recommendations centre on the 284 kPa pressure associated with USN TT5 and 6.^{11,47} These same recommendations acknowledge the role of monoplace chambers "*under the direction of a diving medicine specialist*".³⁵ In a 20-year retrospective, Weaver reported encouraging outcomes and tolerance to monoplace chamber use for USN TT6, involving 72 cases of DCI.³³

HEIGHTENED FIRE RISK

There is no greater threat to hyperbaric operations than fire, where the enclosed pressurised space and use of oxygen serve to compound its effects. Regrettably, monoplace and multiplace chamber fires continue to occur with disturbing frequency. In recent decades, they have largely resulted from the most fundamental of lapses in development and/ or execution of a fire safety plan. This allowed, inter alia, patients and inside attendants to enter chambers with inadequate screening, resulting in the introduction of otherwise prohibited flame-producing, heat-generating and battery-powered items. Therefore, it is strongly recommended that a key component of any hyperbaric fire safety plan is a strictly enforced 'no pockets' policy for all chamber occupants. As biometric sensors are sufficiently miniaturized to be worn as finger rings and finger jewelry a no-pockets policy would not serve to eliminate these battery powered products. Taping over a traditional finger ring not readily removed prevents damage to the chamber's acrylic tube. This would not be appropriate for biometric sensors, which must be removed.

Oxygen concentration influences burning rates and flame spread, so an oxygen-filled monoplace chamber, indeed, involves greater consequential risk should fire occur than its multiplace counterpart. One might view this somewhat differently than fire risk, which is largely identical regardless of chamber type.

Clinically based multiplace chambers are invariably equipped with one or more fire extinguishing options, the most effective of which is water deluge. When successfully activated it prevented loss of life and serious injury.⁵⁰ On two occasions when it failed to operate, 15 occupants succumbed.^{51,52} A fire suppression system has not been integral to monoplace design and manufacture. However, a recent standard within Australia and New Zealand requires all monoplace chambers operating within its jurisdiction to be equipped with a fire extinguishing system that "continuously soaks the patient during depressurization".⁵³

It is critical that comprehensive fire safety precautions exist within every hyperbaric medicine service, regardless of chamber type. They begin with chamber design and construction compliance with authoritative codes and standards, and extend to adherence with manufacturerrecommended operational practice and periodic servicing. Such compliance and adherence renders monoplace and multiplace chambers inherently and intrinsically safe. Failure to follow recognised design codes resulted in one fatal monoplace fire.⁵⁴ Shortcomings included installation of an unapproved intercom system, which proved to be the cause of the fire. Failure to follow the most fundamental of manufacturer-recommended servicing expectations was the cause of another fatal monoplace chamber fire.⁵⁵

Complementing manufacturer responsibilities must be an end-user hyperbaric fire safety plan that is strictly enforced. It should centre on preventing prohibited 'No Go' items from entering the chamber secondary to an unwavering screening process. Avoidance of hydrocarbon/oil-based hair and skin grooming products and use of 100% hospital provided cotton clothing (absent pockets) and linen are important additional strategies. Confirmation of patient grounding prior to every monoplace treatment is mandatory. Low relative humidity (RH) promotes static electricity accumulation, the discharge of which could be problematic in the presence of a hydrocarbon-containing atmosphere.

Manipulation of monoplace oxygen flow serves, inter alia, to control humidity levels. RH will decrease at high flow rates, as incoming oxygen is dry and there is little accumulation of patient insensible moisture loss. RH will increase with low flow rates as insensible moisture loss more readily accumulates. This desired effect on RH has the added benefit of limiting pulmonary irritation associated with prolonged breathing of dry oxygen. Low flow rates elevate RH from the 20s to greater than 60% in this author's experience. If monoplace patients complain of being cold, it is most likely the result of too high a flow rate. Rather than provision of an extra blanket (representing an additional 'fuel' source in the event of fire), one should slow the flow rate. Except for a high initial flow rate at the beginning of the treatment to hasten conversion of the monoplace chamber's atmosphere from air to oxygen, subsequent lowered rates contribute to patient safety and oxygen conservation.

The 100% oxygen environment restricts use of some specialised critical care equipment that otherwise could be used in the multiplace chamber.

The sum of all of this is that monoplace chambers are inherently and intrinsically safe. The onus is firmly on each programme and its operations personnel to maintain strict compliance with their respective hyperbaric safety plan.

IMPACT OF CHAMBER DECOMPRESSION ON AN EXISTING PNEUMOTHORAX

Another commonly expressed concern relates to the presence of a pneumothorax, either missed prior to compression, developed while at pressure or arising from decompressioninduced pulmonary barotrauma. Residual pleural air not eliminated by compression and inherent unsaturation during oxygen breathing will certainly expand as the chamber ascends, the degree of which is a function of initial volume and degree of pressure reduction. If the volume is significant, it could result in tension pneumothorax.56 Should observation of the patient during decompression suggest the presence of a pneumothorax, the monoplace operator must immediately halt further ascent. Depending upon the symptomatic state, one might elect to recompress the chamber slightly prior to assembly of appropriate personnel, supplies and portable X-ray. Once they are in place, decompression begins, with the emerging clinical picture serving to dictate rate. Historic multiplace chamber precedent suggests that this process is likely to result in successful management of the patient. On several occasions, a pneumothorax was missed by multiplace IAs and decompression continued unknowingly.57-59 Each case resulted in tension pneumothorax, one bilateral, and all successfully managed by conventional means, following removal from the chamber. Risk of in-chamber pulmonary barotrauma-induced pneumothorax is low given diver health screening requirements. In the clinical hyperbaric medicine setting, this is an important risk assessment. Patients with underlying pulmonary pathologies for which the risk-benefit analysis favours HBOT require certain precautions. They include provision of an in-chamber bronchodilator assembly, constant ECG monitoring, a reminder to report any change in status, particularly close observation during decompression and slowed ascent rates.

For treatment of CAGE secondary to pulmonary barotrauma, one author suggests a prophylactic chest tube be considered during multiplace operations and recommends it for monoplace practice.⁴⁷

MANAGEMENT OF EXCRETA

Injured divers are encouraged to void and defaecate if possible prior to entering the chamber. For alert and orientated males, a urinal(s) accompanies the patient for use as necessary. Generally, one reserves catheterisation for the more seriously injured. For females, bladder catheterisation is more common given difficulties associated with use of a bedpan, although production of larger diameter monoplace chambers in recent years has made a bedpan somewhat more manageable. During 34 years of monoplace chamber practice at Prisma Health Richland Hospital has there been interruption of recompression for DCI in this regard.

'Short' vs. 'long' DCI treatment tables

An abbreviated approach to DCI treatment presenting at monoplace-based facilities became available in the 1970s.³⁰ It served to overcome the absence of the intermittent air breathing capability necessary to employ US Navy minimal recompression oxygen breathing treatment tables. Several years later a slight variant was introduced.⁶⁰ Reported as effective in acute and delayed DCS and CAGE presentations,^{30,31,34,61} these tables compared favorably to standard 'long' USN treatment tables for both minor and

serious forms of DCI, based upon review of 2,800 Divers Alert Network (DAN) database patients.³²

As today's monoplace chamber is likely to be equipped with an air break capability⁴³ it could be argued that short tables are no longer necessary. However, some are likely to prefer their use. These tables continue to be 'highly effective' in the experience of some and appear to reduce health care costs.³⁴

Summary and referral guidance

While there is tacit approval of its on-site role, controversy exists regarding hospital-based monoplace chamber treatment of DCI.^{32,36,37} This chamber type's early 'minimalist' configuration and capabilities were suited for use dominated by stable, electively referred outpatients. Design criteria did not account for acutely injured divers, particularly in the era of 'deeper' recompression, alternative breathing gases, extended periods at pressure and lengthy decompressions. It was also uncommon for monoplace supervising physicians to have sought out sufficiently robust training in the diving medical aspects of HBOT. All of this would suggest that early criticism of monoplace recompression was well founded.

Over the ensuing decades, however, biomedical support capabilities have evolved to the extent that hospitalised, critically ill patients routinely undergo monoplace chamber treatment for a number of indications. A more standardised approach to decompression injury management occurred during this same period. These events sufficiently altered the dynamic to a point where today's monoplace chamber can successfully support a majority of DCI cases, when overseen by a knowledgeable physician.

In the USA, only a small minority of the many hospital-based monoplace programmes have adopted these capabilities in order to manage acute severe conditions, including DCI.62 That few physicians responsible for monoplace delivery of HBOT elect to undergo training specific to injured diver care, and are prepared to remain available beyond normal working hours, is also problematic. Therefore, where to refer injured divers and others for whom immediate hyperbaric oxygenation is imperative is challenging.⁶² Given that monoplace chambers dominate the practice of hyperbaric medicine in the USA, and are frequently in closer proximity to a dive site than a multiplace chamber, one would hope that more such programmes will commit to 24/7 availability. This 24/7 shortcoming may exist to some extent elsewhere. While this paper argues for recognition of the monoplace hyperbaric delivery system as a viable option for treatment of DCI, it does so while noting these important caveats.

When an injured diver presents to a medical facility housing a multiplace chamber there is no controversy concerning its advantages over a monoplace chamber. Controversy exists when this same patient presents at a facility equipped with a monoplace chamber. The issue has centred on whether to

 Table 1

 Diving accident destination planning and prioritising tool

CHAMBER 1		CHAMBER 2		CHAMBER 3		CHAMBER 4	
🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No
🗌 multi	🗌 mono	multi	🗌 mono	🗌 multi	🗌 mono	🗌 multi	🗌 mono
□A □B			3 🗌 C 🔲 D			A B	
	CHAN	CHAMBER 1 Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes No No Yes No Yes No No	CHAMBER 1 CHAI Yes No Yes Yes No Yes Yes No Yes Yes No Yes multi mono multi A C A	CHAMBER 1 CHAMBER 2	CHAMBER 1 CHAMBER 2 CHAM Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No Yes Multi No Yes No Yes A B C D A B C D A B	CHAMBER 1 CHAMBER 2 CHAMBER 3 Yes No Yes No Multi Mono Multi Mono Multi Mono Multi Mono A C A B C	CHAMBER 1 CHAMBER 2 CHAMBER 3 CHAM

ADVANCED CARE CHAMBER 1		CHAN	CHAMBER 2		CHAMBER 3		CHAMBER 4	
- IV fluids/drugs	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No
- ECG monitor	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No
- BP monitor	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No
- Invasive pressure	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No
- Ventilator	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No	🗌 Yes	🗌 No

CONTACT DETAILS	CHAMBER 1	CHAMBER 2	CHAMBER 3	CHAMBER 4
24/7 phone				
Back-up phone				
Landing pad				
coordinates				
Administrative email				
Administrative website				

HYPERBARIC PHYSICIAN	CHAMBER 1	CHAMBER 2	CHAMBER 3	CHAMBER 4
i. Dr.				
DMO**trained	🗌 Yes 🗌 No			
UHM***board certified	🗌 Yes 🗌 No			
UHM fellowship trained	🗌 Yes 🗌 No			
HYPERBARIC PHYSICIAN	CHAMBER 1	CHAMBER 2	CHAMBER 3	CHAMBER 4
ii. Dr.				
DMO**trained	Yes No	Yes No	Yes No	🗌 Yes 🗌 No
UHM***board certified	Yes No	Yes No	Yes No	🗌 Yes 🗌 No

* Determine increase or decrease in altitude from scene

- ** Diving Medical Officer
- *** Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine

- **‡** A Wound Center
 - **B** Civilian Hospital
 - C Military Facility
 - D Commercial Diving

effect patient transfer to a multiplace facility while accepting risks inherent with treatment delay, or to use the monoplace chamber, assuming it is deemed operationally and clinically capable. Kindwall and colleagues in Milwaukee (who felt their recommendations were objective enough as they operated both chamber types) have long held that the monoplace is adequate to treat DCI 'in most cases'.³² In a related editorial, Moon at Duke agreed, and added that referral of a DCI case to a distant multiplace rather than immediate local treatment in a monoplace "*would be erroneous*".⁶³ If one accepts that these authoritative authors

rendered opinions prior to several technical advancements and treatment table 'streamlining' noted herein, there should be little reason to question their current validity.

If both chamber types are equidistant from an injury site or referring hospital, the question becomes one of appropriate referral guidelines. Intuitively, the multiplace chamber would appear the logical choice and commonly is. However, some issues would need reconciliation. Table 1 represents a sample destination-planning template to guide those responsible for safe conduct of diving activities. It affords direct comparison of key logistical (including any elevation changes), operational and clinical expertise characteristics, in order to identify which facility would be most appropriate for a given case. For example, one might argue that a severe decompression insult requiring mechanical ventilation might be better served in a capable monoplace chamber within a comprehensive medical centre, rather than a multiplace chamber housed on a military base without clinical facilities and reliant on hand-operated bag mask ventilation.

The medical department of the Divers Alert Network (DAN) classifies referral chambers based upon overall capabilities, regardless of type. In doing so, they place greater emphasis on clinical and operational quality. Comparison is made between a multiplace chamber that has few technical limitations but is 'operationally' challenged and a monoplace programme with technical limitations which are circumvented with operational skill and clinical acumen (DAN America, personal communication, 2019). This decision-making approach appears consistent with the intent of Table 1, as it is with the above example.

References

- 1 Pol B, Wattelle TJJ. Moire sur les effets de la compression de l'air applique au creusement des puits a houille. Ann Hyg Pub Med Leg. 1854;2:241–79. In: Brubakk AO, Neuman TS, editors. Physiology and medicine of diving. 5th ed. Edinburgh: Saunders; 2003.
- 2 Corning JL. Observations on the caisson or tunnel disease, with notes on nine cases which occurred at the engineering works known as the Hudson River Tunnel. Medical Record. 1890;37:513–21.
- 3 Moir EW. Tunneling with compressed air. Journal of the Society of Arts. 1896;44(2269):567–85
- 4 Keays FL. Compressed-air illness, with a report of 3,692 cases. Researches from the Department of Medicine, Publications of Cornell University Medical College. 1909;II:1–55
- 5 Keays FL. Compressed-air illness. The American Legislative Review. 1912;2:191–205.
- 6 Royal Navy BR. 155 Diving Manual. One-man compression chamber. United Kingdom: Weapons Department, Admiralty; 1964.
- 7 Haux GFK. Dragerwerk monoplace telescopic chamber. History of hyperbaric chambers. Flagstaff (AZ): Best Publishing Company; 2000. p. 42.
- 8 Melamed Y, Sherman D, Wiler-Ravell D, Kerem D. The transportable recompression rescue chamber as an alternative to delayed treatment in serious diving accidents. Aviat Space Environ Med. 1981;52:480–4.
- 9 Latson GW, Zinszer MA. Evaluation of emergency evacuation hyperbaric stretchers (EEHS). Research Report NEDU TR 5-99. Panama City (FL): Naval Experimental Diving Unit; 1999.
- 10 Krock LP, Galloway TR, Sylvester J, Latson GW, Wolf EG. Into the theater of operations: Hyperbaric oxygen on the move. Proceedings of the RTO HFM Symposium on "Operational Medical Issues in Hypo- and Hyperbaric Conditions", Toronto, Canada 16-19 October 2000. NATO Research and Technology Organization MP-062; 2000.
- 11 Moon RE. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment for decompression sickness. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2014;41:151–7. <u>PMID</u>:

<u>24851553</u>.

- 12 Latson GW, Flynn ET. Use of emergency evacuation hyperbaric stretcher (EEHS) in submarine escape and rescue. Research Report NEDU TR 4-99. Panama City (FL): Naval Experimental Diving Unit; 1999.
- 13 Kesling DE, Selby J. The efficacy of using the Hyperlite hyperbaric stretcher for the treatment of serious decompression illness: a case report. Proceedings of the Joint International Scientific Diving Symposium. Curacao: Academy of Underwater Scientists and European Scientific Panel; 2013.
- 14 Boisvert J, Belley R, Poitras J, Lord G. Portable hyperbaric chamber successfully treats divers in remote location. Alert Diver. 2011.
- 15 Mitchell SJ, Doolette DJ, Wachholz CJ, Vann RD. Management of mild or marginal decompression illness in remote locations workshop proceedings. Durham (NC): Divers Alert Network; 2005. Available from: <u>https://www.diversalertnetwork.org/ files/RemoteWrkshpFinal05.pdf</u>. [cited 2020 June 11].
- 16 Bennett PB. The treatment offshore of decompression sickness (Workshop Proceedings). London: European Underwater and Biomedical Society; 1976.
- 17 Butler C. Hyperbaric retrievals in Townsville: Is a portable chamber useful? SPUMS Journal. 1996;26:66–70.
- 18 Moon RE. Recompression treatment should only be administered in a hospital-based facility. SPUMS Journal. 2000;30:161–5.
- 19 Gray LH. Radiobiological basis of oxygen as a modifying factor in radiation therapy. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med. 1961:84:803–15. <u>PMID: 13708070</u>.
- 20 Churchill-Davidson I, Sanger C, Thomlinson RH. Highpressure oxygen and radiotherapy. Lancet. 1955;268:1091–5. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(55)90589-4. PMID: 14382503.
- 21 Emery EW, Lucas BG, Williams KG. Technique of irradiation of conscious patients under increased oxygen pressure. Lancet. 1960;1:248–50. <u>PMID: 13820164</u>.
- 22 Weaver LK. Operational use and patient care in the monoplace hyperbaric chamber. Resp Care Clin N Am. 1999;5:51–92. <u>PMID: 10205813</u>.
- 23 Weaver LK. Management of critically ill patients in the monoplace hyperbaric chamber. In: Kindwall EP, Whelan HT, editors. Hyperbaric medicine practice. 3rd ed. Flagstaff (AZ): Best Publishing Company; 2008.
- 24 Weaver LK. Air breaks with the Sechrist 500A monoplace hyperbaric ventilator. J Hyperb Med. 1988;3:179–86.
- 25 Hart GB, Meyer GW, Strauss MB, Messina V. Transcutaneous partial pressure of oxygen measured in a monoplace chamber at 1, 1.5 and 2 atm abs oxygen. J Hyperb Med. 1990;5:223–9.
- 26 Weaver LK, Howe S. Normobaric measurement of arterial oxygen tension in subjects exposed to hyperbaric oxygen. Chest. 1992;102:1175-81. doi: 10.1378/chest.102.4.1175. PMID: 1395764.
- 27 Rockswold GL, Gossett W, Rockswold SB, Adkinson C. Intracranial monitoring in the severe traumatic brain injured patient undergoing hyperbaric oxygen treatment [Abstract]. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2008;35:265.
- 28 Barach P. Management of the critically ill patient in the hyperbaric chamber. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2000;38:153–66. doi:10.1097/00004311-200001000-00010. PMID: 10723674.
- 29 Thalmann ED. Principles of US Navy recompression treatments for decompression sickness. In: Moon RE, Sheffield PJ, editors. Treatment of decompression illness. Proceedings of the 45th Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society Workshop. Kensington (MD): Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society; 1996. p. 75–95.

- 30 Hart GB. Treatment of decompression illness and air embolism with hyperbaric oxygen. Aerospace Med. 1974:1190–3. <u>PMID: 4429061</u>.
- 31 Hart GB, Strauss MB, Lennon PA. The treatment of decompression sickness and air embolism in a monoplace chamber. J Hyperb Med. 1986;1:1–7.
- 32 Kindwall EP. Use of short versus long tables in the treatment of decompression sickness and air embolism. In: Moon RE, Sheffield PJ, editors. Treatment of decompression illness. Proceedings of the 45th Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society Workshop. Kensington (MD): Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society; 1996. p. 122–6.
- 33 Weaver LK. Monoplace hyperbaric chamber use of US Navy Table 6: A 20-year experience. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2006;33:85–8. <u>PMID:16716057</u>.
- 34 Cianci P, Slade JB Jr. Delayed treatment of decompression sickness with short, no-air break tables: Review of 140 cases. Aviat Space Environ Med. 2006;77:1003–8. <u>PMID: 17042243</u>.
- 35 Moon RE, Mitchell SJ. Hyperbaric treatment for decompression sickness: Current recommendations. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2019;46:685–93. <u>PMID: 31683368</u>.
- 36 Kindwall EP, Goldman RW, Thombs PA. Use of the monoplace vs. multiplace chamber in the treatment of diving diseases. J Hyperb Med. 1988;3:5–10.
- 37 Kot J, Houman R, Muller P. Hyperbaric chamber and equipment. In: Mathieu D, editor. Handbook on hyperbaric medicine. Dordrecht: Springer Publishers; 2006.
- 38 Naval Sea Systems Command. US Navy diving manual, Revision 7, SS521-AG-PRO-010. Washington (DC): Naval Sea Systems Command; 2016. Available from: http://www.navsea.navy.mil/Portals/103/Documents/ SUPSALV/Diving/US%20DIVING%20MANUAL_REV7. pdf?ver=2017-01-11-102354-393. [cited 2020 June 11].
- 39 Sheffield PJ, Stork RL, Morgan TR. Efficient oxygen mask for patients undergoing hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Aviat Space Environ Med. 1977;48:132–7. <u>PMID: 871282</u>.
- 40 Stephenson RN, Mackenzie I, Watt SJ, Ross JA. Measurement of oxygen concentration in delivery systems used for hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Undersea Hyperb Med. 1996;23:185–8. <u>PMID: 8931286</u>.
- Clarke R. Health care worker decompression sickness: Incidence, risk and mitigation. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2017;44:509–19. doi: 10.22462/11.12.2017.2. PMID: 29281188.
- 42 Kot J. Medical devices and procedures in the hyperbaric chamber. Diving Hyperb Med. 2014;44:223–7. <u>PMID: 25596835</u>.
- 43 Intermittent air breathing (statement). Columbia (SC): National Board of Diving and Hyperbaric Medical Technology; 2009. Available from: <u>http://nbdhmt.org/position_statements.</u> <u>asp#d04</u>. [cited 2020 June 11].
- 44 Raleigh GW. Air breaks in the Sechrist model 2500-B monoplace hyperbaric chamber. J Hyperb Med. 1988;3:11–4.
- 45 Leitch DR, Greenbaum LJ, Hallenbeck JM. Cerebral arterial air embolism I-IV. Undersea Biomed Res. 1984;11:221–74.
- 46 Waite CL, Mazzone WF, Greenwood ME, Larsen RT. Cerebral air embolism I. Basic studies. US Naval Submarine Medical Center Report No. 493. Groton (CT): Submarine Medical Research Laboratory; 1967.
- 47 Moon RE. Hyperbaric treatment of air or gas embolism: Current recommendations. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2019;46:673–83. <u>PMID: 31683367</u>.

- 48 Howsare CR, Rocca AF, Morrison LJ, Jackson RL. Comparison of USN TT-6 vs TT-6A for the treatment of AGE in the US Navy. A retrospective study [Abstract]. Undersea Hyperb Med. 1997;24:147.
- 49 Clarke D, Gerard W, Norris T. Pulmonary barotrauma-induced cerebral arterial gas embolism with spontaneous recovery: Commentary on the rationale for therapeutic compression. Aviation Space Environ Med. 2002;73:139–46. <u>PMID:</u> <u>11846183</u>.
- 50 Youn BA, Gordon D, Moran C, Brown B. Fire in the multiplace hyperbaric chamber. J Hyperbaric Med. 1989;4:63–7.
- 51 Simini B. Fire fuels concerns over hyperbaric oxygen facilities. Lancet. 1997;350:1375.
- 52 Anya A. Fire kills 4 inside hyperbaric chamber. The Jakarta Post (Jakarta). 2016 March 15.
- 53 Anon. Australian/New Zealand Standard. Work in compressed air and hyperbaric facilities. Part 2. Hyperbaric oxygen facilities AS/NZS 4774.2.2019. Available from: <u>https://shop. standards.govt.nz/catalog/4774.2:2019(AS%7CNZS)/scope</u>? [cited 2020 April 10].
- 54 Butler GJ, Hamilton Jr RW, Chowdhury B, Allen MW. Hyperbaric chamber fire in Peru on 2006 February 8: Probable cause and safety recommendations. Available from: <u>http://archive.rubicon-foundation.org/xmlui/</u> <u>handle/123456789/3768</u>. [cited 2020 April 10].
- 55 Probable Cause Complaint Affidavit LS09-05-10. April 25 2012. Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County, State of Florida, USA.
- 56 Lind F. A pro/con review comparing the use of mono-and multiplace hyperbaric chambers for critical care. Diving Hyperb Med. 2015;45:56–60. <u>PMID: 25964041</u>.
- 57 Unsworth IP. Case Report. Pulmonary barotrauma in a hyperbaric chamber. Anaesthesia. 1973;28:675–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.1973.tb00555.x. PMID: 4759876.
- 58 Murphy DG, Sloan EP, Hart RG, Narasimhan K, Barreca RS. Tension pneumothorax associated with hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Am J Emerg Med. 1991;9:176–9. doi: 10.1016/0735-6757(91)90186-n. PMID: 1994949.
- 59 Broome JR, Smith DJ. Pneumothorax as a complication of recompression therapy for cerebral arterial gas embolism. Undersea Biomed Res. 1992;19:447–55. <u>PMID: 1304671</u>.
- 60 Kindwall EP, Goldman RW. Hyperbaric Medicine Procedures. Milwaukee (WI): St. Luke's Medical Center; 1995.
- 61 Li RC. The monoplace hyperbaric chamber and management of decompression illness. Hong Kong Med J. 2001;7:435–8. <u>PMID: 11773681</u>.
- 62 Clarke R. Hyperbaric medicine today: a historically noble discipline challenged by loss of critical access and overutilization-invited commentary. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2017;44:5–10. doi: 10.22462/1.2.2017.2. PMID: 28768079.
- 63 Moon RE. Monoplace chamber use in the treatment of diving accidents [Editorial]. J Hyperb Med. 1988;1:1–3.

Conflicts of interest and funding: nil

Submitted: 24 January 2020 Accepted after revision: 11 April 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Guidelines

South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society guidelines for cardiovascular risk assessment of divers

Nigel Jepson¹, Rienk Rienks², David Smart³, Michael H Bennett⁴, Simon J Mitchell^{5,6}, Mark Turner⁷

¹ Department of Cardiology, Prince of Wales Hospital, Randwick, Sydney, Australia

² Central Military Hospital, Lundlaan, Utrecht, the Netherlands

³ Department of Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine, Royal Hobart Hospital, Hobart, Australia

⁴ Wales Anaesthesia and Department of Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine, Prince of Wales Hospital, Randwick, Sydney, Australia

⁵ Department of Anaesthesiology, School of Medicine, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

⁶ Department of Anaesthesia, Auckland City Hospital, Auckland, New Zealand

⁷ Bristol Heart Institute, Bristol, United Kingdom

Corresponding author: Clinical Professor David Smart, Department of Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine, K3 East, Royal Hobart Hospital, Tasmania 7000, Australia <u>david.smart@ths.tas.gov.au</u>

Key words

Medicals – diving; Health; Health surveillance; Blood pressure; Persistent (patent) foramen ovale; Implantable devices; Investigations

Abstract

(Jepson N, Rienks R, Smart D, Bennett MH, Mitchell SJ, Turner M. South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society guidelines for cardiovascular risk assessment of divers. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):273–277. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.273-277. PMID: 32957130.)

The South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society (SPUMS) diving medical for recreational scuba divers was last reviewed in 2011. From 2011 to 2019, considerable advancements have occurred in cardiovascular risk assessment relevant to divers. The SPUMS 48th (2019) Annual Scientific Meeting theme was cardiovascular risk assessment in diving. The meeting had multiple presentations updating scientific information about assessing cardiovascular risk. These were distilled into a new set of guidelines at the final conference workshop. SPUMS guidelines for medical risk assessment in recreational diving have subsequently been updated and modified including a new Appendix C: *Suggested evaluation of the cardiovascular system for divers*. The revised evaluation of the cardiovascular system for divers covers the following topics:

1. Background information on the relevance of cardiovascular risk and diving;

2. Defining which divers with cardiovascular problems should not dive, or whom require treatment interventions before further review;

3. Recommended screening procedures (flowchart) for divers aged 45 and over;

4. Assessment of divers with known or symptomatic cardiovascular disease, including guidance on assessing divers with specific diagnoses such as hypertension, atrial fibrillation, cardiac pacemaker, immersion pulmonary oedema, takotsubo cardiomyopathy, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and persistent (patent) foramen ovale;

5. Additional cardiovascular health questions included in the SPUMS guidelines for medical risk assessment in recreational diving;

6. Updated general cardiovascular medical risk assessment advice;

7. Referencing of relevant literature.

The essential elements of this guideline are presented in this paper.

Introduction

Diving in all forms places increased demands on the cardiovascular system. Immersion itself causes an increase in cardiac preload (increased venous return) and at the same time, peripheral vasoconstriction, causing an increase in blood pressure and afterload. These changes are typically

accompanied by sustained mild to moderate exercise and occasional requirements for peak exercise in challenging circumstances. Given all this and the increasing age of the 'average' diver, it is not surprising that 39% of recreational diving fatalities in divers aged 45 or over in our region have a cardiac event as the disabling injury.¹
The primary goals of evaluating the cardiovascular system in a diving candidate are to:

- Identify those who appear to be at increased risk of myocardial ischaemic events, heart failure, dysrhythmias and other cardiac pathology that might disable a diver underwater; and
- Establish that the candidate has an adequate exercise capacity for diving.

Methods

The South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society (SPUMS) 48th (2019) Annual Scientific Meeting theme was cardiovascular risk assessment in diving. The meeting had multiple presentations updating scientific information about assessing cardiovascular risk. These were distilled (with audience participation) into a new set of guidelines applicable to prospective or established divers at the final conference workshop. Conference presentations and workshop discussions were led by a committee (represented by the authorship of this paper) that included three cardiologists (NJ, RR, MT) and three diving physicians (DS, MHB, SJM). This committee subsequently refined and finalised the following guideline.

Guideline

All diving candidates and established divers aged 45 years and over should undergo a medical assessment with a focus on cardiovascular evaluation, preferably by a doctor with training in diving medicine. This recommendation is based on commonly used age criteria accepted as risk thresholds in cardiovascular risk calculators.^{2,3}

WHICH DIVERS WITH CARDIOVASCULAR PROBLEMS SHOULD NOT DIVE?

Diagnoses usually considered to render an individual unsuitable for diving include:

- Untreated and/or symptomatic coronary artery disease;
- Left ventricular dysfunction of any cause. Divers with well treated or recovered left ventricular dysfunction with good ejection fraction (especially with ejection fraction (EF) > 50%) would usually be acceptable if there was good exercise capacity and the underlying causes treated. All such divers require cardiology review;
- Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy would usually preclude diving. Cardiology review is required in all cases;
- Congestive heart failure;
- Pulmonary hypertension;
- Long QT syndrome or other arrhythmia-inducing ion channelopathies;
- Paroxysmal arrhythmias causing unconsciousness or impairment of exercise capacity;
- Poor exercise capacity of apparent cardiac origin;
- Moderate to severe valvular lesions;
- Complex congenital cardiac disease. (Note that an atrial

septal defect (ASD) is not included here – ASD patients are at increased risk of neurological decompression sickness (DCS) and should be assessed by a diving doctor and a cardiologist before being cleared for diving);

- The presence of an implanted cardiac defibrillator;
- Recurrent syncope;
- Anticoagulation including warfarin, direct thrombin inhibitors (e.g., dabigatran), and factor Xa inhibitors (e.g., rivaroxaban, apixaban) or similar – for whatever reason; this does not include single antiplatelet therapy (e.g., aspirin).] Some experts allow single anticoagulant therapy under selected circumstances. This remains a controversial area and the committee acknowledges the lack of reliable evidence to support either position.

The successful treatment of some of these disorders may result in a candidate becoming suitable for diving. In particular, a candidate with coronary artery disease who has been successfully revascularized may be suitable for diving if inducible ischaemia can be excluded and adequate exercise capacity demonstrated (see below). Another example is a candidate with a history of paroxysmal arrhythmia who has undergone successful pathway ablation.

Following successful cardiac intervention, candidates may require some recovery time before commencing or resuming diving. Many cardiologists and diving physicians would not allow diving while on dual antiplatelet therapy. The precise period of diving abstinence should be determined by the cardiologist and diving physician.

Candidates with any of the above diagnoses who wish to consider diving after appropriate treatment should be referred to a physician with training in diving medicine for evaluation.

RECOMMENDED SCREENING PROCEDURES FOR DIVERS AGED 45 AND OVER

Figure 1 proposes a screening algorithm for diving candidates or divers aged 45 years and over.

- All symptomatic candidates should be referred to a cardiologist for investigation.
- Candidates with a positive cardiovascular history (including younger diving candidates or established divers < 45 years) should undergo a focused medical assessment; initially by a doctor with training in diving medicine. Cardiology referral should be considered.
- All asymptomatic divers or candidates ≥ 45 years should have a resting electrocardiogram (ECG) performed and any significant abnormalities should prompt referral to a cardiologist.
- Asymptomatic candidates or divers ≥ 45 years should be assessed with a standard, validated, cardiovascular risk assessment tool (e.g., the National Vascular Disease Prevention Alliance in Australia).² The specific tool used may vary.



Figure 1 Screening algorithm for cardiovascular disease in diving candidates or divers aged 45 years and over

- Candidates with an estimated 10 year risk < 10% may proceed to diving with no further assessment. Some diving doctors would also perform a standard exercise test (with ECG monitoring). The diving medical may also prompt a discussion of life-style modification.
- Candidates with a higher risk should have a coronary calcium score and those at > 20% (and possibly those > 10%) 10-year risk should have a computed tomography (CT) angiogram and/or functional stress test. Such testing may be best organised by a cardiologist.
- A normal CT angiogram or a functional stress test negative for ischaemia suggests that the candidate should be able to dive without important excess risk.
- A plan (including review frequency) for follow-up cardiac health surveillance tailored to the diver's risk profile should be established at the time of the initial evaluation.

ASSESSMENT OF DIVERS WITH KNOWN OR SYMPTOMATIC CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

All candidates for diving, or seeking ongoing monitoring of their suitability to continue diving should complete the full questionnaire that forms part of the SPUMS guidelines for medical risk assessment in recreational diving.

Candidates who have responded indicating they may have known or symptomatic cardiovascular disease need further specialist investigation by an appropriate physician. This may include myocardial perfusion scan, stress echocardiography or stress exercise ECG ("stress test"). Although an exercise ECG is relatively insensitive to early coronary disease, it has the advantage of demonstrating exercise capacity and can be modified to test sustained exercise at 6 MET. Sustained exercise at a minimum of 6 MET is a pragmatic expectation for a recreational diver but there may be an occasional need to exercise transiently at higher levels during diving.

NOTES ON SPECIFIC DIAGNOSES

Treated hypertension with adequate control and in the absence of other risk factors that would indicate screening for coronary artery disease is acceptable for diving. Although local practices may vary in some details, hypertension should always be investigated and treated according to contemporary evidence-based guidelines.^{4,5} Hypertension above 160/100 mmHg is a contraindication until investigated and treated.

For divers taking antihypertensive drugs, certain antihypertensive drugs may be preferred to others in the context of scuba diving, and participation in scuba diving may be of consequence for antihypertensive treatment choices. Expert opinion should be sought. It is recommended that subjects with hypertension be assessed for signs of cardiac ischaemia and/or dysfunction and be referred to a vascular specialist or cardiologist for cardiovascular screening when deemed appropriate. Divers with hypertension should be informed about the symptoms of immersion pulmonary oedema and receive specific instructions to immediately abort a dive in case of these symptoms.⁵

Atrial fibrillation where the rate is adequately controlled in a candidate without inducible myocardial ischaemia and who exhibits adequate exercise capacity is acceptable in diving. However, many such patients are anticoagulated and anticoagulation is itself a contraindication for diving (see above). All patients with atrial fibrillation should have an echocardiogram to exclude structural heart disease and to assess for diastolic dysfunction.

Successful aberrant pathway ablation in case of Wolff Parkinson White (WPW) syndrome and atrio-ventricular nodal re-entry tachycardia (AVNRT), or pulmonary vein isolation in case of atrial fibrillation may also render the candidate acceptable for diving, however these individuals should have a bubble-contrast echo to ensure no persistent hole remains through the inter-atrial septum.

A cardiac pacemaker is not an absolute contraindication to continued diving, but the underlying pathology is important to consider, as is the proven ability of the device to function at depth. Pressure capability of a device can usually be obtained from the manufacturer.

A previous episode of *immersion pulmonary oedema*, *Takotsubo cardiomyopathy* or a diagnosis of *obstructive cardiomyopathy* should contra-indicate further diving until appropriately assessed. A diver or new diving candidate with such a history should be referred to a physician with training in diving medicine for discussion of the relevant issues.

Persistent (patent) foramen ovale (PFO). SPUMS does not advise routine testing for the presence of a PFO.⁶

A PFO that exhibits right-to-left shunting with no or minimal provocation is a risk factor for serious neurological DCS. In established divers, such lesions are usually discovered by bubble contrast echocardiography conducted after a relevant episode of DCS or the development of a suspicious rash after diving.

These divers are usually advised to cease diving, modify their diving to reduce venous bubble formation or to have the PFO repaired. There are some data to suggest the incidence of DCS remains higher in those who elect to modify their diving, and this option is less often recommended than previously.^{7,8} When this option is taken for whatever reason, it would be reasonable to advise diving more conservatively in order to minimise venous bubbles. There are various strategies that might be employed to reduce the risk of significant venous bubble formation after diving, or the subsequent right-to-left shunting of such bubbles across a PFO. The appropriateness of this approach, and the strategies chosen, need to be considered on an individual basis and in discussion with a diving medicine expert. Examples include: reducing dive times to well inside accepted nodecompression limits; restricting dive depths to less than 15 m; performing only one dive per day; use of nitrox with air dive planning tools; intentional lengthening of a safety stop or decompression time at shallow stops and avoidance of heavy exercise and unnecessary lifting or straining for at least three hours after diving.^{6–9}

Occasionally new diver candidates have a previously discovered PFO; in such cases an objective assessment of the shunting behaviour of the lesion is required in order to adequately counsel the candidate about the implied risks in diving. If not already done, this is best achieved using a bubble contrast echocardiogram and provocative manoeuvres. It is strongly recommended the results of such tests are discussed with a physician who has training in diving medicine.

ADDITIONS TO THE SPUMS DIVER HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE

As a result of the workshop, it was identified that a number of additional questions needed to be added to the SPUMS guidelines for medical risk assessment in recreational diving questionnaire, covering lifestyle and specific cardiovascular risk.

The general advice preceding the questions was also revised to state:

- If you have never heard of the condition or had the diagnosis applied to you then reply no; and
- If you are not confident that you understand the question, then leave this blank and discuss with the doctor.

The new questions are documented next.

Lifestyle questions:

- How often do you exercise and at what estimated level of intensity of that exercise (minutes per week, high/moderate/low intensity)?
- Are you currently smoking?
- Did you smoke in the past?
- How many cigarettes per day do/did you smoke and for how many years?
- If other forms of tobacco, please detail.

Specific cardiovascular risk questions:

- Do you have any known heart disease, or have you ever consulted a cardiologist (specialist heart doctor)?
- Is there any family history of heart disease or diabetes?
- Is there any family history of sudden death at a young age?
- Are you ever aware of a racing or irregularly beating heart, or any other known problem with your heart beat?
- Have you ever had giddiness, light-headedness or periods of unconsciousness, whether or not associated with exercise?
- Do you ever get discomfort in your chest on exertion (angina)?
- Do you get very short of breath on exertion (out of proportion to the exercise, or before your legs get tired)?
- Have you ever been short of breath lying down or woken from sleep with breathlessness?

- Do you have a pacemaker or implanted defibrillator?
- Have you ever had an operation on the heart including any placement of stents?

Have you ever had a diagnosis of the following:

a) High blood pressure?

b) Rheumatic fever or problems with your heart valves?

c) High cholesterol?

d) Immersion pulmonary oedema?

e) Heart failure, or a problem with your heart muscle including cardiomyopathy or obstructive coronary heart disease?

f) A 'hole in the heart' (patent foramen ovale, atrial septal defect, ventricular septal defect) or other congenital heart disease?

g) Blood clots in the legs or lungs?

h) A stroke?

Have you ever failed or had a significant medical issue with a diving medical in the past?

Modifications to section A 4.10 - Cardiovascular system

Twenty-eight percent (28%) of recreational diving fatalities have a cardiac event as the disabling injury. It follows that the primary goals of evaluating the cardiovascular system in a diving candidate are to identify those at risk of myocardial ischaemic events, myocardial insufficiency, or other cardiac events (such as arrhythmias) that might be disabling underwater.

All divers or diving candidates aged 45 and over are at higher risk of cardiac disease even when asymptomatic. Therefore, all should be assessed according to the guidelines documented according to the algorithm above.

The SPUMS guidelines for medical risk assessment in recreational diving (Appendix C) also provide guidance for assessment of younger candidates or other high-risk groups who have a history indicating increased cardiac risk or in whom physical examination reveals cardiovascular abnormalities.

References

- Lippmann J, Taylor DM. Scuba diving fatalities in Australia 2001 to 2013: Chain of events. Diving Hyperb Med. 2020;50:220-9. <u>doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.220-229</u>. <u>PMID</u>: 32957123.
- 2 New Zealand Ministry of Health Guidelines Group. New Zealand cardiovascular risk charts 2009. [Online]. Available

from: http://www.moh.govt.nz/NoteBook/nbbooks.nsf/0/987 4D7743DE4CCA9CC2579E2007E4FA2/\$file/090311_cvd_ poster_final.pdf. [cited 2019 August 28].

- 3 National Vascular Disease Alliance. Guidelines for the management of absolute cardiovascular disease risk management 2012. [Online]. Available from: <u>http://cvdcheck.org.au/pdf/Absolute CVD Risk-Quick Reference Guide.pdf</u>. [cited 2019 August 28].
- 4 Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Rosei EA, Azizi M, Burnier M, et al. 2018 ESC/ESH guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens. 2018;36:1953–2041. doi: 10.1097/HJH.000000000001940. PMID: 30234752.
- 5 Westerweel PE, Rienks R, Sakr A, Taher A. Diving with hypertension and antihypertensive drugs. Diving Hyperb Med. 2020;50:49–53. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.1.49-53. PMID: 32187618. PMCID: PMC7276276.
- 6 Smart D, Mitchell S, Wilmshurst P, Turner M, Banham N. Joint position statement on persistent (patent) foramen ovale and diving. South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society (SPUMS) and the United Kingdom Sports Diving Medical Committee (UKSDMC). Diving Hyperb Med. 2015;45:129–31. <u>PMID:</u> <u>26165538</u>.
- 7 Wilmshurst P. Risk mitigation in divers with persistent foramen ovale. Diving Hyperb Med. 2019;49:77–8. doi: 10.28920/dhm49.2.77-78. PMID: 31177512. PMCID: PMC6704006.
- 8 Anderson G, Ebersole D, Covington D, Denoble PJ. The effectiveness of risk mitigation interventions in divers with persistent (patent) foramen ovale. Diving Hyperb Med. 2019;49:80–7. doi: 10.28920/dhm49.2.80-87. PMID: 31177513. PMCID: PMC6704009.
- 9 Koopsen R, Stella PR, Thijs KM, Rienks R. Persistent foramen ovale closure in divers with a history of decompression sickness. Neth Heart J. 2018;26:535–9. doi: 10.1007/s12471-018-1153-x. PMID: 30178210. PMCID: PMC6220018.

Conflicts of interest and funding

Professor Mitchell, an author on this paper, is the Editor of *Diving* and Hyperbaric Medicine journal. However, there were no review management process conflicts in respect of this article. As an adopted societal guideline arising from an iterative process of consensus generation by international experts, it was not subject to peer review.

Submitted: 02 June 2020 Accepted: 24 June 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Diving after SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) infection: Fitness to dive assessment and medical guidance

Charlotte Sadler¹, Miguel Alvarez Villela², Karen Van Hoesen¹, Ian Grover¹, Michael Lang¹, Tom Neuman¹, Peter Lindholm¹

¹ Department of Emergency Medicine, School of Medicine, Division of Hyperbaric Medicine, University of California, San Diego, California, USA

² Montefiore Medical Center/Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Department of Medicine, Division of Cardiology, Bronx, NY, USA

Corresponding author: Dr Charlotte Sadler, Department of Emergency Medicine, Division of Hyperbaric Medicine, School of Medicine, University of California, San Diego, California, USA <u>csadler@health.ucsd.edu</u>

Key words

Diving medicine; Health surveillance; Medicals-diving; Occupational health; Pulmonary barotrauma; Exercise; Cardiovascular

Abstract

(Sadler C, Alvarez Villela M, Van Hoesen K, Grover I, Lang M, Neuman T, Lindholm P. Diving after SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) infection: Fitness to dive assessment and medical guidance. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):278–287. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.278-287. PMID: 32957131.)

Scuba diving is a critical activity for commercial industry, military activities, research, and public safety, as well as a passion for many recreational divers. Physicians are expected to provide return-to-diving recommendations after SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) infection based upon the best available evidence, often drawn from experience with other, similar diseases. Scuba diving presents unique physiologic challenges to the body secondary to immersion, increased pressure and increased work of breathing. The long-term sequelae of COVID-19 are still unknown, but if they are proven to be similar to other coronaviruses (such as Middle East respiratory syndrome or SARS-CoV-1) they may result in long-term pulmonary and cardiac sequelae that impact divers' ability to safely return to scuba diving. This review considers available literature and the pathophysiology of COVID-19 as it relates to diving fitness, including current recommendations for similar illnesses, and proposes guidelines for evaluation of divers after COVID-19. The guidelines are based upon best available evidence about COVID-19, as well as past experience with determination of diving fitness. It is likely that all divers who have contracted COVID-19 will require a medical evaluation prior to return to diving with emphasis upon pulmonary and cardiac function as well as exercise capacity.

Introduction

Scuba diving is a passion for many recreational divers, but also represents a critical component of the commercial diving industry, scientific research, military operations and public safety diving. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus two (SARS-CoV-2 hereafter referred to as 'COVID-19') affects the lungs with potential sequelae in the lung parenchyma.1 During descent to depth gascontaining anatomic spaces will be compressed, and during ascent, any compressed gas introduced to these spaces will expand. These potential gas volume changes create a risk of barotrauma, hence the general consensus that healthy lungs are a requirement for diving.^{2,3} Diving also poses significant stressors on the cardiovascular system resulting from increases in systemic blood pressure, centralisation of blood volume, thermal stress from water immersion and increases in systemic oxygen consumption.⁴ Physical challenges similar to those of other sports would require similar

evaluation while keeping in mind the added physiologic changes from immersion.⁵ There are currently widespread concerns in the diving and medical communities on fitness to return to dive post COVID-19. Research examining the origins and structure of the virus, its pathogenesis, and the clinical features of its acute presentation is growing, creating a foundation of evidence from which to draw while evaluating divers. However, the long-term sequelae are still unknown.

University of California San Diego diving medicine practitioners released guidelines for return to diving based upon decades of diving medical experience and the currently available literature about COVID-19.⁶ Our objective here is to review the available literature considered when generating these guidelines, as well as to discuss the potential implications of COVID-19 sequelae in divers and draw relevance from fitness to dive implications of similar diseases.

Background

In a pre-COVID-19 underwater world, decompression sickness (DCS) and pulmonary barotrauma with resultant arterial gas embolism (AGE) were the dominant divingrelated injuries originating from breathing compressed air under pressure and requiring treatment with hyperbaric oxygen treatment in a pressurised chamber. The overall per capita DCS rate among recreational divers has been reported as 20.5 per 10,000 person years.⁷ Although DCS is a rare and usually self-limiting injury, permanent disability can occur. The risk of dying from recreational diving activities is small with Divers Alert Network (DAN) reporting 1.8 deaths per 100,000 divers per year.8 Common factors associated with diving fatalities include insufficient breathing gas, panic, rapid ascent and equipment malfunction/problems.⁸ In the 2018 DAN Annual Diving Report, the leading cause of death was drowning while the leading 'disabling injury' that led to death was cardiovascular-related problems.8 COVID-19 exhibits a pathophysiology acutely relevant to diving with potentially increased susceptibility to DCS, AGE, or immersion pulmonary oedema from cardiac, pulmonary and haematological events. This pandemic may precipitate a much larger demand for diving medical examinations.

Magnitude of the problem

Gathering reliable data to assess the number of active scuba divers has eluded the diving industry since its inception. There are no available tools to track diver participation in this sport. Further, a case definition of what constitutes an active scuba diver remains subject to diverse interpretations.

The generally accepted range of 'active' scuba divers in the US by the Diving Equipment and Marketing Association (DEMA) is from 2.5 to 3.5 million.9 The Sports and Fitness Industry Association (SFIA) reports 2,351,000 million casual participants in scuba diving and 823,000 core participants.¹⁰ DAN, a diving safety organisation, likely has a representative active segment of the recreational scuba diving community with members who regularly participate in scuba diving activities and, therefore, procure DAN membership and diving accident insurance. With the caveat that DAN represents recreational divers and a large market share in the USA and Europe, DAN reports the following 2019 membership numbers worldwide: DAN US/Canada, 274,708; DAN Europe, 123,680; DAN Japan, 18,137; DAN World Asia Pacific, 12,163; DAN World Latin America/ Brazil, 8,008; DAN South Africa, 5,894.

The true active segment of the US diving population could be fewer than 1,000,000, possibly as low as 500,000, depending on the definition of 'active'. SFIA does not track global numbers and there is no equivalent organisation outside the US. Entry of non-divers into the sport through certification courses also introduces a level of uncertainty when attempting to assess the magnitude of the diving medical examination need. Before COVID-19, three reporting scuba training/certification organisations (Professional Association of Diving Instructors PADI, Scuba Diving International, Scuba Schools International) submitted to DEMA a combined average of 22,325 entry-level certifications per quarter (personal communication, Tom Ingram, CEO DEMA, YEAR). At the leadership level, deriving the number of active scuba instructors in the US and internationally is equally difficult. Thirteen US organisations train and certify scuba instructors. Globally, over 300 individual certifying organisations train and certify divers and instructors. The Professional Association of Diving Instructors (PADI) reported 137,000 professional members worldwide in 2019. If PADI represents 70% market share, then the number of instructors globally reasonably approximates 195,000.

Scientific divers reported by the American Academy of Underwater Sciences (AAUS) number 4,500 at 150 organisational member scientific diving programmes.¹¹ The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and Bureau of Labor Statistics reported 3,380 commercial divers in the US.¹² The true number of active public safety divers is similarly unknown, but estimated to be between 3,000 and 5,000 in the US (personal communication, R Sadler, Medical Director of Dive Rescue International, 2019).

Recreational diver medical certification by a physician before undertaking diver training is a requirement in some countries, driven by insurance regulations. In the US, evaluation before recreational and governmental certification courses is done in the form of a screening medical questionnaire (the World Recreational Scuba Training Council (WRSTC) diver medical participant questionnaire). An evaluation by a physician is required for those who have positive responses on the questionnaire or for those engaged in any professional diving leadership training or certification programme (i.e., dive guide, divemaster, assistant instructor or instructor).¹³ Diving medical certification for scientific divers and commercial divers in the US is required and regulated by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA).14 These divers are subject to routine diving medical examination intervals as mandated by their organisations and the AAUS. Most scientific divers are exempt from OSHA, but still have required exams regulated by AAUS.

Development of fitness to dive guidelines in the COVID-19 pandemic

There has been much recent discussion in the diving and medical communities on the evaluation of new diving candidates or return to diving by existing divers who have had COVID-19. Segments of the diving community (e.g., recreational instructors, commercial, military, scientific and public safety divers) may be required under certain circumstances by employers, or if they have tested positive for COVID-19, to undergo diving medical (re)certification to identify or mitigate potential risks from COVID-19 sequelae.

The diving medicine community is presented with the challenge of performing fitness to dive evaluations in the context of a disease in which the natural history is currently unknown. In what is known of its pathophysiology the pulmonary, cardiac, and thromboembolic/hypercoagulable effects seem to be very relevant to divers. Potential long-term sequelae will primarily relate to structural changes of the lung parenchyma such as the fibrosis reported in severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS-CoV-1) and Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) potentially increasing risk of barotrauma, and also decreased exercise tolerance, increased susceptibility to cardiac events such as heart failure, pulmonary oedema, and arrhythmias.¹ Effects of COVID-19 on other organ systems are less specific or less relevant for the specific challenges of diving.

The recommendations promulgated here are based on knowledge of similar conditions and the limited specific knowledge of COVID-19. It should be noted some of the conditions discussed below may be automatically disqualifying in the more conservative proscriptive approach to evaluating for commercial, military, public safety or scientific divers, and some of these recommendations may only apply to recreational divers. It is not within the scope of this paper to dissect the nuances between these organisations.

Pulmonary

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF COVID-19 AND RELEVANCE TO DIVING

Although COVID-19 has many clinical manifestations, the primary mechanism of infection, morbidity and mortality has been in the form of a respiratory illness, ranging from mild to severe. The mechanism of pulmonary damage from the virus is thought to be related to a cytokine-mediated inflammatory response, possibly compounded by iatrogenic injury from mechanical ventilation, high airway pressures and exposure to hyperoxia.¹

There have been many reports describing some of the characteristic acute changes seen on lung imaging in these patients. In a retrospective case series,¹⁵ the changes seen on computerised tomography (CT) scans in patients with COVID-19 and mild to moderate disease were most commonly ground glass opacities (GGO), crazy-paving pattern, and consolidations, with subpleural (peripheral) abnormalities being more common than central. The majority of patients had bilateral disease. These radiographic abnormalities seemed to peak around day 10 of the illness and then gradually resolved. At the time follow-up ended (approximately 26 days after onset

of illness), the crazy-paving pattern had resolved, but there were still extensive GGO present.¹⁵ Similar illnesses from other members of the coronavirus family have been seen, specifically in SARS-CoV-1and MERS.¹⁶ Similar to these other diseases, COVID-19 patients may initially have normal chest radiographs (15–20%) and then go on to develop peripheral, multifocal airspace disease (GGO and/or consolidation), cavitation, and lymphadenopathy. Spontaneous pneumothorax is rare. COVID-19 is more often bilateral (similar to MERS) and follow-up imaging (as noted above) will often show progressive opacities.¹⁶

The chronic phase of COVID-19 has not been described yet; but one may hypothesise it will behave similarly to the other coronaviruses. In a small case series, follow-up chest radiographs showed pulmonary fibrosis in one in three MERS patients (median time of follow-up 43 days).¹⁷ Persistent radiographic findings were associated with a history of a more severe acute clinical course. The follow-up of SARS-CoV-1 patients has been slightly better described. Two-hundred and fifty-eight patients were followed for three months after discharge and all had serial chest imaging and pulmonary function tests (PFTs) performed.¹⁸ If either were abnormal, the patients proceeded to CT imaging. Fifty patients had abnormal diffusion capacity for carbon monoxide (D_{LCO}) (defined as < 80% of predicted value) and 48 patients had residual abnormalities on chest radiography (CXR). The initial follow-up was done at approximately one month and both PFTs and imaging continued to improve at repeat examinations. It should also be noted these patients were symptomatic at the time of follow-up, describing generalised weakness and decreased exercise tolerance due to shortness of breath. Abnormalities of pulmonary diffusion testing were found to be more sensitive than CT scans and imaging seemed to lag behind the clinical course.

Persistent abnormalities were also seen in SARS-CoV-1 patients on CT with paired inspiration-expiration views at follow-up.¹⁹ Imaging done at an average of 140 days post onset of symptoms showed persistent abnormalities, including GGO, reticulations, and air trapping in 16 out of 20 patients. A 15 year follow-up study of SARS-CoV-1 patients showed a rapid improvement in radiographic lesions over the first year followed by a plateau and relatively stable PFTs.²⁰

The above described sequelae of other coronaviruses are certainly worrisome and if COVID-19 behaves similarly, it may have potential implications for divers. First is the potential for decreased exercise capacity because of residual lung disease. Pulmonary demands of diving are distinct from those of exercise on land, being affected by increased breathing resistance from diving equipment, immersion, and gas density.²¹ This is discussed in further detail in the cardiac section below, but an appropriate exercise capacity will be required for return to diving. Second, there is the possibility that these residual changes would potentially expose the diver to a higher risk of barotrauma. The

increased risk of pulmonary barotrauma, potentially because of decreased lung compliance from residual scarring or fibrosis, structural abnormalities such as bullae or blebs or residual air trapping may be a significant issue for divers. Additionally, residual lung disease from COVID-19 could interfere with the pulmonary vasculature enough to allow asymptomatic venous gas emboli to more easily cross the pulmonary capillary filter leading to their arterialisation.

FITNESS TO DIVE IN OTHER PULMONARY CONDITIONS

Pneumonia (lobar, viral). A CXR should be performed after six weeks to ensure no underlying structural abnormality is present. Exercise tolerance should be back to the patient's baseline and oxygen saturation with exercise should be normal. PFTs should be back to baseline; this usually occurs within three to five weeks following a pulmonary infection.²²

Organising pneumonia (OP). COVID-19 bears resemblance to OP on chest CT, which is an inflammatory process rather than an infectious one.^{23,24} OP is usually non-necrotizing but often takes longer to resolve than infectious pneumonias. However, there is no known distinction or prior data separating OP from other forms of pneumonia related to diving. Thus, a CXR is indicated after the clinical resolution of disease.

Pulmonary fibrosis. Pulmonary fibrosis is considered a contraindication for scuba diving because of the increased risk of barotrauma due to decreased lung compliance. There is also concern that the fibrotic lung tissue will interfere with gas exchange. However, this is based on expert opinion and not evidence, as noted in the British Thoracic Society guidelines.²⁵

Blebs and bullae. Traditional teaching has been blebs and bullae should be contraindications to scuba diving because of increased risk of overexpansion injury and subsequent barotrauma, including the potential for pneumothorax and arterial gas embolism. Indeed, there have been case reports of individuals who have suffered barotrauma and subsequently were found to have pulmonary bullae.^{26,27}

Many of the lesions described in these case reports are relatively large (> 20 mm) and it seems reasonable that patients with large bullae and blebs should be excluded from diving.²⁷ It is a disqualifying condition for military, commercial, and scientific divers. However, the guidance on small blebs and bullae in recreational divers is less clear. Asymptomatic blebs and bullae have been found in a large portion of the population. In a case series of autopsies performed on otherwise healthy individuals without lung disease, the incidence was approximately 33%.²⁸ Some describe it as so frequent a finding that "*radiologists in my institution do not routinely report on small blebs on CT scans as they are so common as to be considered normal*

findings in the patient population seen by a major hospital radiology department".²⁹ Given the large number of active divers, the high incidence of blebs and bullae in the population and the relatively low incidence of pulmonary barotrauma and arterial gas embolism in divers, it seems reasonable to conclude there are many individuals scuba diving with blebs and bullae without injury. Indeed, this is the basis for not recommending routine screening CT scans in professional divers, as it would unnecessarily disqualify many divers.²⁹ Thus, it has been the practice at our institution for recreational divers with incidentally discovered small blebs and bullae to continue diving, though with a discussion of potential risks and risk mitigation.

Pneumothorax. While a history of spontaneous pneumothorax remains a contraindication to diving because of the increased risk of recurrent pneumothorax, patients with a history of post-traumatic and uncomplicated iatrogenic pneumothoraces may be candidates to dive if they have normal PFTs and follow-up imaging.²⁵ For individuals with a history of significant lung injury or surgery, in which there is concern for air trapping, a high-resolution chest CT scan with inspiratory and expiratory views can confirm or rule out air trapping.

Asthma. Controversy exists in the diving community with regard to whether asthmatics should dive.²⁵ Theoretical risks to the asthmatic diver include increased risk of barotrauma, decreased exercise tolerance and potentially cold/exercised induced bronchospasm while diving.²¹ However, review of retrospective data shows there are many asthmatics diving without significantly increased risk of morbidity. Current recommendations suggest asthmatics with normal PFTs are candidates for diving. With exercise and cold-induced asthma, they require appropriate exercise/cold challenged PFTs.^{21,30–32}

Cardiac

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF COVID-19 AND RELEVANCE TO DIVING

COVID-19 manifests primarily as atypical pneumonia, but cardiac involvement is increasingly recognised as a prominent feature. There are no uniform patterns of cardiovascular manifestations in patients with COVID-19. They constitute a spectrum with significant clinical overlap that includes isolated elevations in cardiac biomarkers, acute coronary syndrome (ACS), arrhythmias, and myo- or myopericarditis.³³ Published autopsy series have shown myocyte necrosis, lymphocytic myocardial infiltrates and dilated right ventricles.³⁴ Despite the virus's cardiotropic potential, direct myocardial invasion has not been proven, suggesting that most of the myocardial damage is secondary to systemic inflammation or a general hypercoagulable state.³⁵ Direct invasion of the virus has been shown, however, in the endothelial cells.³⁶ This may have significant longterm implications, particularly for divers, because DCS appears to cause endothelial dysfunction. Troponin elevation is reported to occur in 8–28% of patients with COVID-19 and is associated with a higher mortality risk.³⁷ Isolated elevations in brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) have also been reported in patients with increased mortality.³⁸ The mechanisms underlying cardiac injury in these patients are complex and the following have been proposed:

- COVID-19 uses the angiotensin converting enzyme II (ACE-2) receptor as a port of entry to human cells and in turn leads to its down-regulation. This results in an increase of circulating angiotensin-II levels leading to vasoconstriction, inflammation and a prothrombotic state.³⁹
- Systemic hyperinflammation resulting from uncontrolled amplification of cytokine production following the initial immunologic response against viral replication may lead to direct myocardial injury, microvascular dysfunction or atherosclerotic plaque rupture.³⁵
- Cardiac damage may result from direct invasion of the virus into the myocardium or the endothelium.³⁶
- Myocardial damage may simply result from increased metabolic demands coupled with systemic hypoxia due to respiratory failure.

Our knowledge of these manifestations derives mostly from reports of hospitalised patients with higher disease severity.40,41 The incidence of cardiac involvement in patients with mild or moderate illness managed in ambulatory settings is largely unknown. Attention should be paid to the potential lack of work-up patients may have received during the acute phase of their illness. In this pandemic, resources are strained and patients convalesce at home in circumstances where they may otherwise be hospitalised. If there is a history of potential cardiac involvement, the physician should attempt to clarify what type of cardiac manifestations were present and to what degree they were evaluated. Examples of potential cardiac manifestations include myocarditis, myocardial injury (evidenced by elevated biomarkers), cardiomyopathy, arrhythmias, thromboembolic disease, and acute coronary syndrome.42

This will help answer important questions such as:

- What was the right and left ventricular function?
- Was there evidence of myocardial inflammation on MRI or other testing modalities? and
- Was epicardial coronary disease diagnosed with coronary angiography and/or treated with percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI)?³³ Establishing the severity of the viral illness and the nature of cardiac involvement will be paramount in guiding the clearance to dive process.

Recreational and commercial diving to a greater degree, may demand a work-rate of 6–7 MET (approximately 21 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ oxygen consumption) or higher when managing common contingencies. Hence, adequate cardiac reserve needs to be established before diving. Current guidelines recommend at least 10 MET (approximately 35 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ oxygen) for commercial divers and 6 MET for recreational divers.^{13,43} Thorough cardiac evaluation should be done in patients recovering from a disease with complex pathophysiology such as COVID-19.³³ Silent residual cardiac inflammation could be unmasked by the stresses of the underwater environment resulting in decompensated heart failure or cardiac arrhythmias, among others.

FITNESS TO DIVE IN OTHER CARDIAC CONDITIONS

Coronary artery disease

Coronary artery disease and hypertension are well known risk factors for fatalities associated with diving.⁴⁴ Clearance for future diving will depend on the overall burden of disease and, if a coronary intervention was performed, on the burden of residual disease. Some modality of exercise stress testing should be performed before returning to dive to rule out ongoing ischaemia and demonstrate adequate exercise capacity.⁴⁵

Myocarditis/pericarditis/congestive heart failure

In general, heart failure and cardiomyopathies are considered a contraindication to diving because of the increased cardiovascular demands placed on the heart from diving.⁴⁴ Clearing patients to dive after pericarditis or myocarditis has not been comprehensively discussed in the literature, but one would presumably need a normal echocardiogram and likely a normal stress echo. Diving is known to be high risk for precipitating arrhythmias, and cases of Takotsubo cardiomyopathy have been reported.^{43,46,47} The effects of immersion and centralised shunting of blood also place the diver at risk for immersion pulmonary oedema.^{48,49} A depressed left ventricular ejection fraction or impaired exercise tolerance during an exercise stress test limited by symptoms or arrhythmias should disqualify a candidate from diving.

Thromboembolic disease

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF COVID-19 AND RELEVANCE TO DIVING

The incidence of venous thromboembolism (VTE) has been reported to be significantly increased in COVID-19 compared to other similar illnesses, but the true incidence is unknown.⁵⁰ COVID-19 is thought to induce a hypercoagulable state and although the mechanism remains to be elucidated (potentially via ACE-2 receptors and increased levels of Angiotensin II), there have been reports of elevated D-dimers and troponins, which are associated with worse outcomes.⁵⁰ In the acute phase, this predisposes the patient to multiple complications, including VTE and ACS. The question has

been raised whether or not this would predispose a diver who had COVID-19 to DCS, which is also thought to be an inflammatory, prothrombotic state. The chronic effects are unknown, but it seems unlikely the hypercoagulable state would remain after the acute phase of the illness is over. The more likely consequence to divers would be the complication of ACS (see above in cardiac section) or pulmonary embolism.

FITNESS TO DIVE IN OTHER THROMBOEMBOLIC CONDITIONS

Pulmonary embolism. Pulmonary embolism is not an absolute contraindication to diving. An echocardiogram and exercise tolerance test could be performed to evaluate for any residual right heart strain or development of chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension. Caution should be taken when diving on anticoagulant medication due to the increased risk of bleeding from even minor trauma.

Current recommendations for evaluation of divers or diving candidates after COVID-19

We have developed working guidelines based on the limited evidence of sequelae of COVID-19 available and experience with other diseases which share similar features (see above). We have categorised divers based on the history and severity of their illness and determined their return to dive evaluation accordingly. As with any illness, ultimately the work-up is left to the discretion of the evaluating physician. The guidelines which follow explicitly pertain to divers who are asymptomatic after their illness, including normal exercise tolerance (see exercise tolerance section). We currently recommend following CDC guidelines for screening of an employee for any diver prior to diving.⁵¹ Measuring vital signs or oxygen saturation routinely before diving is not practical, but no diver should dive if they currently have or within 14 days have had any cough, shortness of breath or difficulty breathing, fever, chills, myalgias or new loss of smell or taste.

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS USED IN GUIDELINES

COVID-19 suspected illness

We define a COVID-19-suspected illness as symptoms consistent with COVID-19 with or without a positive polymerase chain reaction (PCR) or antibody test, as testing is currently unreliable. As more accurate antibody testing is developed and becomes widely available it will likely be useful in guiding these evaluations. In defining 'symptoms consistent with COVID-19' we are currently using the CDC case definition of COVID-19 for those patients who did not have PCR or antibody confirmed illness.⁵¹

Thus, a COVID-19 illness is suspected when there have been at least two of the following symptoms:

• fever (measured or subjective), chills, rigors, myalgia,

headache, sore throat, new olfactory and taste disorder(s);

- OR at least one of the following symptoms: cough, shortness of breath, or difficulty breathing;
- OR severe respiratory illness with at least one of clinical orradiographic evidence of pneumonia, or acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS);
- AND no alternative more likely diagnosis.

Exercise tolerance

Exercise tolerance is the most important definition used in our guidelines and it is vital physicians evaluate it carefully. It has been our experience that a diver with significant cardiac or pulmonary pathophysiology will most likely not have normal exercise tolerance. However, the definition of the word normal is critical. First, the diver must have returned to his or her baseline level of exercise tolerance. Even minor deviations from their baseline ('getting more winded', longer recovery times, etc) warrant further testing and investigation. Second, the physician must be satisfied the diver's exercise regimen reflects an appropriate level of equivalence for the predictable demands of diving. As mentioned above, current guidelines recommend at least 10 MET for commercial divers and 6 MET for recreational divers.^{13,43} If the physician is not assured the diver's self-reported exercise level meets appropriate criteria or is concerned it would not reveal underlying cardiac or pulmonary disease, further testing is warranted.

GUIDELINES FOR DIVER EVALUATION

The following guidelines are intended for the evaluation of divers who had a COVID-19 suspected illness, are currently asymptomatic, and have subjectively returned to their baseline exercise tolerance. The tables are intended to be used in sequential fashion (i.e., Table 1, then Table 2). Table 1 requires a thorough history of the diver's illness in order to appropriately categorise them. A diver should be placed in the highest category where they meet any (not all) of the criteria. For example, any patient who was hospitalised or required the use of supplemental oxygen is automatically categorised as moderate or severe. Any patient who required intensive care unit (ICU) admission or any assisted ventilation, such as bi-level positive airway pressure (BiPAP), continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) or intubation, is categorised as severe. If a patient was hospitalised and there is no record of a cardiac work up, they are also placed in the severe category.

After a patient has been categorised based on their initial illness severity, Table 2 is then used to guide their work up before returning to dive. The initial imaging recommended is a chest X-ray and a CT performed if the X-ray is abnormal. A CT scan (potentially with inspiration/expiration views) would be more sensitive than a radiograph for detecting abnormalities but it is our position that a CT scan is not

Table 1

Classification of divers or diving candidates based on severity of COVID-19 suspected illness. The categories of divers are based upon presenting symptoms and severity of disease, including oxygen requirement, imaging, need for and level of hospitalisation, and cardiac involvement. A diver should be placed in the highest category where they meet any (not all) of the criteria. BIPAP = bilevel positive airway pressure support; BNP = brain natriuretic peptide; CK-MB = creatine kinase MB fraction; CPAP = continuous positive airway pressure support; CT = computed tomography; DVT = deep venous thrombosis; ECG = electrocardiogram; ICU = intensive care unit

Category 0	Category 1	Category 2	Category 3
NO history of COVID-19-	MILD COVID-19-	MODERATE COVID-19-	SEVERE COVID-19-
suspected illness	suspected illness	suspected illness	suspected illness
Definition: Divers who have no history of COVID-19 suspected illness should proceed with normal evaluations. Additionally, we would use these criteria in those who may have had a positive screening PCR or antibody test, but without any history of illness or symptoms consistent with COVID-19.	 Definition: Did not seek health care or received outpatient treatment only without evidence of hypoxaemia. Did not require supplemental oxygen. Imaging was normal or not required. 	 Definition: Required supplemental oxygen or was hypoxic. Had abnormal chest imaging (chest radiograph or CT scan). Admitted to the hospital but did NOT require mechanical (intubation) or assisted ventilation (BIPAP, CPAP) or ICU level of care. If admitted, had documentation of a normal cardiac work up including normal ECG and cardiac biomarkers e.g., troponin or CK-MB and BNP. 	 Definition: Required mechanical (intubation) or assisted ventilation (BIPAP, CPAP) or ICU level of care. Cardiac involvement defined as abnormal ECG or echocardiogram, or elevated cardiac biomarkers e.g., troponin or CK-MB and BNP (or absence of documented work up). Thromboembolic complications (such as pulmonary embolism, DVT, or other coagulopathy).

indicated if a patient has a normal radiograph, PFTs, and exercise tolerance. CT may be overly sensitive for clinically insignificant lesions, as well as cause unnecessary radiation exposure and cost.

The guidelines detailed above require a more rigorous and conservative workup than would traditionally be required after a viral respiratory illness. However, this disease has proven itself to be atypical in a number of ways, including multi-organ system involvement and potential long-term effects on the pulmonary and cardiovascular systems. It is impossible to provide an algorithm that encompasses all combinations of the nature and severity of apparent COVID-19 sequelae, but that decision-making is likely to be based on similar principles to those applied in evaluating similar respiratory and cardiovascular problems arising from other causes. Because of the potential risks (including barotrauma, decreased exercise tolerance, cardiomyopathy, and arrhythmia), it is prudent to do a thorough evaluation of divers who have recovered from COVID-19.

Symptomatic divers or those with abnormal test results

Symptomatic individuals or those who have abnormal testing per the guidelines above should be advised not to dive (though each will need to be evaluated on a case by case basis and exceptions are to be expected). For example, those with persistent parenchymal damage, evidence of air trapping, cardiac injury, or inadequate exercise capacity should be advised not to dive. However, there may be more subtle abnormalities, such as borderline PFTs or a subtle radiographic abnormality in an otherwise asymptomatic healthy diver. These may not necessarily represent a lifetime ban on diving as many of the sequelae which are currently disqualifying may resolve over time and re-testing may be indicated. It is beyond the scope of this paper to provide detailed recommendations for all of these possibilities and we strongly recommend that the interpretation of the results of investigation, ongoing health re-evaluation or surveillance, and related fitness to dive decisions involve a physician with training in diving medicine.

Limitations

As evidenced by the above discussion, there is relatively little fitness to dive literature in general and what is available consists of case series and reports, as well as workshop proceedings. Most recommendations are the results of consensus and opinion. The long-term effects of COVID-19 are even less well understood and the recommendations above are made with the expectation that they will be revised as more evidence becomes available.

Conclusions

The potential implications of COVID-19 on fitness for diving are real, though the chronic sequelae of this disease are not yet known. Diving physicians are mandated to proceed

Table 2

Recommendations for evaluations of divers or diving candidates. Recommendations for evaluation are based upon the divers' severity of COVID-19 suspected illness (see Table 1). If results are unknown or unavailable, recommendations are for more extensive cardiac and pulmonary evaluations. BNP = brain natriuretic peptide; CK-MB = creatine kinase MB fraction; CT = computed tomography; ECG = electrocardiogram; PA = posterior-anterior; RSTC = Recreational Scuba Training Council. * If there is doubt that the diver's self-reported exercise level meets appropriate criteria or concern it would not reveal underlying cardiac or pulmonary disease, further testing is warranted

Category 0	Category 1	Category 2	Category 3
NO history of COVID-19-	MILD COVID-19-	MODERATE COVID-19-	SEVERE COVID-19-
suspected illness	suspected illness	suspected illness	suspected illness
 Initial/periodic exam per professional group or RSTC guidelines. Chest radiograph only if required per professional group or RSTC guidelines. No additional testing required. 	 Initial/periodic exam per professional group or RSTC guidelines. Spirometry. Chest radiograph (PA and lateral); if abnormal, obtain chest CT. If unknown (or unsatisfactory) exercise tolerance*, perform exercise tolerance test with oxygen saturation. 	 Initial/periodic exam per professional group or RSTC guidelines. Spirometry. Chest radiograph (PA and lateral); if abnormal, obtain chest CT. ECG. Echocardiogram (if no work up was done as an inpatient. Can forgo if had negative work up). If unknown (or unsatisfactory) exercise tolerance*, perform exercise tolerance test with oxygen saturation. Investigation and management of any other complications or symptoms per provider and professional group or RSTC guidelines. 	 Initial/periodic exam per professional group or RSTC guidelines. Spirometry Chest radiograph (PA and lateral); if abnormal, obtain chest CT. ECG. Repeat cardiac troponin or CK-MB and BNP to ensure normalization. Echocardiogram. Exercise Echocardiogram with oxygen saturation. Investigation and management of any other complications or symptoms per provider and professional group or RSTC guidelines.

with fitness to dive evaluations despite this lack of evidence and thus must draw upon past experience with similar conditions. The above guidelines represent our current opinion on best practice and will continue to be updated as a better understanding of the novel COVID-19 is gained. The updated guidelines will be available at:

https://health.ucsd.edu/coronavirus/Documents/UC%20 San%20Diego%20Guidelines%20for%20Evaluation%20 of%20Divers%20during%20COVID-19%20pandemic.pdf.

References

- Spagnolo P, Balestro E, Aliberti S, Cocconcelli E, Biondini D, Casa GD, et al. Pulmonary fibrosis secondary to COVID-19: A call to arms? Lancet Respir Med [Online ahead of print]. 2020 May 15. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30222-8. PMID: 32422177. PMCID: PMC7228737.
- 2 Pougnet R, Pougnet L, Dewitte J-D, Loddé B, Lucas D. Temporary and permanent unfitness of occupational divers. Brest Cohort 2002–2019 from the French National Network for Occupational Disease Vigilance and Prevention (RNV3P). Int Marit Health. 2020;71:71–7. doi:10.5603/IMH.2020.0014. PMID: 32212151.
- 3 Neuman T. Pulmonary fitness to dive. In: Lundgren CEG,

Miller JN, editors. The lung at depth. New York: Marcel Dekker; 1999. p. 73–91.

- 4 Bove AA. The cardiovascular system and diving risk. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2011;38:261–9. <u>PMID: 21877555</u>.
- 5 Phelan D, Kim JH, Chung EH. A game plan for the resumption of sport and exercise after Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) Infection. JAMA Cardiol. [Online ahead of print]. 2020 May 13. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.2136. PMID: 32402054.
- 6 Sadler C, Alvarez Villela M, Van Hoesen K, Grover I, Neuman T, Lindholm P. UC San Diego guidelines for evaluation of divers during COVID-19 pandemic [Internet]. University of California, San Diego; 2020 May. Available from: <u>https://health.ucsd.edu/coronavirus/Documents/UC%20San%20Diego%20Guidelines%20for%20Evaluation%20of%20Divers%20during%20COVID-19%20pandemic.pdf</u>. [cited 2020 June 01].
- 7 Denoble PJ, Ranapurwala SI, Vaithiyanathan P, Clarke RE, Vann RD. Per-capita claims rates for decompression sickness among insured Divers Alert Network members. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2012;39:709–15. <u>PMID: 22670551</u>.
- 8 Buzzacott P, Denoble PJ, editors. DAN Annual Diving Report 2018 edition: A report on 2016 diving fatalities, injuries, and incidents. Durham (NC): Divers Alert Network; 2019.
- 9 Hornsby A. Models for estimating the diver population of the

United States: An assessment. In: Vann R, Lang M, editors. Recreational diving fatalities workshop proceedings. Durham (NC): Divers Alert Network; 2011. p. 165–9. Available from: <u>https://www.diversalertnetwork.org/files/Fatalities</u> <u>Proceedings.pdf</u>. [cited 2020 June 29].

- 10 Scuba diving participation report 2019. Silver Spring (MD): Sports and Fitness Industry Association; 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.sfia.org/reports/796_Scuba-Diving-Participation-Report-2019</u>. [cited 2020 Jun 01].
- 11 American Academy of Underwater Sciences. DCI incidence rates [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://aaus.org/AAUS/ AAUS/Statistics/DCI Incidence Rates.aspx</u>. [cited 2020 Jun 01].
- 12 Bureau of Labor Statistics. Occupational employment and wages, May 2018: 49-9092 Commercial Divers [Internet]; 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/ oes499092.htmExternalexternal icon</u>. [cited 2020 Jun 01].
- 13 Diver Medical Screening Committee. Recreational diving medical screening system [Internet]; 2020. Available from: https://www.uhms.org/resources/recreational-diving-medicalscreening-system.html. [cited 2020 Jun 01].
- 14 Department of Labor. Occupational safety and health administration. 29 CFR 1910, Subpart T. Commercial diving operations [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.osha.gov/ sites/default/files/enforcement/directives/CPL_02-00-151.pdf</u>. [cited 2020 Jun 01].
- 15 Pan F, Ye T, Sun P, Gui S, Liang B, Li L, et al. Time course of lung changes at chest CT during recovery from Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Radiology. 2020;295:715–21. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2020200370. PMID: 32053470. PMCID: PMC7233367.
- 16 Hosseiny M, Kooraki S, Gholamrezanezhad A, Reddy S, Myers L. Radiology perspective of Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Lessons from severe acute respiratory syndrome and middle east respiratory syndrome. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2020;214:1078–82. doi: 10.2214/AJR.20.22969. PMID: 32108495.
- 17 Das KM, Lee EY, Singh R, Enani MA, Al Dossari K, Van Gorkom K, et al. Follow-up chest radiographic findings in patients with MERS-CoV after recovery. Indian J Radiol Imaging. 2017;27:342–9. <u>doi: 10.4103/ijri.IJRI 469_16</u>. <u>PMID: 29089687</u>. <u>PMCID: PMC5644332</u>.
- 18 Xie L, Liu Y, Xiao Y, Tian Q, Fan B, Zhao H, et al. Follow-up study on pulmonary function and lung radiographic changes in rehabilitating severe acute respiratory syndrome patients after discharge. Chest. 2005;127:2119–24. doi: 10.1378/ chest.127.6.2119. PMID: 15947329. PMCID: PMC7094359.
- 19 Chang Y-C, Yu C-J, Chang S-C, Galvin JR, Liu H-M, Hsiao C-H, et al. Pulmonary sequelae in convalescent patients after severe acute respiratory syndrome: Evaluation with thinsection CT. Radiology. 2005;236:1067–75. <u>doi: 10.1148/ radiol.2363040958</u>. <u>PMID: 16055695</u>.
- 20 Zhang P, Li J, Liu H, Han N, Ju J, Kou Y, et al. Long-term bone and lung consequences associated with hospital-acquired severe acute respiratory syndrome: A 15-year follow-up from a prospective cohort study. Bone Res. 2020;8:8. doi: 10.1038/s41413-020-0084-5. PMID: 32128276. PMCID: PMC7018717.
- 21 Neuman T. Pulmonary disorders. In: Bove AA, Davis JC, editors. Bove and Davis' diving medicine. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2004.
- 22 Hall WJ, Hall CB. Clinical significance of pulmonary function tests. Chest. 1979;76:458–65. <u>doi: 10.1378/chest.76.4.458</u>. <u>PMID: 225132</u>. <u>PMCID: PMC7094698</u>.

- 23 Polak SB, Van Gool IC, Cohen D, von der Thüsen JH, van Paassen J. A systematic review of pathological findings in COVID-19: A pathophysiological timeline and possible mechanisms of disease progression. Mod Pathol. 2020 Jun 22;1–11 [Online ahead of print]. doi: 10.1038/s41379-020-0603-3. PMID: 32572155. PMCID: PMC7306927.
- 24 Lu J, Yin Q, Zha Y, Deng S, Huang J, Guo Z, et al. Acute fibrinous and organizing pneumonia: Two case reports and literature review. BMC Pulm Med. 2019;19(1):141. doi: 10.1186/s12890-019-0861-3. PMID: 31382933. PMCID: PMC6683570.
- 25 British Thoracic Society Fitness to Dive Group, Subgroup of the British Thoracic Society Standards of Care Committee. British Thoracic Society guidelines on respiratory aspects of fitness for diving. Thorax. 2003;58:3–13. doi: 10.1136/ thorax.58.1.3. PMID: 12511710. PMCID: PMC1746450.
- 26 Reuter M, Tetzlaff K, Warninghoff V, Steffens JC, Bettinghausen E, Heller M. Computed tomography of the chest in diving-related pulmonary barotrauma. Br J Radiol. 1997;70:440–445. doi: 10.1259/bjr.70.833.9227223. PMID: 9227223.
- 27 Germonpré P, Balestra C, Pieters T. Influence of scuba diving on asymptomatic isolated pulmonary bullae. Diving Hyperb Med. 2008;38:206–11. <u>PMID: 22692754</u>.
- 28 de Bakker HM, Tijsterman M, de Bakker-Teunissen OJG, Soerdjbalie-Maikoe V, van Hulst RA, de Bakker BS. Prevalence of pulmonary bullae and blebs in postmortem CT imaging with potential implications for diving medicine. Chest. 2020;157:916–23. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2019.11.008. PMID: 31759963.
- 29 Millar IL. Should computed tomography of the chest be recommended in the medical certification of professional divers? Br J Sports Med. 2004;38:2–3. doi: 10.1136/ bjsm.2003.010413. PMID: 14751933. PMCID: PMC1724731.
- 30 Van Hoesen KB, Neuman TS. Asthma and scuba diving. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am. 1996;16:917–28. doi: 10.1016/S0889-8561(05)70278-2.
- 31 Lippmann J, Taylor D McD, Stevenson C, Williams J, Mitchell SJ. Diving with pre-existing medical conditions. Diving Hyperb Med. 2017;47:180–90. doi: 10.28920/dhm47.3.180– 190. PMID: 28868599. PMCID: PMC6159622.
- 32 The South Pacific Underwater Medical Society Guidelines on medical risk assessment for recreational diving, SPUMS Medical 5th ed [Internet]. Melbourne: South Pacific Underwater Medical Society; 2020. Available from: <u>https:// www.spums.org.au/content/spums-full-medical-0</u>. [cited 2020 Jun 01].
- 33 Akhmerov A, Marbán E. COVID-19 and the heart. Circ Res. 2020;126:1443–55. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317055. PMID: 32252591.
- 34 Fox SE, Akmatbekov A, Harbert JL, Li G, Quincy Brown J, Vander Heide RS. Pulmonary and cardiac pathology in African American patients with COVID-19: An autopsy series from New Orleans. Lancet Respir Med. 2020;8:681–6. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30243-5. PMID: 32473124. PMCID: PMC7255143.
- 35 Libby P. The Heart in COVID19: Primary target or secondary bystander? JACC Basic Transl Sci. 2020;5:537–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jacbts.2020.04.001. PMID: 32292847. PMCID: PMC7151324.
- 36 Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel AS, et al. Endothelial cell infection and endotheliitis in COVID-19. Lancet. 2020;395:1417–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30937-5. PMID: 32325026. PMCID:

<u>PMC7172722</u>.

- 37 Shi S, Qin M, Shen B, Cai Y, Liu T, Yang F, et al. Association of cardiac injury with mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Cardiol. 2020;5:802–10. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.0950. PMID: 32211816. PMCID: PMC7097841.
- 38 Guo T, Fan Y, Chen M, Wu X, Zhang L, He T, et al. Cardiovascular implications of fatal outcomes of patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). JAMA Cardiol. 2020;5:1–8. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.1017. PMID: 32219356. PMCID: PMC7101506.
- 39 Oudit GY, Kassiri Z, Jiang C, Liu PP, Poutanen SM, Penninger JM, et al. SARS-coronavirus modulation of myocardial ACE2 expression and inflammation in patients with SARS. Eur J Clin Invest. 2009;39:618–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.2009.02153.x. PMID: 19453650. PMCID: PMC7163766.
- 40 Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: A retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020;395(10229):1054–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3. PMID: 32171076. PMCID: PMC7270627.
- 41 Yang X, Yu Y, Xu J, Shu H, Xia J 'an, Liu H, et al. Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: A single-centered, retrospective, observational study. Lancet Respir Med. 2020;8(5):475–81. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30079-5. PMID: 32105632. PMCID: PMC7102538.
- 42 Driggin E, Madhavan MV, Bikdeli B, Chuich T, Laracy J, Biondi-Zoccai G, et al. Cardiovascular considerations for patients, health care workers, and health systems during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020;75(18):2352– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.03.03. PMID: 32201335. PMCID: PMC7198856.
- 43 Association of Diving Contractors International. International consensus standards for commercial diving and underwater operations: Section 2 diving personnel medical and training requirements [Internet]; 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.adc-int.org/files/ADCI%20PHYSICAL%20&%20 MEDICAL%20REQUIREMENTS%202_0(1).pdf</u>. [cited 2020 Jun 01].
- 44 Sadler CA, Nelson C, Grover I, Witucki P, Neuman T. Dilemma of natural death while scuba diving. Academic Forensic Pathol. 2013;3:202–12. doi: 10.23907/2013.026.

- 45 Mitchell SJ, Bove AA. Medical screening of recreational divers for cardiovascular disease: Consensus discussion at the Divers Alert Network Fatality Workshop. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2011;38:289–96. <u>PMID: 21877558</u>.
- 46 Baber A, Nair SU, Duggal S, Bhatti S, Sundlof DW. Stress cardiomyopathy caused by diving: Case report and review of the literature. J Emerg Med. 2016;50:277–80. doi: 10.1016/j. jemermed.2015.09.045. PMID: 26589557.
- 47 Demoulin R, Poyet R, Castagna O, Gempp E, Druelle A, Schmitt P, et al. Epidemiological, clinical, and echocardiographic features of twenty "Takotsubo-like" reversible myocardial dysfunction cases with normal coronarography following immersion pulmonary oedema. Acta Cardiol. 2020 Feb 24;1– 7. doi: 10.1080/00015385.2020.1726627. PMID: 32089094.
- 48 Wilmshurst PT. Immersion pulmonary oedema: A cardiological perspective. Diving Hyperb Med. 2019;49:30– 40. doi: 10.28920/dhm49.1.30-40. PMID: 30856665. PMCID: PMC6526048.
- 49 Lindholm P, Swenson ER, Martínez-Jiménez S, Guo HH. From ocean deep to mountain high: Similar computed tomography findings in immersion and high-altitude pulmonary edema. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018;198:1088–9. doi: 10.1164/ rccm.201803-0581IM. PMID: 30044644.
- 50 Bikdeli B, Madhavan MV, Jimenez D, Chuich T, Dreyfus I, Driggin E, et al. COVID-19 and thrombotic or thromboembolic disease: Implications for prevention, antithrombotic therapy, and follow-up: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020;75(23):2950–73. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2020.04.031. PMID: 32311448. PMCID: PMC7164881.
- 51 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) 2020 interim case definition, Approved April 5, 2020 [Internet]. 2020. Available from: <u>https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nndss/conditions/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19/case-definition/2020/</u>. [cited 2020 June 01].

Conflicts of interest and funding: nil

Submitted: 25 June 2020 Accepted after revision: 14 July 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Short communication

Pre-hydration strongly reduces decompression sickness occurrence after a simulated dive in the rat

Qiong Wang¹, François Guerrero¹, Michaël Theron¹

¹ Laboratory ORPHY, European University of Bretagne, University of Brest, Brest, France

Corresponding author: Dr Michaël Theron, Laboratory ORPHY, European University of Bretagne, University of Brest, 6 Avenue Le Gorgeu, 29238 Brest, France <u>michael.theron@univ-brest.fr</u>

Key words

Hydration; Animal model; Rat; Diving deaths

Abstract

(Wang Q, Guerrero F, Theron M. Pre-hydration strongly reduces decompression sickness occurrence after a simulated dive in rat. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):288–291. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.288-291. PMID: 32957132.)

Introduction: Hydration status is considered a parameter likely to influence the risk of decompression sickness (DCS), but scientific evidence is scarce and conflicting. This experiment aimed to analyse the influence of pre-hydration on DCS occurrence in a rat model.

Methods: Intra-peritoneal injections of saline solution were administered to rats (NaCl 0.9% 0 ml (Control), 0.1 ml (Group 1), or 1 ml·100g⁻¹ body mass (Group 2) at each of 24 h, 12 h, and 30 min prior to simulated air dives (45 min at 1,010 kPa; compression and decompression rates 101 kPa·min⁻¹; stops 5 min at 202 kPa, 5 min at 160 kPa, 10 min at 130 kPa). Evaluation of DCS occurrence and severity was made after decompression.

Results: Pre-dive hydration reduced severe DCS from 47% (Control) to 29% (Group 1) and 0% (Group 2), and increased the proportion of animals without any signs of DCS from 40 (Control) to 57% (Group 1) and 93% (Group 2); Chi² P = 0.041. **Conclusions:** This experiment demonstrated that pre-hydration can drastically reduce the DCS occurrence in an animal model. In the context of scuba diving, this result highlights the importance of elucidating the mechanisms linking hydration status and DCS risk.

Introduction

During scuba diving, the tissues of divers are progressively loaded with inert gases and during the fall in ambient pressure when ascending and reaching the surface, tissue gas supersaturation may lead to bubble formation. Tissue and circulating bubbles are considered to be the primary trigger of decompression sickness (DCS). Circulating bubbles are nevertheless a poor predictor of DCS¹ and the mechanisms of DCS are far from being fully understood. During the last decade, preconditioning strategies (exercise, sauna, preoxygenation, vibration, chocolate or hydration) have been investigated as potential means of reducing the risk of DCS in divers.^{2,3}

The question of the link between the hydration status and the risk of DCS was raised 70 years ago in the context of altitude DCS⁴, but the literature on this issue is still scarce and conflicting. Dehydration has been proposed as a risk factor in few DCS case reports.^{5,6} However, in others, it has been proposed as a possible cause of bubble reduction after diving, both in the case of pre-dive exercise⁷ and in experimental dehydration in rats.⁸ On this point, animal studies find either no effect of dehydration on DCS in a murine model,⁸⁻¹⁰ or an increased DCS occurrence in dehydrated rabbits and swine.11,12 Interestingly, in a human study using infrared-ray dry sauna a reduction of circulating bubbles was associated with a moderate dehydration after a simulated dive.¹³ There are, as far as we know, only three papers concerning pre-hydration. Two were performed on swine. One study failed to reduce neurological DCS after crystalloid infusion.¹⁴ The other study was designed to evaluate the effect of methylprenidsolone on DCS, not to assess the effect of prehydration.¹⁵ In that study an intravenous infusion of saline appeared to strongly reduce the occurrence of DCS and death, but only after comparison with a historical control group without a saline infusion. In humans, a study established that pre-hydration could reduce circulating bubbles after diving.¹⁶

In this context, there is a clear need to assess the influence of the hydration level on DCS occurrence after a dive. Consequently, in order to investigate the effect of prehydration on DCS occurrence intra-peritoneal (IP) injections of saline solution were adminstered to ratsprior to simulated air dives and we evaluated the occurrence and severity of DCS.

12

442 (51)

Table 1 Characteristics of the studied 15 male Sprague-Dawley rats. IP = intra-peritoneal

12

410 (48)

Methods

ANIMALS

Animal experiments were conducted in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication No. 85-23, revised 1996) and with the approval of the Université de Bretagne Occidentale Ethics Committee for Animal Experimentation (approval no. 01462.02). This study complies with recognized ethical standards and national/ international laws.

n

Age (weeks)

Weight (g) mean (SD)

Forty-three male Sprague-Dawley rats, 12 weeks old on the day of the experiment, were obtained from Janvier SAS (Le Genest St Isle, France). Animals were housed individually in a cage in an environmentally controlled room (temperature 21°C (SD 1), 12–12 h light-dark cycle) and were fed daily with 20-25 g of standard rat chow and water ad libitum. The animals were randomly assigned into three groups of 14 to 15 animals: air diving with no hydration (the animals were exposed to the simulated dive without treatment, Control); air diving with low hydration treatment (intra-peritoneal injection of NaCl 0.9% 0.1ml·100g⁻¹ body mass at each of 24 h, 12 h, and 30 min before the simulated dive, Group 1); and air diving with high hydration treatment (intraperitoneal injection of NaCl 0.9% 1 ml·100g⁻¹ body mass at each of 24 h, 12 h, and 30 min before the simulation, Group 2). Number, age, sex and weight of the rats in the three groups are given in Table 1. There was no significant difference in the weight of rats between groups.

DIVING PROTOCOL

The dive protocol applied in the present study is routinely used in the lab and is known to induce DCS in 63% (SD 4) of cases¹⁷ (in rats of identical strain, age, sex and weight). Each rat was positioned in a 130 L steel hyperbaric chamber, always at the same hour to avoid interference by biological rhythms. Air was used as the breathing mixture. The animals were compressed at a rate of 100 kPa·min⁻¹ to 1,000 kPa absolute pressure (90 metres' seawater [msw] equivalent) and remained at that pressure for 45 min (Figure 1). Decompression then followed at a rate of 101 kPa·min⁻¹ with three decompression stops: 5 min at 202 kPa (10 msw), 5 min at 160 kPa (6 msw) and 10 min at 130 kPa (3 msw). Total hyperbaric exposure duration was 83 min.

_

> 0.05

12

423 (55)

DCS ASSESSMENT

Following hyperbaric exposure and decompression, the rats were observed for two hours for the appearance of four standard DCS symptoms: respiratory distress; walking difficulty; paralysis and/or convulsions. Animals were scored as having DCS only when one or more of these four symptoms appeared. The trinary classification of no DCS, mild DCS (one or more of the four symptoms but without death) and death was applied.

STATISTICS

The weight of rats was presented as mean (SD). The difference in the weight of rats between groups was evaluated with one way-ANOVA (Statistica 13.3) and considered significant when P < 0.05. The difference between the ratios of DCS morbidity among groups was analysed with a Chi-Square test (Statistica 13.3) and considered significant when P < 0.05.

Results

After the dive without pre-hydration, the percentage of severe and mild DCS occurrence were 47% and 13% respectively. In the same condition 40 % of the animal experienced no DCS after decompression. Hydration before the dive significantly reduced the proportion of severe DCS (to 29% and 0% in the groups receiving injections of 0.1 ml·100g⁻¹ and 1 ml·100g⁻¹ of saline respectively) and significantly increased the proportion of animals without any signs of DCS (to 57% and 93% in the same groups respectively; $Chi^2 P = 0.041$) (Figure 2).

Discussion

The goal of this study was to analyse the link between pre-hydration and DCS occurrence in a murine model. The results clearly show that in our conditions, intraperitoneal injection of saline solution of either 0.1 or 1 ml·100g⁻¹ body mass 24 h, 12 h and 30 minutes before a simulated dive significantly reduced DCS occurrence from 60% to 7%. This



Figure 1 Dive protocol for in vivo diving simulations of rats



result is consistent with the study in swine that suffered from the absence of a proper control group¹⁵ and with the study in humans that did not assess DCS but used circulating bubbles as a proxy of decompression stress.¹⁶ In that study, where decompression bubbles were measured after a 30-min dive at 30 msw, oral prehydration (with 1,300 ml of isosmotic saline-glucose beverage) significantly reduced venous bubbles when compared to a control group.¹⁶

Three main mechanisms are proposed in the literature to explain the effect of the hydration status on the risk of DCS.

1. Surface tension (ST): low ST is known to facilitate the formation of bubbles and dehydration may decrease ST. But in the case of pre-dive hydration, no change in plasmatic ST was observed by Gempp et al.¹⁶ while circulating bubbles were reduced.

2. Vasoconstriction: large fluid intake can lead to gastric distention, peripheral sympathetic mediated vasoconstriction and consequently reduce the inert gas intake during the dive.² However, in the present experiment pre-hydration was performed via intraperitoneal injection; therefore this hypothesis is unlikely.

3. Prevention of hypovolaemia: scuba diving is known to induce hypovolaemia, and potentially, reduction of tissue microperfusion, inert gas removal and an increased risk of DCS.¹¹ The hypovolaemia is a consequence of immersion and not of hyperbaric exposure. Since the animals were exposed to pressure in a hyperbaric chamber, this hypothesis is an inadequate explanation of results in the present experiment.

Unfortunately, this experiment was designed only to evaluate DCS occurrence and mortality after the dive. The high percentage of dead animals in the control group prevented any biological analyses from being performed and did not allow exploration of the mechanism of a reduction of DCS after pre-hydration. Nevertheless, in the human experiment,¹⁶ pre-dive hydration caused reduction in circulating bubble formation, and it is plausible that a reduction in bubble formation could explain the protective effect of pre-hydration on rats. It must be acknowledged that notwithstanding these results, there has been no demonstration of an effect of pre-hydration on DCS risk per se in human subjects. Furthermore, the question of the scalability of the fluid loading in humans is relevant since excessive fluid loading in divers must be avoided as it could lead to an increased risk of immersion pulmonary oedema. However, from an experimental point of view, the modulation of DCS occurrence via the manipulation of the hydration status can be a very interesting tool to develop our understanding of this multifactorial disease.

Regarding the assessment of DCS, animals were observed by two operators with significant experience, and only unambiguous symptoms (i.e., respiratory distress, walking difficulty, paralysis, convulsions or death) were considered for determination of the presence of DCS. More ambiguous signs such as, for example, paresthesia, prostration or agitation were not used because of the risk of subjectivity. This method was used in our previous studies.^{18,19} Although it may probably underestimate the incidence of DCS in our model, we think that it helps prevent biases resulting from subjectivity and, therefore, allows comparison between groups.

Conclusions

Pre-hydration significantly reduced DCS occurrence in a rat model. The result can only be extrapolated to human diving with caution due to uncertainty over scalability and since hyper-hydration in the latter setting could lead to an increased risk of immersion pulmonary oedema. This finding nevertheless identifies the potential importance of hydration status in DCS risk and highlights the need for further experiments to explore the underlying mechanisms of this effect.

References

Eckenhoff RG, Olstad CS, Carrod G. Human dose-response 1 relationship for decompression and endogenous bubble formation. J Appl Physiol. 1990;69:914-8. doi: 10.1152/ jappl.1990.69.3.914. PMID: 2246178.

- 2 Gempp E, Blatteau J-E. Preconditioning methods and mechanisms for preventing the risk of decompression sickness in scuba divers: A review. Res Sports Med. 2010;18:205–18. doi: 10.1080/15438627.2010.490189. PMID: 20623437.
- 3 Germonpré P, Balestra C. Preconditioning to reduce decompression stress in scuba divers. Aerosp Med Hum Perf. 2017;88:114–20. doi: 10.3357/AMHP.4642.2017. PMID: 28095955.
- 4 Walder DN. Serum surface tension and its relation to the decompression sickness of aviators. J Physiol (Lond). 1948;107:43–4.
- 5 Dietzel F, Koegel S, Smolle-Juttner FM, Kovac H, Friehs GB. Dehydration causes decompression sickness, report of two different cases. Slovenian Med J. 1995;66:36A–37A.
- 6 Plafki CH, Almeling M, Welslau W. Dehydration a risk factor for the decompression-accident in diving. Dtsch Z Sportmed. 1997;48:242–4. <u>PMID: 11540586</u>. German.
- 7 Blatteau J-E, Boussuges A, Gempp E, Pontier J-M, Castagna O, Robinet C, et al. Haemodynamic changes induced by submaximal exercise before a dive and its consequences on bubble formation. Br J Sports Med. 2007;41:375–79. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2006.032359. PMID: 17138641. PMCID: PMC2465332.
- 8 Skogland S, Hope A, Sundland H, et al. Effect of water deprivation and decompression on venous gas emboli in conscious rats. Proceedings of the XXXIInd Annual Meeting of the European Underwater and Baromedical Society, 23–26 August 2006, Bergen, Norway. 2006: p. 29–31.
- 9 Philp RB. Decompression sickness in experimental animals. In: Lambertsen CJ, editor. Underwater physiology. Proceedings of the third symposium on underwater physiology; 23-25 March 1966; Washington, DC. New York (NY): Academic Press; 1967. p. 412–23.
- 10 Skogland S, Stuhr LB, Sundland H, Olsen RE, Hope A. Venous gas emboli in normal and dehydrated rats following decompression from a saturation dive. Aviat Space Environ Med. 2008;79:565–9. <u>doi: 10.3357/asem.2199.2008</u>. <u>PMID:</u> <u>18581939</u>.
- 11 Leni P, Menu JP, Laforest F, Zouani B, Méliet J-F. Extracellular dehydration induces functional motor spinal deficit after severe decompression in the rabbit. Proceedings of the XXVIIth Annual Meeting of the European Underwater and Baromedical Society, 12–16 September 2001, Hamburg, Germany. 2001: p. 13–17.
- 12 Fahlman A, Dromski DM. Dehydration effects on the risk of severe decompression sickness in a swine model. Aviat Space Environ Med. 2006;77:102–6. <u>PMID: 16491576</u>.

- 13 Blatteau J-É, Gempp E, Balestra C, Mets T, Germonpré P. Predive sauna and venous gas bubbles upon decompression from 400 kPa. Aviat Space Environ Med. 2008;79:1100–5. doi: 10.3357/ASEM.2377.2008. PMID: 19070305.
- 14 Broome JR, Kittel CL, Dick EJ. Failure of pre-dive hydration status to influence neurological DCI rate in pigs. Undersea Hyperb Med. 1995;22(Suppl):52.
- 15 Dromsky DM, Weathersby PK, Fahlman A. Prophylactic high dose methylprednisolone fails to treat severe decompression sickness in swine. Aviat Space Environ Med. 2003;74:21–8. <u>PMID: 12546295</u>.
- 16 Gempp E, Blatteau J-E, Pontier J-M, Balestra C, Louge P. Preventive effect of pre-dive hydration on bubble formation in divers. Br J Sports Med. 2009;43:224–8. <u>doi: 10.1136/ bjsm.2007.043240. PMID: 18308884</u>.
- 17 Buzzacott P, Lambrechts K, Mazur A, Wang Q, Papadopoulou V, Theron M, et al. A ternary model of decompression sickness in rats. Comput Biol Med. 2014;55:74–8. <u>doi: 10.1016/j.</u> <u>compbiomed.2014.10.012</u>. <u>PMID: 25450221</u>.
- 18 Wang Q, Mazur A, Guerrero F, Lambrechts K, Buzzacott P, Belhomme M, et al. Antioxidants, endothelial dysfunction, and DCS: In vitro and in vivo study. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2015:119:1355–62. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00167.2015. PMID: 26472863.
- 19 Lambrechts K, Pontier JM, Mazur A, Theron M, Buzzacott P, Wang Q, et al. Mechanism of action of antiplatelet drugs on decompression sickness in rats: A protective effect of anti-GPIIbIIIa therapy. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2015;118:1234–9. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00125.2015. PMID: 25792711.

Acknowledgments

The authors sincerely thanks Michel Rafini for his kind and valuable help for English grammar corrections.

Conflicts of interest and funding

Nil conflicts of interest. This research was supported by the European Commission under the FP7-PEOPLE-2010-ITN program (grant agreement no. 264816).

Submitted: 30 October 2019 Accepted after revision: 12 April 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Case reports Arterial gas embolism breathing compressed air in 1.2 metres of water

Neil B Hampson¹, Richard E Moon²

¹ Virginia Mason Medical Center, Seattle, Washington, USA

² Duke University Medical Center, Durham, North Carolina, USA

Corresponding author: Dr Neil Hampson, Virginia Mason Medical Center H4-CHM, 1100 Ninth Avenue, Seattle WA 98101, USA

neil.hampson@gmail.com

Key words

Air embolism; Cerebral arterial gas embolism (CAGE); Diving; Pulmonary barotrauma

Abstract

(Hampson NB, Moon RE. Arterial gas embolism breathing compressed air in 1.2 metres of water. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):292–294. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.292-294. PMID: 32957133.) Arterial gas embolism (AGE) may result when diving while breathing compressed gas and ascending rapidly or with a closed glottis. Pulmonary over-pressurisation can result in lung stretch injury with entry of bubbles into the pulmonary venous circulation and subsequently the systemic arterial circulation. We present the case of an individual who suffered AGE while breathing compressed air at 1.2 metres' fresh water (mfw) in a swimming pool and discuss the factors determining the depth at which this form of injury may occur. This case serves to underscore the fact that risk of AGE exists at shallow depths.

Introduction

A recognised complication of diving while breathing compressed gas is pulmonary barotrauma.1 Pulmonary overpressurisation and barotrauma takes many forms, ranging from pulmonary interstitial, mediastinal or subcutaneous emphysema to pneumothorax and arterial gas embolism (AGE).² AGE is believed to result from disruption of the pulmonary venous circulation and entry of gas into the vasculature.1 Divers are often unaware of the depth at which such problems may occur, believing that limiting excursions to a relatively shallow depth removes all risk. The exact depth required for AGE to occur remains undefined. The purpose of this report is to present the case of an individual who developed AGE following a brief surface-supplied dive at 1.2 metres' fresh water (mfw) in the shallow area of a swimming pool. Additionally, we provide a discussion of the potential factors that contribute to the pathophysiology of pulmonary barotrauma (e.g., AGE) at shallow depths.

Case report

The patient was a 25-year old healthy, fit military aviator referred for treatment of AGE. On the day of his injury, he participated in a training exercise in a swimming pool. While wearing his flight suit, he first sat on the floor in the shallow area of the pool (120 cm water depth) and breathed compressed air for about one minute. The breathing gas was supplied by a compressor located on the pool deck which was connected by a hose to a regulator and then three additional feet of hose to his mouthpiece. When sitting on the bottom, the top of his head was just below the water's surface. This exercise was accomplished uneventfully. He then exited the pool and re-entered it, this time hanging upside down by his knees from the pool's edge, again breathing from his mouthpiece. He was head-down in this fashion for a total of approximately three minutes. To demonstrate how a regulator works, he was asked to move it vertically in the water, sensing less pressure when moved toward the surface and more pressure when it was moved deeper. He recalled moving the regulator to the bottom of the pool, disengaging his knees from the pool's edge and standing up. Total time in the water was estimated at four minutes. He felt entirely well during exit from the pool, then experienced the onset of vertigo while stowing his gear. This was associated with left temporal headache which progressed rapidly to bitemporal pain. He estimated onset of symptoms within five to ten minutes after exiting the pool. He was transported immediately to the base medical clinic where evaluation demonstrated "unsteady Romberg test and mild difficulty with finger-to-nose testing". High flow oxygen administration, intravenous fluids and 25-degree head-down positioning were initiated by the on-site medical staff, and the patient transported by ground to the emergency room of a hospital with a multiplace hyperbaric facility.

Upon arrival, history and physical examination were notable for complaints of headache over the top of his head self-rated at 7–8/10 and pressure in the left ear without evidence of otic barotrauma on examination, as well as "*positive Romberg testing with falling to the right*". With a working diagnosis of AGE, he was treated on a US Navy Treatment Table 6A with full extensions. Upon completion, headache was rated at 1/10, sensation of ear pressure improved and dizziness described as only slight. Neurological examination was normal. The patient had a very slight sensation of dizziness for 48 hours, then experienced resolution and felt entirely well.

One day prior to the event, he had participated in an aircraft decompression exercise. He began breathing 100% oxygen by face mask on the runway, flew to 15,000 feet altitude decompressed his aircraft to ambient, re-pressurized the aircraft to 8,000 feet, and ascended to 40,000 feet. He remained on oxygen throughout the flight and felt well afterward. The following morning, he awoke with the sensation of pressure in both ears, cleared them with a Valsalva manoeuvre and felt normal.

Subsequent evaluation included a normal chest radiograph and pulmonary function testing. The latter included plethysmographic measurement of lung volumes that demonstrated total lung capacity of 8.94 L (119% predicted), vital capacity 7.10 L (120% predicted), residual volume 1.85 L (105% predicted) and normal airways resistance. Other measurements included the distance from the patient's knees to his mouth (81 cm), pool deck to the surface of the water (20 cm) and pool deck to the bottom of the pool (140 cm).

Discussion

This individual is believed to have suffered cerebral AGE while surface-supplied diving at a depth of 1.2 mfw. The diagnosis is supported by his history, temporal onset of symptoms after emerging from the water, physical examination findings and response to recompression therapy. Other diagnoses to consider in the diver with acute neurological symptoms and signs can be effectively excluded on clinical grounds in this case. This was not decompression sickness due to the brief duration and shallow nature of the diving exposure. Inner ear barotrauma could cause dizziness and imbalance but would not have been expected to respond to recompression therapy. A transient ischaemic attack due to a thromboembolic event would be extremely unlikely in a healthy, fit military aviator of this age and, again, would not temporally respond to hyperbaric oxygen treatment.

His case is remarkably similar to the one reported by Benton in 1996, also a military aviator who developed AGE while undergoing training in a swimming pool.³ In that case, the diver was limited in depth to one metre and was not inverted. He suffered multiple neurological symptoms immediately upon exiting he water, including upper extremity paraesthesias, subjective diplopia, and objective memory loss upon testing. He required repetitive hyperbaric treatment but eventually all symptoms and signs resolved. Subsequent pulmonary function testing and thoracic imaging were normal and he was cleared to return to flying. Whether lung rupture occurs during diving with compressed gas breathing depends upon several factors, including lung compliance, transpulmonary pressure and lung volume.⁴ Some small degree of pulmonary over-pressurisation can be accommodated by lung expansion, diaphragmatic inversion and compression of the heart and intrathoracic veins.⁵ Lung rupture occurs when pulmonary parenchyma is stretched beyond its limits and is subsequently torn by over-pressurisation.

In experiments involving decompression of dogs from 100–200 feet' seawater over 60–90 seconds with the trachea closed, the animals developed pulmonary interstitial emphysema and AGE when the intratracheal pressure reached a critical value of approximately 10.7 kPa (80 mmHg) or a transpulmonic (intratracheal minus intrapleural) pressure of 8.0–9.3 kPa (60–70 mmHg).⁶ In a classic 1961 article, two fresh human cadavers aged 47 and 64 years were demonstrated to develop pulmonary barotrauma when the lungs were pressurised to intratracheal pressures of 9.7 and 10.7 kPa (73 and 80 mmHg) while the thorax was unbound.²

What is required to achieve these pressures while diving? If the intra-alveolar pressure were 0 mmHg and the respiratory system compliance 0 ml·mmHg⁻¹ at total lung capacity (TLC), this pressure could be achieved at sea level by adding one-tenth of an atmosphere absolute (10.1 kPa [76 mmHg]) to the system, an equivalent depth underwater of one metre. As such, this is the depth commonly proposed as the lower limit at which AGE can occur.^{1,4,7}

However, during breath holding with closed glottis at TLC, intra-alveolar pressure is already elevated due to elastic recoil of the lungs and chest wall. When measured in 14 subjects, the average intra-airway pressure was 2.8 kPa (21 mmHg) above ambient pressure at TLC.⁸ The same measurement was made in a group of ten healthy young adults and an average of approximately 4.3 kPa (32 mmHg) was seen.⁹ If pressure was the only determinant of pulmonary rupture, these data suggest it may be possible for AGE to occur at a minimal depth; even less than one metre in the case of a diver who ascends with full inspiration and closed glottis.

The volume of gas necessary to consistently cause demonstrable lung stretch injury has been assessed in a group of breath-hold divers. Evidence was found of pulmonary barotrauma (mediastinal emphysema on computerised tomography) in each of five divers proficient at adding gas volume to their vital capacity (VC) through gastroesophageal insufflation (GI).¹⁰ Prior to imaging they used GI to add an average of 1,400 ml (26%) to their VC. As the VC represents approximately 80% of TLC, it is apparent that a 20% increase in TLC (0.8 x 26%) may be sufficient to cause lung stretch injury, suggesting a maximal depth limit of two meters for predictable lung injury to occur.

These calculations assume that the lung is a homogeneous structure with uniform compliance throughout. However, studies of regional ventilation show significant heterogeneity which most likely indicates variability in lung compliance and airway resistance.¹¹ Such heterogeneity could be caused by prior local infection or exposure to external irritants or toxins. There are instances of similar changes in transpulmonary pressure causing AGE, often in individuals with pre-existing lung pathology and changing altitude.¹²

In this case, the diver was breathing from the regulator while inverted and head-down with his head near the bottom of the pool. Although he recalls moving the regulator to the pool floor before surfacing, it is not known whether he inspired to TLC prior to disengaging his knees from the pool edge and standing up. If he did, it is possible that immediately before surfacing his lungs were 'pre-stretched' due to increased airway pressure resulting from elastic recoil, as well as a positive static lung load resulting from his regulator being situated at a deeper depth than his lungs.

In summary, the depth at which a diver breathing compressed gas is at risk for pulmonary barotrauma is somewhat individual and not simply based upon intrapulmonary pressure. It also depends upon the degree of inspiration prior to breath-hold ascent, as well as heterogeneity of the lung and how comparable a healthy diver's lung tissues are to those of canine models and middle-aged cadavers. Under certain circumstances, the minimum depth at which there is the possibility of pulmonary barotrauma resulting in AGE may even be less than the one metre quoted.

References

- Neuman TS. Arterial gas embolism and pulmonary barotrauma. In: Brubakk AO, Neuman TS, editors. Bennett and Elliot's physiology and medicine of diving. 5th ed. London: Saunders Elsevier Science; 2003. p. 557–77.
- 2 Malhotra MS, Wright HC. The effects of a raised intrapulmonary pressure in the lungs of fresh unchilled cadavers. J Pathol Bacteriol. 1961;82:198–202. doi: 10.1002/ path.1700820126. PMID: 13765778.
- 3 Benton PJ, Woodfine JD, Westwood PR. Arterial gas embolism following a 1-meter ascent during helicopter escape training:

A case report. Aviat Space Environ Med. 1996;67:63–4. PMID: 8929206.

- 4 Brown SD, Piantadosi CA. Diving medicine and near drowning. In: Hall JP, Schmidt GA, Wood LDH, editors. Principles of critical care. New York (NY): McGraw-Hill; 1992.
- 5 Lindholm P, Nyrén S. Studies on inspiratory and expiratory glossopharyngeal breathing in breath-hold divers employing magnetic resonance imaging and spirometry. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2005;94:646–51. <u>doi: 10.1007/s00421-005-1358-8</u>. PMID: 15942772.
- 6 Schaefer KE, McNulty Jr WP, Carey C, Liebow AA. Mechanisms in the development of interstitial emphysema and air embolism on decompression from depth. J Appl Physiol. 1946;13:15–29.
- 7 Foster JH. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy: Contraindications and complications. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1992;50:1081–6. doi: 10.1016/0278-2391(92)90495-1. PMID: 1356147.
- 8 Rahn H, Otis AB, Chadwick AB, Fenn WO. The pressurevolume diagram of the thorax and lung. Am J Physiol. 1946;146:161–78.
- 9 Colebatch HJH, Greaves IA, Ng CKY. Exponential analysis of elastic recoil and aging in healthy males and females. J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol. 1979;47:683–91. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1979.47.4.683. PMID: 511674.
- 10 Chung SCS, Seccombe LM, Jenkins CR, Frater CJ, Ridley LJ, Peters MJ. Glossopharyngeal insufflation causes lung injury in trained breath-hold divers. Respirology. 2010;15:813–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1843.2010.01791.x. PMID: 20546194.
- 11 He M, Driehuys B, Que LG, Huang Y-CT. Using hyperpolarized ¹²⁹Xe MRI to quantify the pulmonary ventilation distribution. Acta Radiol. 2016;23:1521–31. doi: <u>10.1016/j.acra.2016.07.014</u>. <u>PMID: 27617823</u>. <u>PMCID:</u> <u>PMC5411263</u>.
- 12 Weenink RP, Hollman MW, van Hulst RA. Acute neurological symptoms during hypobaric exposure: Consider cerebral air embolism. Aviat Space Environ Med. 2012;83:1084–91. doi: 10.3357/asem.3254.2012. PMID: 23156097.

Conflicts of interest and funding: nil

Submitted: 07 April 2020 Accepted after revision: 02 May 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Dysbaric osteonecrosis in technical divers: The new 'at-risk' group?

Brendan Coleman¹, F Michael Davis²

¹ Auckland Orthopaedic Practice, Auckland 1543, New Zealand

² Department of Anaesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

Corresponding author: Dr Brendan Coleman, Auckland Orthopaedic Practice, PO Box 74 446, Auckland 1543, New Zealand <u>brendan@aopractice.co.nz</u>

Key words

Dysbaric osteonecrosis; Technical diving; Decompression sickness; Deep diving; Radiological imaging; Orthopaedics; Case reports

Abstract

(Coleman B, Davis FM. Dysbaric osteonecrosis in technical divers: The new 'at-risk' group? Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):295–299. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.295-299. PMID: 32957134.)

Introduction: Dysbaric osteonecrosis (DON) in people working under increased atmospheric pressure is well documented. It is generally less common in military and commercial divers than in caisson workers, except in some high-risk groups, such as in many indigenous diving industries where workers have little or no understanding of decompression principles. With the increasing popularity within the recreational diving community of deep air and mixed-gas decompression diving ('technical diving'), it is likely that diving physicians may see an increase in the prevalence of DON in this group in the future. **Methods:** The case report is presented of a technical diving instructor, with a 30-year history of deep diving, who developed bilateral humeral head DON and required a right shoulder hemi-arthroplasty. A focused literature search was also undertaken to identify published cases of DON in recreational divers.

Results: The frequency, duration and depth of exposure to pressure, inadequate decompression, the occurrence of DCS and increasing age have been common features associated with DON in both divers and caisson workers. Many of these features were present in this technical diver.

Conclusions: Whilst DON is uncommon in recreational air scuba divers, all the above risk factors are present to a greater degree in technical diving. It is suggested that medical review for DON is merited from time to time in this potentially high-risk group of recreational divers.

Introduction

Aseptic bone necrosis (AVN) is the final common pathway of various conditions leading to bone death,¹ most commonly long-term, high-dose steroid use and alcoholism. Other contributing conditions include pancreatitis, lupus, sickle cell disease, Gaucher's disease, radiotherapy, trauma, pregnancy and thrombotic conditions.^{1,2} A recent review paper discusses the diagnosis and staging of AVN of the femoral head.3 AVN in caisson workers and divers, termed dysbaric osteonecrosis (DON), is well documented. In the 1970s, the Medical Research Council (MRC) Decompression Sickness Panel reported an incidence of 19% in caisson workers and reported a link to decompression sickness (DCS).^{4,5} It is reported to be less common in military⁶ and commercial divers^{7,8} except in some high-risk groups⁹ and those with little or no understanding of decompression principles.¹⁰ Readers are referred to a useful review of DON in professional divers.¹¹ Lesions may be either juxtaarticular (Type A, Table 1) or in the shaft of long bones (Type B), the former being far more likely to produce symptoms.

DON is considered rare in recreational divers, though individual cases have been reported.^{12–15} With the increasing popularity within the recreational diving community of deep mixed-gas decompression diving ('technical diving'), it is likely that diving physicians may see an increase in the prevalence of DON in this group in the future because of the nature of their diving activities. For this reason, we present an illustrative case of a technical diving instructor with DON and briefly review the relevant literature.

Literature review

PubMed, the Rubicon Foundation Research Repository (http://archive.rubicon-foundation.org/xmlui/), the complete collection of the South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society Journal and Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine journal and major textbooks on diving medicine were searched using the terms avascular necrosis, dysbaric osteonecrosis, and caisson disease and in combination with the terms diving, decompression sickness, scuba and technical diving. Further articles of potential interest from reference lists were also reviewed. The intention was not to perform a comprehensive

Lesion	Subtype	Comments	
A type lesions Juxta-articular	A1 Dense area with intact articular cortex	Prevalence of A lesions: Tunnellers and saturation divers Femur > Humerus	
	A2 Spherical opacities		
	A3 Linear opacities		
	A4 Structural failures		
	- Translucent subcortical bands		
	- Collapse of articular cortex		
	- Sequestration of cortex*	Other divers	
	A5 Secondary degenerative osteoarthritis	Humerus > Femur	
B type lesions Shaft	B1 Dense areas		
	B2 Irregular calcified areas	n/a	
	B3 Translucent and cystic areas		

 Table 1

 Classification of dysbaric osteonecrosis lesions (after the United Kingdon Medical Research Council). * = classification of the present case

literature search, but to focus on published evidence relevant to recreational and technical diving.

Case report

A man in his 40s had been actively involved in recreational diving since 1991. He qualified as a dive instructor in 1994, teaching a mix of recreational and technical scuba diving around the world, doing 200 or more hours a year in the water. During this period, technical mixed gas diving took up about a quarter of his diving hours, but no detailed records of his diving were kept. Between 2010 and 2018, he recorded on his annual medical questionnaires over 1,800 dives of which 80% were to depths greater than 30 metres' sea water (msw) and over 1,500 were on mixed gas/trimix using closed-circuit rebreathers.

In 2002, he did a wreck dive to 115 msw using trimix, followed by a gas switch to air at 30 msw during the ascent. At the 9 msw decompression stop, he developed severe vertigo which persisted post dive. Audiometry was normal. A diagnosis of inner-ear decompression sickness (DCS) was made and he underwent a RNZN heliox Table 1A (similar to a Comex 30 treatment table) with a good response. Following two further short hyperbaric oxygen treatments he was symptom-free. Two years later in 2004, he dived on the same wreck to a depth of 120 msw. Again, a gas switch to air was made, this time at 40 msw. On reaching the 15 msw stop, he developed severe vertigo, vomiting and tinnitus. Because symptoms had improved at 6 msw after switching to 100% oxygen, he did not present for assessment until the following day when examination revealed a fine right nystagmus, very poor sharpened Romberg test and a 70 dB hearing loss at 8 KHz in the right ear. The diagnostic difficulty of differentiating between inner-ear DCS and barotrauma necessitated a cautious approach to recompression on a Royal Navy Treatment Table 62; however, his symptoms responded well. Again, after two further short hyperbaric oxygen treatments, he was symptom-free.

In 2011, aged 42 years, he developed pain in the left shoulder. Given his diving history, he underwent a long-bone X-ray survey which showed "a localised lucency in the left humeral head with a surrounding sclerotic rim, the right shoulder was normal in appearance and there were faint, slightly serpiginous-appearing sclerotic lesions in the proximal left and distal right femoral shafts." In 2013, he was seen by an orthopaedic surgeon (BC) for assessment of the left shoulder lesion, which was managed conservatively at that time. No other risk factors for DON other than diving were identified.

In late 2018, now 49-years old, he presented following minor trauma to his right shoulder, with significant pain and limitation of movement associated with crepitus. Plain X-ray (Figure 1) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Figure 2) of the right shoulder showed a juxta-articular DON lesion of the humeral head measuring 8 mm by 24 mm with fragmentation of the articular surface and disruption of the articular cartilage. Given his symptoms were impeding his ability to work, he proceeded to surgery, at which time the articular surface of the right humerus had a 25 mm by 20 mm unstable osteochondral fragment in the central head. A right shoulder pyrocarbon hemiarthroplasty of the humeral head was inserted.

Recovery was uneventful with steady return of strength and range of motion such that he was cleared to return to work as a diving instructor four months post-operatively. For the hemiarthroplasty, there is little increased risk of aseptic loosening above what is already expected for patients under the age of 55. These patients have approximately double the failure rate of over 55-year olds.¹⁶ The prognosis for the opposite shoulder is for gradual deterioration in symptoms over time due to the presence of DON in the humeral head with subchondral fracturing and collapse of the joint surface. This will eventually lead to arthritis or displacement of the fragmentation of the osteonecrotic segment, resulting in arthroplasty when the symptoms warrant.

Figure 1

Plain X-ray of the right shoulder of a recreational and technical diving instructor showing an avascular lesion of the humeral head



Discussion

AVN secondary to DCS was first noted in the late nineteenth century, culminating in work such as that of the MRC Decompression Sickness Panel in the 1960s and 1970s,^{4,5,7} and later studies in China¹⁷ and elsewhere. A high incidence of DON has been confirmed in high-risk diving groups such as long-term Japanese commercial divers,9 and Hawaii's diving fishermen.¹⁰ The United Kingdom DCS Central Registry and Radiological Panel determined that the risk of DON in caisson workers and commercial divers was directly related to the degree of pressure and the number of exposures,^{5,7} whilst in Japanese commercial divers, diving exposure over 17-25 years was associated with DON, particularly in those diving to 35 msw or deeper and where there was a history of DCS.9 In the majority of reports, juxta-articular lesions appear to be more common in the humeral head than in the femoral head of divers,^{7,8} though this was not so in one study of 450 'hard-hat' Japanese divers in which the distribution was similar for both sites.⁹ The prevalence of DON in divers in these various studies shows widely differing rates.

Thus, the frequency, duration and (deeper) depth of pressure exposure, inadequate decompression, the occurrence of DCS (and possibly delayed recompression) and increasing age have been common features associated with DON in both divers and caisson workers.^{4–9,17} Whether age is, in fact, an independent risk factor or secondary to the length of the pressurisation/diving career is debatable. Although inert gas embolism is thought to be a mechanism linked to DON,¹⁸ there is no clear evidence of a cause-and-effect relationship,^{19,20} this more likely being a gradual process over many dives. Other mechanisms, such as a hypercoagulable

Figure 2

Coronal t2-weighted magnetic resonance image of the right shoulder of a recreational and technical diving instructor showing an avascular lesion of the humeral head



state and fat emboli, also may be involved.²¹ No certain aetiology for DON has been established.

DON is uncommon in typical recreational diving. The first report of dysbaric osteonecrosis lesions in sports divers was in an Australian study of 110 navy, professional and sport divers.²² There were three lesions (one juxta-articular) in the 19 sport divers in the study. In the single cases reported,¹²⁻¹⁵ in one,¹⁵ subsequent enquiry from the author (Laden G, personal communication, 2019) revealed that this diver was a technical diver with several hundred deep and mixed-gas dives; in another,13 the diver had performed 190 dives over six years, over 100 having been to depths greater than 30 msw. By contrast, in a third,¹² only no-decompression air diving had been undertaken, mostly to less than 18 msw. None had had symptoms suggesting DCS. Nevertheless, single events of DCS, especially if there was a delay to recompression treatment, appear to be associated with an increased risk of DON even in recreational divers.23,24

In a long-bone survey of 56 Turkish dive instructors each of whom had performed in excess of 500 dives, DON lesions were detected in 14, with only one juxta-articular lesion in the humeral head.²⁵ On univariate analysis of a wide range of factors, only increasing age was associated with DON and this, in itself, was correlated with diving experience and the total numbers of dives performed.

For occupational divers, long bone surveys are "*optional* and as medically indicated" in most jurisdictions.²⁶ In the Australian/New Zealand Standard,²⁷ juxta-articular DON is not considered to be a contraindication to continued diving. Under these regulations, this dive instructor with known DON was cleared to dive following the condition and risks associated with continued diving having been fully discussed and understood, and a document signed by the diver to that effect.

Several features of the present case – many years of deep and decompression diving resulting in a higher likelihood of DCS and the possible role of gas switches in inducing a gas phase in sensitive tissues such as the inner ear²⁸ or bone – illustrate why technical divers are more likely to be at risk of DON than the average recreational diver. Therefore, we believe that recreational technical divers need greater regular medical screening than open-circuit air scuba divers. Early radiological referral in the presence of joint symptoms which might suggest a juxta-articular DON lesion is warranted, as in this case.

Reporting an amateur scuba diver who developed DON, the authors state "avascular bone necrosis ... may lead to joint dysfunction and lifelong disability".¹⁵ Modern orthopaedic surgery for shoulder and hip joint pathology now allows a range of treatment options, including hemi- and total arthroplasty for patients with juxta-articular DON.²⁹ Joint preserving surgery for osteonecrosis of the shoulder includes core decompression, bone grafting or autologous bone marrow grafting. Core decompression can be effective in early stages of the disease when there is no collapse of the humeral head but is less effective once the humeral head shows signs of collapse.³⁰ Bone grafting, either simple autologous grafting, strut bone graft or vascularised bone graft are complex procedures with increased morbidity and variable results.^{31,32} It remains unclear as to the most effective joint sparing treatment of osteonecrosis. The natural history of conservatively treated advanced osteonecrosis of the humeral head is poor. Once the condition results in structural damage (equivalent of stage A4, Table 1), almost half will require shoulder arthroplasty.33

Hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) has been reported in several studies to show long-term benefit for early (equivalent to stages A1–A3; Table 1) femoral head AVN. In one double-blind, randomised study of 20 patients, the HBOT group showed a significant reduction in pain at the end of 30 treatments (P < 0.001) compared with the sham air group who were then offered HBOT, which they all accepted.³⁴ At seven years' follow up of 17 of the 20, "all patients remained substantially pain-free … with none requiring hip arthroplasty. Substantial radiographic healing … was observed in seven of nine hips [on MRI]."³⁴

The medicolegal aspects of DON in working divers in the Tasmanian fish farming and abalone industries were discussed at a conference in Hobart in 1988 with reference to a new Workers' Compensation Act that came into force that year in Australia.³⁵ This Act recognised DON in Schedule 4 as "*compressed air illness including avascular necrosis* caused by any work involving exposure to increased or reduced atmospheric pressure from working underground or underwater or from working at high altitudes". Similarly, this diving instructor's DON was approved for treatment under the Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC) in New Zealand. Whether the ACC would recognise DON in a recreational diver who was not an 'employed' diver remains a moot point.

References

- Fondi C, Franchi A. Definition of bone necrosis by the pathologist. Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab. 2007;4:21–26. <u>PMID: 22460748</u>. <u>PMCID: PMC2781178</u>.
- 2 Goodman SG. Osteonecrosis (ON). MSD Manual Professional Version; 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.msdmanuals.com/en-in/home/bone,-joint,-and-muscle-disorders/osteonecrosis/osteonecrosis</u>. [cited 2019 December 12].
- 3 Choi H-R, Steinberg ME, Cheng EY. Osteonecrosis of the femoral head: diagnosis and classification systems. Curr Rev Muskuloskelet Med. 2015;8:210–20. doi: 10.1007/s12178-015-9278-7. PMID: 26088795. PMCID: PMC4596207.
- 4 McCallum RI, Walder DN. Bone lesions in compressed air workers, with special reference to men who worked on the Clyde Tunnel 1958 to 1963. Report of Decompression Sickness Panel Medical Research Council. J Bone Joint Surg. 1966;48B:207–35.
- 5 Decompression Sickness Panel (Medical Research Council). Decompression sickness and aseptic necrosis of bone. Investigation carried out during and after the construction of the Tyne Road Tunnel (1962–1966). Br J Indust Med. 1971;28:1–21.
- 6 Hunter WL, Biersner RJ, Sphar RL, Harvey CA. Aseptic bone necrosis among U.S. Navy divers: survey of 934 nonrandomly selected personnel. NSMRL Report number 854. Groton (CT): Submarine Medical Research Laboratory; 1978. Available from: <u>https://apps.dtic.mil/dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/a058915.pdf</u>. [cited 2019 November 11].
- 7 Aseptic bone necrosis in commercial divers. Lancet. 1981;2:384–8. <u>PMID: 6115158</u>.
- 8 Yangsheng T, Anquan Y, Weimin L, Jingxi Q. Investigation and analysis of dysbaric osteonecrosis in 171 divers. J Hyperb Med. 1992;7:123–6. Available from: <u>http://archive.rubicon-foundation.org/4480</u>. [cited 2019 December 16].
- 9 Kawashima M. Aseptic bone necrosis in Japanese divers. Bull Tokyo Med Dent Univ. 1976;23:71–92.
- 10 Wade CE, Hayashi EM, Cashman TM Jr, Beckman EL. Incidence of dysbaric osteonecrosis in Hawaii's diving fishermen. Undersea Biomed Res. 1978;5:137–47. <u>PMID:</u> <u>675879</u>. Available from: <u>http://archive.rubicon-foundation.</u> <u>org/2705</u>. [cited 2019 December 16].
- 11 Uguen M, Pougnet R, Uguen A, Loddé B, Dewitte JD. Dysbaric osteonecrosis among professional divers: A literature review. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2014;41:581–9. <u>PMID:</u> 25562949.
- Edmonds C, Harvey R, Randle R. Dysbaric osteonecrosis divers bone rot: A case report. SPUMS Journal. 1997;27:122– 5. Available from: <u>http://archive.rubicon-foundation.org/6071</u>. [cited 2019 December 16].
- 13 Wilmshurst P, Ross K. Dysbaric osteonecrosis of the shoulder in a sport scuba diver. Br J Sports Med. 1998;32:344–5. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.32.4.344. PMID: 9865412. PMCID: PMC1756113.

- 14 Wong R, Wright D. Aseptic bone necrosis as a diagnostic puzzle. SPUMS Journal. 2001;31:135–8. Available from: http://archive.rubicon-foundation.org/7732. [cited 2019 December 16].
- 15 Laden GDM, Grout P. Aseptic bone necrosis in an amateur scuba diver. Br J Sports Med. 2004;38:E19. doi: 10.1136/ bsjm.2002.003129. PMID: 15388563. PMCID: PMC1724939.
- 16 NZ Joint Registry Annual Report 2019. Available from: https:// nzoa.org.nz/system/files/DH8328_NZJR_2019_Report_ v4_7Nov19.pdf. [cited 2019 December 16].
- 17 Zhang L-D, Kang J-F, Xue H-L. Distribution of lesions in the head and neck of the humerus and the femur in dysbaric osteonecrosis. Undersea Biomed Res. 1990;17:353–8. <u>PMID:</u> <u>2396333</u>. Available from: <u>http://archive.rubicon-foundation.org/2570</u>. [cited 2019 December 16].
- 18 Chryssanthou CP. Dysbaric osteonecrosis. Etiological and pathogenetic concepts. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1978;(130):94–106. PMID: 639412.
- 19 Coulthard A, Pooley J, Reed J, Walder D. Pathophysiology of dysbaric osteonecrosis: A magnetic resonance imaging study. Undersea Hyperb Med. 1996;119:119–20. <u>PMID: 8840481</u>.
- 20 Kenney IJ, Sonksen C. Dysbaric osteonecrosis in recreational divers: A study using magnetic resonance imaging. Undersea Hyperb Med. 2010;37:281–8. <u>PMID: 20929185</u>.
- 21 Miyanishi K, Kamo Y, Ihara H, Naka T, Hirakawa M, Sugioka Y. Risk factors for dysbaric osteonecrosis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2006;45:855–8. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kel013. PMID: 16436490.
- 22 Williams B, Unsworth I. Skeletal changes in divers. Aust Radiol. 1976;20:83–94. <u>PMID: 962757</u>.
- 23 Gempp E, Blatteau JE, Simon O, Stephant E. Musculoskeletal decompression sickness and risk of dysbaric osteonecrosis in recreational divers. Diving Hyperb Med. 2009;39:200–4. Available from: <u>https://www.dhmjournal.com/images/ Journals/39/DHM_Vol39_No4.pdf</u>. [cited 2019 December 16].
- 24 Gempp E, Louge P, de Maistre S. Predictive factors of dysbaric osteonecrosis following musculoskeletal decompression sickness in recreational SCUBA divers. Joint Bone Spine. 2016;83:357–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2015.03.010. PMID: 26454506.
- 25 Cimsit M, Ilgezdi S, Cimsit C, Uzun G. Dysbaric osteonecrosis in experienced dive masters and instructors. Aviat Space Environ Med. 2007;78:1150–4. <u>doi: 10.3357/asem.2109.2007</u>. <u>PMID: 18064920</u>.
- 26 Association of Diving Contractors International. International consensus standards for commercial diving and underwater operations. 6.2 ed. Houston TX: ADC International; 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.adc-int.org/files/C12181</u><u>International%20Concensus%20Standards.pdf</u>. [cited 2020 March 26].
- 27 Joint Technical Committee SF-017, Occupational Diving.

Australian/New Zealand Standard. Occupational diving operations Part 1: Standard operational practice AS/NZS 2299.1;2015. Purchasable from: https://shop.standards.govt.nz/catalog/2299.1:2015(AS%7CNZS)/scope. [cited 2020 March 27].

- 28 Doolette DJ, Mitchell SJ. Biophysical basis for inner ear decompression sickness. J Appl Physiol (1985).
 2003;94:2145-50. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01090.2002.
 <u>PMID: 12562679</u>.
- 29 Sarris I, Weiser R, Sotereanos DG. Pathogenesis and treatment of osteonecrosis of the shoulder. Orthop Clin North Am. 2004;35:397–404. <u>doi: 10.1016/j.ocl.2004.03.004</u>. <u>PMID:</u> 15271548.
- 30 Harreld KL, Marulanda GA, Ulrich SD, Marker DR, Seyler TM, Mont MA. Small-diameter percutaneous decompression for osteonecrosis of the shoulder. Am J Orthop. 2009;38:348– 54. PMID: 19714276.
- 31 Galloway MR, Horodyski M, Wright TW. Arthroscopically assisted fibular strut allograft for treatment of osteonecrosis of proximal humerus. J Surg Orthop Adv. 2013;22:277–82. doi: 10.3113/jsoa.2013.0277. PMID: 24393185.
- 32 Makihara T, Yoshioka T, Sugaya H, Yamazaki M, Mishima H. Autologous concentrated bone marrow grafting for the treatment of osteonecrosis of the humeral head: A report of five shoulders in four cases. Case Rep Orthop. 2017;2017:4898057. doi: 10.1155/2017/4898057. PMID: 28713606. PMCID: PMC5496114.
- 33 Hattrup SJ, Cofield RH. Osteonecrosis of the humeral head: relationship of disease stage, extent, and cause to natural history. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 1999;8:559–64. doi: 10.1016/ s1058-2746(99)90089-7. PMID: 10633888.
- 34 Camporesi EM, Vezzani G, Bosco G, Mangar D, Bernasek TL. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy in femoral head necrosis. J Arthroplasty. 2010;25(6 Suppl):118–23. doi: 10.1016/j. arth.2010.05.005. PMID: 20637561.
- 35 Mills A. Medicolegal aspects of avascular necrosis in divers. SPUMS Journal. 1989;19:181–4.

Acknowledgements

We thank the patient for permission to report his professional and clinical histories and radiological images.

Conflicts of interest and funding: nil

Submitted: 11 February 2020 Accepted after revision: 09 May 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Cerebral arterial gas embolism proven by computed tomography following transthoracic echocardiography using bubble contrast

Neil DG Banham¹, Jacqui Saw², Graeme J Hankey^{3,4}, Darshan Ghia^{2,4}

¹ Hyperbaric Medicine Unit, Fiona Stanley Hospital, Perth, Western Australia

² Department of Neurology, Fiona Stanley Hospital, Perth, Western Australia

³ Department of Neurology, Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital, Perth, Western Australia

⁴ Medical School, University of Western Australia, Perth, Western Australia

Corresponding author: Neil DG Banham, Director, Hyperbaric Medicine Unit, Fiona Stanley Hospital, Perth, Western Australia neil.banham@health.wa.gov.au

Key words

Central nervous system; Stroke; Doppler; Persistent (patent) foramen ovale (PFO); Radiological imaging; Hyperbaric oxygen treatment; Case reports

Abstract

(Banham NDG, Saw J, Hankey GJ, Ghia D. Cerebral arterial gas embolism proven by computed tomography following transthoracic echocardiography using bubble contrast. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):300–302. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.300-302. PMID: 32957135.)

A 75 year-old male developed features of an acute stroke following bubble contrast echocardiography, which was shown on emergent computed tomography scanning to be a result of cerebral arterial gas embolism (CAGE) to the left middle cerebral artery. Ischaemic stroke symptoms have previously been reported as a rare complication of bubble contrast echocardiography. Radiologically proven CAGE from bubble contrast echocardiography had not been reported at the time this case occurred. Immediate provision of 100% oxygen and administration of hyperbaric oxygen are recommended treatments for CAGE and were associated with a substantial recovery for this patient.

Introduction

Bubble contrast echocardiography (BCE) is a common investigation performed to determine the presence of a persistent (patent) foramen ovale (PFO) in patients with cryptogenic stroke, decompression sickness (cutaneous, neurological and inner ear) and platypnoea-orthodeoxia syndrome.¹ Complications are rare, and radiologically proven cerebral arterial gas embolism (CAGE) from BCE had not been reported at the time this case occurred.

Case report

In January 2016, a 75-year-old male developed sudden onset right hemiparesis, dysarthria and dysphasia 50 minutes after a transthoracic echocardiogram (TTE) study using agitated saline contrast. The procedure had been requested by his general practitioner to investigate a small symptomatic right frontal cortical infarct. The procedure was performed as per the usual protocol in a private cardiology testing practice which had performed this procedure many thousands of times without incident over more than 30 years. Intravenous access in this case was via a vein on the dorsum of the hand rather than the antecubital fossa. The BCE confirmed a persistent (patent) foramen ovale (PFO), with trivial bubbles at rest (1–2 per frame) and minor shunting (~20 bubbles) post Valsalva release. Only four injections were administered via a 3-way tap with a total of 2 ml of air agitated into saline.

Approximately 50 minutes post procedure, the patient stood up while being connected to Holter monitoring and immediately became aphasic with right-sided weakness. An urgent computed tomography (CT) scan of the brain was performed at Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital, a nearby tertiary stroke referral centre, which demonstrated intravascular gas along the length of his left middle cerebral artery (MCA) as well as its cortical branches (Figure 1). His initial NIH Stroke scale was 18 and he had a modified Rankin score of 4. He was transferred to Fiona Stanley Hospital (FSH) for emergency hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) according to a US Navy Table 6 which was commenced within 4.5 hours of symptom onset. A repeat CT brain and CT angiogram an hour post HBOT showed resolution of air emboli with interval loss of the grey white differentiation in the left MCA territory in keeping with developing infarction. He continued to have some residual speech impairment and motor weakness.

The patient sustained moderate aural barotrauma during his first session of HBOT and hence bilateral myingotomies and grommet insertions were performed. Following this he received a further eight sessions of HBOT until there was a plateau of symptom recovery.

Figure 1

Non-contrast CT head (axial and coronal views) demonstrating extensive gas in the left MCA vessels consistent with air embolism



Following an inpatient stay in the acute stroke unit the patient was discharged to rehabilitation and recovered aside from mild language deficits.

Discussion

CAGE is an uncommon and probably under-recognised complication of invasive medical procedures. Although ischaemic neurological events have been reported post BCE, none of these cases demonstrated intravascular air on imaging.^{2,3} It is well recognised that not all cases of CAGE show gas on brain imaging.^{4,5}

Although microbubbles entering the arterial circulation almost inevitably pass to the cerebral circulation during BCE, they rarely cause symptoms because of their small size. This contrasts with the likely growth of similar sized arterial bubbles entering tissues supersaturated with inert gas in recently surfaced divers.⁶ In this case, it is possible that usually harmless microbubbles generated in preparation of bubble contrast may have coalesced into a large bubble in forearm veins post-procedure and migrated to the central circulation, across the PFO and then to the brain when the patient stood up; possibly augmented by upper limb muscle contraction when used to assist this change in position. Presumably, aggregation of microbubbles is less likely to occur if the injection is into a proximal (antecubital) vein, which is not always accessible. This aggregation and sequestration of microbubbles, with fewer therefore available to proceed centrally and be seen during the BCE study itself, suggests that the PFO was actually larger than the contrast echocardiogram demonstrated.

Improved clinical outcomes after CAGE may correlate with reduced time to HBOT.⁷⁻⁹ This patient had some delay to HBOT as ambulance transfers were required; initially to Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital, and then (when CAGE was diagnosed as the cause of his acute stroke) to Fiona Stanley Hospital, the only centre providing HBOT in Western Australia.

This case was initially presented at the World Stroke Congress in 2016 and published as an abstract in the related Proceedings.¹⁰ Since that time a further case has been reported; that of an 89 year old woman who had a large right-sided CT-proven CAGE with symptom onset 20 minutes post procedure. This patient succumbed to her illness the day after without active treatment. HBOT was not administered.¹¹ The role of investigation for PFO in cryptogenic stroke in patients over 60 years of age is still to be defined.¹²

Current CAGE treatment guidelines recommend immediate cessation of further entry of gas, 100% oxygen and appropriate resuscitation of the patient as CAGE can lead to haemodynamic instability and cardiac arrest.⁴ Early HBOT should be provided in a centre equipped to manage potentially unstable patients.

Conclusion

Iatrogenic CAGE causing stroke is a very rare complication of BCE. It should be considered where there is onset of neurological symptoms following this procedure, or any other where the possibility of introduction of intravascular gas exists. Emergent HBOT is indicated.

References

- Jasper R, Blankenship JC. Patent foramen ovale closure to prevent secondary neurological events. Eur J Intern Med. 2017;44:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2017.06.015. PMID: 28684051.
- 2 Romero JR, Frey JL, Schwamm LH, Demaerschalk BM, Chaliki HP, Parikh G, et al. Cerebral ischemic events associated with 'bubble study' for identification of right to left shunts. Stroke. 2009;40:2343–8. doi: 10.1161/ STROKEAHA.109.549683. PMID: 19498192.
- 3 Loncar G, Payot L, Dubois M. TIA caused by contrast echocardiography in patient with platypnea-orthodeoxia. Echocardiography. 2015;32:1585–7. doi: 10.1111/echo.12970. PMID: 26108337.
- 4 Bothma P. National Air/Gas Embolism Guideline. J Intensive Care Soc. 2019;20(2S):161.
- 5 Moon RE. Gas embolism. In: Oriani G, Marroni A, Wattel F, editors. Handbook on hyperbaric medicine. Milan: Springer; 1996. p. 229–48.
- 6 Mitchell SJ. DCS or DCI? The difference and why it matters. Diving Hyperb Med. 2019;49:152–3. <u>doi: 10.28920/</u> <u>dhm49.3.152-153</u>. <u>PMID: 31523788</u>. <u>PMCID: PMC6881199</u>.
- 7 Blanc P, Boussuges A, Henriette K, Sainty JM, Deleflie M. Iatrogenic cerebral air embolism: Importance of an early hyperbaric oxygenation. Intensive Care Med. 2002;28:559–63. doi: 10.1007/s00134-002-1255-0. PMID: 12029402.
- 8 Trytko BE, Bennett MH. Arterial gas embolism: A review of cases at Prince of Wales Hospital, Sydney, 1996-2006. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2008;36:60–4. doi: 10.1177/0310057X0803600110. PMID: 18326133.

- 9 Tekle WG, Adkinson CD, Chaudhry SA, Jadhav V, Hassan AE, Rodriguez GJ, et al. Factors associated with favorable response to hyperbaric oxygen therapy among patients presenting with iatrogenic cerebral arterial gas embolism. Neurocrit Care. 2012;18:228–33. doi: 10.1007/s12028-012-9683-3. PMID: 22396189.
- 10 Saw JL, Ghia D, Yau W, Graeme H. Cerebral arterial gas embolism (CAGE): an unexpected complication post transthoracic bubble study. Int J Stroke. 2016;11(3S):286.
- 11 Powers AY, Selvaraj V. Bubbles in the brain: A rare complication following transthoracic echocardiography. R I Med J. 2018;101:37–9. <u>PMID: 30068053</u>.
- 12 Thaler D. Patent foramen ovale in older patients with cryptogenic stroke or transient ischaemic attack. Lancet Neurol. 2018;17:573–4. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30198-<u>4. PMID: 29887163</u>.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the patient for permission to report this case and publish his CT images.

Conflicts of interest and funding: nil

Submitted: 02 January 2020 Accepted after revision: 21 May 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Hyperbaric oxygen treatment in a patient with Guillain-Barré syndrome receiving mechanical ventilation

Lisha Song¹, Baopeng Xing¹, Weimin Yang¹, Haifeng Li¹

¹ Department of Emergency, The First Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, Jilin, 130021, China

Corresponding author: Dr Haifeng Li, Department of Emergency, The First Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, Jilin, 130021, China <u>111558@hotmail.com</u>

Key words

Spinal cord injury; Neurology; Intensive care medicine; Case reports

Abstract

(Song L, Xing B, Yang W, Li H. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment in a patient with Guillain-Barré syndrome receiving mechanical ventilation. Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine. 2020 September 30;50(3):303–305. doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.303-305. PMID: 32957136.)

The mortality rate of patients with Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) who develop respiratory muscle paralysis and need mechanical ventilation is increased. Though an unestablished indication, hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) has been used to treat patients with mild GBS who do not have respiratory muscle paralysis. The use of HBOT in severe cases has not been reported. We present a patient with severe GBS who received HBOT while ventilated in a multiplace hyperbaric chamber. Three courses of HBOT (one session per day, 10 sessions per course) were administered with a 2-day rest period between each course. The HBOT protocol was 40 minutes at 220 kPa with 25 minutes of compression and decompression. Following weeks of gradual deterioration, motor function improved after the first HBOT sessions the patient's muscle strength was significantly improved. After 30 HBOT sessions, the patient had normal breathing and speech, and did not cough when eating. Upper limb muscle strength was graded as 4 on the Medical Research Council (MRC) scale, lower limb muscle strength was graded as MRC 3. The patient was successfully discharged. Mechanically ventilated GBS patients may benefit from HBOT but studies are required to separate spontaneous recovery rates from treatment benefit.

Introduction

Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) is a monophasic, autoimmune polyneuropathy causing demyelination of the spinal nerve roots and peripheral nerves. It is characterised by progressive symmetrical muscle weakness of acute or subacute onset; commonly precipitated by an infection.^{1,2} Patients with severe GBS may develop cranial nerve palsies, respiratory muscle paralysis, dysphagia, dysphonia and respiratory failure. There is no definitive therapy for GBS; while most patients have a favourable prognosis after active treatment, severe cases may die from respiratory muscle paralysis complicated by pneumonia. The use of hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT) in patients with severe GBS with respiratory muscle paralysis requiring mechanical ventilation has not been reported. We report a woman with severe ventilator-dependent GBS who received HBOT with contemporaneous improvement of her symptoms such that mechanical ventilation could be discontinued, and she could be discharged.

Case report

A 24-year-old female was hospitalised because of limb weakness and numbress for two months and difficulty

breathing for one month. The patient visited several hospitals without a diagnosis being made. Her symptoms had worsened, with muscle strength progressively decreasing, her voice becoming weak, onset of dysphagia and difficulty walking.

She initially presented to another local hospital where cerebrospinal fluid examination showed a protein of 0.59 g·L⁻¹ (normal range 0.15–0.45 g·L⁻¹), glucose of 3.85 mmol·L⁻¹ (normal range 2.8–4.5 mmol·L⁻¹), positive Pandy's reaction, white blood cell count of $2 \times 10^{6} \cdot L^{-1}$, and no red blood cells. After excluding other diseases, the patient was diagnosed with GBS and pneumonia, receiving a tracheotomy, mechanical ventilation and continuous intravenous infusion of gamma globulin for five days. She was also treated with hormone pulse therapy and administrated neurotrophic, anti-inflammatory and anti-tuberculosis medications. However, the patient's condition failed to improve, requiring continued mechanical ventilation from which she was unable to be weaned. After one month of treatment in the neurology department of the local hospital she was transferred to the Department of Neurology, the First Hospital of Jilin University, Peoples' Republic of China for further treatment.

On admission, the patient's temperature was 36.8°C, heart rate 112 beats min⁻¹, and blood pressure 80/60 mmHg. The patient was alert but with no spontaneous breathing, and had received a tracheostomy. Scattered moist rales were heard in both lungs. Neurological examination showed that the patient was conscious, her tongue was midline when extended, bilateral pain and temperature sensation were normal and there were no signs of meningeal irritation. Her limb muscle strength was graded as zero on the Medical Research Council (MRC) scale, and tendon reflexes were absent. A lung CT scan revealed tuberculosis of the right upper lobe and both lower lobes, several calcified mediastinal lymph nodes and multiple enlarged lymph nodes in both axillae. Her admission diagnosis included GBS and pneumonia, with shock. After admission, the patient received continuous mechanical ventilation, and neurotrophic, antiinflammatory, low-dose hormone and immunosuppressive medication. However, there was no significant improvement in limb muscle strength and she could not be weaned from mechanical ventilation.

On the tenth day of admission, the patient underwent HBOT with mechanical ventilation, accompanied by a hyperbaric physician. Three courses of HBOT were performed (one session per day, 10 HBOT sessions per course) with a two-day rest period between each course. Each session lasted 90 minutes with a treatment pressure of 220 kPa with 25 minutes of compression and decompression and inhalation of 100% oxygen for 40 minutes. After the first HBOT session, the patient was improved, with muscle strength in her upper limbs graded as one, and in the lower limbs graded as two. After five sessions, the patient was able to move her fingers and slightly move her neck and shoulder muscles; proximal lower limb muscle strength was graded as three, distal muscle strength was graded as two, and tendon reflexes were restored. After eight HBOT sessions, the patient was successfully discontinued from mechanical ventilation and after 10 sessions, the patient's muscle strength was significantly improved. As the patient's condition was significantly improved, she was able to be discharged. After discharge she had two further courses of HBOT as an outpatient. After the third course of HBOT, the patient had spontaneous normal breathing, normal voice, and did not cough when eating. Upper limb muscle strength was graded as four and lower limb muscle strength was graded as three. At one-month follow-up, the patient was able to take care of herself.

Discussion

Plasma exchange and immunoglobulin therapy are the proven effective treatments for GBS, no other treatments have been shown to be effective.^{3,4} In our case, the patient had received treatment with plasma exchange, hormone pulse therapy, intravenous infusion of high-dose gamma globulin and administration of neurotrophic, anti-inflammatory drugs without improvement after one month of treatment, and mechanical ventilation could not be discontinued.

The patient then received HBOT whilst ventilated with immediate signs of improvement; her respiratory and limb muscle strength began to recover gradually, enabling the patient to be discontinued from ventilatory support and eventually to be able to take care of herself.

HBOT increases blood oxygen concentration, produces vasoconstriction and inhibits neuro-oedema.⁵ HBOT increases the diffusion distance of oxygen through the tissues, increasing tissue oxygen supply, improving the hypoxic state of nerves which may create a healing environment to improve the repair of injured nerves. Studies have shown that HBOT can promote axonal regeneration and facilitate nerve repair.^{6–8} HBOT combined with methylprednisolone can promote facial nerve regeneration.⁹

This report shows that patients with severe GBS can receive HBOT while ventilated. There was a precise temporal relationship between commencement of HBOT and improvement in her clinical condition after one month of no improvement with other therapies. However, GBS has not been recognised as a proven indication for HBOT¹⁰ and can only be considered an experimental indication as previously defined.¹¹ Many patients with GBS may recover spontaneously, so whether the improvement in patients with GBS is attributable to HBOT requires further investigation.

References

- Fokke C, van den Berg B, Drenthen J, Walgaard C, van Doorn PA, Jacobs BC. Diagnosis of Guillain-Barré syndrome and validation of Brighton criteria. Brain. 2014;137:33–43. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt285. PMID: 24163275.
- 2 Sejvar JJ, Kohl KS, Gidudu J, Amato A, Bakshi N, Baxter R, et al. Guillain-Barré syndrome and Fisher syndrome: Case definitions and guidelines for collection, analysis, and presentation of immunization safety data. Vaccine. 2011;29:599–612. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.06.003. PMID: 20600491.
- 3 Shahrizaila N, Yuki N. The role of immunotherapy in Guillain-Barré syndrome: Understanding the mechanism of action. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2011;12:1551–60. doi: 10.1517/14656566.2011.564160. PMID: 21473704.
- 4 Leonhard SE, Mandarakas MR, Gondim FAA, Bateman K, Ferreira MLB, Cornblath DR, et al. Diagnosis and management of Guillain-Barré syndrome in ten steps. Nat Rev Neurol. 2019;15:671–83. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0250-9. PMID: 31541214. PMCID: PMC6821638.
- 5 Li WR, Ni GT. Hyperbaric Oxygen Medicine. Shanghai: Shanghai Scientific and Technical Publishers; 2000.
- 6 Eguiluz-Ordoñez R, Sánchez CE, Venegas A, Figueroa-Granados V, Hernández-Pando R. Effects of hyperbaric oxygen on peripheral nerves. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2006;118:350–7. doi: 10.1097/01.prs.0000227666.64552.81. PMID: 16874201.
- 7 Zamboni WA, Brown RE, Roth AC, Mathur A, Stephenson LL. Functional evaluation of peripheral-nerve repair and the effect of hyperbaric oxygen. J Reconstr Microsurg. 1995;11:27–9; discussion 29-30. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-1006507. PMID: 7714876.
- 8 Ince B, Arslan A, Dadaci M, Oltulu P, Bilgen F. The effect of different application timings of hyperbaric oxygen treatment

on nerve regeneration in rats. Microsurgery. 2016;36:586–92. doi: 10.1002/micr.30023. PMID: 26773276.

- 9 Toros SZ, Karaca ÇT, Güneş P, Oysu Ç, Ertugay ÇK, Naiboğlu B, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen versus steroid in facial nerve injury: an experimental animal study. Am J Otolaryngol. 2013;34:530–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjoto.2013.06.006. PMID: 23890702.
- 10 Moon RE, editor. Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy Indications. 14th ed. Flagstaff (AZ): Best Publishing Company; 2019.
- Mitchell SJ, Bennett MH. Unestablished indications for hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Diving Hyperb Med. 2014;44:228–34. <u>PMID: 25596836</u>.

Conflicts of interest and funding: nil

Submitted: 13 October 2019 Accepted after revision: 05 February 2020

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Letters to the Editor Central nervous system oxygen toxicity during 100% oxygen breathing at normobaric pressure

I read with interest the report of symptoms suggesting central nervous system (CNS) oxygen toxicity while breathing carbon dioxide $(CO_2)/oxygen (O_2)$ mixtures at ambient pressure,1 which Dr Eynan and colleagues concluded may have been due to normobaric CNS O₂ toxicity. While perhaps plausible, it should be noted that similar symptoms also consistent with O₂ toxicity have been reported from hypercapnia alone. These have included muscle twitching, facial tremors, myoclonus, extremity paralysis, hyporeflexia, flaccid paralysis, impaired consciousness and generalized convulsions.^{2,3} In a study of normoxic, normal volunteers (inspired PO, 21.3 kPa [0.21 atmospheres (atm)]) breathing CO₂ at 6.6–8.6 kPa (0.065–0.085 atm) in a dry hyperbaric chamber at 1.46 atm absolute, other symptoms typical of CNS oxygen toxicity were reported: tunnel vision, vision loss, dizziness and near-syncope.4

In their report, Eynan and colleagues point out the extreme sensitivity of a diver to CO_2 . However, it is not clear that he is sensitive to O_2 . Notwithstanding the rarity of this man's symptoms, rather than an uncommon manifestation of CNS O_2 toxicity, the diver's symptoms at sea level pressure may instead be a rare manifestation of CO_2 narcosis at relatively low PCO₂. The authors should test their hypothesis by exposing the diver in a blinded manner to CO_2 at low and high PO₂.

References

- Eynan M, Arieli Y, Taran B, Yanir Y. Symptoms of central nervous system oxygen toxicity during 100% oxygen breathing at normobaric pressure with increasing inspired levels of carbon dioxide: A case report. Diving Hyperb Med. 2020;50:70–4. <u>doi: 10.28920/dhm50.1.70-74</u>. <u>PMID:</u> <u>32187621</u>.
- 2 Sieker HO, Hickam JB. Carbon dioxide intoxication: the clinical syndrome, its etiology and management with particular reference to the use of mechanical respirators. Medicine (Baltimore). 1956;35:389–423. <u>PMID: 13407339</u>.
- 3 O'Reilly RJ. The clinical recognition of carbon dioxide intoxication. Dis Chest. 1960;37:185–92. doi: 10.1378/ chest.37.2.185. PMID: 14428118.
- Gill M, Natoli MJ, Vacchiano C, MacLeod DB, Ikeda K, Qin M, et al. Effects of elevated oxygen and carbon dioxide partial pressures on respiratory function and cognitive performance. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2014;117:406–12. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00995.2013. PMID: 24947022.

Submitted: 16 June 2020 Accepted: 17 June 2020

Richard E Moon, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, North Carolina, USA

Address for correspondence: Duke University Medical Center, Durham, North Carolina, USA richard.moon@duke.edu

Key words

Carbon dioxide; Hypercapnia; Hyperoxia; Toxicity; Side effects; Letters (to the Editor)

doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.306. PMID: 32957137.

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Reply

I should like to thank Dr Richard Moon for his comments on our article.¹ I read with interest his letter regarding the possibility that the symptoms we reported may have been due to hypercapnia alone, because our subject was breathing 100% oxygen at normobaric pressure. He reached this conclusion on the basis of the article by Gill and colleagues,² in which symptoms akin to those associated with central nervous system (CNS) oxygen toxicity were detected when the inspired PCO₂ was between 6.6–8.6 kPa (0.065–0.085 atm).

I should like to raise two points, which may demonstrate that the diver in question is in fact highly sensitive to oxygen.

1. During his interview before the test, the subject complained of dizziness, headaches and nausea he had experienced during the series of dives using closed-circuit apparatus commenced two weeks previously. It is unlikely that he would have suffered from severe hypercapnia during his dives with the oxygen rebreather. It is more plausible that with no elevation at all of CO_2 in his inspired gas thanks to the CO_2 absorbent, the only aspect we have to consider in our attempt to determine the reason for his symptoms may be the hyperbaric oxygen he inspired during the dive.

2. When the CO_2 in the subject's inspired gas reached a level of 2 kPa during the CO_2 detection test, he complained of severe dizziness and headache. With CO_2 in excess of 3 kPa, he also reported twitching of his facial muscles, especially around the mouth. However, this level of inspired CO_2 is much lower than that reported by Gill and colleagues.²

These two points would indicate that our diver may have been extremely sensitive not only to CO_2 , but also to hyperbaric oxygen.

References

- Eynan M, Arieli Y, Taran B, Yanir Y. Symptoms of central nervous system oxygen toxicity during 100% oxygen breathing at normobaric pressure with increasing inspired levels of carbon dioxide: a case report. Diving Hyperb Med. 2020;50:70–4. <u>doi: 10.28920/dhm50.1.70-74</u>. <u>PMID:</u> <u>32187621</u>. <u>PMCID: PMC7276268</u>.
- 2 Gill M, Natoli MJ, Vacchiano C, MacLeod DB, Ikeda K, Qin M, et al. Effects of elevated oxygen and carbon dioxide partial pressures on respiratory function and cognitive performance. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2014;117:406–12. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00995.2013. PMID: 24947022.

Submitted: 02 July 2020 Accepted: 14 July 2020 Mirit Eynan, Israel Naval Medical Institute, Israel Defense Forces Medical Corps, Haifa, Israel

Address for correspondence: Israel Naval Medical Institute, Israel Defense Forces Medical Corps, Haifa, Israel <u>emirit@netvision.net.il</u>

Key words

Carbon dioxide; Hypercapnia; Hyperoxia; Toxicity; Diving; Letters (to the Editor)

doi: 10.28920/dhm50.3.306-307. PMID: 32957138.

Copyright: This article is the copyright of the authors who grant *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* a non-exclusive licence to publish the article in electronic and other forms.

Annual update on the database of Randomised Controlled Trials in Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine

What is HBO Evidence?

http://hboevidence.wikis.unsw.edu.au/Home

A database of short critical appraisals (CATs) of all randomised controlled trials and systematic reviews in both diving and hyperbaric medicine. These appraisals are classified into disease categories and present the evidence in a standard way to enable rapid and meaningful comparisons between trials. This site is freely available to the public and professionals alike.

All enquiries: Professor Michael Bennett, Prince of Wales Clinical School, Sydney <u>m.bennett@unsw.edu.au</u> or follow the latest news on Twitter <u>@gordoben</u>

Current numbers: At the time of writing we have 317 completed CATs and 86 trials awaiting appraisal. Completed CATs:

•	Neurology	61
•	Radiation enhancement	43
•	Problem chronic wounds	34
•	Radiation tissue injury	27
•	Acute ischaemia	25
•	Diving medicine	21
•	Audiovestibular	18
•	Carbon monoxide poisoning	17
•	Sports injuries	17
•	Physiology and pharmacology	09
•	Ophthalmology	08
•	Thermal burns	07
•	Fractures	07
•	Necrotising infections	01
•	Miscellaneous conditions	22

A selection of our latest CATs

- New evidence that HBO is effective for radiation cystitis (Oscarsson 2019).
- Further evidence that HBOT is effective in diabetic foot ulcer (Salama 2019).
- Pooled analysis suggests there is some justification for further studies into the use of HBOT for PTSD after mild head trauma (Hart 2019).
- Critical flicker fusion frequency testing may indicate cognitive decline in IGN (Lafere 2019).
- New evidence that unresolving athletic injuries may improve with HBOT (Chen 2019).

Things you can do: We need volunteers! I can train anyone to make new CATs for us, so why not have a go? Alternatively, we are always on the lookout for new trials or those we may have missed. If you know of any (human) RCTs in this area please contact us.

Michael Bennett, Prince of Wales Clinical School, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia <u>m.bennett@unsw.edu.au</u>

Key words

Hyperbaric research; Diving research; Data; General interest



EUBS notices and news and all other society information is now to be found mainly on the society's website: <u>https://www.eubs.org/</u>

EUBS President's report Ole Hyldegaard

EUBS meeting 2020

Since the first inaugural meeting of the European Undersea Bio-medical Society in London on 30 September 1971 (with the later change of our name to the European Underwater and Baromedical Society), there has been a regular Society annual scientific meeting over the last four decades since the meeting in Newcastle, UK in 1979. Sadly, and for the first time in many years, this year's meeting had to be postponed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a health care crisis many of us are very acutely aware of. This year's EUBS 2020 Annual Scientific Meeting No. 46, was scheduled for Prague in the Czech Republic with Dr Michal Hàjek, President of the Czech Society of Hyperbaric and Aviation Medicine and Director of the Center of Hyperbaric Medicine, Municipal Hospital Ostrava, as Secretary General for the meeting.

In April/May this year the EUBS ExCom and the local organizers of the 2020 EUBS meeting were aware of the uncertain situation both, with respect to the development of the pandemic in the different regions of the European area as well as dynamically changing travel restrictions and area lock-downs caused by the ever fluctuating COVID-19 outbreaks. Accordingly, as was previously announced at the EUBS website - we agreed with the organizers to postpone the Prague meeting until 2021 and also postpone the scheduled EUBS 2021 meeting to be held in Portugal in the city of Porto and organized by Dr Oscar Camacho until 2022. This situation has obviously caused the need for the local organizers to change plans, rebook meeting facilities, change the arrangements of several other required meetings etc. On behalf of the EUBS ExCom and all members of the EUBS, I wish to express my sincere and heart-felt thanks for the local organizers of this years postponed Prague meeting and especially to Dr Hájek for being able to reorganize and reschedule his arrangements with a short notice. I also want to express my sincere appreciation for the flexibility shown by Dr Camacho and his team in Porto for being willing to reschedule until 2022 smoothly. Let us all hope that all countries will achieve a level of epidemic/pandemic control that will allow us to meet in Prague 2021. The EUBS society is not a large organization and therefore, our annual scientific meetings are very dependent on the personal interaction and contacts. Social interaction is important and the cancellation of this year's meeting was not an easy decision on more than just a scientific level.

Other great cities of the European continent are, luckily, also signed up for future meetings. The EUBS ExCom will interact and plan accordingly for EUBS meetings from 2023 and beyond, trying to fulfill as many of the meeting requests we have received as possible. It is comforting to know that many good colleagues are happy, willing and capable of holding the annual EUBS scientific meetings to come in the future.

The EUBS general assembly and 2020 arrangements

At the time of writing, our usual Annual Scientific premeeting for the EUBS ExCom is being organised. Although, we will not have an Annual Scientific Meeting this year we are obliged to ensure our proposal for changes, the Annual Fiscal Foundation report, costs for the Society and the costs for the Journal of *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* are all presented and voted for by EUBS members. At the moment we will have to decide on how this will take place because of the current situation and cancellation of the physical annual meeting. The EUBS ExCom will do what is necessary to display the required information, and its likely this will be via online voting present suggestions and our yearly reports for acceptance by the General Assembly EUBS members.

New EUBS Member-at-Large

As stated in the online EUBS news section, a new Memberat-Large for the EUBS ExCom has been elected. Dr med Rodrigue Pignel will leave office as Member-at-Large elected in 2017. Dr Óscar Ferraz Camacho, Medical Director of the Hyperbaric Medical Unit at the Hospital Pedro Hispano in Matosinhos, Portugal, will take his place in ExCom as the new Member-at-Large 2020. The EUBS ExCom extends their thanks to Rodrigue for his time and work performed in the ExCom, and we are happy he will continue this work for the EUBS including the ongoing and important updates of the Oxynet Database. Dr Pignel is applauded for his great work in the EUBS ExCom and his continued scientific contributions to field of high-pressure physiology and hyperbaric medicine is well known and highly acknowledged. Thank you Rod! Also thank you to Dr Óscar Ferraz Camacho for signing up and again a heart felt congratulations to Óscar and welcome aboard the EUBS ExCom.

Looking forward to normalized times and a great EUBS meeting in Prague 2021.

EUBS Member-at-Large elections

Each year between June and August, EUBS membership elects a new Member-at-Large. Dr Med Rodrigue Pignel will leave office as Member-at-Large 2017 and Dr Óscar Ferraz Camacho, Medical Director of the Hyperbaric Medical Unit at the Hospital Pedro Hispano in Matosinhos, Portugal, will take his place in ExCom as the new Member-at-Large 2020. ExCom extends their thanks to Rodrigue for his work in the ExCom and we all hope (know) he will remain active in the society.

The new online voting process was well used with 55% of our members voting. However, further feedback is appreciated, send an email to <u>secretary@eubs.org</u>.

EUBS 2020 – postponed to 2021

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, our 2020 Annual Scientific Meeting could not take place as planned in September 2020. It was decided by ExCom to postpone it and thus, our next years' EUBS Annual Scientific Meeting will take place in Prague, Czech Republic in



September 2021 (exact dates to be confirmed).

The meeting will be organised by a local organising committee chaired by Michal Hajek, MD, Ph.D, a longtime member of EUBS, and member of Executive Board of ECHM; in collaboration with the Czech Society of Hyperbaric and Aviation Medicine, the City Hospital of Ostrava, the Faculty of Medicine of Ostrava University, the Faculty of Medicine of Charles University in Hradec Kralove, the Cochrane Institute Czech Republic, The Czech Republic (Middle European) Centre for Evidence-Based Healthcare: The Joanna Briggs Institute Centre of Excellence, the Masaryk University GRADE Centre, DAN Europe, and others.

Hyperbaric medicine has a long tradition in Czech Republic, in 2020 it was 55 years since that field of medicine in this country was established.

Prague is the capital and largest city in the Czech Republic, the forteenth largest city in the EU and the historical capital of Bohemia. The city is home to about 1.3 million people, while its metropolitan area is estimated to have a population of 2.6 million. Prague has been a political, cultural and economic centre of central Europe complete with a rich history. It was founded during the Romanesque and flourishing by the Gothic, Renaissance and Baroque eras. Prague was the capital of the kingdom of Bohemia and the main residence of several Holy Roman Emperors, most notably of Charles IV (1346–1378). It is located in the centre of the European continent, with direct air links with most European capitals and direct air connection from Frankfurt am Main, Germany, for connecting to overseas flights to other continents.

It is hoped and expected that by September 2021, 'real life meetings' will again be possible, as they provide the 'salt and pepper' of scientific work and allow direct, informal contacts in a relaxed atmosphere. So please keep September 2021 free for Prague.

EUBS 2020 Annual General Meeting

Normally, during the EUBS Annual Scientific Meeting, we also have our Annual General Meeting, where EUBS ExCom presents a report of their activities to the members and asks for approval of their decisions/proposals from the EUBS members. Unfortunately, this will not be possible to organise in 'live' conditions, because of the travel and meeting restrictions imposed by all European and world countries to combat the COVID-19 pandemic spread.

However, some decisions need to be approved by the EUBS members and therefore, ExCom is planning an 'online' General Assembly, to be organised by the end of September or beginning of October 2020. The exact format is (at the time of writing this text) still being organised, but it will allow online voting with respect to the proper procedures. A formal invitation with instructions will be sent to all EUBS members through the EUBS website newsletter and via social media (Twitter, Instagram, Facebook).

EUBS website

As always, please visit the EUBS website (http://www. eubs.org/) for the latest news and updates. Please renew your membership annually – each member will receive a personal renewal invitation one month before expiry; even if your membership has expired, you can easily renew it when trying to login again. Do not hesitate to contact the EUBS secretary if you have any difficulties secretary@eubs.org.

EUBS and OXYNET

Thanks to the efforts of Dr Rodrigue Pignel, our 2017 Member-at-Large, the OXYNET database of contact information for hyperbaric centres in Europe has been updated and will be made available through the EUBS and ECHM websites. This is an enormous amount of work, which is never finished as local/regional situations may change and so a mechanism for ensuring the information remains valid will be developed. This will of course require the cooperation of at least one EUBS member per country, so a call for volunteers will be issued in order to help us periodically verify addresses, telephone numbers and treatment capabilities of hyperbaric centres in your country.
Other

Occasionally, we can use the EUBS website newsletter as a tool to seek help for our members, as it is a perfect way to reach all of the EUBS members and because communication, networking and interaction are prime goals of our Society. A new <u>page</u> on our EUBS website has been created (EUBS Members Help Requests, under the 'Activities' menu on the homepage). Please check this page and try to help out. If you require help also and would like to use this service, please contact the webmaster (<u>webmaster@eubs.org</u>). You should also consult the <u>page</u> where research projects seeking collaborators and international participation are presented.

Level II Master course in Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine

Hyperbaric School of Padua, Italy (Director Prof Gerardo Bosco)

This Master course is aimed to provide theoretical and practical training to medical doctors and surgeons who want to deepen their knowledge in the field of hyperbaric medicine. The course offers a high level of specialist training: formal lessons, seminars and workshops given by international specialists and practical stages in hyperbaric medicine centres. The practical part also provides exercises in laboratories and research fields of physiopathology and diving medicine, with an accurate description of the instruments used. The Master's training objective follows the ECHM (European Committee for Hyperbaric Medicine) standards.

Career opportunities: Medical doctor in healthcare management and management of a hyperbaric oxygen therapeutic centre and/or a diving medicine centre.

For more information (Italian): http://tiny.cc/PadovaMaster

Hyperbaric Oxygen, Karolinska

Welcome to: http://www.hyperbaricoxygen.se/

This site, supported by the Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden, offers publications and high-quality lectures from leading investigators in hyperbaric medicine. Please register to obtain a password via email. Once registered, watch on line, or download to your iPhone, iPad or computer for later viewing.

For further information contact via email: folke.lind@karolinska.se

Publications database of the German Diving and Hyperbaric Medical Society (GTÜM)

EUBS and SPUMS members are able to access the German Society's large database of publications in diving and hyperbaric medicine. EUBS members have had this access for many years. SPUMS members should log into the SPUMS website, click on 'Resources' then on 'GTÜM database' in the pull-down menu. In the new window, click on the link provided and enter the user name and password listed on the page that appears in order to access the database.

The Science of Diving

Support EUBS by buying the PHYPODE book 'The science of diving'. Written for anyone with an interest in the latest research in diving physiology and pathology. The royalties from this book are being donated to the EUBS.

Available from: Morebooks

https://www.morebooks.de/store/gb/book/the-science-ofdiving/isbn/978-3-659-66233-1



website is at https://www.eubs.org/

Members are encouraged to log in and keep their personal details up to date.

The latest issues of *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* are via your society website login.

EUBS Facebook page



Follow us for updates at: <u>https://www.facebook.com/European-Underwater-and-</u> Baromedical-Society-283981285037017



Notices and news

SPUMS society information and news is to be found mainly on the society website: <u>https://spums.org.au/</u>

SPUMS President's report Neil Banham

This is my first report as the new President of SPUMS. I have big shoes to fill, following in the footsteps of our Immediate Past President Clinical Professor David Smart, and our outgoing Immediate Past President, Professor Mike Bennett. I am reassured that I will have David to guide me in this challenging role, and that I have an experienced and enthusiastic ExCom to manage SPUMS business in the next three years of my tenure. Mike Bennett has just finished serving for many years on the ExCom and for recognition of his service to SPUMS he was awarded Life-membership of our Society at our recent (virtual) AGM. Congratulations Mike!

Despite the recent challenges of Covid-19, SPUMS continues to remain a strong organisation with a sound financial position. The Impact Factor of our journal *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* continues to grow (now 1.5), remaining the pre-eminent journal in our field. I thank our hard working Editor Professor Simon Mitchell as well as contributors and reviewers for this excellent result. The work of Nicky Telles should not be forgotten, both for her work with the journal and for SPUMS itself.

Covid-19 has affected us all, and in particular causing conferences to be cancelled. It was most disappointing that our Annual Scientific Meeting in Tutukaka had to be cancelled. Many thanks to Convenor Dr Greg van der Hulst and his team for their fantastic effort in organising as well as their efforts post cancellation enabling most monies paid to be returned to registrants. Tutukaka will hopefully be able to host our ASM in 2021 – Covid-19 restrictions permitting. Covid-19 also led to the cancellation of the UHMS ASM in San Diego in June as well as the EUBS ASM to be held in September in Prague, now deferred until September next year. I had planned to attend all of these meetings in my role as SPUMS President but this will have to wait until at least 2021. Planning is also underway for options for the 50th SPUMS ASM in 2022, the venue to be determined by any Covid-19 related travel restrictions at the time and the availability of a vaccine.

Besides the journal and the opportunity to attend our ASM, SPUMS membership also entitles appropriately qualified members to be listed on the SPUMS Diving Doctors List and to be awarded the Diploma in Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine (DipDHM). The SPUMS website (https://www.spums.org.au) contains information regarding these, as well as the 5th edition of the SPUMS Diving Medical which contains updated guidelines on cardiovascular fitness for diving as discussed and agreed at the 2019 SPUMS ASM in Honiara, Solomon Islands. The SPUMS ExCom and in particular the Webmaster Joel Hissink are exploring ways to update this website and make it easier to renew membership. Any suggestions can be emailed to webmaster@spums.org.au. I encourage you to recommend SPUMS membership to your colleagues with an interest in diving and/or diving medicine.

Tasks for the next three years include documenting the history of the first 50 years of SPUMS, updating the website and continuing to promote diving and hyperbaric medicine.

In closing, I would again like to thank my friend and colleague David Smart for his efforts over the six years of his Presidency to maintain and grow our Society. We all owe David a great debt.

Stay safe!

Dr Neil Banham President SPUMS



Members are encouraged to log in and keep their personal details up to date.

The latest issues of *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* are via your society website login.

SPUMS Facebook page



Like us at:

http://www.facebook.com/pages/SPUMS-South-Pacific-Underwater-Medicine-Society/221855494509119

ANZHMG Chair report 2020

It is with great sadness that we heard of the recent passing of Dr John Orton. John was Medical Director of the Hyperbaric Medicine Unit in Townsville from 2011until his retirement in 2017. John was Chair of ANZHMG from 2014–2017 and Course Convenor of the ANZHMG Introductory Course in Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine in 2016–2017, as well as assisting in this role in 2015. John had happily retired to his vineyard in New Zealand.

The 2020 edition of the two week ANZHMG course was again held in Fremantle, Western Australia at a new venue, the Hougoumont Hotel between 24 February – 06 March. The course Convenor Dr Ian Gawthrope organised a highly successful course with 24 participants. Course activities outside of the classroom included a visit to the submarine escape facility at HMAS Stirling, a day focussed on diver retrieval at the Jandakot RFDS base and a morning on the water rescuing the injured diver.

Faculty included staff from the local Fiona Stanley Hospital Hyperbaric Medicine Unit as well as Professor Simon Mitchell, Clinical Professor David Smart, Professor Mike Bennett, Dr Andrew Fock, Dr Ken Thistlethwaite, Dr John Lippmann, Dr David Wilkinson, Dr Peter Buzzacott and Dr Iestyn Lewis – many thanks to all who contributed.

The course prize was awarded to Dr Zach Tappenden.

The course returned a small surplus to SPUMS which will be in part used to fund deposits for the 2021 course, tentatively planned for 15–26 February 2021, again at the Hougoumont Hotel in Fremantle.

Dr Ken Thistlethwaite was instrumental in developing a process such that Amron hoods could be continued to be used to deliver HBOT to patients in Australia despite them not being TGA approved, this now simply involves getting consent from each patient and then advising the TGA of the total number each six months.

Dr David Cooper developed the ANZHMG/HTNA COVID-19 Guidelines, pertinent to hyperbaric medicine practice in Australasia and circulated them to all Australasian hyperbaric facilities. As this was developed as a 'living document', it has not been posted on the SPUMS website.

This will be my last report as Chair of the ANZHMG. I would like to thank the ANZHMG Secretary Dr Ken Thistlethwaite and the previous Chair and outgoing SPUMS President Dr David Smart for their invaluable assistance and advice during my three year tenure.

> Dr Neil Banham Chair ANZHMG

Australian and New Zealand College of Anaesthetists Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine Special Interest Group

The new Diploma of Advanced Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine was launched on 31 July 2017. Those interested in training are directed to the ANZCA website <u>http://www.anzca.edu.au/training/diving-and-hyperbaric-medicine.</u>

Training

Documents to be found at this site are:

- Regulation 36, which provides for the conduct of training leading to the ANZCA Dip Adv DHM, and the continuing professional development requirements for diplomats and holders of the ANZCA Certificate of DHM;
- ANZCA Advanced DHM Curriculum which defines the required learning, teaching and assessment of the diploma training programme; and
- ANZCA Handbook for Advanced DHM Training which sets out in detail the requirements expected of trainees and accredited units for training.

Examination dates for 2021

Dates for the 2021 exam will be published late 2020.

Accreditation

The ANZCA Handbook for Advanced DHM accreditation, which provides information for units seeking accreditation, is awaiting approval by Standards Australia and cannot yet be accessed online. Currently six units are accredited for DHM training and these can be found on the College website.

Transition to new qualification

Transitional arrangements for holders of the ANZCA Certificate in Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine and highly experienced practitioners of DHM seeking recognition of prior experience lapsed on 31 January 2019.

All enquiries should be submitted to <u>dhm@anzca.edu.au</u>.

Carl Edmonds Memorial Scholarship

The Australasian Diving Safety Foundation is delighted to announce the release of a new Diving Medical Officers Training scholarship to honour the memory of Carl Edmonds, a Founder of SPUMS and a mentor to diving physicians throughout the world. The AUD\$5,000 scholarship is to encourage doctors to attend a Royal Australian Navy Underwater Medicine Course at the School of Underwater Medicine in Sydney. One scholarship is available for each course, two of which are planned for 2020.

Application details are available at:

https://www.adsf.org.au/r/diving-medical-trainingscholarships

Royal Australian Navy Medical Officers' Underwater Medicine Course 2020

Venue: HMAS Penguin, Sydney

Date: Due to Covid travel restrictions we are planning on running a modified course (19–30 October 2020) for candidates in the NSW area.

The MOUM course seeks to provide the medical practitioner with an understanding of the range of potential medical problems faced by divers. Emphasis is placed on the contraindication to diving and the diving medical assessment, together with the pathophysiology, diagnosis and management of common diving-related illnesses. The course includes scenario-based simulation focusing on the management of diving emergencies and workshops covering the key components of the diving medical.

Cost: The course cost remains at AUD\$1,355 (ex GST) but may increase to AUD\$2,600 (ex GST).

For information and application forms contact: Rajeev Karekar, for Officer in Charge rajeev.karekar@defence.gov.au



Advertising in Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine

Commercial advertising is welcomed within the pages of *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine*. Companies and organisations within the diving, hyperbaric medicine and wound-care communities who might wish to advertise their equipment and services are welcome. The advertising policy of the parent societies – EUBS and SPUMS – is available for download on *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* website.

Further information can be obtained by contacting the Editorial Assistant of *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* Email: editiorialassist@dhmjournal.com

SPUMS Diploma in Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine

Requirements for candidates (May 2014)

In order for the Diploma of Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine to be awarded by the Society, the candidate must comply with the following conditions: They must

- 1 be medically qualified, and remain a current financial member of the Society at least until they have completed all requirements of the Diploma;
- 2 supply evidence of satisfactory completion of an examined two-week full-time course in diving and hyperbaric medicine at an approved facility. The list of such approved facilities may be found on the SPUMS website;
- 3 have completed the equivalent (as determined by the Education Officer) of at least six months' full-time clinical training in an approved Hyperbaric Medicine Unit;
- 4 submit a written proposal for research in a relevant area of underwater or hyperbaric medicine, in a standard format, for approval before commencing the research project;
- 5 produce, to the satisfaction of the Academic Board, a written report on the approved research project, in the form of a scientific paper suitable for publication. Accompanying this report should be a request to be considered for the SPUMS Diploma and supporting documentation for 1–4 above.

In the absence of other documentation, it will be assumed that the paper is to be submitted for publication in *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine*. As such, the structure of the paper needs to broadly comply with the 'Instructions for authors' available on the SPUMS website https://spums.org.au/ or at https://www.dhmjournal.com/.

The paper may be submitted to journals other than *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine*; however, even if published in another journal, the completed paper must be submitted to the Education Officer (EO) for assessment as a diploma paper. If the paper has been accepted for publication or published in another journal, then evidence of this should be provided.

The diploma paper will be assessed, and changes may be requested, before it is regarded to be of the standard required for award of the Diploma. Once completed to the reviewers' satisfaction, papers not already submitted to, or accepted by, other journals should be forwarded to the Editor of *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* for consideration. At this point the Diploma will be awarded, provided all other requirements are satisfied. Diploma projects submitted to *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* for consideration of publication will be subject to the Journal's own peer review process.

Additional information – prospective approval of projects is required

The candidate must contact the EO in writing (or email) to advise of their intended candidacy and to discuss the proposed topic of their research. A written research proposal must be submitted before commencement of the research project.

All research reports must clearly test a hypothesis. Original basic and clinical research are acceptable. Case series reports may be acceptable if thoroughly documented, subject to quantitative analysis and if the subject is extensively researched in detail. Reports of a single case are insufficient. Review articles may be acceptable if the world literature is thoroughly analysed and discussed and the subject has not recently been similarly reviewed. Previously published material will not be considered. It is expected that the research project and the written report will be primarily the work of the candidate, and that the candidate is the first author where there are more than one.

It is expected that all research will be conducted in accordance with the joint NHMRC/AVCC statement and guidelines on research practice, available at: www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/ publications/attachments/r39.pdf, or the equivalent requirement of the country in which the research is conducted. All research involving humans, including case series, or animals must be accompanied by documentary evidence of approval by an appropriate research ethics committee. Human studies must comply with the Declaration of Helsinki (1975, revised 2013). Clinical trials commenced after 2011 must have been registered at a recognised trial registry site such as the Australia and New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry http://www.anzctr.org.au/ and details of the registration provided in the accompanying letter. Studies using animals must comply with National Health and Medical Research Council Guidelines or their equivalent in the country in which the work was conducted.

The SPUMS Diploma will not be awarded until all requirements are completed. The individual components do not necessarily need to be completed in the order outlined above. However, it is mandatory that the research proposal is approved prior to commencing research.

Projects will be deemed to have lapsed if:

- the project is inactive for a period of three years, or
- the candidate fails to renew SPUMS Membership in any year after their Diploma project is registered (but not completed).

For unforeseen delays where the project will exceed three years, candidates must explain to the EO by email why they wish their diploma project to remain active, and a three-year extension may be approved. If there are extenuating circumstances why a candidate is unable to maintain financial membership, then these must be advised by email to the EO for consideration by the SPUMS Executive. If a project has lapsed, and the candidate wishes to continue with their DipDHM, then they must submit a new application as per these guidelines.

The Academic Board reserves the right to modify any of these requirements from time to time. As of January 2016, the SPUMS Academic Board consists of:

Dr David Wilkinson, Education Officer, Adelaide Professor Simon Mitchell, Auckland

All enquiries and applications should be addressed to: *David Wilkinson*

education@spums.org.au

Key words

Qualifications; Underwater medicine; Hyperbaric oxygen; Research; Medical society

Courses and meetings

Capita Selecta Diving Medicine



The symposia of the Capita Selecta Diving Medicine of the University of Amsterdam will resume when the COVID-19regulations of Academic Medical Centre of the University of Amsterdam allow this.

The symposium to celebrate the 50 year anniversary of the Dutch Stichting Duik Research (SDR, Foundation of Diving Research) originally scheduled in October is postponed until 2021. Dates are to be confirmed.

Visit: http://www.duikresearch.org/

For more information: n.a.schellart@amsterdamumc.nl

Baltic International Symposium on Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine – new dates

The 2nd Baltic International Symposium on Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine (BIS_on_DHM) will now take place in Gdynia, Poland, (**new dates**) from 10–12 December 2020. There will also be two satellite Masterclasses; one on Advanced Diving Medicine and the other one on Complications in HBOT with a possibility to participate in the fire drills inside the hyperbaric chamber, to get wet under pressure!

More information at: http://www.bisdhm.events/



DIVING HISTORICAL SOCIETY AUSTRALIA, SE ASIA

P O Box 347, Dingley Village Victoria, 3172, Australia Email: <u>hdsaustraliapacific@</u> <u>hotmail.com.au</u> Website: <u>www.classicdiver.org</u>

German Society for Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine (GTÜM)

An overview of basic and refresher courses in diving and hyperbaric medicine, accredited by GTÜM according to EDTC/ECHM curricula, can be found on the website: http://www.gtuem.org/212/Kurse / Termine/Kurse.html

Scott Haldane Foundation

As an institute dedicated to education in diving medicine, the Scott Haldane Foundation (SHF) has organized more than 295 courses all over the world, over the past 26 years. SHF is targeting a more international audience with



courses world wide. Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic some courses are re-scheduled. Fortunately, we were able to find new dates for all courses in 2020. Below the upcoming SHF-courses in 2020 and early 2021.

The courses Medical Examiner of Diver (part 1 and 2) and SHF in-depth courses, as modules of the level 2d Diving Medicine Physician course, fully comply with the ECHM/ EDTC curriculum for Level 1 and 2d respectively and are accredited by the European College of Baromedicine (ECB).

2020

16–17 October	In-depth course Decompression,
	Recompression and HBOt (Level 2d)
	Hoeven, NL
28–29 October	Internship different types of diving (2d)
	Den Helder NL
27-28 November	28th In-depth course diving and mental
	health, location TBD
2021	
19–20 March	Medical Examiner of Divers part 1
	Zeist, NL
25–27 March	Medical Examiner of Divers part 2
	Amsterdam Univ Med Centre, NL
10–07 April	Medical Examiner of Divers part 2
	Bonaire, Dutch Caribbean
On request	Internship HBOt (level 2d certification) NL/Belgium

The course calendar will be supplemented regularly.

For the latest information visit:

https://www.scotthaldane.org

Please also check the COVID-19 News update on the website for the latest schedule changes.

Copyright 2020

All articles in *Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine* are published under licence from the authors. Copyright to these articles remains with these authors. Any distribution, apart from for limited educational purposes, is in breach of copyright.

Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine: Instructions for authors (summary)

Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine (DHM) is the combined journal of the South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society (SPUMS) and the European Underwater and Baromedical Society (EUBS). It seeks to publish papers of high quality on all aspects of diving and hyperbaric medicine of interest to diving medical professionals, physicians of all specialties, scientists, members of the diving and hyperbaric industries, and divers. Manuscripts must be offered exclusively to Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine, unless clearly authenticated copyright exemption accompaniesthe manuscript. All manuscripts will be subject to peer review. Accepted contributions will also be subject to editing.

Address: The Editor, Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine, Department of Anaesthesiology, University of Auckland, Private Bag 92019, Auckland 1142, New Zealand Email: editor@dhmjournal.com Phone: (mobile) +64 (0)27 4141 212 European Editor: euroeditor@dhmjournal.com Editorial Assistant: editorialassist@dhmjournal.com Journal information: info@dhmjournal.com

Contributions should be submitted electronically by following the link:

http://www.manuscriptmanager.net/dhm

There is on-screen help on the platform to assist authors as they assemble their submission. In order to submit, the corresponding author needs to create an 'account' with a user name and password (keep a record of these for subsequent use). The process of uploading the files related to the submission is simple and well described in the on-screen help provided the instructions are followed carefully. The submitting author must remain the same throughout the peer review process.

Types of articles

DHM welcomes contributions of the following types:

Original articles, Technical reports and Case series: up to 3,000 words is preferred, and no more than 30 references (excluded from word count). Longer articles will be considered. These articles should be subdivided into the following sections: an **Abstract** (subdivided into Introduction, Methods, Results and Conclusions) of no more than 250 words (excluded from word count), **Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, Conclusions, References, Acknowledgements, Funding** sources and any **Conflicts of interest. Legends/captions** for illustrations, figures and tables should be placed at the end of the text file.

Review articles: up to 5,000 words is preferred and a maximum of 50 references (excluded from word count); include an informative **Abstract** of no more than 300 words (excluded from total word count); structure of the article and abstract is at the author(s)' discretion.

Case reports, Short communications and **Work in progress** reports: maximum 1,500 words, and 20 references (excluded from word count); include an informative **Abstract** (structure at author's discretion) of no more than 200 words (excluded from word count).

Educational articles, Commentaries and **Consensus reports** for occasional sections may vary in format and length, but should generally be a maximum of 2,000 words and 15 references (excluded from word count); include an informative **Abstract** of no more than 200 words (excluded from word count).

Letters to the Editor: maximum 600 words, plus one figure or table and five references.

Formatting of manuscripts

All submissions must comply with the following requirements. Manuscripts not complying with these instructions will be suspended and returned to the author for correction before consideration. Guidance on structure for the different types of articles is given above.

The following pdf files are available on the DHM website to assist authors in preparing their submission:

- <u>Instructions for authors</u> (full version)
- DHM Key words
- DHM Mandatory Submission Form 2020
- Trial design analysis and presentation
- EASE participation and conflict of interest statement
- English as a second language
- <u>Guideline to authorship in DHM 2015</u>
- Helsinki Declaration revised 2013
- <u>Is ethics approval needed?</u>

DIVER EMERGENCY SERVICES PHONE NUMBERS

AUSTRALIA – DAN 1800-088200 (in Australia toll free) +61-3-7018 3076 (International)

NEW ZEALAND – NZUA 0800-4DES-111 (in New Zealand toll free) +64-9-445-8454 (International)

> JAPAN – DAN +81-3-3812-4999 (Japan)

EUROPE – DAN +39-6-4211-8685 (24-hour hotline)

> UNITED KINGDOM +44-7740-251-635

AFRICA – DAN 0800-020111 (in South Africa toll free) +27-828-106010 (International call collect)

> USA – DAN +1-919-684-9111



Scholarships for Diving Medical Training for Doctors

The Australasian Diving Safety Foundation is proud to offer a series of annual Diving Medical Training scholarships. We are offering these scholarships to qualified medical doctors to increase their knowledge of diving medicine by participating in an approved diving medicine training programme. These scholarships are mainly available to doctors who reside in Australia. However, exceptions may be considered for regional overseas residents, especially in places frequented by Australian divers. The awarding of such a scholarship will be at the sole discretion of the ADSF. It will be based on a variety of criteria such as the location of the applicant, their working environment, financial need and the perception of where and how the training would likely be utilised to reduce diving morbidity and mortality. Each scholarship is to the value of AUD5,000.00.

There are two categories of scholarships:

1. ADSF scholarships for any approved diving medical training program such as the annual ANZHMG course at Fiona Stanley Hospital in Perth, Western Australia.

2. The Carl Edmonds Memorial Diving Medicine Scholarship specifically for training at the Royal Australian Navy Medical Officers' Underwater Medicine Course, HMAS Penguin, Sydney, Australia.

Interested persons should first enrol in the chosen course, then complete the relevant ADSF Scholarship application form available at: <u>https://www.adsf.org.au/r/diving-medical-training-scholarships</u> and send it by email to John Lippmann at johnl@adsf.org.au.

DISCLAIMER

Opinions expressed in this publication are given in good faith and in all cases represent the views of the authors and are not necessarily representative of the policies or views of SPUMS, EUBS or the Editor and Editorial Board.